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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Board of Directors

Co-Chairmen

Mr. Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director)?®
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director)?®

Executive Directors*

Mr. Wan Hongtao (Chief Operating Officer)
Ms. Fang Ling (Group’s Financial Controller)
Ms. Xu Hongxia

Mr. Liu Heng (Group’s Vice President)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen

Ms. Shen Lifeng™

Ms. Li Aihua

Ms. Deng Jin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew GBM, GBS, JFAVG)

Mr. Li Wai Keung"@®)

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung /A"

Ms. Zee Helen®®

Dr. Li Xu®@®

Company Secretary
Mr. Chan Hing Chau (CPA)

Auditor
Ernst & Young

Legal Advisors

As to Hong Kong law
Linklaters

Reed Smith Richards Butler

As to China law
Commerce & Finance Law Offices

m
)
3)

*

*

Member of Audit Committee
Member of Remuneration Committee
Member of Nomination Committee

Ms. Geng Mei resigned as Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer of
the Group from 9 September 2024.

Mr. Wan Hongtao has been promoted as the Chief Operating Officer of the
Group and will remain as Executive Director of the Company, but has ceased
to act as the Group's Vice President from 27 September 2024.

Mr. Qin Wenzhong resigned as Executive Director and Group’s Financial
Controller from 3 April 2024.

Ms. Fang Ling has been appointed as Executive Director and Group’s
Financial Controller from 3 April 2024.

Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman resigned as Executive Director from 9 September
2024.

Ms. Xu Hongxia has been appointed as Executive Director and chairman of
Harbin China South City Company Limited from 9 September 2024.

Mr. Liu Heng has been appointed as Executive Director and Group’s Vice
President from 16 October 2024.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

E=g

BEEFE

2RO S e (BT )OO
WINEL S L (BT EE)O0

HITES*
BB (EE )
B L (AR
HER L

BB 55 (L EF )

FHTES
BEMEE
AL L0
FERELT
Bt

BYFHITES

REEFEALABE - 2 4HEE - X F#1+ 00
$1§ gﬁ Se HEMR)G)

FTRR AR S A

BRIz

$ /E’:UJ@ —+@0)

NEWE
PR B2 W ST AE(CPA)

BB
ZXE BB

ERER
BEATE

FR RN B
R AR RETT

o+ B %
WEEMELA

m
)
3)

*

*

EZRBEKE
HMZEERE
REZBEKE

iEZ - E2024F9A9ARE TN TERTREFEE
BEE A F 2024027 R ES T AEBIELE
H o WEBEARITES  BETHECSEERBE -

BXBSEER20245F4 A3 R RRHERITE S REEY
TEHRES -

FTELLEBE2024 43R RER I RATEEREE
BATS ARG o

BN+ E2024F9 AOHERHIHITES

FPAEAZ T E20249 A0 ER T ARITEEEM
REZEHMARARESEER -

RIEREB2024F 1016 B R EZTARNITESH®
SEIRE -




Corporate Information (Continued)
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Principal Bankers

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Dongguan Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
China Construction Bank Corporation

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd.

China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited

Bank of Hangzhou Co., Ltd.

China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd.

China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd.

Agricultural Development Bank of China
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.

Harbin Bank Co., Ltd.

China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.

China Guangfa Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Shanghai Co., Ltd.

Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited

Registered Office
Suite 3508, 35/F., Tower 6, The Gateway,
9 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Listing Information

Share Listing

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock code: 1668

Senior Notes Listing

The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

The Company’s 9% senior notes due April 2024
(ISIN: XS2085883119)

The Company’s 9% senior notes due June 2024
(ISIN: X52120092882)

The Company’s 9% senior notes due October 2024
(ISIN: XS2238030162)

The Company’s 9% senior notes due December 2024
(ISIN: XS2227909640)

The Company'’s 4.5% senior notes due August 2027
(ISIN: X$1720216388)

Website

www.chinasouthcity.com

Investor Relations
Telephone: (852) 3188-3111

Fax: (852) 3188-1323
Email: ir@chinasouthcity.com
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PROJECT OVERVIEW
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" China South City has its eight projects layout highly

adhered to important national strategies such as
“Greater Bay Area”, the “Belt and Road” initiative
and “Yangtze River Economic Belt”.
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PROJECT OVERVIEW
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China South City Shenzhen

China South City Shenzhen (“CSC Shenzhen”), situated at the Pinghu
Logistics Base in Longgang District, Shenzhen, is the Group's first project.
Shenzhen City, one of the four first-tier cities in China, is located at the
heart of the Greater Bay Area amid an extensive transportation network.

Longgang District located in the northeast of Shenzhen. With the local
government further developing Longgang District as an innovation centre
in the east of Shenzhen, its ancillary infrastructure such as logistics,
healthcare and education will continue to advance, bringing more
convenience to merchants of CSC Shenzhen.

The new shopping experience at Wanda Plaza featuring tourism, culture,
social interaction and lifestyle created synergies with CSC Shenzhen'’s
original market and customer base, as well as its well-established offerings
for industries wholesale, warehousing and logistics, e-commerce, and
living facilities. As a result, this further stimulated the vitality of the project
site and drove passenger flow. Transportation around the project has also
been improving. CSC Shenzhen is only 2.6 km away from the Pinghu
Railway Station. The Metro Line 10 passing through CSC Shenzhen
has also been opened to traffic, together with a dedicated station of
"Huanancheng Station”, which will generate more business opportunities
and uplift visitor flow for CSC Shenzhen.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Qianlong Logistics
SREIR

Positioned as a modern large-scale integrated logistics and trading
platform to serve the Greater Bay Area, CSC Shenzhen covers a wide
spectrum of product range, including textile and clothing, leather and
accessories, electronic parts, printing, paper products and packaging,
metals and chemicals, plastic materials, hotel supplies, tea and teaware,
cross-border products, e-commerce, outlets, home furnishing, child
education, produce and flower market, etc., on its trade centre premises,
complementary with various facilities and services on site, such as
banking and finance, hotels and restaurants, governmental bodies,
leisure and entertainment. Provincial, municipal, district and street
leaders and business representatives visited the site in person, which
not only established a communication platform for economic and trade
cooperation between enterprises in the park, but also promoted the
clustered development of the cross-border e-commerce industry in CSC
Shenzhen. As a unit of the “Market Procurement Trade Pilot Scheme”,
CSC Shenzhen continues to provide a convenient customs clearance
environment for small and micro enterprises tenants engaged in export
trade. At the same time, together with the national e-commerce base
platform and the additional auxiliary facilities of Heung Kong Furniture
and Wanda, CSC Shenzhen further builds a regional consumption centre
and industrial centre, driving the economic development and overall
improvement of the northeastern Shenzhen.

The project is located at the Pinghu Logistics Park in Longgang District
of Shenzhen, covering a site area of approximately 1.02 million square
metres (“sg.m.”) and a total planned GFA of 2.71 million sg.m..

The Fourth-generation Wanda Plaza in CSC Shenzhen
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Nanning

China South City Nanning (“CSC Nanning”) is located at Jiangnan District
of Nanning, the capital of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, a
critical gateway between China and the Association of Southeast Asian
Nations (“ASEAN") countries. The project is easily accessible by railway
stations, highways and an international airport. The Metro Line 6 passing
through CSC Nanning is under planning, which would set up the “Sanjin
Station”, “Huanancheng West Station”, “Huanancheng East Station” in
the Park that are expected to be completed in 2028. Strategically located
in close proximity to Southeast Asia and enjoying the advantage of a tariff
waiver on cross-border trade activities within the China-ASEAN Free Trade
Area, CSC Nanning endeavors to serve as a key hub for cross-border trade
catering to the demand from the Northern Bay Region and Southeast Asia.

As a Key Project of the Autonomous Region as well as Nanning Municipal
Key Logistics Infrastructure Project, CSC Nanning has been named as
"China-ASEAN Plaza”, “China-ASEAN Digital Trade Hub”, “New Western
Land-Sea Corridor Digital Trade Hub”, and “National AAA Class Tourist
Attraction”. At the same time, CSC Nanning is also actively focusing
on industrial upgrading, and has reached a milestone by successfully
introducing sports industry projects and BYD vehicles delivery centre.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Birdview — CSC Nanning Project Site -
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Commercial Complex 1668 Square and Residential Ancillary (Jiangnanhuafu) in CSC Nanning
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CSC Nanning is now in operation, and covers industries including textile — FIZEZERHCIRALE - HRX S OIEZHLELE
and clothing, small commodities, ASEAN products, home furnishing, — EEBIEHERE - J\ER  REER  ZEZXS

tea and teaware, e-commerce, groceries, automobile and motorcycle ﬁg\ﬁﬁi\/\ ETRHE  FERR - RERE MEIER
parts and outlets, etc., on its trade centre premises. Through organizing RRBKHTE -REEEeETE  RAXt

a series of expositions, such as the China ASEAN Expo and Light Pé‘ﬁéiﬁp%—%ﬂ@a)ﬁ@?&ﬁffﬁﬁ AR IR T GRhEHY
Industrial Exhibition, Folk Culture Trading Festival cum Expo, traffic ~ EABE o I - BB ERMEHNEESARE
flow to the project as well as regional brand recognition of the project B —1668ESEE R - MEEAERAIRE « (K
were enhanced. In addition, the commercial complex, 1668 Square, a ~ MEVNTE X - A THEERRLGEEHERBE -
commercial complex project launched by CSC Nanning, recorded great

operating performance, so as to satisfy demands on entertainment,

leisure and shopping within the community. This, at the same time, could

enhance the overall commercial attributes on the project.

CSC Nanning has a total planned net land area of approximately 1.83  FIZEEEERIRAREF(HBEBL 1838 F K » 4248
million sq.m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 4.88 million — ZI;2EMEEHI488EF K o
sg.m..
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Nanchang
China South City Nanchang (“CSC Nanchang”) is located at Honggutan

New District of Nanchang, the capital of Jiangxi Province. Situated at the
transportation hub for the Yangtze River Delta and Pearl River Delta, the
project is readily accessible to suppliers, manufacturers and merchants via
major highways, the largest port on the Gan River and a complete freight
network which includes a cargo marshal yard, a container terminus and
an international airport, coupled with Nanchang West Railway Station
— a principal high-speed rail station just 1.2 km away. CSC Nanchang is
also adjacent to the new provincial government office. As a new business
centre of Nanchang, Honggutan New District is becoming more influential
in administrative, commercial and cultural aspects day by day. In addition,
the gradual completion of local amenities is driving visitor traffic and
generating business opportunities, laying a solid foundation for the
development of CSC Nanchang.

As a Provincial Key Project and the first E-commerce Demonstration
Base in Jiangxi Province and state-level University Students’ E-commerce
Business Incubator in Nanchang, a great number of e-commerce
enterprises have moved in the project since its establishment. CSC
Nanchang collaborated with local tertiary institutes to seamlessly connect
e-commerce startups and manufacturers, by proactively integrated
resources of wholesale markets and e-commerce and eventually assisted
on-site SMEs in business transform and upgrade. An area of nearly

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

VEILA

12 Bf 2R U 8

EI=E3=k
MEFEERL R TIAESHaEMMNANENR L
RE=ZARKR=AKERNBED  BETEFE
RERFETINHEANED YHBEZENEERR 2
EEEAAY BSMERKEESRERKS B
PHIFEREEN -MEATMEI2AE - BHRE
B AERLARREERSEMNREEE - AN 85
ERBM AR BRI - AREHNRIERRET
FAREHTL - BITR - BRI R AR -
REREANEERENZ S TETH T RREERA
BE RESERMUNERETER -

MEFRWIERIAAENEAR  TAEHEEERE
FRABRBEMIEREEEMTAREETEHBAIE
JREEM - BRZARE RN RARZEB/EEA
B WHEEMSERRAE  BRERBAMENS
LRERER  AlEERAIXRARELECKNETY
B BY 73BT IRNBRERE R - 12
HEREED - ELEE - PREES KR - 1
BVIE B AR/ N RETTEHB R TR - MEERMAIA



Project Overview (Continued)
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Grand delivery of Huachuangli in CSC Nanchang
FEERHELERAR N —RMHBIH

30,000 sq.m. influencer livestreaming base has been set up to provide
one-stop services covering from anchor training, operation management
to film and television productions. CSC Nanchang introduced a Veteran
Entrepreneurship Base targeting new consumption experiences such as
beauty, automobiles, and science and technology experience halls to assist
merchants in the project site to better develop e-commerce services and
nurture startups. In addition, CSC Nanchang focuses on the two national
level industrial bases of “National E-commerce Demonstration Base” and
“National Entrepreneurship Incubation Demonstration Base”, focusing on
quality and improving services.

In addition, CSC Nanchang has engaged in the “Nanchang High Speed
Rail CBD Project” for the development of an ecosystem economy with
quality service industry in Jiangxi. The project was planned to cover
“seven attributes in one city”: teenage education, business headquarters,
commercial shopping complexes, business and cultural tourism and talent
acquisition. It is built to be the central business district (“CBD") and high-
speed rail trading and logistics hub of Jiangxi upon completion.

CSC Nanchang has a total planned land area of approximately 2.61
million sq.m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 6.87 million
sg.m..

West Station —
M SRR EN AR —

Grand delivery of Huafu in CSC Nanchang Huanancheng
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China South City Xi'an*

China South City Xi‘an (“CSC Xi'an") is located at the Xi'an International
Trade and Logistics Park in Xi‘an, the capital of Shaanxi Province. As a
local key project, the Xi'an International Trade and Logistics Park is an
open economic pilot zone and a core area for modern service industry,
aiming to become the largest international transit hub and logistics
distribution centre along the Silk Road Economic Belt and an important
strategic platform for the “Belt and Road” initiative. In addition, the Xi'an
International Trade and Logistics Park is one of the three largest clusters
of China (Shaanxi) Pilot Free Trade Zone. Benefiting from such geographic
advantages, CSC Xi'an is highly accessible via the Xi'an City Expressway
and Beijing-Kunming Expressway, Lianyungang-Khorgos Expressway,
Shaanxi-Shanghai Expressway, Baotou-Maoming Expressway and other
national highways, forming an intricate spider network which opens to
all directions. Besides, the strategic location of CSC Xi‘an is connected
to a railway container terminal and the largest bonded area in the north
western region of China, along with two metro lines that cross the project
site. Metro line 3, which passes through CSC Xi‘an, has commenced
operation.

*  The Group's associate
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Hardware and Building Materials Commaodity Trade Centre, Hardware Materials

and Machinery Products Trade Centre and Residential Ancillary (Huayu Condominium)
in CSC Xi'an
HZERPNASEMERRSPL - ASHEXSPLREE

CSC Xi'an is now in operation, and covers industries including hardware
materials and machinery products, curtains and fabrics, textile and
clothing, leather and fur, automobile and motorcycle parts, building
and decoration materials, 1668 New Times Square, outlets, cross-border
e-commerce, Central Asia and ASEAN product exhibition centre, etc..
Leveraging its geographical advantage in the starting point of the Silk
Road Economic Belt, CSC Xi’an is actively poised to capture the immense
opportunities arising from the “Belt and Road” initiative.

CSC Xi'an has a total planned land area of approximately 10.00 million
sg.m. and the total planned GFA of approximately 17.50 million sg.m..

The completion of the disposal of Xi‘an China South City of the Group
took place in May 2023. The Group has become interested approximately
30.65% in Xi'an China South City and Xi'an China South City has become
an associate of the Group.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Harbin

Located at the Daowai District of Harbin, the capital of Heilongjiang

Province, and enjoying geographical advantages of Northeast China,
China South City Harbin (“CSC Harbin"), is the cross-border trade hub
among Northeast Asian Countries. Being the Provincial No. 1 Investment
Promotion Project, together with its proximity to the China-Russia border
and merely couple-of-kilometre away from the Xinxiangfang North station
(Harbin-Mudanjiang High Speed Rail), CSC Harbin actively integrate
bilateral trade resources for the development of regional economy and
trade with its superiority of geographical location and coverage of local
industries. It has organized the 6th China-Russia Expo, so as to develop an
economy and trade logistic gateway to Russia and form a trading platform
in Northeast Asia Economic Circle.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Second Batch of Grand delivery of
Zijingmingdu in CSC Harbin
WS R A 2E R R T P2 IR B R A — A

CSC Harbin is now in operation, and covers industries including hardware
and building materials, chemicals, machinery products, automobile and
motorcycle parts, green food, small commodities, hotel supplies, leather
and fur, e-commerce, etc., on its trade centre premises. The seed market
of the Heilongjiang Academy of Agricultural Sciences in the project site
operates well. While building a one-stop agricultural material industrial
park, it actively promotes digitalization in the project site ad part of the
effort to promote rural revitalization.

CSC Harbin has a total planned land area of approximately 10.00 million
sg.m. and the total planned GFA of approximately 12.00 million sg.m..
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China South City Zhengzhou

China South City Zhengzhou (“CSC Zhengzhou”) is located in Zhengzhou,
the capital of Henan Province, and adjacent to the Airport Economy
Zone (“AEZ") of Zhengzhou, which is the only state-level AEZ with a
complete network containing an international airport, highspeed train,
intercity train, metro and highway, to act as an integrated transport
hub as a whole to provide seamless connectivity. The project is highly
accessible and enjoys extensive transportation links — it is @ mere 16 km
away from Zhengzhou Xinzheng International Airport and a couple of
kilometres away from the Beijing-Guangzhou Railway Freight Station and
Beijing-Hong Kong-Macau Highway. The metro south line 2 across CSC
Zhengzhou with three stations is currently in full operation. In addition,
there are several exits from the Beijing-Hong Kong-Macao Highway,
the Airport Highway, and the City Beltway to the surroundings of CSC
Zhengzhou; in particular, there are two exits in merely 3 km area of the
project site, which will generate more business opportunities and visitor
flow for CSC Zhengzhou.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Grand delivery of CSC Zhengzhou Central Park Trio — Site view
BRI R B S AR A R — RS2

Grand delivery of CSC Zhengzhou Central Park Trio — Birdview
BN ERN R ESAERARN - ER S

China South City 1st primary school in Zhengzhou
fi JNEZEREE —/ N2
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CSC Zhengzhou is now in operation, and covers industries including  EMMNERHBERALE - BRR P OTRELEE
building materials, small commodities, hardware materials and machinery ~ EREBIEEN « \EH - AL HE - RE - KER
products, home furnishing, automobile and motorcycle parts, non- & - BIER * RE BERITNETFHES - 8%
staple food, outlets, e-commerce, etc., on its trade centre premises. CSC ~ FHCEER AP RIBREBAYENNGABEDR
Zhengzhou has developed into an influential trade and logistics centre  FR /0y » [AIBF - BB EERIIN IS B M HEE N %S
in central China. CSC Zhengzhou will speed up the development of EERMEHEMER  E—FHTERMYNEETS
residential ancillary and commercial facilities, in order to meet the local ~ FYFEK °

demands.

CSC Zhengzhou was elected to be “Provincial Key Project”, “Provincial — BBJNZEERH &Y A EAEZERER ] - @A
Key Investment Promotion Project”, and “Priority Relocation Site for B ARSI ETE B | K[ BN A Dbk 5 T 35 90 B 5t HE &
Wholesale Markets of Zhengzhou City Centre”. In response to the local — #ith | o #1815 BUF S EIERIS A5 A2 - BIMN %R
policy to support innovation and entrepreneurship, CSC Zhengzhou is also Y IMEBEEFTEERE - ERREREEES L &
actively promoting emerging industries, specially the e-commerce industry ~— MEZER 2016 FHLE LK Al AR E T REE
base. CSC Zhengzhou has gradually become a “Provincial E-commerce i~ [JARE BIHEE TSR AN | R ARE /MK
Demonstration Base” since 2016, “Provincial Cross-border E-Commerce (b A AIFTREEM |

Demonstration Base” and “Provincial Innovation Model Bases for Micro

and Small Enterprises”.

CSC Zhengzhou has a total planned net land area of approximately 7.00  EfJNZER AR B FEHEMIEL 7008 F 5K - 43R
million sq.m., and total planned GFA of approximately 12.00 million  B|FFHEEIELA1,2008F 5K -
sq.m..
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Hefei
China South City Hefei ("CSC Hefei”) is located at Anhui Feixi Economic
Development Zone of Hefei, the capital of Anhui Province. Anhui Feixi

Economic Development Zone of Hefei is a core area for municipal
development — Hefei “1331 Project”, and was elected to be “Anhui
Provincial Key Investment Project”, “Anhui Provincial Dispatch Project”
and “Anhui Provincial 861 Construction Project”. As Hefei city plays its
role as the political, economic, cultural and financial centre at the heart of
Eastern China, CSC Hefei benefits from the advantageous geographical
location equipped with well developed infrastructure: a planned
transportation system of railways, highways and river transportation
across China. The metro south line 4 across CSC Hefei has been opened
for operation on 1 May 2024.

CSC Hefei is now in operation, and covers industries including automobile
and motorcycle parts, hardware materials and machinery products,
building and decoration materials, textile and clothing, hotel supplies,
outlets, small commodities, non-staple food, etc., on its trade centre
premises, combining various functions, such as trading, logistics and
distribution, production display and promotion, information exchange and
innovation, industry cluster, featured tours and comprehensive supporting
facilities for urbanization as a whole.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

M ERR
BELATE

EEERRE
AREFHMRLRHEEESIEMERCERERE
RARM1331 ITiEzMERE B0 ES - 5 A
[ZRHEEZRESIEHE | [RREERFAEEE |
Rl ZHE861 TRIER | - BEEA M EBHIEATE
RSB « E - b RSP OLRTIE
AR EMBEZ TS EARERNREMT - KITEE
HIRIRE - WREREINER SR AR RTEER
RpEEEPE - i REARERBAMEAT
FIEAR D A2024F5 A1 HRERES -

BREAUERALE - X 5T OMRENLE
FREBEAREARR LeHE  JERM R
£KOBERM  BERE I ERMERARFEE
SRHERS  €2RE  VAKA  BRTEEER
R BIETRE - EEEE - BEeRE  BmitRe
RERGEZRINEN %8 -




Project Overview (Continued)
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Grand delivery of 1668 Huashangli in CSC Hefei Birdview
AREZE R 1668 A REEART — BB R

As Hefei further plays its role as the political, economic, cultural and  BEZEAEE —FHIBHEAER P OMTNECE » &£
financial centre at the heart of Eastern China, CSC Hefei aims to capture 7 * bR &P LAIINEE - S RERWBIRITIEZ
the opportunities arising from the area. This would bring about business — [EBR B - FBEERAIFNE D - FREZESRT
and huge visitor flow, and in turn simulate advancement and become the = ZREEZ: -

core large-scale integrated logistics and trade centre in the region.

CSC Hefei has a total planned net land area of approximately 10.00 & AEZERI M AR B F (NI AL 1,0008F 5K » 48

million sq.m. with a total planned GFA of approximately 12.00 million  #RZ|FEEmIE) 51,2008 F K o
sq.m..
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Chongging

China South City Chongging (“CSC Chongqging”) is strategically located at
Banan District of Chongging, the only direct-administered municipality in
midwestern China, as well as the essential location seamlessly connecting
both "Belt and Road” initiative and “Yangtze River Economic Belt”.
CSC Chonggqing is also the Group's first project in direct-administered
municipality. The project is highly accessible to the city centre and other
regions given its highway network strategic location in the Chongging
Highway Logistics Base, the state-level giant transportation infrastructure
in the western region. Such location is also the starting point of national
strategies of “The New International Land-sea Trade Corridor” and
"Chongqing-ASEAN International Logistics Channel”.

Under the background where the government has put great efforts to
promote the development of Chengdu-Chongging Economic Circle and
the expansion and upgrade of Chongging High-tech Zone, Chongging
has shifted its focus towards the development of the western area of
the city, making CSC Chongging which is located at the prime area of
Western Chongqing a new hot spot for development with huge potential
for future development. In addition, coupled with the growing maturity of
business in Banan district, the groundwork of transportation infrastructure
and commercial environment was laid for the project. CSC Chongging
Banan Huafu e Yundi* ushered in a grand delivery in last year. In terms
of architectural design, the local humanities and natural environment are
used as the background color, emphasizing compatibility with the urban
temperament, and adopting a new Asian architectural style to create a
perfect living experience that integrates ecological, cultural, and artistic
concepts while meeting the needs of local people.

*  For identification purpose only

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

EEEEH
EEERHRBIM AN TP A EETE
EmomEmE 2% BN RILES 58
EREBERNERELY  AAEEEEEFPER
MHIRE - LHEHRREALBER -SE QK
YIREH ARSI E - TREERTENRERKE
i BRmTLREREMLE - TFEERBEEE
BRESESMABBINMEERERRMRABEE 2
AEES o

EERAK NSO ENEERRZR  EESHRE
BHENBRERT  EERENTEERRA - HE
BEERBZOENEEERRUL EERFAAQ &
HIBRENER - AE - BEDEREE N RS
I - REBARKRNRBEENBEREEETR
R - XF > EEFERINEEELT MR
AR FERER L - WEMAX - BRARRRE
B RFERTRENRALE - KAMDMEER
& TERA AR b - BINER  ABXAAE
MWATRN TR E(EER



Project Overview (Continued)
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CSC Chongging is now in operation, and covers industries such as small
commodities, hardware materials and machinery products, hotel supplies,
building and decoration materials, textiles and clothing, automobile and
motorcycle parts, lightings and lamps, outlets, metals, cultural tourism,
etc., on its trade centre premises, providing a tremendous momentum for
the development of commercial logistics and trading industry in Southwest
Region. Four functional areas of CSC Chongging include exhibition and
trading area, central park commercial and leisure area, facilities for living
area and logistics and warehousing.

There are Southwest University CSC Primary School and CSC Junior High
School established on CSC Chongging to cope with the on-site demand
in course of development. With the opening of the schools, apart from
attracting the flow of people to CSC Chongging, it drives the need
of various facilities for living, which in turn further accelerates pace of
development on the project.

CSC Chongging has a total planned net land area of approximately 5.90
million sq.m. with a total GFA of approximately 13.10 million sq.m..
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CSC Chongging’s 2024 Spring Tea Tasting
Event was successfully held

EEEEH024FEEZnE S EHEMELT

March = F

CSC Chongging held the 11th Hotel Supplies
and Catering Industry Expo Exhibition

EREEHERENELEAnREREXREE



CSC Nanchang D02 West Station
Yuecheng was successfully delivered

I S E R D027 vk i 35 AR 2 XA

The 2nd Five-star Merchant Awarding Ceremony
in CSC Chongging was successfully held
EREEHE_ERLEBF
REGEXNERET

June ~ H

September J1 H

Mid-Autumn Poetry and Song Exhibition in
CSC Nanning 1668 Plaza
FEERN1668ESENTURFARER

FY2024 MAJOR EVENTS
202481 F REL



CSC Nanchang held the Autumn Building
Materials and Home Furnishing Festival

HMEEREERNEENREDHEY

November

CSC Hefei held the Autumn Hardware and Home E

Building Materials Group Buying Festival
EREFHERNFTISREEMBES

October + H

Opening Ceremony of CSC Nanchang
Leerle Supermarket
e LA TR



CSC Nanning No. 1 Plaza held the 2nd
Tongxin - Mingdao Cup Calligraphy and
Painting Art Exchange Exhibition
PEEERIRESERE -

RENRE_EEEEMIN

CSC Zhengzhou Guochao Folk Temple Fair
was successfully held
BMNERERENRAEE
BB EMERT

CSC Hefei held the New Year Goods
Festival and grand opening of
Branded Home Appliances Plaza
AREERENRTFEHERE
REREESBRAME

December + = H
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MR

(in HK$'000 F&T)

/A Revenue
<2 A

4,083,380

1/2024-12/2024

4/2023-12/2023 3,508,926

4/2022-3/2023 4,052,262

4/2021-3/2022 9,615,923

4/2020-3/2021 10,786,212

R _Profit attributable to owners of the parent
$) BAREE AR

1/2024-12/2024 -8,975,762

4/2023-12/2023 4,317,462

4/2022-3/2023 699,984

4/2021-3/2022 760,200

4/2020-3/2021 2,415,498

Net assets value
BEEFE

26,606,950

12/2024

12/2023 36,446,625

3/2023 42,685,002

3/2022 45,089,972

3/2021 41,296,550
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Financial Highlights (Continued)

MBERE (&)
For the For the
year ended nine months ended
31 December 31 December Change*
HZ12A31A BHZ=12A31H
LHEE 1EAEA BiE*
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Revenue N 4,083,380 3,508,926 +16.4%
Loss for the year/period NE AR (8,975,904) (4,317,590) +107.9%
Loss attributable to B ARER AFEG
owners of the parent [E518 (8,975,762) (4,317,462) +107.9%
Loss per Share FREBE
— Basic —EK HK(78.45) centsi&fll  HK(37.73) cents/& Il N/ATNE

* The Group changed its financial year end date from 31 March to 31 * REBER2023FEMMBEREFLEHHE3 ANAER
December at the end of 2023. Accordingly, the preceding financial period
covered the nine months ended 31 December 2023 whereas the current
financial year covered the twelve months ended 31 December 2024, and
therefore are not direct comparable with those shown for the current year.

/12 A318 - At - HEMBEPREEE2023 12
A31BIEMNER - MAMBEAIRZEE 22024 F
12 ANALM+Z@EA - A BEAFERRINET
T E#ELE -

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZREFIRA T

27



28

CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT
ERE®|E

For the financial year 2024, constrained by the overall industry
environment both domestically and internationally, the Group continued
to face significant operational challenges. In 2024, China’s GDP grew by
5% year-on-year, down slightly from the 5.4% expansion in the previous
year. While there are signs of stabilization and recovery in real estate
industry policies, consumer confidence remains weak, and a sales rebound
will take time. During the reporting period, the Group's sales clearance
progressed slowly, liquidity remained under pressure, and daily cash flow
was primarily used to meet general operational needs. During the period,
SZCDG, our substantial shareholder, supported and assisted China South
City in communicating with domestic financial institutions to optimize
contract terms, extend repayment deadlines, and reduce loan interest
rates, successfully alleviating the Group's cash flow pressure.

In February 2024, due to the Group’s financial constraints, the Company
failed to pay part of its due debts, resulting in defaults and cross defaults
on some of the debt payments. The Company has appointed financial
and legal advisors to explore a holistic solution (the “Holistic Solution”)
for the Company’s offshore debt situation to alleviate the current liquidity
problem. However, some creditors filed a petition for liquidation of
the Company in the High Court at the end of January 2025, we have
since opposed the liquidation. The Company will actively respond and
strengthen communication with creditors, and actively explore various
Holistic Solution, with the goal of seeking a restructuring plan that is
accepted and supported by all creditors.

During the financial year, the Group adjusted its operational strategy,
restructured and planned its sales clearance and merchant recruitment
operations, made an all-out effort to achieve cash collection targets,
and elevated merchant recruitment and operations to the core focus
of “ensuring stability and steady operations”. In terms of business
operations, the Group cultivated and introduced diverse industries such
as new energy vehicle industrial parks, furniture and building materials
industries, commercial chains, and artificial intelligence data centers,
further enhancing the industrial ecosystem of its parks. At the same time,
the Group fully implemented measures to “ensure property delivery and
stabilize people’s livelihoods”, and has successfully completed the vast
majority of its guaranteed delivery tasks.
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Chairmen’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

In addition, the Group further upgraded its management team and
stabilized park operations, striving to reduce costs, increase efficiency,
and enhance merchant recruitment and operational capabilities. In
terms of commercial operations, China South City projects nationwide
proactively strengthened collaboration with various parties, actively
engaged with leading industry enterprises, business associations, and
relevant government entities to continuously introduce new industries
and formats that complement China South City’s existing ecosystem. For
example, China South City Group entered into a cooperation agreement
with Huamei Lijia Group; Le'erle Warehouse Wholesale Supermarket
opened in CSC Nanchang; the Halal Food (Nanning) Headquarters Base
was established in CSC Nanning; CSC Chongging signed a cooperation
agreement with Fuyunchi Group; and CSC Hefei partnered with Shushang
Yunji to build an artificial intelligence foundational data base. In terms
of transportation infrastructure, on 1 May 2024, the extension of Hefei
Metro Line 4 officially began operations, adding a new metro line to CSC
Hefei.

Based on industrial policies and market changes, the Group worked
to improve its merchant recruitment and operational capabilities,
continuously deepened its business transformation, and explored new
growth potential. During the reporting period, constrained by an industry
recovery that fell short of expectations, the overall sales clearance progress
in the investment and development segment remained slow. However,
the operational team overcame challenges and made positive progress
in “ensuring property delivery”. The Group vigorously promoted bulk
asset sales, achieving breakthrough progress in bulk transactions in CSC
Zhengzhou, while CSC Xi'an completed the full sale of multiple branded
pavilions. And the Group as a whole has successfully completed the
vast majority of its guaranteed delivery tasks. In terms of management
and team building, SZCDG dispatched management teams on multiple
occasions to guide and assist China South City with sales and merchant
recruitment, optimizing its management. Meanwhile, the Group also
restructured the organizational framework of various departments to

achieve leaner and more efficient management.
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Chairmen’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

Review of Marketing and Operations

During the reporting period, affected by economic downturns, the
Group faced headwinds in its operations amidst difficulties. Merchants
in the parks encountered varying degrees of operational challenges,
which increased the difficulty of attracting new tenants. Coupled with
factors such as tenant withdrawals, the Group’s merchant recruitment
performance and rental income came under pressure. In response to
market changes, the Business Management Division reacted promptly by
flexibly adjusting the business format demands and industrial positioning
of China South City projects nationwide. With merchant recruitment and
operations as the core focus, the Group adopted city-specific strategies,
restructured frameworks, integrated resources, and upgraded services.

During the reporting period, the Huamei Lijia project was contracted
and implemented in CSC Nanchang, aiming to jointly create the most
cost-effective furniture and building materials market in Nanchang. CSC
Shenzhen signed a new hotel brand lease spanning over 10,000 square
meters, further enhancing the quality living options within the park.
Additionally, China South City launched its first online cloud exhibition,
along with multiple large-scale events such as the spring and autumn
hardware and electromechanical and furniture and building materials
joint exhibition and the branded new year goods festival. These events
significantly boosted park foot traffic and supported merchant operations.
Qianlong Logistics focused on building three major business platforms,
namely a “park operation platform” as the foundation, a “warehousing
service platform” as the core, and an “collection and distribution
platform” as the main body, providing customers with comprehensive
supply chain logistics solutions. During the reporting period, Qianlong
Logistics engaged in discussions with potential high-quality clients such
as the Want Want Group regarding logistics warehousing, seeking
further cooperation opportunities. Huasheng Outlet launched a series of
events including its 13th anniversary celebration and the winter shopping
carnival, attracting numerous consumers for visits and purchases. During
the winter shopping carnival, overall sales increased by approximately
11% compared to the same period last year, with the number of
consumer members rising by 86% year-on-year. Furthermore, during the
reporting period, Huasheng Commercial was honored with the “Top 50
China Outlets” award at the 11th Outlet Leadership Summit, Shenzhen
Huasheng received the “2023-24 China Top 50 Outlets” award, and
Zhengzhou Huasheng won the “2023-24 China Outlet Rising Star”

award.
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Chairmen’s Statement (Continued)
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In addition, during the financial year, the Group achieved significant
cost reduction and outstanding management results, with administrative
expenses and sales and distribution expenses annualised decreasing by
42.9%. The Group continued to optimize its organizational structure
and workforce, streamlined the headquarters’ organizational framework,
clarified functional responsibilities, and advanced adjustments to
the organizational structure and personnel optimization of city-level
companies. During the year, the Group’s total number of employees
decreased by 37.1%, and total compensation expenses were annualised
reduced by 15.0%.

Future Prospects

Looking ahead to the new financial year, the Group will continue to
adhere to its sustainable development strategy centered on “merchant
recruitment and operations”, closely monitor national development
policies, align with market demands, and continuously optimize and
upgrade its business structure. The Group will maintain prudent financial
management, accelerate asset destocking, cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement to further reduce interest-bearing liabilities. Moreover,
the Group will shoulder its social responsibilities, continue to prioritize
property delivery while solidifying its development foundation with
merchant recruitment and operations at the core. In terms of business
operations, the Group will seek deeper cooperation with more enterprises,
tap into park resources, and create new business growth opportunities. In
the future, guided by national policies, the Group will build on its existing
advantageous business while actively exploring emerging sectors such as
health and wellness, cultural and sports tourism, low-altitude economy,
pet economy, “Goods” economy, new energy industries, and smart
logistics, aiming to reward the trust and support of our shareholders,
customers and business partners.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, we extend our sincerest gratitude to the
shareholders, customers and business partners who have consistently
trusted and supported the Group. We also express our heartfelt thanks to
the entire management team and all employees of China South City.

Li Wenxiong and Cheng Chung Hing
Co-Chairmen
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Business Review

In the previous fiscal year, international trade frictions persisted, and
geopolitical crises continued unabated. In China, economic recovery fell
short of expectations. According to data from the National Bureau of
Statistics, China’s GDP grew by 5% year-on-year in 2024, a significant
slowdown compared to the same period last year. In terms of market
sales, the macroeconomy is weak, consumer confidence is significantly
lacking, and after the industry’s downward adjustment, a strong wait-and-
see sentiment prevails, resulted in an overall sales recovery that remained
weak. Real estate companies continued to face operational difficulties.

In response to the adverse impacts of such complex environment, the
Company’s management and all employees rose to the challenge,
actively aligning with national policy directives and prioritizing delivery
commitments. At the same time, we adjusted operational strategies
promptly with focus on commercial operations as the core, accelerated
asset disposal, optimized organizational structures, reduced costs while
increasing efficiency, enhanced liquidity, and maintained safe and stable
operations. However, due to changes in the external environment and
multiple factors such as sales falling short of expectations, the Group’s
liquidity became increasingly strained.

Investment and Development Division

The Investment and Development Division mainly focuses on project
investment, development and construction, laying a solid foundation
for subsequent merchant recruitment and project operations. To meet
the diverse needs of projects across different regions, the Group has
developed various commercial complexes in multiple projects. The Group
has projects featuring multifunctional commercial and supporting facilities
in cities such as Zhengzhou, Chongging, Nanchang and Shenzhen. In
2024, the Group further deepened its efforts in cost reduction, efficiency
enhancement, deleveraging and talent structure optimization to create
a stable environment for corporate development. We actively pursued
inventory reduction and bulk sales in various cities. In particular, CSC
Zhengzhou achieved a breakthrough in bulk transactions, with the local
government repurchasing over 1,000 residential units in June 2024, and
Zhengzhou Qianlong completed its overall sales. Additionally, CSC Xi'an
completed the bulk sale of multiple brand pavilions, and the Group as
a whole has successfully completed the vast majority of its guaranteed
delivery tasks.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Management Division

The Business Management team is mainly dedicated to the Group's
project merchant recruitment merchant recruitment and project
operations, providing professional operation and management services
for all links of China South City, including development, investing and
financing. The business scope includes trade centres, logistics parks,
hotels, comprehensive business centres, commercial blocks, community
centres, residential, multi-functional properties etc..

To better coordinate related businesses, the Business Management
team focusing on operational targets, strengthening planning and
business management. Through industry and policy research, as well
as collaboration with chambers of commerce and industry resources,
the team positioned property types and introduced resources, achieving
breakthroughs in large-scale commercial leasing and successfully delivering
outstanding performance in traditional sectors such as furniture, hardware
and electromechanical products, hotel supplies and food. In addition,
investment promotion efforts were actively deployed in areas such as
new energy vehicles, spices and Chinese medicinal herbs, vocational skills
training and cultural industries. Furthermore, active exploration was made
in fields like health and wellness, cultural and sports tourism, low-altitude
economy, cross-border e-commerce, pet economy, “Goods” economy,
new energy industry and smart logistics.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Operational management and event planning provided excellent
operational services to merchants by enhancing both online and
offline offerings, organizing promotional campaigns and exhibitions,
driving foot traffic and consumer demand and helping merchants
improve performance and profitability, thus ensuring business stability,
supporting growth and fostering prosperity of the merchants. During
the Reporting Period, the Business Management Division continued to
introduce high-quality business formats and merchants, further elevating
commercial operations and service levels. On 30 May 2024, China South
City Group and Huamei Lijia Group reached a strategic partnership,
steadily implementing a 450,000 square meters furniture and building
materials brand pavilion in CSC Nanchang. On 26 September 2024, the
Halal Food (Nanning) Headquarters Base signed an intent agreement
with CSC Nanning. On 8 November 2024, CSC Chongging signed a
cooperation agreement with Fuyunchi Group. On 22 November 2024,
Le'erle Supermarket opened grandly in CSC Nanchang. Additionally,
CSC Hefei intended to collaborate with Baidu and Shushang Yunji to
build an artificial intelligence foundational data base while actively
promoting the establishment of a new energy vehicle industrial park.
CSC Chongging steadily expanded its hotel supplies and food markets
based on the strengths of existing business formats, and established an
online centralized procurement platform to create digital empowerment
and enhance operations and services. CSC Xi'an continued to build the
largest hardware and electromechanical industry cluster in Northwest
China, while CSC Zhengzhou solidified its position as the largest furniture,
building materials and automotive parts market in Central China. Online
and offline exhibitions and promotional events were held across regions,
effectively supporting merchant operations, including the China South
City Online Cloud Exhibition, the Spring and Autumn Hardware and
Electromechanical and Furniture Joint Exhibitions and the New Year
Goods Festival.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

gz

EEREMEHERIE  ATERRIERESHE

R EETIRY  EEEENERES -
MAEER R - B WARREACEEENRT]
CBRANE#ITIER K B o WEEA
EEEFESIABEERENES - E—SRAES
BEMRBAKT - 1R2024F5A308 - ErgH & @EH
EXURKEEXREMEE B EEEEEAME
AR ZEASE T HOROREEM @R 20244
9A26H  BHARMR(BME)BNEMBEMENEEE
i 2024911 A8H - EFEMWNEFEnEEE
RAVEEH + 20245118228 » £WLEBH AR
EERMMIWEEHRE - 1IN SREERETE - &
AEEERAGEITEATTEEMRESREN - WEGK
HEERBEEXEER A ERERRTERAESE
REEM - BEBITHERERARNRATISES
TEGEERTA  EBTHT R - B K SRR
%o ARERMY  HEITEALGEANASKEESE
SR ENERBFETER R ESAOREEM
TGMAEE TS - SMHRTE LTRSS RE
EE) BRI ABEPEE AR RERinERR
BIERE  EEPEUMETRLEHRE - XEEMH
B FEEHE -

g

il
A
h

I A

4



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The overall development of China South City aligns closely with major
national and local strategies such as the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area”, “Accelerating the
Construction of a Unified National Market” and “Industrial Upgrading”. In
the future, China South City will closely follow central and local industrial
policies to enhance the overall commercial environment and value,
leverage the resource advantages of its state-owned enterprise platform to
further consolidate its leading position in the trade and logistics industry.
At the same time, we will closely follow the wave of digitalization and
artificial intelligence development, plan industrial layouts in advance, and
explore the use of cutting-edge technologies such as big data and artificial
intelligence (Al) to comprehensively improve work efficiency and quality,
thereby injecting new momentum into the Group’s development.

Outlet Operations

Huasheng Company under the Group is specialized in outlet development
and operation, and increasingly enhances its commercial value through
professional and effective commercial asset management. During the
Reporting Period, Huasheng Outlet held its 13th anniversary celebration,
a winter shopping carnival and other events, successfully attracting
numerous consumers for purchasing. Foot traffic increased across all seven
cities during the events, with significant sales growth for flagship brands.
In addition, at the 11th China Outlet Leadership Summit, co-hosted by
the China Outlet Association and Yangtze Evening News of Xinhua Media
Group, Huasheng Commercial won the “Top 50 China Outlets” award.
Shenzhen Huasheng was named among the “2023-24 Top 50 China
Outlets”, Zhengzhou Huasheng received the “2023-24 China Outlet
Rising Star” award, and Huasheng Commercial’s first light-asset project,
Zhuhai Huasheng Outlets ® Impression City, was honored as the “2024-25
Most Anticipated Outlet”.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Logistics and Warehousing Services

Qianlong Logistics under the Group is a comprehensive modern logistics
company aiming to build three core platforms: a “park operations
platform” as the foundation, a “warehousing service platform” as the
core and an “integrated transportation and delivery platform” as the main
body, providing full supply chain comprehensive logistics solutions to
customers. As a professional operator of e-commerce logistics information
industrial parks, Qianlong Logistics has focused on developing logistics
resources in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and the
Yangtze River Delta, constructing and operating standardized and modern
e-commerce logistics parks. By integrating big data, artificial intelligence,
automation equipment, visualization, sensors and other technologies,
devices and applications, it is fully transitioning toward smart and digital
modern logistics. During the Reporting Period, the transfer of certain
projects, such as those in Zhengzhou, facilitated cash inflows, bolstering
the Group’s liquidity.

First Asia Pacific Group (Associated Company)

As a property service provider in China South City, First Asia Pacific Group
adopts a diversified property management model to ensure stable revenue
and pursue sustainable development. It develops residential facilities,
shopping malls, wholesale markets, as well as conference and exhibition
to create synergy, and adjusts and optimizes business priorities based
on local conditions. After years of development, First Asia Pacific Group
has achieved National First-Class Property Management Qualification,
becoming one of the few domestic integrated property management
companies capable of managing ultra-large commodity trading centers,
commercial properties and residential properties. During the Reporting
Period, it received multiple honors. In addition to the four awards
such as “2024 Guangdong Property Industry Comprehensive Strength
Enterprise”, as of 2024, it successfully obtained a 3A-level enterprise
credit rating certificate and five certification certificates: 1SO9001 Quality
Management System, 1ISO14001 Environmental Management System,
ISO45001 Occupational Health and Safety Management System,
ISO27001 Information Security Management System, and ISO50001
Energy Management System. These five systems are now operating in
parallel, promoting the Company’s high-quality development and leading
a comprehensive upgrade of its management across all domains.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Exhibitions and Events

During the Reporting Period, the Group organized numerous branded
exhibitions and events, supporting park merchants’ operations and
actively boosting regional economic development. These included the
Longgang District 2nd Live Streaming + Cross-Border E-commerce Product
Selection Conference and Shopping Carnival held at CSC Shenzhen,
where government representatives attended, providing a platform
for park enterprises and promoting the clustering of the cross-border
e-commerce industry. CSC Chongging Exhibition Center successfully
hosted the 2nd Furniture and Building Materials Exhibition, attracting
nearly 200 furniture manufacturers from Nankang, Chengdu, Guangdong
and other regions. CSC Zhengzhou hosted the “2024 China South City
Furniture and Building Materials Expo and 12th CSC Zhengzhou e Central
China (Spring) Building Materials and Hardware Exhibition”, with a
total exhibition area of 40,000 square meters and approximately 1,500
standard booths, drawing tens of thousands of dealers nationwide on
the opening day. CSC Nanning's 8th Spring Curtain Ordering Conference
attracted over 1,000 professional buyers, providing merchants a platform
to showcase new products and technologies while effectively driving
regional economic synergy. Huasheng Outlet’ 13th anniversary and winter
super shopping carnival series boosted performance across seven cities,
with Zhengzhou Huasheng Outlet recording a 44% year-on-year increase
and Hefei Huasheng Outlet a 38% increase. Additionally, the 2024 China
South City (Autumn) Hardware and Electromechanical and Furniture
Joint Exhibition led by the Group was successfully held across multiple
cities including Zhengzhou, Chongging, Hefei, Nanning, Nanchang, Xi‘an
and Shenzhen, enhancing merchant operations with bustling scenes
and increased transactions and influence. The 2024 China South City
New Year Goods Festival launched at year-end of 2024 across cities
like Zhengzhou, Shenzhen, Hefei, Nanning and Chongqing, promoted
themed products and features in surrounding communities, creating a
one-stop and cost-effective Chinese New Year goods shopping platform
that supported park merchants’ operations. Moving forward, the Group
will continue to plan diverse branded exhibitions and events, and actively
integrate park resources to promote stable merchant operations and
further drive regional economic development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Land Bank

Adapting a unique and flexible business model, the Group intends to
retain commercial properties including logistics and warehousing facilities
and hotels as well as certain trade centre units for self-use or long-term
leasing purposes in order to generate stable recurring income and achieve
asset appreciation. The remaining certain trade centre units and residential
properties will be listed for sale to generate cash flow for the Group’s

development.

The table below sets forth the breakdown of the total land bank of the
subsidiaries and an associate company of the Group as at 31 December
2024:

T bk

RHEBFEEERENERES  AKRERERE DR
RERRE  EEERE NERETHERZZH L
AEESERBERARAHERE  ESRERE R
ARREBERE MHETETERR ST OEHRE
EME - ARERE THE  RAKEERRREHAE
BWIRE M

TREHIAR2024F12 A31 BAREE B AT RE L
AR FTFIEE A AT s REHERR AR

Attributable
Gross Land Interests Held
Region Main Planned Usage of Projects Site Area Bank Area® by the Group
THRE REBAE
e BETERUAE fEEE HEAFO EiEE
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FAK) (%) (%)
Properties developed by the Group and its subsidiaries
REBRANE L AERIYE
Shenzhen Trade centres, commercial, hotels, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 1,023,500 1,726,600 100%
el RS BE OBE - ERREAMEERE
Nanchang Trade centres, residential, commercial, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 1,799,400 2,823,800 100%
EE REHL R BE RRRAMEERS
Nanning Trade centres, residential, commercial, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 728,400 2,224,400 100%
HE Rl - BE  ARREAMRER
Xi'an Commercial and other ancillary facilities 58,200 116,500 100%
EZ [BEIEL =i
Harbin Trade centres, residential, commercial, hotels, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 2,143,600 6,190,300 100%
BEE REHL R EEORE ARRAMRERE
Zhengzhou Trade centres, residential, commercial, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 3,193,800 7,738,400 100%
L) ReRL EE - BE  ARREAMRER
Hefei Trade centres, residential, commercial, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 2,022,000 3,613,200 100%
BIE gRL - BE - AREREMEESE
Chongging Trade centres, residential, commercial, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 2,339,300 5,666,400 100%
B REHL R BE RRRAMEERS
Sub-total of land bank developed by the Group and its subsidiaries 30,099,600
AEEREMBATREN LIRS
Sub-total of interests in the land bank developed by the Group and its subsidiaries 30,099,600

AEERAMEARREN L REER G
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Attributable
Gross Land Interests Held
Region Main Planned Usage of Projects Site Area Bank Area® by the Group
THRE REEfE
e BEFZRURE fhEE EEAHO [Efb B
(sa.m) (sq.m) (%)
(F5%) (FRK) (%)
Properties developed by the Group’s associate
REEHE L AFRIYE
Xi'an Trade centres, residential, commercial, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 1,444,300 3,131,900 30.65%
EZ REHL - BE  BREREGRER
Sub-total of land bank developed by the Group's associate 3,131,900
AEERERTRENT R
Sub-total of interests in the land bank developed by the Group's associate 959,900
REEREAARRN D RERR
Total 33,231,500
@t
Total interests 31,059,500
ERet
Note: it
1. Gross land bank area in term of GFA equals to the sum of total completed 1. T FEEESRER T EEEAEEMB RS

GFA available for sale and leasable GFA, total GFA under development and
held for future development (including public area).

THARERMETE - FIEP RISVERIR P ERERE
MARM(BEAKERE)
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Financial Review

The main objective of the Group’s financial management is to pursue
long-run sustainable growth while maintaining financial health through a
strong and stable capital base.

The Group actively manages its financing structure through various
financing channels, from onshore and offshore bank loans to different
interbank and capital market instruments, in order to achieve an optimal
capital structure and maturity profile. As at 31 December 2024, the
total interest-bearing debts of the Group were HK$30,220.4 million (31
December 2023: HK$31,752.3 million). The gearing ratio was 110.9% (31
December 2023: 84.0%). Furthermore, as at 31 December 2024, cash and
bank balances were HK$717.7 million (31 December 2023: HK$1,143.6

million).

Comparing with the last fiscal year, the revenue of the Group increased
by 16.4% to HK$4,083.4 million (FY2023: HK$3,508.9 million). Net loss
attributable to owners of the parent was HK$8,975.8 million (FY2023:
HK$4,317.5 million) and the basic loss per share was HK78.45 cents
(FY2023: HK37.73 cents). The net loss attributable to owners of the
parent and loss per share are mainly due to (i) increase in the provision
for inventory impairment; (i) reversal of deferred tax assets; (iii) increase
in finance cost due to reduce of interest capitalised on properties under
development; and (iv) fair value losses on investment properties.

The Group changed its financial year end date from 31 March to 31
December at the end of 2023. Accordingly, the preceding financial period
covered the nine months ended 31 December 2023 whereas the current
financial year covered the twelve months ended 31 December 2024.
Therefore, the relevant figures shown are not directly comparable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Revenue

Revenue for the Year increased by 16.4% to HK$4,083.4 million (FY2023:
HK$3,508.9 million) comparing with last fiscal year, which was mainly
attributable to both increase in sales of properties and recurring income
during the Year.

PN

WMEFHRFELE  RFRMNKAEINGCI%E
40.834188C(2023/ R [E : 35.08918/8 L) * =&
EHRANF YIS RIFE IR ASEINFTEL

For the For the nine
year ended  months ended
31 December 31 December

2024 2023 Change

BZE HZE

12H31H 12A31H

LFE 1ENUE A
2024% 20234 b
HK$°000 HK$'000 %
FHET FHTT %
Sale of properties YIS 2,995,091 2,522,694 +18.7
Recurring income FEEWA 1,088,289 986,232 +10.3
Property leasing income WEEWA 543,129 456,863 +18.9
Other recurring revenue Hfyfs IR A 545,160 529,369 +3.0
4,083,380 3,508,926 +16.4

Sales of Properties SHEWME

Revenue from sale of properties increased by 18.7% to HK$2,995.1
million (FY2023: HK$2,522.7 million). The increase was mainly due to the
fact that during the Year, more properties that had completed contract
sales in previous periods were delivered during the Year. Due to the very
weak overall property market, property contract sales during the Year
recorded a deep adjustment compared to the same period last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Property Leasing Income

The Group intends to retain certain of trade centre units for self-
use or rental purposes. Meanwhile, the Group also provide property
management services for its trade centres, shops and residential properties
delivered and in use. Given the diversity of its property types and
industries in China South City projects, the Group’s business management
division continued to provide diversified leasing and property management
services, to cater the needs of different property types and industries
across respective projects during the Year. Property leasing income will
become an important component of the recurring income of the Group
in the long run. CSC Shenzhen, being the more mature project in the
Group's portfolio, contributed a substantial part of the property leasing
income. During the Year, due to decline of leasing demand, the Group’s
property rental income was HK$543.1 million, an annualized decrease of
10.9% compared with last financial period (FY2023: HK$456.9 million).

Other Recurring Revenue

Other recurring revenue increased by 3.0% to HK$545.2 million (FY2023:
HK$529.4 million). Revenue from logistics and warehousing services
decreased to HK$123.5 million (FY2023: HK$179.0 million) due to the
decrease in the third party logistic services income for the Year, and the
revenue from outlet operations increased to HK$326.8 million (FY2023:
HK$261.5 million), mainly attributable to boost-up promotion in order to
attract customers during the year.

Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales mainly includes construction costs, capitalized
interest and land costs of properties sold, and operating costs of recurring
business. During the Year, the cost of sales increased by 22.9% to
HK$3,317.5 million (FY2023: HK$2,700.2 million). The increase in cost of
sales was due to the increase in the projects delivered.

Gross Profit

Gross profit decreased by 5.3% to HK$765.9 million (FY2023: HK$808.7
million). During the Year, gross profit margin decreased to 18.8% (FY2023:
23.0%), which was mainly due to the relatively low in average selling
price of properties previous sold.
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Other Income and Gains/(Losses), Net

During the Year, other income decreased by 67.2% to HK$31.3 million
(FY2023: HK$95.5 million), which was mainly attributable to the decrease
in interest income and government grant. In addition, other gains/(losses)
turned to the gains of HK$122.7 million from the losses of HK$632.9
million, which was mainly attributable to the gains on modification of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings during the Year.

Fair Value Losses on Investment Properties

The fair value losses on investment properties were HK$2,483.5 million
(FY2023: HK$2,317.4 million), mainly due to the decrease in demand for
leasing.

For each of the interim and annual financial reporting date, the Group
appoints an independent professional qualified valuer to determine the
fair value of our investment properties. The change in fair value of our
investment properties may be affected by a variety of internal and external
factors, such as rental area, rental rate, market prices of comparable
properties.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group's selling and distribution expenses was HK$165.7 million
(FY2023: HK$166.0 million), but the annualised decrease of 25.2%
was mainly attributable to the implementation of effective cost control
measures over marketing activities on the sales of properties during the
Year.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by 29.8% to HK$463.6 million
(FY2023: HK$660.0 million), and the annualized decrease was 47.3%
due to actions taken by the Group to streamline human resource and the
effective control of administrative costs.

Other Expenses

Other expenses increased by 175.1% to HK$4,595.2 million (FY2023:
HK$1,670.5 million), which was mainly attributable to the impairment of
properties held for sales.
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Finance Costs

Finance costs increased by 140.3% to HK$1,522.5 million (FY2023:
HK$633.7 million) due to the reduce of interest capitalised on properties
under development. By optimizing the financial structure, the Group's
weighted average financing cost decreased to 6.8% as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: 7.3%).

Share of Profits of Associates

During the Year, the Group recorded share of profits of associates of
HK$33.9 million (FY2023: 98.9 million), which was primarily attributable
to the profits contributed by First Asia Pacific Group during the Year.

Tax
Income tax reported a expense of HK$699.3 million (FY2023: credit of
HK$759.8 million), due to the reversal of deferred tax assets.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group finances its development and operations primarily through
internally generated funds, bank and other borrowings, and the issuance
of different types of bonds and notes on the onshore and offshore
market, which includes but not limited to senior notes, short-term notes,
medium-term notes, corporate bonds and domestic company bonds. The
Group will continue to explore different financing means and to extend its
financing channels.

Cash and Bank Balances

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had HK$717.7 million cash and bank
balances (31 December 2023: HK$1,143.6 million), of which HK$676.6
million were restricted cash (31 December 2023: HK$913.6 million). The
Group's cash and bank balances were primarily denominated in Renminbi,
HK dollars and US dollars.
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Borrowing and Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the total interest-bearing debts of the Group
were HK$30,220.4 million (31 December 2023: HK$31,752.3 million).
The details of borrowings and charges on the Group’s assets are set out
below.

Interest-bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

The following table sets out the maturity of the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and the extent of the Group's total
borrowings subject to fixed or floating interest rates as at the dates
indicated:

BERTEBEEEER

2024512 A31 8 - AEERET 2 EKA302.2041F
7570(20239F 12318 : 317.52318870) © AEEMN
BEEMEREEFRNOT -

FAERITRAMEER
TREFIAREE T BRITEEMET RAEEAREE
HF BRGSO EFAEERAR AN #ER -

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20244 20234
12A31H 12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ZE#BRITERREMHEE
repayable:
Within one year —FR 7,798,797 7,403,739
Between one and two years —FEWF 5,969,732 4,288,092
Between three and five years —FERF 1,611,298 4,862,537
More than five years HFEA 4,398,049 4,741,412
Total 4Bz 19,777,876 21,295,780
By fixed or floating interest rates REEHFBRN=E S
Fixed interest rate EijhabilE 7,875,549 6,604,133
Floating interest rate FE)F R 11,902,327 14,691,647
Total B 19,777,876 21,295,780

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of approximately HK$19,203.8 million were secured by
certain buildings, investment properties, properties under development,
properties held for sales and bank deposits with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$50,122.9 million. All interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of the Group were denominated in HK dollars, Renminbi or
US dollars.

2024512 A318 » AEEWFSRITREMEER
FHE192.038BETTENETETF - REWE - %
BAREME - BEHEWERBITFRIERR - HEE
BEHAE501.229(88 T - AEBAEHEMET BRIT
REAMGBELET - ARESZETABER -
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As at 31 December 2024, the Defaulted Borrowing amount of HK$15,742 & ZE202412 A31H @ EHERL157 02EHETHR
million had not been repaid according to their scheduled repayment date, KR EFETETEE K A HEE - BB NENEREE
triggering an aggregate amount of HK$375 million of the Cross Defaulted ~ 49/53.75@/E /BN BREHEE -

Borrowings to become repayable on demand.

RB2#1T
EERE
RERMEMEBFHERIIIAT

Issuance of Notes
Senior Notes

Other details of movement during the Year are set out below:

4.5%
senior notes
due August 2027 9.0%
9.0% 9.0% (9.0% 9.0% senior notes
senior notes senior notes senior notes senior notes due December
due April 2024 due June 2024 due July 2024) due October 2024 2024
4.5%
20278 A EIH
ZEEEE
9.0% 9.0% (9.0% 9.0% 9.0%
2024F4 R EH 2024F6 A EIH 20245785 2024F108 % 2024512558
ZBEEE ZBEEE ZEXEE) ZEEEE ZBEER
ISIN X52085883119 X52120092882 XS51720216388 X52238030162 XS52227909640
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FTET FET TET TET SE
Issued nominal value B1EE 350,000 350,000 300,000 225,000 370,000
As at 1 January 2024 20241718 288,840 287,180 236,729 202,500 333,000
Redeem upon maturity sl - - (9,469) - -
As at 31 December 2024 20245128318 288,840 287,180 227,260 202,500 333,000

All of the notes above are listed and traded on the Singapore Stock  EillFiBEBEENIFESZ A ETREE -
Exchange.

In April 2024, the Company received certain notices of acceleration from — R2024F41 « EEHFFBANER - KA RKEIZ
trustees at the request of the bondholders to demand immediate payment ~ FEAZEHAE T INRBA - BRI A2 20245
in full of all amounts of outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid 6 AZHIZEE =K « 2024F 10 AN E L =K -
interest due in respect of senior notes due June 2024, senior notes due 2024512 A | EARIE L IR A K2 202747 A BIEAAE
October 2024, senior notes due December 2024 and senior notes due July — JEZIEMFTA REE RS AN B FIARNFIS
2027.
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At the reporting date, the Company did not repay the above payment.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying value of Senior Notes were
HK$10,442.5 million (31 December 2023: HK$10,456.5 million). The
Senior Notes are jointly guaranteed by certain subsidiaries and part of the
Senior Notes are secured by pledges of share of certain subsidiaries.

Gearing Ratio
The Group's gearing ratio (net debt divided by total equity) was 110.9% as
at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 84.0%).

Net Current Assets and Current Ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$2,848.1 million (31 December 2023: net current assets of HK$6,603.8
million) and a current ratio of 0.93 (31 December 2023: 1.17).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group has provided guarantees mainly with respect to banking
facilities granted by certain banks in connection with mortgage loans
made by purchasers of the Group’s trade centres and residential
properties, and bank loans made by lessees of the Group’s residential and
commercial properties. The guarantees granted to purchasers of trade
centres and residential properties will be released when the purchasers
obtain building ownership certificates, which will then be pledged to the
banks. For leased residential and commercial properties, the guarantees
will be released accordingly when the lessees repaid the loan. Further
details to the above and other matters will be set out in notes to the

financial statements.

Pursuant to the investment agreement dated 16 December 2022 , China
South City Group Co., Ltd. (“the Seller”), China South International
Industrial Materials City (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“China South International”)
and Xi'an China South City Co., Ltd. (“the Target Company”) granted
to (Shenzhen Shenji No. 1 Industrial Park Investment and Operation Co.,
Ltd. (“the Subscriber”) the Put Option (the “Put Option”), pursuant to
which the Subscriber is entitled to sell at its discretion all or part of the
shares held by it in the Target Company to the Seller and/or China South
International from the date falling 54 months after completion, where
certain events do not occur, at the exercise price.
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The exercise price shall be calculated based on the following formula and
be settled in cash:

Exercise price= A+ AxBxC/360-D
A = subscription consideration actually paid by the Subscriber
B = a return rate of 6.0%

C = actual number of days from the date on which the subscription
consideration is paid by the Subscriber to the date on which the exercise
price is received by the Subscriber

D = dividend of the Target Company distributed to and actually received
by the Subscriber (if any)

As of the end of the year, the actual subscription consideration paid by
the subscriber was RMB3,500.0 million. As of 31 December 2024, the fair
value of the Put Option was HK$1,037.3 million and has been recognized
as a financial liability at fair value through profit and loss (31 December
2023: HK$1,070.1 million).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had future capital expenditure
contracted but not yet provided for amounting to HK$4,653.8 million (31
December 2023: HK$6,430.6 million).

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions
and Disposals of Subsidiaries and Associates

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has no other
significant investments or material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries
and associates.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts its business primarily in Renminbi. The income and
bank deposits of the Group were substantially denominated in Renminbi
to meet the Group’s development and operation needs in the PRC. Other
than the bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior notes denominated
in foreign currency, the Group does not have any other material exposure
to foreign exchange risk.
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The Group continues to adopt a proactive approach to closely monitor
the foreign currency market and explore the domestic capital market for
financing opportunities. Other hedging arrangements will be made if such

need arises.

Economic, Commercial and Other Risks

The Group may be affected by multiple uncertainties, which may lead
to a decrease in property sales and prices, property rental income and
occupancy rates, as well as a decrease in demand for the supporting
services and facilities it provides. It may also result in credit constraints and
increased financing and other operating costs. As the Group takes time to
develop, it may be affected by various risks. Although the Group engages
high-quality partners for project development, it may still be affected by
risks arising from the quality and safety of the products and services they
provide. The management of the Group will make timely adjustments
in response to such changes and risks. The Group’s further approach
to managing financial risks will be set out in the notes to the financial
statements.

Land for Projects and Restriction on Sales

The Group enters into project agreements with local governments prior
to the development of all projects in order to outline the long-term
blueprints of relevant projects. These agreements generally set out the
size and use of lands and the related development plans. However, the
actual acquisition of lands, land area and terms and conditions of such
acquisition are subject to the relevant regulations and local governments’
requirements, the Group’s development plans and the results of the
relevant public tender, auction and listing. Since the development of each
of these projects may last for more than ten years, the Group and the
local government may discuss to adjust the details of these agreements to
align with the actual needs of developments.

The pace of the land acquisition and project development depends on the
progress of the Group’s planning, as well as the procedural formalities
as determined by the local government departments. As the procedures
and requirements set by different local governments vary, the Group may
adjust the development of each project according to relevant conditions.
In view of its substantial land bank and flexibility in project planning, the
Group believes such circumstances will not have material impact on its
development as a whole.
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According to certain contracts and documents related to certain projects
and land, there are restrictions on the sale or development of some
project land or the properties built thereon. According to the business
model of the Group, the Group plans to hold certain trading centers and
commercial supporting facilities for leasing and self-use and develop the
project land in sections. Such restrictions may result in the Group facing
fines from regulatory authorities or the recovery of the right to use the
relevant land. Such restrictions have no significant impact on the Group’s
business.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a workforce of 1,262
employees. The Group aims to optimize the organizational structure and
talent structure to further control operating costs, remunerations and
other benefits of employees are reviewed annually in response to both
market conditions and trends, and are based on qualifications, experience,
responsibilities and performance. In addition to basic salaries and other
staff benefits, discretionary bonuses and share options may be awarded to
employees who display outstanding performance and contributions to the
Group.
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PROJECT PORTFOLIO

HEEE

Major Completed Properties held
for sale/finance lease

TECKRISEHE REHEYH

Group's Site Area Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest (sq.m.)  Description (sq.m.)
B EE BHAREER
L bk rEERS (FHK) AR (FHK)
China South City Nanchang ~ No. 1 Huanan Avenue, 100% 1,799,400  Phase 1 trade centres 394,300
EEES Honggutan New District, —HR SR
Nanchang City,
Jiangxi Province, China
FETAAEETANENE
EFAE—H
China South City Nanning No. 56 Shajing Avenue, 100% 728,400  Phase 1 trade centres 322,700
HEERR Jiangnan District, —HZS%0

Nanning City, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region,
China

hEERLRE SREED
TR @D HRES65E
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Group's Site Area Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest (sq.m.)  Description (sg.m.)
b ER BHREER
BE ok rEEREE (FHK) REA (FHXK)
China South City Harbin Tuanjie Town, Daowai District, 100% 2,143,600  Phase 1 trade centres 569,900
RREERN Harbin City, —BRGP0L
Heilongjiang Province, China
FERETERAETENE
Bl#5R
China South City Zhengzhou  Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, 100% 3,193,800  Phase 1 trade centres 816,000
Bz, Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, —HRH5H 0
China
FETEE BN RS m
it
China South City Hefei Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial 100% 2,022,000  Phase 1 trade centres 700
BIEERER Park, Feixi County of Hefei City, —HRG%0
Anhui Province, China
FEZHEEETERkEIER
ZERE
China South City Chongging  No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue, 100% 2,339,300  Phase 1 trade centres 306,500
EET Nanpeng, Banan District, —HR SR

Chongging Municipality, China
FEEETERR
EEZYYN R
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Major Investment Properties FTEREME
Approx. GFA
Project Location Description (sq.m.) Lease Term
BHRERR
L] bty AR (FHK) BROEH
1. China South City Shenzhen  No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, Phase | trade centres 167,100  Medium Term Lease
RYIZER Pinghu, Longgang District, —HBRSH0 FHEIZRY)
Shenzhen, China
¢7*?“m?gm5$7ﬁﬂ Phase | commercial and other
ERREH ancillary facilities
—HEERABRERE
- Business centres 22,400  Medium Term Lease
- BB IR
- Hotel properties 32,100  Medium Term Lease
- EEmE IR
Phase Il trade centres 447900  Medium Term Lease
ZHR SR IR
Phase Ill trade centres 304,800  Medium Term Lease
ZHR SR IR
- Warehouse 135,600  Medium Term Lease
- Bl IR
2. China South City Nanchang ~ No. 1 Huanan Avenue, Phase | trade centres 244,800  Medium Term Lease
HEERN Honggutan New District, —HBRS%0 R HRZR4)
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province,
China
FETEEREETANENE
EHAE—H
3. China South City Nanning No. 56 Shajing Avenue, Phase | trade centres and offices 553,100  Medium Term Lease

BEERN Jiangnan District, Nanning City,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, China

FRERM RS AREED
TRED H# KIES65H

—HRFPONBFE

hEIRH
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Approx. GFA
Project Location Description (sq.m.) Lease Term
BHOREEE
L] e 2ES (FHK) ROEH
4. China South City Harbin Tuanjie Town, Daowai District, Phase | trade centres and multi 455,800  Medium Term Lease
MEEERN Harbin City, purpose properties FHERZRH)
Heilongjiang Province, —HR PSR NE
China
HEZRIARAENEINE

5. China South City Zhengzhou
Bz

6. China South City Hefei
AREERA

7. China South City Chongging

BiEE

Longhu Town, Xinzheng City,
Zhengzhou City, Henan Province,
China

FETEE EMN RS m
B

Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial
Park, Feixi County of Hefei City,
Anhui Province, China
FEZEEAETEAREIER
ZLEXE

No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue,
Nanpeng, Banan District,
Chongging Municipality, China
FEEETERR

BT REAE—R

Phase | trade centres

—HRZF L

Phase | trade centres

—HZ G0

Phase | trade centres

—HRZH L

829,300

1,067,500

438,000

Medium Term Lease

hEIRA

Medium Term Lease

hEIRH

Medium Term Lease

P EIRA
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

HEAS (&)

Properties under Development BRPY=R
Properties Estimated
Gross Land under completion
Group's Sitearea”  Bank Area” Development calendar
Project/Location Interest (sq.m.) (sq.m.) Description (sq.m.) Stage of completion year?
1H#EE
HHERY  ERARHY EELLES it
BE/ Y AEEER (TA%) (FH%) WE (THK) THESR IR
1. China South City Shenzhen 100% 1,023,500 1,726,600 Trade centres, warehouse and other ancillary 249,800  Foundation work and 2025
RYIEE facities superstructure in progress
No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, Pinghu, ReHl - BRREMEERE HWETRR EETRES
Longgang District, Shenzhen, China
R TREER TS
EERE-H
2. China South City Nanchang 100% 1,799,400 2,823,800 Trade centres, residential, commercial, 2,004,300  Foundation work and 2025
HEEEN warehouse and other ancilary faciities superstructure in progress
No. 1 Huanan Avente, Reml % BE - RREBEER HETRREETRENH
Honggutan New District, i
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province,
China
HEIREEEMLARHE
EERE-H
3. China South City Nanning 100% 728400 2,224,400 Trade centres, warehouse and other ancillary 1,195,700  Foundation work and 2025
HEEEY faclities superstructure in progress
No. 56 Shajing Avenue, Jiangnan Reml - BEREMEERE HETER LETREMY
District, Nanning City, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, China
HEERLREAERED
TEEDFAESGH
4. China South City Xi'an (Qianlong) 100% 58,200 116,500 Commercial and other ancillary facilities 116,500 Planning -
EREEY(%R) BERAMEERSE HEl
East and West Six Horizons of
Xi'an Jinghe Industrial Park
(North District), Xi'an City,
Shaanxi Province, China
HEREAEXTRR T LR
(bR )R &
5. China South City Harbin 100% 2,143,600 6,190,300 Trade centres, residential, commercial, hotels, 4,999,700  Foundation work and 2027
REEEEN warehouse and other ancilary faclties superstructure in progress

Tuanjie Town, Daowai District,
Harbin City, Heilongjiang Province,
China

HERETARMETE BELE

ahl EE B% O EE ARRAL
RERi

WETRR LETREM
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

BHEMAE (&)
Properties Estimated
Gross Land under completion
Group's Sitearea”  Bank Area” Development calendar
Project/Location Interest (sq.m.) (sq.m.) Description (sq.m.) Stage of completion year?
1H#EE
FHER"  ERAHY EELEES it
B/ 1Y AEEER (EA%) (FHX) W& (THK) THER RIEEY
6. China South City Zhengzhou 100% 3,193,800 7,738,400 Trade centres, residential, commercia, 5910,200  Foundation work and 2025
BiESY warehouse and other ancillay facilties superstructure in progress
Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, ReTl - T BE - ARRABEE HWETRRFETRENF
Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, Fie
China
e D
EE
1. China South City Hefei 100% 2,022,000 3,613,100 Trade centres, commercial, warehouse and 2,118,500  Foundation work and 2025
EREmY other ancilary facilities superstructure in progress
Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial Reml 5% REREMEERS HWETRREETRER
Park, Feixi County of Hefei City,
Anhui Province, China
HEREERETER
WETSRZENE
8. China South City Chongging 100% 2,339,300 5,666,400 Trade centres, residential, commercial, 4,648,300 Foundation work and 2025
EFEMY warehouse and other ancillary faciliies superstructure in progress
No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue, Nanpeng, ReTh- % BE - ERRABEE HETRR FETREMS
Banan District, Chongging *ifa
Municipality, China
HEEETERREYRANES
Notes: B
(1) Represents the land area acquired by the Group as at 31 December 2024. (1) REAEER2024F12831ACEEZ LM -

(2)  Gross land bank area in term of GFA equals to the sum of total completed — (2)  THIFHEBEHAD IR LA fHHiyEAREmE R H

GFA available for sale and leasable GFA, total GFA under development and THEEETE AP ERBERRAENREERRE
held for future development (including public space area). The actual GFA to RAM(EEAXER)  REERERNEEIES
be built may vary subsequently according to needs of the Group. REREENTEMRMEE -

(3)  Represents the estimated time for completing the first phase of the project. (3) RERZIEE EHR TAEETEFR -
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FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFEHBHRE

Summary of Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

REBRRHE
For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
HZ12A8318  #®ZE12A318 For the year ended 31 March
LFE EAEA BZ3R31HLEE
2024 2023 2023 2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THEx TET FAT FAET
RESULTS E3
CONTINUING OPERATIONS RELERK
Revenue WA 4,083,380 3,508,926 4,052,262 9,615,923 10,786,212
Gross Profit EF 765,912 808,681 820,035 2,847,639 4,766,129
(Loss)/profit before tax from RABELCEER L
continuing operations Ban(EE) /FE (8,276,588) (5,077,435) (1,559,162) 1,511,302 3,299,849
Income tax (expense)/credit R (Ax), /B (699,316) 759,845 3,856 (834,738) (957,361)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period RERBLLER L
from continuing operations KEE/H(E8)/
ppEd (8,975,904) (4,317,590) (1,555,306) 676,564 2,342,488
DISCONTINUED OPERATION DRIEREER
Profit for the year/period from REBEEEEB
a discontinued operation RER /BN - - 2,254,801 82,560 72,641
(Loss)/profit for the year/period EE /(5B /7 (8,975,904) (4,317,590) 699,495 759,124 2,415,129
Attributable to: TEIE AL
Owners of the parent BRAIEAA (8,975,762) (4,317,462) 699,984 760,200 2,415,498
Non-controlling interests RS (142) (128) (489) (1,076) (369)
(Losses)/Earnings per share BEABAREER
attributable to ordinary BREEAZ
equity holders of the parent SR(ER) /BF
Basic LN HK(78.45) cents  HK(37.73) cents HK6.34 cents HK9.39 cents  HK29.85 cents
gl Al el Al gyl
Diluted e HK(78.45) cents  HK(37.73) cents HK6.34 cents HK9.39 cents ~ HK29.85 cents
gl L Al el gl
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Five Years' Financial Summary (Continued)

TEMBHMEE)
Summary of Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
REMERRREE
As at 31 December As at 31 March
R12A318 ®3A31A
2024 2023 2023 2022 2021
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TART THET THET FET FAET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAR
Non-current assets ERBEE 49,272,611 56,005,030 61,964,453 64,954,963 64,328,859
Current assets MEVEE 38,278,814 44,370,021 52,259,942 59,432,461 56,214,071
Total assets BEwE 87,551,425 100,375,051 114,224,395 124,387 424 120,542,930
Current liabilities TEARE 41,126,938 37,766,268 40,760,184 53,005,850 47,786,203
Non-current liabilities EnEasE 19,817,537 26,162,458 30,779,209 26,291,602 31,460,177
Total liabilities BEESE 60,944,475 63,928,726 71,539,393 79,297,452 79,246,380
Equity attributable to owners of BRREEA
parent JElh s 26,592,769 36,431,814 42,670,045 45,073,744 41,278,881
Non-controlling interests IR 14,181 14,511 14,957 16,228 17,669
Total equity BRAE 26,606,950 36,446,325 42,685,002 45,089,972 41,296,550
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT

ESRFTEEEEBE

Co-Chairmen

Mr. LI Wenxiong, aged 55, has been appointed as a Co-Chairman of the
Group, a Non-Executive Director of the Company since 23 September
2022, and is primarily responsible for advising on the formulation of the
Group’s general business model, development strategies and major
business matters as well as leading the Board together with Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing. Mr. Li is currently the secretary of the Party Committee and
the chairman of Shenzhen SEZ Construction and Development Group Co.,
Ltd.* (RIITTEFEEREEEEGRAF) ("SZCDG") and a member of
the second session of the council of China Ocean Development
Foundation* (FEl /B ¥ 5 RESEE _EEEEEFE). Mr. L had
previously served as the deputy secretary of the Party Committee and the
secretary of the Disciplinary Committee, a director, the general manager
of the SZCDG; and also served as the deputy secretary of the Party
Committee and the secretary of the Disciplinary Committee of Shenzhen
Yantian Port Group Co., Ltd.* ORI T E HEEBE B R 2 7). Mr. L
obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Philosophy from Sun Yat-sen University*
(fF1LKE) and a Master’s degree in Law from Xi'an Jiaotong University*
(ARIBARE).

Mr. CHENG Chung Hing, aged 64, is our Co-Chairman and an Executive
Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been a Director since 2
August 2002. He acted as Co-Chairman of the Group from 30 September
2009 until he was re-designated as Chairman of the Group on 25 July
2017, then has been re-designated as Co-Chairman of the Group on 23
September 2022. Mr. Cheng is primarily responsible for formulating the
overall strategies and assessing the performance of the Group as well as
providing leadership for the Board with Mr. Li Wenxiong. He has more
than 41 years of management experience in the manufacturing, wholesale
and distribution businesses.

*  For identification purpose only

BEXE

ML E 5558 0 B2022F9A23BEZ T AR
EEBMEEIERAARERTES  TEEERGIE
FEENBEEKER  EEXMEEAFTEREER
R WHBRESES NEEEEE - DEERAR
JImFRESERERERAR([FREEEm)E
ZEX - EBER RITESFERECSFEEE
EREE - FLECHEBEERREREZELRL
ZER BF 408 MERERIMEREEE
BRAFRIEZBECRLEER - TEAHEAFILK

BHE8T B NARBAREESRLEN -

EAE L - 645%  MIEEFERPITES - BALSE
EEAIRAZ—  B2002F8 2RI AEE -
200949 A30 B B EE S B F £ /F=201757 A
5HAEREEEE - H1ER202269A238FER
REEMBFEER - WEETZAETH T AEENER
REEMAHEASEEREE - WHESERES NEE
EFRE WERERMESHEB T AR RMFE
BB o
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Executive Directors

Mr. WAN Hongtao, aged 46, has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and the Group’s Vice President since 16 June
2022, then has been promoted as the Chief Operating Officer of the
Group and will remain as an Executive Director of the Company, but has
ceased to act as the Group's Vice President on 27 September 2024. He is
responsible for the overall operation and management of the Group to
achieve the long-term development goals of the Group. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Wan previously held various positions in SZCDG and its
certain subsidiaries, including a supervisor of Guangdong Special
Construction Development East Investment Co., Ltd.* (&R AFEEE R IPI%
& A PR 2 7 ) the deputy director of the Discipline Inspection and
Supervision Office (Office of the Board of Supervisors), the deputy director
of the Office (Secretariat of the Board of Directors), and the director of
the Office (Secretariat of the Board of Directors) of SZCDG. Mr. Wan
graduated from Nanjing University of Science and Technology with a
major in Economic Law and a minor in Accounting in 2000, and obtained
a Master’s degree in Business Administration from Lanzhou University in
2016.

Ms. FANG Ling, aged 46, has been appointed as an Executive Director
and the Group’s Financial Controller since 3 April 2024. She is in charge
Financial and Fund Management Division and Small Loan Company.
Ms. Fang previously held various positions in SZCDG and its certain
subsidiaries, including the director of the operation and management
department of SZCDG and a director of Shenzhen SEZ Technology Park
Development Co., Ltd* (FRYI T EEZEMNFEREERBRAA) (@
subsidiary of SZCDG). Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Fang served as the
deputy director of the financial management department of SZCDG, the
financial controller of Shenzhen Lugiao Construction and Development
Group Co., Ltd.* (RIIT BB RZLEREEFR A F]), and the director
of the financial management department of Shenzhen SEZ Investment
Development Co., Ltd.* CRIITTFREFHIFEE R ER A F]). Ms. Fang
obtained a Bachelor of Management with a major in Accounting from the
Hunan University in 2000.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Ms. XU Hongxia, aged 49, has been appointed as an Executive Director
and the chairman of CSC Harbin since 9 September 2024. She is in
charge the Operation and Management Division, Huasheng Commerce
and CSC Harbin. Ms. Xu joined the Group in September 2013 and is
currently the Party Committee Secretary, the chairman and general
manager of CSC Harbin. Before joining the Group, Ms. Xu served as the
general manager of the China-Russia Timber Trading Centre and the
deputy director of the Qing’an County Investment Promotion Bureau.
Ms. Xu is currently a representative of the 14th Heilongjiang Provincial
People’s Congress, a representative of the 13th National Congress of
Chinese Women, and the party committee secretary and the president of
the Heilongjiang New Social Class People’s Association. She served as a
deputy to the 15th Harbin Municipal People’s Congress, a deputy to the
13th Heilongjiang Provincial People’s Congress, a standing committee
member of the Heilongjiang Provincial Federation of Industry and
Commerce, the vice president of the Heilongjiang Provincial International
Chamber of Commerce, and the executive president of the Heilongjiang
Provincial Federation of Economic and Trade Industry with Russia. She
was awarded the 2017 Heilongjiang Provincial Model Worker and the
2019 Heilongjiang “8th March Red Flag Bearer”. Ms. Xu obtained the
title of Senior Economist from the Department of Human Resources and
Social Security of Heilongjiang Province and a Master degree of Business
Administration from Harbin Institute of Technology.

Mr. LIU Heng, aged 47, has been appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company and a Group'’s Vice President since 16 October 2024. Mr.
Liu is currently the chairman of CSC Xi'an. Mr. Liu is in charge of the
Audit and Legal Division, and CSC Xi‘an. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Liu held various positions in SZCDG and certain of its subsidiaries,
including director and deputy director of the SZCDG, deputy general
manager of Guangdong Special Construction Development East
Investment Co., Ltd.* (ERFFEZE R 1% E B R A F)), a subsidiary of
SZCDG,; civil engineer of the Residential Engineering Management Station
of Shenzhen Construction and Public Works Department, hydropower
engineer and project manager of Shenzhen Great Wall Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd.. Mr. Liu obtained a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from Guangxi University Business School in 2015.

*  For identification purpose only.

HMEL T - 495 0 B2024F9 9B EEF ABIT
EERNBEBEANESR - O BKEEES - ¥
B ERMBRBERN o AT TH2013F9 A IMAR
EF RAEVREEMNEZERLD  EFRFEK
oo IAREER - HFLETLEFRBRAMZSPLLE
K1 BB BRECIERAEIBR - xR AE TN
EREIBEAANE FRBLZEFZA2EREX
ERERERTIETAMEREATHESESZES
kgk mEEE+RAERBATAARE  B+=
EREIBZAARE  BRILAIBEHRESSES -
EETARRE SR REERTIEHRCEEEY
o MERIE2017F BT LA EIEE X
20195 BEII = NAHEF | - ST 2 TEUSREIE A
NERI S RBRER T @ QAR R AR

BERTE

BI¥EABESIHEIREL -

BIfER4E - 4757 B2024F 10816 BEZTAAR
BlZTERREEEBE - X ERBARLER
HREER - BOBEENEEBRATERN - MAK
SEA - A EEEHARRERERREET FAR
WZERL - BREFEREEERAELHBREEE
BE BERERERFREERAR(FEEEEE
FITREEIBBEEIRE
Bub TR - FIT R EMRT TRARAA]
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. FUNG Sing Hong Stephen, aged 60, has been appointed as a
Non-Executive Director of the Company since 25 August 2023. He is
primarily responsible for advising on the formulation of the Group’s
general business models, development strategies and the resolution of
major issues. Mr. Fung first joined our Group in July 2006 and since then
he acted as the Group’s Chief Financial Officer until 19 May 2016. He
was an Executive Director of the Company from August 2014 to April
2020. Mr. Fung was the Chief Executive Officer of the Group from 1
January 2016 until he was promoted to Vice Chairman of the Group on
4 May 2017. Mr. Fung resigned as Vice Chairman of the Group and an
Executive Director and was appointed as a Senior Adviser of the Group on
1 April 2020. Since then Mr. Fung has been appointed as Non-Executive
Director as resigned as Senior Advisor on 25 August 2023. Mr. Fung has
more than 31 years of experience in financial management, mergers and
acquisitions, capital markets financing and corporate restructuring. Prior
to joining our Group, Mr. Fung was an executive director and the chief
financial officer of Guangdong Investment Limited (“GDI"). Before joining
GDI, Mr. Fung served as an executive director and the chief financial
officer of Guangdong Land Holdings Limited (formerly known as Kingway
Brewery Holdings Limited) (“GDL"). Both GDI and GDL are companies
listed on the Main Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock codes:
270 and 124, respectively). Mr. Fung graduated from the University of
Wales, United Kingdom with a master’s degree in business administration.
He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Fung is a Hong Kong Accounting Advisor appointed by
the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China, a member of
the Hong Kong Election Committee, a member of the Advisory Committee
of the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council in Hong Kong, a vice
president of the Association of Hong Kong Accounting Advisors, the
former president of the Hong Kong Business Accountants Association, an
executive committee member of the Hong Kong Professionals and Senior
Executives Association, a standing member of the Chongging Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and an executive
vice president of the Hong Kong Chongging Friendship Federation.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Ms. SHEN Lifeng, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director since 16 June 2022, then has been re-designated as a
Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from 6 January 2023,
and is primarily responsible for advising on the formulation of the Group’s
general business models, development strategies and the resolution of
major issues. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shen served as the legal
director and deputy general manager of China Textile Import & Export
Corporation Hebei Branch Company* (FR&h#E ) O 48R B b E 5 A R)),
the executive deputy general manager of Shenglun Import & Export
Group Co., Ltd* (i H O &£ E AR % B R A7), the vice chairman of
board of directors and the general manager of Shaanxi Kunzheng Mining
Co., Ltd.* (PR PG [ERE 2 A 1) B R A 7)), the chief executive officer of
Hong Kong Porda Havas International Financial Communication Group*
(BB EEERERE M EEAER). Ms. Shen is currently an executive
director of China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited (stock
code: 1427) and an independent non-executive director of Hebei
Construction Group Corporation Limited (stock code: 1727), shares of
both companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. She is also the deputy
secretary general of the Hong Kong State-owned Assets Investment
Association and an independent director of SZCDG. Ms. Shen has solid
basic professional knowledge of civil law, company law, financial law and
other civil and commercial law. She has worked in multinational
institutions in Hong Kong for 8 years and has over 21 years of experience
in large state-owned enterprises, foreign companies, multinational
companies, and had been executives and independent directors of listed
companies. Ms. Shen obtained a Master’s degree in Sociology from the
University of Hong Kong, a Master’s degree in Economics from Hebei
University, and a PhD in Civil and Commercial Law from Peking University.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Ms. LI Aihua, aged 37, has been appointed as a Non-Executive Director
of the Company since 16 May 2023. Ms. Li is primarily responsible for
advising on the formulation of the Group’s general business models,
development strategies and the resolution of major issues. Ms. Li is
currently the director of the financial management department of SZCDG
and the supervisor of Shenzhen Special Zone Construction & Development
Group, Marine Industry Development Co., Ltd. (RIS RE G FEE
LR AMRAF)) and Shenzhen Marine Expo Co., Ltd.* (FIIEFHEEREA
7)) (both of which are a subsidiary of SZCDG). Ms. Li previously served as
the deputy director of the financial management department of SZCDG
and the director of the financial management department of Shenzhen
Special Zone Construction & Development Group, Marine Industry
Development Co., Ltd.. Ms. Li obtained a Bachelor of Management from
the Shenzhen University with a major in Accounting in 2009, and
obtained a Master of Science in Real Estate from the University of
Greenwich in 2016.

Ms. DENG Jin, aged 34, has been appointed as a Non-Executive Director
of the Company since 16 May 2023. Ms. Deng is primarily responsible
for advising on the formulation of the Group’s general business models,
development strategies and the resolution of major issues. Ms. Deng
currently serves as the deputy director of group operations management
department of SZCDG and a director of Shenzhen Infrastructure
Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (FIITTERREREES TR
AR EEAF]) (a subsidiary of SZCDG). She served as the deputy director
of the strategy and investment department of SZCDG. Ms. Deng obtained
a Bachelor of Economics from Northwest University in Xian City, the
People’s Republic of China in 2010 with a major in Finance, and obtained
a Master of Science in Management from Case Western Reserve University
in2011.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Kwan Yuen Andrew, GBM, GBS, JP, aged 74, has been
an Independent Non-Executive Director since 4 September 2009.
He has more than 45 years of management experience in the textile
manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses. Mr. Leung was
elected as the President of the Sixth and Seventh Legislative Council of
Hong Kong and a member of the Industrial (First) Functional Constituency
of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong, he is also a member of the 13th
of National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. Leung is currently the honorary chairman of Textile
Council of Hong Kong, the honorary president of the Federation of Hong
Kong Industries, a fellow member of the Textiles Institute as well as the
Clothing and Footwear Institute in the United Kingdom. He was a council
member of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council. In addition, Mr.
Leung is an independent non-executive director of Wharf Real Estate
Investment Company Limited (stock code: 1997) and Dah Sing Financial
Holdings Limited (stock code: 440), both are companies listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. LI Wai Keung, aged 68, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director since 4 September 2009. Mr. Li has more than 47 years of
experience in financial management. Mr. Li graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic and holds a Master degree in Business Administration
from the University of East Asia, Macau (currently known as the University
of Macau). He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Li was a standing member of the Twelfth Guangdong Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
the honorary president and director of Hong Kong Business Accountants
Association, a member of China Overseas Friendship Association, the
secretary of the Financial and Accounting Affairs Steering Committee of the
Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association and Advisor of Management
Accounting of the Ministry of Finance, PRC. Mr. Li is an executive director
of Hans Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Hans Energy Company
Limited (“Hans")); an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen
Investment Limited (”SZ Investment”), Centenary United Holdings Limited
("Centenary United”) and Midland IC&I Limited (“Midland IC&I"). Hans,
SZ Investment, Centenary United and Midland IC&I are listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock codes: 554, 604, 1959
and 459 respectively). Mr. Li was an executive director and chief financial
officer of GDH Limited, an executive director of Guangdong Land Holdings
Limited (stock code: 124) and a non-executive director of Guangdong
Investment Limited (stock code: 270). Mr. Li had worked for Henderson
Land Development Company Limited (stock code: 12).
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Mr. HUI Chiu Chung Stephen, JP, aged 77, has been an Independent
Non-Executive Director since 11 April 2011. Mr. Hui has over 53 years of
experience in the securities and investment industry. He served as a council
member and vice chairman of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange, a member
of the Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission, a director of the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company
Limited, a member of the Listing Committee of the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited, an appointed member of the Securities and Futures
Appeal Tribunal, a member of the Standing Committee on Company Law
Reform and an appointed member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants Investigation Panel A, a member of the Committee
on Real Estate Investment Trusts of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission and a member of Government “Appointees” (independent
member) of the Appeal Panel of the Travel Industry Council of Hong Kong
for a number of years. Mr. Hui was appointed by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region a Justice of the Peace (JP)
in 2004 and was also appointed as a member of the Zhuhai Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
from 2006 to 2017. He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors and a senior fellow member of Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute. Mr. Hui also serves as a non-executive director of
Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (stock code: 590), Gemdale
Properties and Investment Corporation Limited (formerly known as
Frasers Property (China) Limited) (stock code: 535), Agile Group Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Agile Property Holdings Limited) (stock code:
3383) and FSE Lifestyle Services Limited (formerly known as FSE Services
Group Limited) (stock code: 331), of which the shares are listed on The
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Since 30 April 1998, Mr. Hui has been an
independent non-executive director of Zhuhai Holdings Investment Group
Limited (formerly under stock code: 908), the shares of which were
delisted from The Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 18 June 2021. Mr. Hui is
at present an independent non-executive director of Lifestyle International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1212) whose shares has also delisted from
The Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 20 December 2022. Mr. Hui was an
independent non-executive director of SINOPEC Engineering (Group) Co.,
Limited (stock code: 2386) and HK Acquisition Corporation (stock code:
7841) until 8 November 2024 and 30 October 2024 respectively.
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Ms. ZEE Helen, aged 57, has been appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company since 6 January 2023. Ms. Zee has
over 20 years of experience in investment banking and corporate finance,
and held various senior positions including Deputy Chief Executive
and Managing Director in Haitong International Capital Limited from
2013 to 2019. Ms. Zee has vast experiences in public services, she is
currently a member of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Advisory
Committee and Chinese Medicine Council of Hong Kong. She was a
former member of the Listing Committee of the Main Board and GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited from 2013 to 2019, and
University Grants Committee. In addition, Ms. Zee is an independent non-
executive director of Henderson Sunlight Asset Management Limited (as
the manager of Sunlight Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 435),
a real estate investment trust listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited), Hans Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Hans
Energy Company Limited (stock code: 554)) and Henderson Investment
Limited (stock code: 97). Ms. Zee holds a Bachelor of Science, Business
Administration degree from University of California, Berkeley, and is a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Dr. LI Xu, aged 50, has been appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 16 May 2023. He obtained a Bachelor of
Economics with a major in International Business Administration from the
University of International Business and Economics in 1997. He obtained
his Master’s degree in Finance from Boston College in 1998 and his Doctor
of Philosophy (in Accounting) from Massachusetts Institute of Technology
in 2004. Dr. Li joined the School of Business of The University of Hong
Kong ("HKU") as an Associate Professor in Accounting in July 2012 and
he teaches accounting and finance related courses and conducts related
research there since then. Currently Dr. Li also serves as the Programme
Director of the Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA)
Programme offered by the School of Business, HKU. Before joining HKU,
Dr. Li worked as an Assistant Professor in Lehigh University from August
2010 to June 2012 and The University of Texas at Dallas from July 2004 to
August 2010, respectively. In 1999, he worked as an associate manager
in Lucent Technologies, Inc., a strategic information technology consulting
firm, where he was primarily responsible for conducting financial analysis.
Dr. Li has obtained the Certified Financial Analyst (CFA) qualification from
the Association for Investment Management and Research (now known
as the CFA Institute) in October 2003. Dr. Li is currently an independent
non-executive director of China Tianbao Group Development Company
Limited (stock code: 1427), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange, China Kangda Food Company
Limited, the shares of which are primarily listed on the Main Board of The
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 834) and secondarily listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (stock code: P74) and
Pizu Group Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on GEM of
The Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 8035).
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Key Management

Mr. YU Mingming, aged 46, is the Group’s Vice President and General
Manager of Qianlong Logistics, in charge of the Safety Management
Division and is responsible for the overall operation and management of
Qianlong Logistics Group Limited. Mr. Yu joined our Group in June 2017
as the General Manager of Qianlong Logistics Group Limited, and was
appointed as the Group’s Vice President in June 2021. Mr. Yu graduated
from Shanghai Maritime University with a Bachelor degree in Logistics
Management and subsequently graduated from the Economics and
Management School of Wuhan University with an EMBA degree. Mr. Yu
was qualified as a Senior Logistician by #itE A W& BRIt & RIEE
(Hubei Provincial Department of Human Resources and Social Security*) in
2016. Mr. Yu has extensive experience in investment, operation and
management of logistics parks. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yu was the
general manager of Guangzhou branch company of China Merchants
Logistics Group Limited and an assistant to the general manager of China
Merchants Logistics Group Limited (a subsidiary of China Merchants
Group Limited which is a state-owned backbone enterprise directly
administered by the central government of China with its head office

based in Hong Kong).

Mr. CHEN Weiguo, aged 57, is the Group’s Vice President, in charge of
the Merchants Recruitment and Operation Division. He joined our Group
as the General Manager of CSC Nanning in February 2018. In December
2018, he was appointed as the Business Management Division’s Executive
Vice President, and was then appointed as the President of the Business
Management Division and Group’s Vice President in April 2020 and
September 2022, respectively. Mr. Chen graduated from the Chemistry
Department, Hanshan Normal University. Mr. Chen has extensive
experience in merchants recruitment and management in the wholesale
market. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked as the managing
director of China Pearls and Jewellery International City Co., Ltd. (a
subsidiary of Man Sang International Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 938). He also
worked for Man Hing Industry Development (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd..

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. XU Lei, aged 45, the Group's Vice President, in charge of the
Development and Management Division. He joined our Group on 5
September 2022 as Assistant President, then served as the Group's Vice
President in March 2023. Mr. Xu has 16 years of experience in real estate
development and management, and has extensive experience in design,
construction and sales. Mr. Xu graduated from Jilin Jianzhu University
with a Bachelor degree. Before joining the Group, Mr. Xu served as the
chairman of the Northeast Region of CITIC Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“CITIC
Real Estate”) and worked in CITIC Real Estate for 12 years.

Mr. ZHANG Wenhong, aged 39, is the Group’s Vice President, in
charge of the Group’s Offices. He joined the Group in September 2012
and has successively served as Assistant to the Chairman of the Group,
Deputy Director of the Headquarters Office, General Manager of the
Comprehensive Management Centre, Chairman and President of HOBA
Home Furnishing, and Chairman of the China South City E-commerce
Industry Alliance, and has been appointed as Group's Vice President in
August 2023. Mr. Zhang graduated from China University of Political
Science and Law with a Bachelor’s degree in Law, and later obtained a
Master’s degree in Business Administration from Peking University. He is
the sixth and seventh party representative of Longgang District, Shenzhen
City, the vice president of the Shenzhen Chamber of Commerce, and
a mediation expert of the Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Zhang worked for BYD Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on The Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock codes 1211 and 002594 respectively) as the
manager of the international legal department.

Mr. CHAN Hing Chau, aged 45, has been appointed as the Company
Secretary since 16 August 2021, in charge the daily affairs of the
Board and offshore financing matters. He has more than 17 years of
extensive experience in financial management, mergers and acquisitions,
corporate governance, company secretarial matters, and establishing and
maintaining investor relations. Mr. Chan obtained his Bachelor’s degree
of Arts in Accountancy and Master degree of Corporate Governance from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2004 and September
2018 respectively. He was also qualified as a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in July 2008. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Chan was a general manger of finance department of
Redco Holdings (Hong Kong) Co., Limited in March 2013, then served
as a company secretary of Redco Properties Group Limited (it is listed
on the main board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code:
1622) from October 2013 to July 2021. Mr. Chan had worked with
PricewaterhouseCoopers from December 2004 to March 2013.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

The Board hereby presents this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the fiscal year ended 31 December
2024 ("FY2024" or the "Year").

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group are developing and operating
largescale integrated logistics and trade centres in China, and has
developed and been operating eight projects located in Shenzhen,
Nanning, Nanchang, Xi'an, Harbin, Zhengzhou, Hefei and Chongging.
Adhering to its “trade and logistics+” model and focusing on real
business, China South City endeavors to provide an online-and-offline
combined logistics and trade integrated ecosystem for SMEs. Throughout
the years, the Group has evolved a diversified and flexible business model.
As the projects in various places are becoming mature, China South City
has actively been adding new industries and businesses in the respect of
innovation and technology on these project sites, apart from continuously
strengthening the provision and services on residential units, multipurpose
commercial properties, office buildings, commercial complexes, property
management, conference and exhibition facilities, warehousing and
logistics, outlets and financial services. The Group is striving towards the
world-class integrated trade and logistics centre, digital centre, innovation
centre and living centre, and aiming to “Integrating Industries into the
Projects, Building Beautiful New 'City’ Conducive to Work and Life"”.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out
under Management Discussion and Analysis as well as in note 1 to the
financial statements of this annual report respectively.

Results and Dividends

The Group's results for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2024 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set
out under Chairman Statement as well as in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 171 to 324 of this annual report respectively.

The Board resolved not to declare any final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024 (FY2023: Nil).
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Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining Shareholder’s eligibility to attend, speak
and vote at the AGM on 27 June 2025 (or at any adjournment of it), the
register of members of the Company will be closed as set out below:

Latest time to lodge transfer documents
for registration with the Company’s
shareregistrar . ... .. . At 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 23 June 2025

Closure of register of members .. ........... Tuesday, 24 June 2025 to
Friday, 27 June 2025
(both days inclusive)

Record date, being the date for
determining Shareholders’ eligibility . . . ......... Friday, 27 June 2025

During the above closure periods, no transfer of shares will be registered.
To ensure the relevant rights of Shareholders, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later
than the aforementioned latest time.

Business Overview

The business overview of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 are provided in the Chairman’s Statement, the Management
Discussion and Analysis and the Environmental, Social and Governance

Report of this annual report.
Share Capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.
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Reserves

Details of the reserves are disclosed in 33 to the financial statements.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the section headed “Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity” and in note 43 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has no distributable reserves,
calculated in accordance with Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), (31 December 2023:
HK$144.0 million was retained for daily operation of the Company),
which are disclosed in note 43 to the financial statements.

Debts Securities

Details of the outstanding senior notes issued by the Company during the
Year are disclosed in the section headed “Issuance of Notes” and note 29
to the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

Donations
During the Year, the Group did not make donations to any charitable
organizations (FY2023: Nil).

Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.
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Directors

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Co-Chairmen
Mr. Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director)
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director)

Executive Directors*

Mr. Wan Hongtao (Chief Operating Officer)
Ms. Fang Ling (Group’s Financial Controller)
Ms. Xu Hongxia

Mr. Liu Heng (Group’s Vice President)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen

Ms. Shen Lifeng

Ms. Li Aihua

Ms. Deng Jin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew

Mr. Li Wai Keung

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung

Ms. Zee Helen

Dr. Li Xu

Ms. Geng Mei resigned as Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer of
the Group from 9 September 2024.

Mr. Wan Hongtao has been promoted as the Chief Operating Officer of the
Group and will remain as Executive Director of the Company, but has ceased
to act as the Group's Vice President from 27 September 2024.

Mr. Qin Wenzhong resigned as Executive Director and Group’s Financial
Controller from 3 April 2024.

Ms. Fang Ling has been appointed as Executive Director and Group’s
Financial Controller from 3 April 2024.

Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman resigned as Executive Director from 9 September
2024.

Ms. Xu Hongxia has been appointed as Executive Director and chairman of
Harbin China South City Company Limited from 9 September 2024.

Mr. Liu Heng has been appointed as Executive Director and Group's Vice
President from 16 October 2024.
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The Company's Articles provide rotation and re-election for all Directors.
In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation. The Articles also
provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible to offer for re-election,
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible to offer for re-election.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Board considers all Independent Non-
Executive Directors to be independent.

The list of names of all Directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Company up to the date of this report is available on
the Company’s website.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into service contract with the
Company while each of the Non-Executive Directors and Independent
Non-Executive Directors has entered into letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The service contract and the letter of
appointment may be terminated by either party thereto by giving not less
than one month’s prior written notice.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

None of the Directors had a material beneficial interest, whether directly
or indirectly, in any significant contract to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a subsidiary of its holding
companies was a party during the Year.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Key
Management

The biographical information of the Directors and Key Management of
the Company is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Key Management” on pages 59 to 70 of this annual report.

Enforcement of the Deed of Non-Competition
Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 4 September 2009 (“Non-
Competition Undertaking”) entered into by Mr. Cheng Chung Hing has
undertaken with the Company (for itself and on behalf of each other
member of the Group) that so long as the Company is listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange and so long as:

° in respect of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, he remains as the controlling
shareholder or a director of the Company;

that he shall not, and shall procure his associates not to, either alone
or jointly with any other person or entity, or for any other person, firm
or company, or as principal, partner, director, employee, consultant or
agent through anybody corporate, partnership, joint venture or other
contractual arrangement, be engaged, invested, or otherwise involved,
whether as a shareholder, director, employee, partner, agent or otherwise,
directly or indirectly, in the carrying on of any business in any form or
manner in China that is in competition or is likely to be in competition,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, unless those business
opportunities have been first offered to the Group upon terms which
are fair and reasonable and the Board has declined such opportunities,
in accordance with the provisions of the Non-Competition Undertaking,
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing or his respective associates may pursue such
opportunities.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing confirming his compliance with the Non-Competition
Undertaking during the Year.

Directors’ Emoluments
Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments for the fiscal year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

Save as disclosed above, the Company has received confirmations from
all Directors that none of them have engaged or were interested in any
business which were in competition or were likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the Year.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in
Securities

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")) as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company and The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company

EERBERB 2 ES
B EXHBEES  ADADREHAEFRARER

AFEERN WEREFEREEXBEERIREHFZ
R IR A F B F 2 K A -

EERFETHRAEREZNES

M2024F 12 A31H - EEFR AR A H FMAEEE
E(EERESHREBEGE(FHRBAEKD ) EXV
)RR RRG (TR 1) -« BRI K (E e
BEARDFREES KRB KAIEI2EATFE
WELM - WRBELEMBETAZESETELFIHNIER
AESFRI([RESF AL BTG A QD 7 R BB AT
HRKEWT -

RAERXRARG REEARGHTRE

Approximate
Number of Shares held percentage of
UELLVEE the Company's
Corporate Personal Family Share total number of
Name of Directors Class of Shares interest interest interest Options Total issued Shares?
fEARRE
BRTRG
EEpE RAER NEREE PN 5 Eq Y4 B E a AEEsRIHY
Cheng Chung Hing Ordinary Shares 2,306,553,791% - - - 2,306,553,791 20.16%
LN LER
Fung Sing Hong Stephen Ordinary Shares - 200,000 - - 200,000 0.0017%
BEM LER

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZREFIRA T

77



78

Report of the Directors (Continued)

EEE®RE ()

Notes:

(1) Mr. Cheng Chung Hing is interested in 100% of the issued share capital of
Accurate Gain Developments Limited which in turn holds 2,306,553,791
Shares and is therefore deemed to be interested in the aforesaid
2,306,553,791 Shares.

2) The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 11,441,892,848
Shares issued as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024 to the knowledge of
the Directors, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be: (i)
notified to the Company and The Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which the Directors and chief executive were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) entered in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to
the Company and The Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities

As at 31 December 2024, to the knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have interests or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which

FTERFRRAEBSFNER

202412 A318 - BEZMA - M TAL(EEHK
RAREETHRABRINRARNOIBERDPESE
RWRANEERARIBES KB EHIEXVEDE2
3D MG AMARTEEE - AEARRTIREE
HREHEGRIIE3IB6KETFEN T LM ERIK

PN

were recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section & :

336 of the SFO:

Long Position in the Shares RIRBHEEFE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Shares or the Company'’s
underlying total number
Name Nature of interest Shares held of issued Shares®
LR N
R BBRITRG
wE LB EEME HEROGHE BEHAF IS
SZCDG Deemed interest in controlled corporation 3,350,000,000™ 29.28%
FrimEssE WRIEZ S EE S
SEZCDHK Deemed interest in controlled corporation 3,350,000,000™ 29.28%
BFREEEE RIS EE S
SEZCDIH Beneficial owner 3,350,000,000® 29.28%
R R BEmlEA A
Accurate Gain Developments Limited Beneficial owner 2,306,553,791¢ 20.16%
EmRBEBA
Tencent Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 955,936,666% 8.35%
FEIER AR A A RIS EE S
THL H Limited Beneficial owner 955,936,666% 8.35%

BHEBEBA
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Notes:

(1) SEZ Construction & Development International (Hong Kong) LIMITED is
wholly owned by SZCDG (“SEZCDHK").

(2)  SEZ Construction & Development Investment Holding LIMITED is wholly
owned by SEZCDHK (“SEZCDIH").

(3 Mr. Cheng Chung Hing owns 100% of the issued shares capital of Accurate
Gain Developments Limited.

(4) THL H Limited is wholly owned by Tencent Holdings Limited.

(5) The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 11,441,892,848
Shares issued as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, to the knowledge of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company, no other person (other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed
or taken to have interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.

Information on Share Options

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 4 September 2009
became effective on 30 September 2009 and expired on 29 September
2019 (the “2009 Share Option Scheme”). In light of the expiration of the
2009 Share Option Scheme, a new share option scheme was adopted by
the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
13 September 2019, after which the Company obtained a conditional
listing approval for such new share option scheme from The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (the “2019 Share Option Scheme”).

On 13 September 2019, the 2009 Share Option Scheme was terminated
and no further options were available for grant. However, the 3,000,000
share options granted and outstanding under the 2009 Share Option
Scheme have expired on 12 April 2024.
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2009 Share Option Scheme

The major terms of the 2009 Share Option Scheme were summarized as

follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme was to provide incentives
to eligible persons for their contribution to the Company and to
enable the Company to recruit high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group.

The Board may at its discretion grant options to Directors,
employees, officers, agents, consultants or representatives of the
Group.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme must not exceed 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. The total number of Shares in respect of
which options granted under the Share Option Scheme was not
permitted to exceed 10% in nominal amount of the issued Shares
as at the date of commencement of the listing of Shares on The
Hong Kong Stock Exchange unless with the prior approval from the
Shareholders. The Share Option Scheme limit was refreshed at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 August 2013.
At the date of this report, the exercise period of all share option has
expired.

The total number of Shares issued upon the exercise of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to each grantee
in any 12-month period up to the date of grant should not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to approval of the Shareholders.

The period during which a share option may be exercised would be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion, save that
no share option may be exercised more than 10 years after grant.
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The consideration paid by each grantee for each grant of options is
HK$1.

The exercise price in relation to each share option would be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion and should
not be less than the highest of: (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of The
Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares on the date of grant.

The table below summarized the details of the movements in the share

BEERAAXMBTEAT IR BRIENK

EEM2RBNBERESBERENITEE  EX
BERTISEENRRE  (RHREFE LA H
ERBBRMERBERMIIE T WHE : (i)
BOREZFRLAMAMAEE XA ERTBBR
P B3RERMIIFHYRTHE RGN RE
H H B EE

RN ENRIF2009F B AR 2R LB R 28

options granted pursuant to the 2009 Share Option Scheme during the — FHIERFN TR ZA ¢
Year:
Number of Share Options
BREZR
As at As at
Date of 1 January Cancelled/ 31December ~ Exercise  Exercisable
Name Grant Vesting Period 2024 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2024 Price  Period
#2024 Bi#/  RouE
£R RuiRH FEA 1818 BRI B X% 128318 e 64
HK$
B
Directors
Ez
Leung Kwan Yuen 13/412018 13/4/2018-12/412019 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 181 13/402019-12/412024
Andrew
FEE
Li Wai Keung 13/412018 13/412018-12/4/2019 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000 - 181 13/4/2019-12/4/2024
T
Hui Chiu Chung 13/412018 13/412018-12/4/2019 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000 - 181 13/4/2019-12/4/2024
TR
3,000,000 - - (3,000,000) -

Note: Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32 to the financial

information.
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2019 Share Option Scheme

The major terms of the 2019 Share Option Scheme are summarized as

follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
to eligible participants to contribute to the Company and to enable
the Group to recruit high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

The Board may at its discretion grant options to Directors (including
executive and non-executive Directors), employees, officers, agents
or consultants of the Company or any subsidiary.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and all outstanding options must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time. The total number of Shares
in respect of options which may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the issued Shares on
adoption date that is 810,722,884 Shares. At the date of this
report, the maximum number of the Shares available for issue upon
exercise of all share options which may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 779,222,884 Shares, representing approximately
6.81% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company as at
the date of this report.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to
each grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the number of shares in issue of the Company as
at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to approval of the Shareholders.
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The period during which a share option may be exercised will be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion, save that
no share option may be exercised more than 10 years after grant.

The consideration paid by each grantee for each grant of options is
HK$1.

The exercise price in relation to each share option will be
determined by the directors at their absolute discretion and shall
be at least the highest of: (a) the closing price of Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; and (b) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant.

No further options will be granted under the Share Option Scheme
after the date of expiration. In respect of the options granted and
accepted prior to the date of expiration and not then exercised,
they shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
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The table below summarized the details of the movements in the share

options granted pursuant to the 2019 Share Option Scheme during the  FBERHHEN TR ZA :

RANFEARRZE2019F BRAERT 81X B &

Year:
Number of Share Options
BREHE
As at As at
Date of 1 January Cancelled/ 31December ~ Exercise  Exercisable
Name Grant Vesting Period 2024 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2024 Price  Period
0245 Bit#/  RuE
tH RHAH L 1818 BRI Bt XM 128318 ie® 8
HK$
BT
Directors
£
Geng Mei 29/6/2021 29/6/2021-28/6/2022 10,000,000 - - (10,000,000) - 100 29/6/2022-28/6/2026
Big 29/6/2021-28/6/2023 10,000,000 - - (10,000,000) - 100 29/6/2023-28/6/2026
29/6/2021-28/6/2024 10,000,000 - - (10,000,000) - 100 29/6/2024-28/6/2026
Cheng Ka Man Carman ~ 7/2/2020 71212020-6/212021 2,600,000 - - (2,600,000) - 100 7/212021-6/2/2025
=) 712/2020-6/2/2022 2,600,000 - - (2,600,000) - 100 7/2/2022-6/212025
71212020-6/2/2023 2,600,000 - - (2,600,000) - 100 7/2/2023-6/2/2025
Employees 71212020 71212020-6/2/2021 7,500,000 - - (2,000,0000 5,500,000 100 7/212021-6/212025
kg 71212020-6/2/2022 7,500,000 - - (2,000,000) 5,500,000 100 7/212022-6/212025
712/2020-6/212023 7,500,000 - - (2,000,000 5,500,000 100 7/212023-62/2025
29/6/2021 29/6/2021-30/3/2022 20,000,000 - - (5,000,000 15,000,000 100 31/3/2022-30/3/2026
80,300,000 - - (48:800,000) 31,500,000

Note: Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32 to the financial

information.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests in Securities” and “Information on Share Options” in this report
and in note 32 to the financial statements, at no time during the Year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company (including their
spouses or children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Continuing Connected Transaction

Continuing Connected Transactions in relation to
the Property Management Transactions

On 15 July 2022 (after trading hours), First Asia Pacific Group Company
Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the
“Vendor"), SZCDG (the “Purchaser”) and the Company entered into an
equity transfer agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Vendor agreed to sell, and the Purchaser agreed to purchase,
50% equity interest in Shenzhen First Asia Pacific Property Management
Company Limited (the “Target Company”) at a consideration of
RMB1,256,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,457,656,000).
Completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement took place on 23 December
2022 and the Target Company has ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Company and its financial results are no longer consolidated into the
Group's financial statements.

Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, upon completion of the Equity
Transfer Agreement, the Company shall (i) engage the Target Company,
its subsidiary and branches (the “Target Group”) to manage all present
and future property projects owned by the Group and (ii) use its best
endeavours to procure the engagement of the Target Group in respect
of the property management of present and future property projects
developed by the Group. Accordingly, the Company and the Target
Company entered into a property management transactions framework
agreement (the “Property Management Transactions Framework
Agreement”) on 15 July 2022 (after trading hours) for the provision of
property management services by the Target Group for the period from
the date of completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement to 31 March
2025.
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Key terms of the Property Management Transactions Framework

Agreement, among others, are set out below:

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject matter:

15 July 2022 (after trading hours)

(1) The Company
(2)  The Target Company

Effective from the date of completion of the Equity
Transfer Agreement to 31 March 2025 (both days
inclusive), subject to termination as agreed by both
parties

Property management services from the Target
Group to the Group, including security, cleaning
service, customer service, maintenance of order,
parking management, equipment and facility
maintenance, pre-delivery consultancy services,
sales office coordination, gardening and road
maintenance and polishing services (the “Property
Management Transactions”).

The following table sets out the annual caps for the Property Management

Transactions:

For the year ended

For the nine months

31 March 2023 ended 31 December 2023

YE RS R B (EP e &85 T

FIA977

HAMR -

IR

202297158 (X 5 EEE)

(1) ARA
2 BEAA

BRI E B E2025
FIANB(BRHEREMR) LA
M RIKIE TR E R TAR L

BEEERASEREEERS -
BRI - BEIRF - IR
FEER  RBMREEERE
RIEAN ARG~ SHERSEA -
& B A M S L H Y E B IR IR
(MERBRS]) -

TREINMERBRHNFE LR

For the year ending
31 December 2024

For the three months
ending 31 March 2025

HZE2023F HZE20235F 8%20245% HZE20255
3A31BLLEE 1283181 NEA 12A31BLLEE 3A31H1E={@A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FAT FHET
309,100 299,550 394,825 98,325

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total amounts payable by the

Group to the Target Group under the Property Management Transactions

Framework Agreement amounted to HK$388,306,000, which was within
the annual cap of HK$394,825,000 for the same period.

HZE2024F12A31HILFE - AEEREDE R
ek FE 1A B 1R 5 B2 15 /) 48 58 /2 388,306,000 7T -
Z & FBEREFE LFR394,825,000/8 T2 A °
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Upon completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement, the Target Company
became a subsidiary of the Purchaser, which is a substantial shareholder
of the Company. Accordingly, the Property Management Transactions
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As one or more of the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the annual caps for the Property
Management Transactions exceed 5%, the Property Management
Transactions are subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A

of the Listing Rules.

Details of the above have also been disclosed in the circular of the
Company dated 24 August 2022. Independent shareholders of the
Company have approved the Property Management Transactions at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 9 September 2022.

Continuing Connected Transactions in Xi‘an

On 16 December 2022 (after trading hours), China South City Group Co.,
Ltd. (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the “Seller”),
China South International Industrial Materials City (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, “China South
International”), Shenzhen Shenji No.1 Industrial Park Investment and
Operation Co., Ltd. (the “Subscriber”) and Xi‘an China South City Co.,
Ltd. (the “Target Company”) entered into an investment agreement (the
“Investment Agreement”), pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed to
subscribe, and the Target Company agreed to issue 2,262,938,726 new
shares in the Target Company at a consideration of RMB5,000,000,000.
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On 21 December 2022, China South International and the Target
Company entered into supplemental agreements to each of a construction

project management agreement (the “Construction Project Management

Agreement”), a marketing management and brand licensing agreement

(the "Marketing Management and Brand Licensing Agreement”) and a

supporting services agreement (the “Supporting Services Agreement”)

(together, the “Continuing Transactions Agreements”), such that the

expiry date of each of these agreements has been extended from 31
December 2023 to 31 December 2025.

0

Construction Project Management Agreement

The principal terms of the Construction Project Management

Agreement, among others, are set out below:

Date:

Parties:

Remaining term:

Subject matter:

25 February 2021 (as amended on 21
December 2022)

(i) China South International; and
(i) the Target Company.

For the period from the date of completion of
the Investment Agreement to 31 December
2025

Construction project management and
consultancy services, including, among others,
authorisation to use the product design system
and the intelligent fine decoration design
and management system, construction cost
management, construction quality control,
construction technology management, full-cycle
customer management and other supporting
consultancy services related to the operation of
construction projects of the Target Company
(the “Construction Project Management
Services"”).

M2022F 128218 - EERBRHEBZEARRER L
MEREIBEEE ([ 2EBEEEWR]) - ST
BRAERERE(EHEERLRERERZE] UK
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(I) Marketing Management and Brand Licensing Agreement

The principal terms of the Marketing Management and Brand

Licensing Agreement, among others, are set out below:

Date:

25 February 2021 (as amended on 21

December 2022)

Parties: (i)

(ii)

Remaining term:

China South International; and
the Target Company.

For the period from the date of completion of

the Investment Agreement to 31 December

2025

Subject matter: (i)

(ii)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

Marketing management and
consultancy services including,
among others, marketing and public
relations management, client and
partner management, marketing
training, marketing planning and other
consultancy services related to the
operation of construction projects of the
Target Company; and

Brand licensing services, including
the grant of (a) the right to use the
trademarks registered by China South
International for marketing purposes; (b)
the right to incorporate “China South
City” in the registered name of the
Target Company; and (c) the right to use
the achievements and recognitions of
China South International for marketing
and business negotiation purposes (the
“Marketing Management and Brand
Licensing Services").
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(I)  Supporting Services Agreement

The principal terms of the Supporting Services Agreement, among

others, are set out below:

Date:

Parties:

Remaining term:

Subject matter:

25 February 2021 (as amended on 21
December 2022)

(i) China South International; and
(i) the Target Company.

For the period from the date of completion of
the Investment Agreement to 31 December
2025

Supporting consultancy services in relation to,
among others, human resources administrative
management, finance management, legal
management and risk management related
to the projects of the Target Company (the
“Supporting Services” and, together with
the Construction Project Management
Services and the Marketing Management and
Brand Licensing Services, the “Continuing
Transactions”).

The following table sets out the annual caps for the Continuing

Transactions:

(1)

B E R i
RERBHHENEZHER(EPBEB)EIINT

HEf - 202142 A25H (742022412

A21B&E5T)

RIAI7T - () FEEER: &
(i) BFRERR-

FIEREARR WE R E A B 20254
12 A31H I-HARS
ZEREIA BREFARE  HbpiEEE

SAEIHEEBHENASERIT
HERE WIEEIE  ZRER
kEBREE(TEERS] - &
AR EERBMEHE R
EmERERBEBRISE
Z51) e

TREIIFEZFNFE LR :

For the
period For the
from 1 June 2023 year ending

to 31 December 31 December
2023 2024 and 2025

H2023%F
6A1REZE Bz
2023%F 2024F 20255
12831888 12A31BLEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Construction Project Management Services 2218 B SRS 26,754 45,864
Marketing Management and Brand EIHETE LR R RS
Licensing Services 54,491 93,413
Supporting Services BLERRTS 13,475 23,100
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The Subscriber is held as to 90% by Guangdong Shenji Huayuan Equity
Investment Limited Partnership, a limited partnership in which Shenzhen
Infrastructure Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Infrastructure Investment”) is a general partner and, through its direct
wholly-owned subsidiary Shenzhen Shenji Pengcheng Investment
Development Co., Ltd., is interested as to 100% of the equity interest as a
limited partner. Shenzhen Infrastructure Investment is a direct non-wholly
owned subsidiary of SZCDG. As a result, the Subscriber is also a connected
person of the Company by virtue of being an associate of SZCDG.

Upon completion of the Investment Agreement, the Target Company
would be held as to 69.35% by the Subscriber and 30.65% by the Seller,
respectively, and the Target Company would cease to be a subsidiary
of the Company and become a subsidiary of the Subscriber, which
is an associate of a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
upon completion of the Investment Agreement, the Continuing
Transactions would become continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As one or more
of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the annual caps for
the Continuing Transactions exceed 0.1% but are all below 5%, the
Continuing Transactions would be subject to the reporting, annual review
and announcement requirements but exempt from the circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Details of the above have also been disclosed in the circular of the
Company dated 17 January 2023.

As completion of the Investment Agreement took place in May 2023,
the Target Company was the Group’s associate, and the Continuing
Transactions was constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on that date.
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Continuing Connected Transactions in relation to
the Provision of Business Management Services

On 6 September 2023 (after trading hours), the Company and SZCDG
(a substantial shareholder of the Company) entered into the business
management services agreement (the “Business Management Services
Agreement”) in relation to the provision of the Business Management
Services from SZCDG to the Company for the period from 16 June 2023
to 15 June 2025.

Pursuant to the Business Management Services Agreement, SZCDG shall
assign the Secondees to the Company to provide business management
services to the Company, under which the First Secondee shall act as an
executive director of the Company and the Group's Vice President and the
Second Secondee shall act as an executive director of the Company and
the Group’s Financial Controller (the “Business Management Services”).
The Secondees shall be employees of SZCDG, and SZCDG shall be
responsible for their remuneration packages including but not limited to
salaries, social insurance contribution and other benefits. There shall be
no employment relationship between the Secondees and the Company.
SZCDG shall be entitled to replace the Secondees as and when necessary
by providing written notice to the Company. On 6 September 2023, the
First Secondee is Mr. Wan Hongtao (who has been an Executive Director
of the Company and the Group's Vice President since 16 June 2022, Mr.
Wan has been promoted as the Chief Operating Officer of the Group
from 27 September 2024), the Second Secondee is Mr. Qin Wenzhong
(who has been an Executive Director of the Company and the Group’s
Financial Controller since 16 June 2022) and his successor Ms. Fang Ling
(who has been succeeded Mr. Qin Wenzhong to act as an Executive
Director of the Company and the Group’s Financial Controller since 3
April 2024. For their biographies, please refer to biographies, please refer
to the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023,
published on 28 July 2023, the announcements dated 3 April 2024 and
27 September 2024.
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Key terms of the Business Management Services Agreement, among

others, are set out below:

Date:

Parties:

Term and

termination:

Price
determination:

6 September 2023 (after trading hours)

(1) The Company; and
(2) SZCDG

The term of the Business Management Services
Agreement is from 16 June 2023 to 15 June 2025.
Prior to the expiration of the term, the Company or
SZCDG may terminate the Business Management
Services Agreement by providing three-month prior
written notice to the other party and obtaining the
other party’s written consent.

The service fees payable by the Company to SZCDG
during the term shall comprise RMB4,170,000 per
year (exclusive of all taxes) in respect of the services
provided by the First Secondee and RMB3,870,000
per year (exclusive of all taxes) in respect of the
services provided by the Second Secondee. The service
fees include expenses incurred by SZCDG from,
among others, basic salaries overtime pay, welfare
subsidies, social insurance contribution, housing
provident fund contribution and annuity payments.
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The service fees have been determined among
the parties after arm’s length negotiations with
reference to a number of factors including (i) the
remuneration packages of the Secondees during the
period of providing services to the Company and
other fees which may be incurred by SZCDG, taking
into account reasonable fluctuations; (i) an increased
demand for the Business Management Services
due to the business planning of the Group and the
operating costs which the Group may otherwise
incur if there are no Business Management Services
provided by SZCDG; (iii) the positions, qualifications,
work experience and expertise of the Secondees; (iv)
the salary levels of enterprises in the industry and
the year-on-year increases released by the relevant
national and local government departments and the
average increase in the salary level of the Company
and SZCDG; (v) the management fees of relevant
industry peers for provision of similar services; and
(vi) the services (and the scope thereof) which are
expected to be required from the Secondees.

The rate of the service fees is fair and reasonable,
on normal commercial terms and no less favorable
to the Group than the rate offered by Independent
Third Parties for similar services. During the term,
the Company will, as an internal control measure,
make reference to the fees and terms in relation to
the provision of the Business Management Services
of similar nature and of similar terms by Independent
Third Parties (if any) on a regular basis and compare
them with the fees and terms for the provision of
services from SZCDG to the Company to ensure that
the fees payable by the Company to SZCDG will
be no less favourable to the Group than the rates
offered by Independent Third Parties for the provision
of services of similar nature and of similar terms,
and are based on normal commercial terms and fair
and reasonable. Please refer to the “Internal control
procedures for the Group’s continuing connected
transactions” section below for further details.
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Payment: The service fees payable by the Company to SZCDG
shall be billed semi-annually (based on the annual
service fees for the Secondees and on a pro-rata
basis), and paid by bank transfer in RMB before
the end of June and the end of December in each
year. The service fees shall be funded by the internal

resources of the Company.

The following table sets out the annual caps for the Business Management

Services:

For the period from 16 June 2023 to
31 December 2023

For the year ended
31 December 2024

b AN B FE A 8 A B R B S A O AR 7
BREGYFHEE-RUAREAED
FRGERER - REBEEEKERL
PIFtE)  YEBFARMIZAKR
AEBIRTTERUARE M © R
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For the period from 1 January 2025
to 15 June 2025

2023F6 H16 H#££2023F 12431 HIE HZE2024F12HA31BLEE 2025F1818#£F202556 8158
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT AREFT AREFT

4,383 8,040 3,657

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total amounts payable by the
Group to SZCDG under the Business Management Services Agreement
amounted to RMB8,040,000, which was within the annual cap for the
same period.

On 6 September 2023, SZCDG holds approximately 29.28% of the Shares
in issue. Accordingly, SZCDG is a substantial shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company. The transaction contemplated under
the Business Management Services Agreement constitutes a continuing
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of
the annual caps for the Business Management Services exceed 0.1% but
are all below 5%, the Business Management Services are subject to the
reporting, annual review and announcement requirements but exempt
from the circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Independent Non-
Executive Directors of the Company have conducted an annual review of
the continuing connected transactions as disclosed above, and confirmed
to the Board that they have been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms; and
(iii) in accordance with the terms of the above agreements (including the
relevant pricing policies) on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) "“Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules" issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing the findings and
conclusions in respect of the Group’s continuing connected transactions as
disclosed above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
During the Year, the Company redeemed part of the Senior Notes upon
maturity with an aggregated principal amount of US$9.469 million.
Details are set out in the section headed “Senior Notes” and note 29 to
the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above and notes to the financial statements, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

Bank Borrowings
Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 are set
out in note 28 to the financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers
The aggregate sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for less than 30% of the Group's total sales for the fiscal year ended 31
December 2024. The aggregate purchases from the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total purchases
for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2024.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any Shareholders which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's total
number of issued Shares has any interests in the Group's five largest
suppliers or customers.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to achieving high standard of corporate
governance. Detailed information on the Company’s corporate
governance principles and practices are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report as contained in this annual report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance

The Group is committed to fulfilling its corporate social responsibility in
community affairs, environmental protection and corporate governance
during its business operation in order to achieve its sustainable
development. The Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance
Report is set out in this annual report.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date
prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.

Five Year’s Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five fiscal years is set out on pages 57 to 58 of this annual report.

Management Contract

During the Year, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed.

Events after the Reporting Period
The events after the reporting period are set out in note 44 to the
financial statements.

Auditor

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs. Ernst & Young who
will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of Messrs. Ernst
& Young as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board
LI WENXIONG and CHENG CHUNG HING

Co-Chairmen

28 March 2025

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

RE - HEHEER
AEBEELBRTHNBITESELENEED -
BHERERAATANCEMLGEA  NEEEER
AREER - ARRZRE  HRREERERNA
FHA -

NRFRE

REBEARBNRFHER MIBEENARE T 2 &
BRERATRHMAM - ARRERE LR BRI
RER R A RIFAE

EFMBEHE
AEEBAEAEVRFENEEREERBERES
AARFEIRESTEE8H -

EEEYN
RAFER  AARAY B2 BEBRAPEAEE
HABT R FAEAERRITRED -

BEHESRKRER
AR B ik BIRFE RN A BRI 44 -

=D

M MERBLOKGMEBAER - EFRELTE
BRNEEBRREAFAGERET - BIEL KGR
EBMARR BB AZBEN ORARB R EERRE
FREES °

REEFS
BELE
I R MR AR B

202543 H28H



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERKE

The Company recognizes the value and importance of achieving high
standard of corporate governance to enhance the corporate performance
accountability and is committed to doing so. To the best knowledge and
belief of the Directors, the Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the Year.

The Board of Directors

Board Composition

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprises fifteen Directors, including
five of each Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Independent
Non-Executive Directors.

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Key Management” on
pages 59 to 70 of this annual report.

Independent Non-Executive Director

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements of
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three Independent Non-Executive Directors and
representing at least one-third of the board with at least one Independent
Non-Executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the Year, all existing Independent Non-Executive Directors have
made an annual confirmation of independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that each of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.
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Role and Function

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and performance
monitoring of the Group. It delegates day-to-day operations of the
Group to the Executive Directors and key senior management within the
control and authority framework set by the Board. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Further details

of these committees are set out in this annual report.

Relationship between Directors

Directors does not have any relationship with each other.

Change in Information of Directors

The change in the information of Directors since the publication of the
2024 interim report up to the date of this annual report is set out below
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

o Ms. Deng Jin has been re-designated as the deputy director of
group operations management department of SZCDG, but ceased
to act as the deputy director of the strategy and investment
department with effect from October 2024.

o Mr. Hui Chiu Chung was an independent non-executive director of
SINOPEC Engineering (Group) Co., Limited (stock code: 2386) and
HK Acquisition Corporation (stock code: 7841) until 8 November
2024 and 30 October 2024 respectively.

o Ms. Zee Helen has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Hans Group Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Hans Energy Company Limited (stock code: 554)) and Henderson
Investment Limited (stock code: 97) with effect from 31 October
2024 and 21 March 2025, respectively.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as a code of conduct of
the Company for Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the relevant period of the
fiscal year ended 31 December 2024. Employees who are, or likely to be,
in possession of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the
Company or its Shares are required to prohibit from dealing in shares of
the Company during the black-out period.
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Board Meetings

During the Year, five Board meetings were convened by the Company.

The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings was as follows:

Exges
RAEER  AATXBHAREFERSE  EF
THENEELBERMT -

8

Number of
Attendance/
meeting held®

HE BT
Directors = BRREO
Co-Chairmen BEERE
Mr. Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director) BB TTEE) 5/5
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director) BN (HTEE) 5/5
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer)™ Bz (B8 )" 4/4
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Chief Operating Officer)? BRRTEGESEE) 5/5
Mr. Qin Wenzhong (Group’s Financial Controller)® B RE (A FAEE)Y 2/2
Ms. Fang Ling (Group’s Financial Controller)® FB R (EEFY SR ) 3/3
Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman® LIS g 4/4
Ms. Xu Hongxia® Pk E O 11
Mr. Liu Heng (Group’s Vice President)” BB S (EEEAEE)D 11
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen RSEMEE 5/5
Ms. Shen Lifeng FREREZ+ 4/5
Ms. Li Aihua ENCY 4/5
Ms. Deng Jin Cilb=g g 5/5
Independent Non-Executive Directors MFHITES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESRE 4/5
Mr. Li Wai Keung FREEE 4/5
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung R A 4/5
Ms. Zee Helen ®wREZ L 3/5
Dr. Li Xu FifE+ 4/5
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Notes:

Q)

(©)

)

(©)

(6)

@)

8)

Ms. Geng Mei resigned as Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer of
the Group from 9 September 2024.

Mr. Wan Hongtao has been promoted as the Chief Operating Officer of the
Group and will remain as an Executive Director of the Company, but has
ceased to act as the Group's Vice President from 27 September 2024.

Mr. Qin Wenzhong resigned as Executive Director and Group’s Financial
Controller from 3 April 2024.

Ms. Fang Ling has been appointed as Executive Director and Group’s
Financial Controller from 3 April 2024.

Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman resigned as Executive Director from 9 September
2024.

Ms. Xu Hongxia has been appointed as Executive Director and chairman of
Harbin China South City Company Limited from 9 September 2024.

Mr. Liu Heng has been appointed as Executive Director and Group's Vice
President from 16 October 2024.

The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings
such director is entitled to attend.

The Directors are provided with agenda and Board meeting materials

related to the agenda before the meeting. They can access to the senior

management and the company secretary of the Company at all time and,

upon

reasonable request, seek independent professional advice at the

Company's expense.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into service contract with the
Company while each of the Non-Executive Directors and the Independent
Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company's Articles provide retirement by rotation and re-election
for all Directors. In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation.
The Articles also provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board shall hold office only until conclusion of
the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible to offer for re-election, and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible to offer
for re-election/election. Accordingly, five Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing, Mr. Wan Hongtao, Ms. Xu Hongxia, Mr. Liu Heng and Ms.
Zee Helen will retire from office and are eligible to offer themselves for
re-election/election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

Chairman (Co-Chairmen) and Chief Executive Officer
To ensure a balance of power and authority, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated. Since 23 September
2022, Mr. Li Wenxiong has been appointed as Co-Chairman and Non-
Executive, Mr. Cheng Chung Hing has been re-designated from Chairman
to Co-Chairman and will continue to serve as Executive Director that they
provided leadership for the Board jointly and ensured the proper and
effective functioning of the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities,
following the resignation of Ms. Geng Mei, Mr. Wan Hongtao has been
promoted as Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer of the Group
from 27 September 2024, he is responsible for the overall operation and
management of the Group to achieve the long-term development goals
of the Group until a suitable candidate to take up the vacancy of Chief

Executive.
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Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of the Board and the
Company’s affairs. All board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which have been published
at the websites of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively. The board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for the review and supervision of the
Group's financial reporting process, risk management and internal control
system and review of the Company’s financial statements. The written
terms of reference are in line with the provisions under the CG Code and
the roles and the responsibilities delegated to the Audit Committee by the
Board, which include to determine the appropriate corporate governance
practices applicable to the Group’s circumstances and to ensure processes
and procedures are in place to achieve the Group’s corporate governance
objectives.

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee consists of three
Independent Non-Executive Directors and one Non-Executive Director
including Mr. Li Wai Keung as chairman, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew,
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung and Ms. Shen Lifeng. During the Year, two Audit
Committee meetings were held to review the FY2023 annual results and
the FY2024 interim results of the Group before submission to the Board.
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During FY2024, the Audit Committee had reviewed the risk management
and internal control system, connected transactions, interim results and
annual results of the Group and the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group. The attendance of the Directors at the Audit
Committee meetings was as follows:

R4 BFE - EREZEeRENASENER &
WEHELRSF - HERS  PHEEREFEEUR
REBMRWN ST RARIER - BEREZEEEENE
EHFEROT -

Number of
attendance/

meeting held"

HE BT
Directors BEx BRRHO
Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman) RMERLE(FE) 2/2
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESRE 1/2
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung PR A 2/2
Ms. Shen Lifeng AR 2+ 2/2

Note:

(1) The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings
such director is entitled to attend.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
on Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and other benefits.
The remuneration of all Directors and senior management is subject to
regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee so as to ensure that
the level of their remuneration and compensation are reasonable. The
specific written terms of reference are in line with the provisions of the
CG Code.

As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee consists of four
Independent Non-Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and
one Executive Director including Mr. Li Wai Keung as chairman, Mr. Leung
Kwan Yuen Andrew, Ms. Zee Helen, Dr. Li Xu, Mr. Li Wenxiong and Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing.
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The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for Executive AEEBMRITEETHMEREZ BN AELRR AW
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate Executive ~EEBHIEEFEEMNEARREAEENDEBZMN
Directors by linking their compensation with their individual performance A& ¥R - RINZEEAIALEMSEN © L%
as measured against the Group’s corporate objectives and operating B NMHBEIHITESE - ITEENFHFBIERIEE
results, taking into account also the comparable market conditions. The — A4 « @WK SHEEIELL - LEEERT 2 & E
principal elements of the remuneration package of an Executive Director ~ #if&7F|  FJEMITE R (BIEBI IFNITE S ) BN =
include basic salary, performance and/or discretional bonus, participation EBEEEHNEN2EBIETE YHEFELS
in the Share Option Scheme and other benefits. The remuneration of BESMNBENAIEALETSBEREETE -
Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Non-Executive Directors)

includes mainly the director’s fee and participation in the Share Option

Scheme which is a matter for the Board to decide by reference to their

duties and responsibilities and the comparable market conditions.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held to  RAFEER > GEA—XFHEESSH - UEHA
review the structure of the remunerations for Directors of the Company A REENHIEREARBEBREAZIRTESH
and the grant of share options under the Share Option Scheme to Director ~BIEEE - HFMEZESeZNESHFEBROT

of the Company. The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration

Committee meeting was as follows:

Number of
attendance/
meeting held”

HE BT
Directors = BRREO
Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman) TEBEE(EE) 7
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESLE 11
Ms. Zee Helen Bt 171
Dr. Li Xu FREL 171
Mr. Li Wenxiong TS E 11
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing LN e 11

Note: PEE -

(1) The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings (1) HEHFRAEFERLFEEREANABRAEFER
such director is entitled to attend. HEEENHA -
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The remuneration of the senior management (excluding Directors) by
band for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

HZE2024F 12 A3 B IEHREE » 8&AEERAB (R
BRES)Z2HNGBEZE DT -

Number of

persons

Remuneration band s E AE

Below HK$1,000,000 per annum 41,000,000/ TTAT 2
HK$1,000,000 to HK$3,000,000 per annum &4 1,000,0007 72 3,000,000/8 7T

6

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix
D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendation
on the nomination of Directors with a view that the appointment of
suitable individuals with relevant expertise and experience to enhance
the constitution of the Board and to contribute to the Board. The specific
written terms of reference are in line with the provisions of the CG Code.

As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee comprises four
Independent Non-Executive Director, one Non-Executive Director and one
Executive Director, including Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew as chairman,
Mr. Li Wai Keung, Ms. Zee Helen, Dr. Li Xu, Mr. Li Wenxiong and Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing. During the Year, the Nomination Committee were
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, including the
skill, knowledge, experience and diversity of background of its members,
and the re-designation of senior management of the Company. The
attendance of the Directors at the Nomination Committee meeting was as
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MR A ERD2 2 MEWER - WHN MK MESR
9o
REZEES

REZESRAREFRAEHES  UZRETAFH
A RAB M EROEE AR UBR(CEFERER
B REFSFLEM ERREABERENAE
JASTRIMRE

HE2024F 127318 - RRZESHEBBIIENR
TEE  —RIIPTEETR—BYTESTHAK - 81
REERE(ER)  FERBEEE - REBZT - FHIE
T IR ERBRELEE - RAFEAN - REE
BRI TESSHME  ABRER  EEEENE
KIFREE « AE - KBERESHEZHEME - UREARF]S
BEREZAT - REZESZENESLREBE RN
T

follows:

Number of
attendance/

meeting held”
HE BT

Directors = BRREO
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew (Chairman) REEREFE) 71
Mr. Li Wai Keung FREBEE 1”1
Ms. Zee Helen Rzt 11
Dr. Li Xu FE L 171
Mr. Li Wenxiong LA 11
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing /NI 11
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Note:

(1) The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings
such director is entitled to attend.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity by adopting a board
diversity policy which stipulates that when identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Directors, the Nomination Committee will
consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity, including but not limited
to a number of factors, such as age, race, cultural and educational
background, professional and business-related experience, reputation of
candidates for integrity and his/her accomplishment, skills, knowledge and
length of service, in order to maintain an appropriate range of balance
of skills, experience and background on the Board. The appointments of
Directors will be based on meritocracy and take into account the aforesaid
factors as a whole for the benefits of the Company, as well as the
business model and specific needs of the Company from time to time.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

During the Year, the Company arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ liabilities insurance coverage in respect of legal action against its
Directors and officers.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for overseeing the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and reviewing its effectiveness.
A defined management structure with specified limits of authority and
responsibilities is developed for safeguarding assets against unauthorized
use or disposition, the maintenance of proper accounting records for
the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publications and the compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Group has established an internal audit department to perform
regular financial and operational reviews and recommend necessary
actions to the relevant management. The works carried out by the internal
audit department ensure the risk management and internal control
systems are in place and function properly as intended. The results of the
internal audit and reviews are reported to the Executive Directors and
Audit Committee of the Company.
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For the annual review on the risk management and internal control,
the Audit Committee considered the internal control report and risk
management report were satisfied as to effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. There were no matters of
material concerns relating to financial, operational or compliance control.
The Board is satisfied with the adequacy and the effectiveness of the
systems of the risk management and internal control of the Group during
the Year.

Directors’ Responsibility in respect of the Financial
Statements

The following statement, which sets out the responsibilities of the
Directors regarding financial statements, should be read in conjunction
with, but understood separately from, the auditor’s statement of their
responsibilities as set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report contained
in this annual report. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The following is the extract of independent auditor’s report by the
external auditor of the Company:

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
recorded net loss of HK$8,976 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, and as at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$2,848 million. The Group’s current
portion of interest-bearing debts (comprising senior notes and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings) amounted to HK$18,241 million,
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$41 million. As at 31
December 2024, the principal or interest payable relating to aggregate
amount of HK$15,742 million of interest-bearing debts had not been
repaid according to their scheduled repayment date (the “Defaulted
Borrowings”), triggering an aggregate amount of HK$375 million interest-
bearing debts (the “Cross Defaulted Borrowings”) to become repayable
on demand. A winding-up petition was filed by Citicorp International
Limited (the “Petitioner”) against the Company on 27 January 2025.
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These conditions, together with other matters disclosed in Note 2.1 to
the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of multiple
material uncertainties which cast significant doubt on the Group'’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The directors of the Company have
been undertaking restructuring plans and measures to improve the
Group's liquidity and financial position, which are set out in note 2.1 to
the consolidated financial statements. The validity of the going concern
assumptions on which the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared depends on the outcome of these measures, which are subject
to multiple uncertainties, including:

(i) successful and timely debt restructuring with the lenders of the
Group's Defaulted and Cross Defaulted Borrowings;

(i) successful dismissal of the winding-up petition;

(i)  successful and timely implementation of the plans to dispose of
certain of the Group’s equity interests in certain property projects to
raise the level of liquid funds;

(iv)  timely implementation of the plans to accelerate the pre-sales and
sales of its properties under development and completed properties,
and to speed up the collection of outstanding sales proceeds and
other receivables; and

(v)  successful execution in taking active measures to control

administrative costs and maintain containment of capital
expenditures.
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As a result of these multiple uncertainties, their potential interaction, and
the possible cumulative effect thereof, we were unable to form an opinion
as to whether the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate.
Should the Group fail to achieve the abovementioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
amount of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

The Company'’s external auditor, Ernst & Young, has issued a Disclaimer of
opinion with a “Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern” section
in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” (the “Auditor’s Opinion”). Please
refer to the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual
report for details.

Opinions of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has (i) discussed with the Board and the Group’s
management regarding the going concern issue, and with the orderly
implementation of the plans and measures regarding debt resolution as
disclosed in this Annual Report, (ii) agreed with the position taken by the
Group’s management and the Board regarding the accounting treatment
adopted by the Company.

The Audit Committee has also discussed and understood the concerns
of the Auditor that uncertainties exist as to whether the Group’s
management will be able to achieve its plans and measures as disclosed
in this Annual Report. There is no disagreement by the Board, the
Group's management nor the Audit Committee in relation to the position
taken by the Auditor regarding the going concern issue and the basis of
preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Remuneration

The Group’s independent auditor is Messrs. Ernst & Young. During the
last three years, the Group did not change any independent auditor.
For FY2024, the remuneration paid and payable by the Group to the
independent auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by them were as follows:

B2 HBETH S
AEBOBI LB AR QDR - TBE=
F o REERAFRBILBE - BE2024HRF
& - AR BB B SR S TR R R R E
RBENREFOMETT :

HK$'000
TAT

Audit and review services EZNEER

% 3,400

Directors’ Responsibility

Every newly appointed Director will receive briefings and comprehensive
induction on appointment to ensure understanding of the Directors’
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements. Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to refresh their knowledge and skills
and the Company would organize appropriate directors’ training to help
ensure they are apprised of the role, functions and duties being a director
of the Company.

The Directors are aware that they should give sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Company and they are continually adapted with
regulatory developments and business development of the Group to
discharge their responsibilities. The Directors’ knowledge and skills are
continuously developed and refreshed by, inter alia, the following means:

(1)  Attending training session organized by and/or reading materials
provided by the Company, which included but not limited to legal
and regulatory changes and matters relevant to the Directors in
discharging their duties, including the laws, rules and regulations
relating to the corporate governance;

(2)  Participating in continuous professional training seminars/
conferences/courses/workshops on subjects relating to directors’
duties and corporate governance, and rules and regulatory
changes, organized by the other companies, professional bodies or
government authorities; and

(3)  Reading news, journals, magazines or other reading materials from

time to time as regards legal and regulatory changes, economics
and matters relevant to the Directors in discharging their duties.
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According to the records provided by the existing Directors, the Directors *Efﬁ1£§$ﬁﬁ%fﬁﬁ’ﬁaﬁ C HE 2024412 A31

received the following trainings as at 31 December 2024: H EF2875I0T :

Type of Training
Directors = b2 il
Co-Chairmen BEERE
Mr. Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director) BN EE(EHTTEE) (1) andX (3)
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director) EDPNER S A (BT EE) (1) and % (3)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Chief Operating Officer) BRERE(ELREE) (1) and X (3)
Ms. Fang Ling (Group’s Financial Controller) HILL T (EEYFEE) (1) and} (3)
Ms. Xu Hongxia FtE Lt (1) and % (3)
Mr. Liu Heng (Group’s Vice President) RIE S (EEFEH) (1) and % (3)
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen HEM ST E (1) and % (3)
Ms. Shen Lifeng HERZT (1) and % (3)
Ms. Li Aihua FEIELL (1) and & (3)
Ms. Deng Jin iD= g (1) and X (3)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REERE (1) and X (3)
Mr. Li Wai Keung FREEEE (1)and % (3)
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung PR S (1) and % (3)
Ms. Zee Helen Bt (1) and X (3)
Dr. Li Xu FHE L (1) and % (3)

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the EERZHMAMBBRRAENSE

Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of ~ E = RIZEAIHERHE FERNEE 20248 BUF 474
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2024 which ~ #BMERNEE - WERRETHRTE @B &5 £ER|
were prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable ~ #m&¢ °

accounting standards.

The reporting responsibility of the independent auditor of the Company ~ AN BB ZERIE RN EEAR & M SRR OB REE

on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the ~ M E167E170B AV BLAZERNIRER o
independent auditor’s report on pages 167 to 170.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Hing Chau has been the Company Secretary of the Company
since 16 August 2021. He is a full-time employee of the Company with
professional qualifications and extensive experience, and has adequate
working knowledge on the Company to discharge his duty as the
Company Secretary. During the Year, Mr. Chan confirmed that he has
received relevant professional training of not less than 15 hours to update
his skills and knowledge.

Communication with Shareholders and Noteholders
The 2025 AGM of the Company to be held at Conference Room, 22/F.,
Euro Trade Centre, 13-14 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong
on Friday, 27 June 2025 at 3:00 p.m..

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders,
noteholders and other investment communities is essential. During the
Year, the Executive Directors, Group's Financial Controller and team of
investor relations of the Group held regular briefings, press conferences
and analyst meetings of interim and annual results, attended investor
forums and participated in roadshows, conducted meetings and visits to
projects of the Group with institutional investors and financial analysts
in China, Hong Kong and overseas to keep them abreast of the Group’s
business and development. Investors can also communicate with the

Company through email at ir@chinasouthcity.com.

The shareholders’ meeting provides a useful platform for the shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The Directors and Group’s Financial
Controller will attend the shareholders’ meetings to answer the questions
raised by the shareholders. Shareholders can also direct their enquiries
and proposals to the Company. The contact details of the Company
are set out in the “Contact Us” section of the Company’s website at

www.chinasouthcity.com.

Shareholders’ Right

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), shareholders of the Company holding not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general
meeting may request the Directors to call a general meeting. The request
must state the general nature of business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic
form and must be authenticated by the person or persons making it
in accordance with the provisions under sections 566 to 568 of the
Companies Ordinance and the Company’s Articles.
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The attendance of the Directors at the annual general meeting of the

EEN2024F6 A3HBITZ AR RIRRAFRAEHH

Company which was held on 3 June 2024 was as follows: FERAT
Number of
Attendance/
meeting held”
HE BT
Directors = BRREO
Co-Chairmen BEEE
Mr. Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director) BN (FHITESE) ”n
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director) BN (HTEE) 7
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer) Mgzt (#E &8 ) 17
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Group's Vice President) BIRESE(EEEEE) 11
Ms. Fang Ling (Group’s Financial Controller) FRBR LT (EEYERELE) 171
Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman B 52+ 11
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen FSEMSE 1”1
Ms. Shen Lifeng AR+ 1”1
Ms. Li Aihua FEIELL 171
Ms. Deng Jin B+ 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESLE 11
Mr. Li Wai Keung FREEEE 1”1
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung FFRRAR A 11
Ms. Zee Helen ®wRIZ L 11
Dr. Li Xu FiE+ 171
Note: Mt -
(1) The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings (1) HEBFAREFERLESH TREB R EBER

such director is entitled to attend.

Published documents together with the latest corporate information and
news are available on the Company’s website at www.chinasouthcity.com.

HEEHOHE

BRABMXIERKRAN AR EN N A5

N E A uwww.chinasouthcity.com ©
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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About this Report

This report is the environmental, social and governance report (the
“Report”) of China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”, “China South City”, “we" or “us"”). The Group
adheres to a sustainable development philosophy, creating and sharing
value with stakeholders across environmental, social, and governance
('ESG’) aspects. The Report detailed China South City’s contribution to
sustainability management.

The Report was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “Guide"”) set out by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Report has
complied with all the “Comply or Explain” provisions of the Guide and
reported on all the recommended disclosures in the Guide.

Reporting Principles
The Group has considered the following reporting principles in preparing
the Report:

o Materiality: The Group identifies key environmental and social issues
by conducting management interviews, surveying internal and
external stakeholders, and assessing the impact of ESG issues on its
operations. For more information, please refer to the “Materiality
Assessment” section.

o Quantitative: The Report provides annual performance comparisons
using quantitative data collected and estimated by relevant Group
departments, where applicable, and includes details on standards,
methodologies, assumptions, and calculations as appropriate.

o Balance: The information in the Report was mainly derived from
our internal statistical reports, documents and communications for
2024. We are committed to providing an unbiased picture of our
performance and fair disclosure of progress and ongoing challenges
in the most critical aspects for the Group'’s performance.

o Consistency: The Group uses consistent reporting and calculation
methods, as far as practicable, to facilitate the comparability
of ESG performance between years. In case of any changes in
methodologies, the Group will present and explain in detail in the
corresponding sections.
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Scope of the Report and Reporting Period

This report covers the businesses that are financially and operationally
significant to the Group, including project investment and development
(“China South City Holdings”), e-commerce platform (“Huasheng
Business”), and management, logistics, and warehousing services
("Qianlong Logistics”). These three core businesses account for over
90% of the Group’s revenue, with operational locations in Shenzhen,
Nanchang, Nanning, Zhengzhou, Harbin, Hefei, and Chongging in China.

Reporting period: 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024, consistent with
the financial period of the annual report.

Cornerstone for Sustainable Development

The Group has always adhered to its business philosophy of “Innovation,
Integrity, Consensus and Collaboration”. While striving to develop its
business, the Group also pays attention to the demands, opinions and
expectations of various stakeholders and integrates the concept of
sustainable development into its corporate management, group culture
and operational strategies to continuously optimize its performance
and development in relation to environment, society and corporate

governance.

Statement on ESG Governance from the Board of
Directors

The Board of Directors of our Group hereby reaffirms its steadfast
commitment to Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) principles,
regarding them as a core strategy for promoting corporate sustainability.
Based on extensive stakeholder feedback, we recognize the critical role of
ESG governance in enhancing corporate brand image, promoting business
sustainability, and strengthening competitive advantages.

The Board places particular emphasis on the following key areas:

o Human Capital and Well-being: The Board considers employee
well-being, health and safety, and talent development as essential
pillars in achieving the Group's objectives.

o Resources and Supply Chain Management: By optimizing
resource use and strengthening supply chain management, we are
committed to reducing operational costs and enhancing product
responsibility.
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o Environmental Responsibility: Although climate change and
emissions currently pose lower risks, we will continue to monitor
and take measures to reduce our environmental footprint, including
promoting the use of new energy equipment.

o Governance and Transparency: The Board will continue to
oversee ESG performance, regularly review targets and progress,
and approve ESG reports to ensure transparency and accountability.

To further enhance our governance framework, we have taken steps to
strengthen ESG management and plan to improve the gender diversity
of the Board in the current financial year by including more members
with ESG-related experience and qualifications. We believe that diverse
perspectives will enable the Group to address complex sustainability
challenges, including the net-zero transition and industry-specific
standards.

Looking ahead, the Board will ensure continuous improvement of ESG
measures through enhanced employee training, improved equipment and
facilities, and updated Group policies, aiming to create long-term value
for shareholders, employees, communities, and the environment.

ESG Development Strategies

The Group is committed to integrating Environmental, Social, and
Governance (ESG) into the core of our business to achieve sustainable
development and enhance long-term value. Our ESG governance
strategy seeks to balance economic benefits, social responsibility,
and environmental protection while addressing increasingly complex
challenges through clear priorities and actionable plans. The Group’s ESG
governance strategy will focus on the following key objectives and will be
gradually implemented through effective action plans to drive the success
and sustainability of the Group’s business:

Human Capital Enhancement: Strengthen employee training to improve
skills and ensure the implementation of health and safety standards.

Resource and Environmental Management: Improve equipment and
facilities, such as adopting new energy electric vehicles and energy-saving
technologies, to gradually reduce reliance on fossil fuels.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Supply Chain Optimization: Strengthen value chain monitoring and
enhance material quality to ensure supply chain sustainability and product
quality.

Diverse Governance: The Board aims to enhance its gender and
professional diversity, with strong support for gender diversity, by
incorporating more members with ESG expertise to tackle challenges such
as the net-zero transition.

The Group's ESG governance strategy is led by the Board of Directors,
which, as the highest governing body, is responsible for setting strategic
direction and overseeing implementation effectiveness. The Board
regularly monitors ESG performance, approves ESG reports, and reviews
annual targets and progress to ensure transparency and accountability. For
more details, please refer to the “ESG Governance Framework” section.

Additionally, We have established an ESG policy (“this Policy”) that
outlines our commitments and management approaches, guiding the
Group toward its sustainable development vision and mission to become
a leading logistics trading center in China. This strategy is built on five
core areas: Environment, Employees, Customers, Supply Chain, and
Community, providing clear direction for China South City’s overall ESG
development.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

HERE(L : R(CEBEREEWRAMHES @ BIR
HEEN AT RERRE -

LZRER EFCEMERERMEELZEMNE - KD
TEMERZENE BB E L AFBESGHEENHEN
B PR FE ST F T A S Pk s o

AEBMESGERRBAEESTE  EAGABA
g BRBIERBIATESRITRN - EFEF
HABESRESGERIE « BULESGHWE - WA FE BIRH
EE - BREPAEHEMER - FFER2MESGER
% -

%/

k%'ﬁﬁﬂiT%%~ﬁ@&%ﬁﬁ“H$&

) BRI AEESG E A EME IR T 8T 0 $53)
EEERAHEERER &%$I%E%ﬁ“%$
DRESD o NRBEAR@EZOHEAER - IRE - 8
T BE% - HEEKTEH  AEERAEEESGER
IRLEATES M o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

ERRE (F)

ESG Policy Highlights of China South City
HEHWESGBURE 2

Environment
BRIE

Employees
BT

Customers

BEE

Supply chain
fpesE

Community
#HE

The Group is dedicated to using renewable energy and reusable materials while reducing emissions of air
pollutants, greenhouse gases, harmful and non-hazardous waste, and wastewater. We continuously monitor and
manage the significant environmental impacts of our operations and require all relevant departments to practice
and strengthen environmental management. Furthermore, we conduct climate risk assessments to identify
potential impacts of climate change on our business operations and develop appropriate response strategies.
REEBNRERA BERRMAERERNOME - AR ER5RY  RERLE - BENIEEREEDIA
KOFKEVHERL - RPISBEAMNE B EBTRNERIRELE - ZRAEEBAMBIIETRLIGRIRFERE « It
o - BPBETRIRRER S - ABFREZCHRMEBECNEETE  THIEEE N EERE -

The Group is committed to regularly reviewing employee compensation and welfare, and providing a safe
working environment that protects employees from occupational hazards. We actively encourage our employees
to pursue continuous learning and development, and provide them with training opportunities to enhance their
knowledge and skills in fulfilling their job responsibilities. Additionally, we strictly adhere to our company’s labor
standard guidelines to ensure that we do not employ child labor or engage in forced labor practices.
AEEFEHIE THEBMNEMNSHERBER  BEZ2OHITERS WREEIEXBERS - RMEBHET
TNEVERE - BERZHE T fm 8 TRT LERE O MBALRE o RN - RAISRRETAR R E S TE
AlgiEs] - BRI SREAETINETHRBLEE) o

The Group is committed to continuously improving the quality of our products and services, ensuring that the
products we sell do not compromise the safety of our customers and users, and complying with standards and
regulations related to advertising, labeling, and other matters. Additionally, we prioritize the security of our
customers’ and any relevant employment-related personal data, and ensure that we collect, hold, use, and
process such data in a lawful and prudent manner.

REBBNRFHERSERTRBMNE  MRAELENERTSEFETPNAPNEGE  ANETES - F8
SHEMEEFER o o BMERELANEMEBEREAERNZE - WHRASEMZEN R
A - FRFEEEEER -

The Group upholds the principles of fair trade and works with suppliers to enhance sustainability performance
across all aspects of our operations. We also prioritize the importance of anti-corruption measures and strive
to strengthen employee awareness and ethics, preventing any bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering
activities.

REEZHATRZHRA - BEEFAARAAFERRRE - AN - RAERRESHEE - YBHREEE
THRMIEERT - R - BFR - MEFZOERENTR -

The Group makes appropriate community investments in the areas where we operate and provides financial or
other resource assistance to those in need.

AEEELERE RSN ERERDETEENHERE  ARHEFENALTRESEIEMERED -

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZREFIRA T

121



122
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ESG Governance Framework

The Group is fully aware of the importance of ESG to corporate sustainable
development and has established a comprehensive ESG governance
framework to ensure that we effectively respond to relevant challenges
and fulfill our responsibilities in our business operations. The following is a
detailed description of the Group’s ESG governance framework, including
its organizational structure, division of responsibilities and implementation

process.

The Group’s ESG governance structure is centered on the Board
of Directors, which serves as the highest governance body and is
responsible for formulating the ESG strategic direction and overseeing
overall performance. Based on internal investigations, the Board has
taken measures to strengthen ESG governance, with the participation
of independent non-executive directors and non-executive directors to
ensure diverse perspectives and professional opinions.

Under the Board of Directors, we have established a dedicated ESG
Committee (or working group) to be responsible for the specific
implementation and coordination of ESG-related work. The committee is
composed of members with ESG experience and qualifications, reports
directly to the Board of Directors, and promotes the implementation of
ESG policies among all departments of the Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

The ESG governance framework of China South City is as follows: ERIMESGEARBIT ¢

Board of Directors
EET

Responsibilities include monitoring ESG performance, approving annual targets and
progress, and endorsing ESG reports. Additionally, the Board regularly reviews materiality
assessment results and provides advice on the Group’s ESG strategy to ensure alignment
with business objectives.

BEERESGRE - EHFERIFEMERT  URIDEESGRE © 1L - EEFTEMES
EAMHEER WASERESGRIGRMHEZ - MREXBEZ 2 -

ESG Working Group
ESGI{E/NAE

Responsible for formulating specific ESG plans, coordinating resource allocation, and
regularly inspecting project safety and quality management.
BESIEEENESGHE  HRERIEK  TEHREHEE LT HESEIE -

Business Unit Management
EXRBEFIERE

Responsible for integrating the ESG strategies and plans set by the Board of Directors and
the ESG Working Group into daily operations, ensuring effective execution within their
respective business scopes.

BEREFE RESGIIEMARITHESGRBEEIMARTESE  BRETESHFIE
BHENSIE AT -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

ERRE (F)

Awards and Recognitions

RIERKE

Company Issuing/Certification Organization Award/Name of Certification

AREB M RERE #®1E BELE

Qianlong China (Shenzhen) International Logistics and  Excellent Logistics and Supply Chain Service Provider
Logistics Supply Chain Expo BFYR R A e SRR TS R

REYR REICRYD BRI R EEEE e

Qianlong Shenzhen Association of Foreign Investment  National Excellent Foreign Investment Enterprise —
Logistics Enterprises Double Excellence Enterprise Award (Shenzhen)
YR RYNERERERE 2EICRYDEFINERE DX - EEEE
Huasheng Pinghu Subdistrict, Longgang District, Shenzhen Shenzhen Longgang District Pinghu Street Economic
Business AT RE = T High-quality Development Contribution Award

E 2T HE 3 AYTREmE T B Es 2 RRERME
Huasheng Outlet Leaders Summit 2023-24 China Outlet Top 50

Business BARHIE S 2023-24% [Z B B AR AT 058

BT S

Huasheng Outlet Leaders Summit 2023-24 China Outlet Growth Star

Business RAEE S 2023-24FEHEREKEZE

B2 THE 3

Huasheng Outlet Leaders Summit 2024-25 Most Anticipated Outlet Award

Business BIEEMES 2024-255F [Z i A B R E AT 42

B2 THE 3

Huasheng China Store and Franchise Association China Shopping Center Top 100

Business FEEE S E RS Fh EHE ) H 0, 10058

BT S

Huasheng Xi'an Accessibility Association Caring Enterprise

Business LM ERRGE BOE

EREE

124
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Review, Reporting and Disclosure

Recognizing that stakeholders’ expectations are constantly changing,
the Group regularly reviews its business operations and proactively
communicates with stakeholders to identify and respond to emerging
issues as appropriate. In addition, the Group's Sustainability Committee
regularly reviews its performance and practices on corporate social
responsibilities and reports to the Group’s Board of Directors. The Group’s
performance on corporate social responsibilities is not only disclosed
through internal communication channels, but also truthfully disclosed to
the public through the Group's website, annual report and ESG report.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group places great emphasis on communication with stakeholders
and strives to understand the ESG expectations, opinions and suggestions
that are of concern to stakeholders. The Group incorporates these
concerns into its operations and decision-making processes and always
seeks to maximize shared value with stakeholders. The Group’s key
stakeholders including customers, employees, shareholders and investors,
regulators, suppliers and local communities. The communication channels
are set out below:

Stakeholder

BE - ERERKE
AEFEPROFNENRLESTEHNE - WEEHRR
HEBSEWRGEFNERE - ARSI HBROMHE
B WEHEYEE - 8% @ AEBENAHERRE
SeERCELSEERARED  YAAEE
EFEZER - ARENGELSEETRBR T EBA
EBAREBETIE  TeEBAEEEAE FER
SRS HENEAMES  MEAINHE -

K ESR
AEETHEEHHEOEE B TREMINR

%o e kEEOHE  BRMEE %F&ﬁ&%%ﬁ)\
AEBEMELIRKBRE  —HEREZRHNHEHR
BENGZAL AEEBNIZRZABEEP 1E

B BREKIEESE -
EBREHIMT

EEHRE  HERKENHE -

group Communication channels
R EHER BBERE
Customers 3 Customer evaluation form < Questionnaire, industry exhibitions
BF BRHER MEHETERES
<> Telephone/email
B EFEF
< Customer visits and factory audits
BR2BRIKEZ
Employees < Regular meetings < Questionnaire comment box/mail/email
(== e MBRESRME 1=/ ESFBMH
<> Occupational health and safety training <> Performance appraisal
B ERET2E TERBRFZ

K3
o

Internal publications/memo boards

WEBTIH, & RIR

Shareholders and

K3
o

Annual and interim reports

investors F kP EmE
BRERREBREE 23 Annual and interim results announcements
TERPHZEENT
<> Company website
1AL

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZREFIRA T

125



126

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Stakeholder

group Communication channels
B EHER BERE
Regulators <& Official documents/meetings <> Supervision/inspection and evaluation
EEEWE DB EE RS KT
< Government websites
T 48
< Report paper/visits
NEREFH
Suppliers < Annual audit of suppliers 3 Questionnaire
HrEr HERFESEZ HESHEES
< Telephone/email
Bt BTEMF
< Site visits
BihE R
Local communities Participation in community activities
Bt E SE RS
< Donation/sponsorship
BRL BB
Materiality Assessment BEMFMA

The Group has been working to effectively assess and identify the issues
that are most important to its stakeholders. The materiality assessment
was carried out independently by professional consultants to understand
the expectations of our stakeholders and the challenges we face in global
sustainability. This will help us to develop our sustainability strategies and
identify core aspects to improve our overall sustainability performance for
inclusion in the Report.

During the reporting period, the Group has updated the materiality
assessment through questionnaires of the Board and stakeholders to
identify the sustainability issues that are most important to the Group
and its stakeholders. The list of materiality issues and the results of the
assessment have been submitted to the Board for confirmation and
approval.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Materiality Assessment Process

EEMFELBRE

1. Identification 53!

To identify major ESG issues that are considered relevant and important to our businesses

and stakeholders based on the ESG guidelines iss

ued by Hong Kong Stock Exchange,

company policies and management strategies, characteristics of the industry, and business

v risks and opportunities.
SERBEIMESGIES| - RRAIME R EERR - 17%
SEEBNFHERRBBAMNEZNESGHRE °

2. Opinion Collection W& = R,

To conduct a questionnaire survey and invite stakeholders
and customers to evaluate the importance of each issue fr

R MRS R R BB E - ARRI S

including the board, employees, suppliers
om their own perspectives.

ETRGHE  AFEREFE BT  HERLEFPERNERE S AENESHRENERE

VW s

3. Prioritization B HEF

To select the important issues, draw the materiality assessment matrix, and obtain the preliminary

evaluation results, so as to determine the strategic focus o
the governance of sustainable development.

TEAFEERER -

4. Confirmation #&:2

f sustainable development and improve

ENEESRE  VRRSEUNGHER  SHOFFEER KBTI SEERBEES -

The ESG working group will discuss about and identify the assessment result to get final results of
the materiality assessment. Final results are reported to the Board.

HESGT{E/MAMFHAGERETTIRINMER - LA RARHE

The Group identified the most relevant and important ESG issues to its
business and stakeholders with reference to the ESG Guide of the Stock
Exchange, industry characteristics as well as risks and opportunities of
its business, corporate policies and management strategies. Through
the questionnaire survey, stakeholders including the Board of Directors,
employees, suppliers and customers were invited to evaluate the
materiality of each issue from their own perspective. The key issues were
selected and a materiality assessment matrix was drawn up to produce
preliminary findings, thus determining the core of its sustainability
strategies. The ESG working group then discussed and validated the
findings of the materiality assessment and reported to the Board.

EEEMMNEER  ERGESS -

AEBE2EHIPAESGIES| - (TERH K EBNRR
BB RRBEREERESE  UBHHAEEE
BN ERBEBNEZNESGHRE © BREITH
HHE BERREEE BT HEAKEFPSEHE
NEXBFAEFESHENEERE - R LHR
A WRREEUNGHEN  SHYLHEER
M HEE AT R A B R RIS VD » L& - HESGTI(E
PNEBERMFHENERETIRMER - AAESF
SIELR -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Materiality Matrix

‘ HEMERE
th

1
NE
2
[}
:
5
B
b1
T gl 20
g ,
S
i
+ LN
)
C
I
g
£
Low High
15 >
Importance towards the Development of the Group
HAEEBERNESE
No. ESG Issues No. ESG Issues
Wy ESGHE R ESGHEEE
1 Exhaust emissions 12 Talent management and development
RERBFRL AT ER N ER
2 Greenhouse gas emissions 13 Procurement and supply chain management
REREEHER REEEG eI E IR
3 Waste and recycling materials management 14 Product quality
REZE ) K Bl R B 58 EmmE
4 Energy management 15 Product innovation
BEREE 7E e Bl
5 Water management 16 Customer services
FKER BF IR
6 Packaging materials management 17 Information security and personal data protection
BEMHER Bl ® RAABERHR#E
7 Environment and natural resources 18 Protection of intellectual property rights
RIERRANER RIZE BB R
8 Climate change 19 Corporate governance and risk management
RIRE EERREARER
9 Employee benefits and welfare 20 Anti-competition
8 TR A8 REFITR
10 Equal opportunities 21 Community involvement
FEKe HE2E
11 Health and safety
fEESL e
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

During the reporting period, the Group engaged an independent
consulting company to conduct an ESG-related questionnaire survey and
materiality assessment with stakeholders so that the Group can better
understand the concerns and expectations of various stakeholders. By
analyzing the results of the survey, the Group identified the following 3
issues as the most important among the 21 ESG-related issues:

Customer services
=P IR

Health and safety
EBRETE

For more information on the above ESG issues, please refer to the relevant
sections of the Report.

Integrity and Compliance

The Group strictly enforces applicable laws, environmental codes of
practice and social standards in the jurisdictions in which it operates. The
Group has always adhered to the principles of “compliance and legality,
honesty and trustworthiness, and fair trading” and strictly prohibits any
acts of bribery and corruption during its business operation. The Group
strictly complies with national laws and regulations, and has prepared
an employee handbook in accordance with relevant requirements and
ethical requirements of the industry, which clearly stipulates the code of
conduct for employees’ integrity and self-discipline. The code illustrates
how to deal with employees’ business activities, part-time jobs, personal
investments, commissions, kickbacks, and bribes from trade associations.
In addition, the Group requires all suppliers, business partners and agents
to sign the Anti-Commercial Bribery Clause when signing contracts
with the Company to clarify the responsibilities of both parties in anti-
corruption. Besides, the Group also engages an external independent
auditor to conduct financial audits to objectively, fairly and accurately
reflect the company’s financial status.

TREFA  AEERTBILBER QR ERFD EET
ESGIHEANBESRERBENN L RAKEERFE
TRERNHENBIH ML - BES TR ESHER
R AEEE21RESGHBZEET - U T3HERRR

ERREE

Corporate governance
and risk management
rERERMEREIE
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T
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=
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

The Board is the Group’s highest governance body responsible for
developing, reviewing and monitoring the Group’s corporate governance
policies and practices in compliance with the relevant law and regulations.
The Board strives to uphold the highest level of business ethics and
strictly prohibits and stands against any form of bribery, extortion,
fraud, or corruption in our business operations. To comply with the
applicable laws and regulations, the Group implements internal policies
and control mechanisms to strengthen the management practices and
prevent improper conduct and unethical behaviour. The Group has also
communicated the preventive measures on bribery and corruption to the
Directors and the Group’s employees.

If any employee of the Group commits any bribery and corruption, which
seriously affects the reputation and image of the Company, he/she will be
dismissed immediately and those suspected of committing crimes will be
referred to the judicial authorities. The Group also has a whistle-blowing
mechanism, where whistle-blowers can report in their real names or
anonymously through hotline, email, and mailbox (physical). If any of our
colleagues are found to have obtained commissions or rebates from our
customers without reporting to the Group, they shall report to the Group.
Those who fail to do so shall be punished accordingly to enhance the
deterrent effect.

To strengthen the anti-corruption culture, the Group held regular
education and training sessions on compliance with the law and integrity
in Business during the year. Special training sessions were held to teach
employees how to be clean and honest, and the consequences of
corruption and bribery were shared through case studies. All employees
are required to undergo induction training upon joining the Group. As
an important part of the Employee Handbook, the corruption prevention
policy must be trained and assessed on new employees, so as to enable
them to establish a culture of integrity. The directors of the Group also
received practical advice and tips through participation in the Directors’
Training Programme offered by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange to refresh
and enhance their knowledge and skills, and lead the Group towards
better anti-corruption governance. During the reporting period, the Group
had no litigation cases on corruption.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Protecting the Environment and Pursuing Green
and Low-carbon Development

In order to achieve corporate sustainability development, China South City
has been fulfilling its corporate social responsibility to reduce its carbon
footprint, control carbon emissions, optimize the use of resources and
improve the management of pollutant emissions. We continue to innovate
and implement effective environmental measures to reduce the impacts
of our entire industry chain, including our activities and operations, on
the environment, community and governance. Meanwhile, we have been
doing our best to improve our environmental performance of the entire
industrial chain, from design to construction, by promoting a number
of recycling programs, in a bid to meet the national goal of “carbon
neutrality”.

Environmental Management

For the sake of avoiding irreversible damage to the environment, the
Group prudently complies with the relevant requirements of the Energy
Conservation and Emission Reduction Management Regulations that have
been prepared to ensure effective reduction of emissions in the course
of operation. The project management and property management teams
are responsible for introducing and evaluating energy-saving technologies
and equipment, managing and developing programs and data analysis
respectively. At the same time, the Group strictly complies with the laws
and regulations of local governments, including the regulations on waste
sorting, for example, the CSC Shenzhen complies with the Shenzhen
Municipal Regulations on the Management of Domestic Waste Sorting.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

The Group’s emission targets and the measures taken to achieve these

targets are as follows:

Environmental

REEHRE ENAERGEL B M RIAHE N
T~

targets Directional indicators Measures taken during the year

RREE T AR FRNIER

Improve energy o Adopt energy-saving e Air conditioner was set to approximately 26-28 degrees Celsius
efficiency products and measures MAEHMETRERERALEK26-28E

RA LR i PR BEE fm B Bt

Promote the use of e
renewable energy

BB AEREIR

Establish the equipment
using renewable energy
IR B A REIRER A

Adopted energy-saving products and measures
A EREE m g

When purchasing electrical appliances and other equipment,
products with excellent energy efficiency were prioritized

RBERSRER - BLEEERYEEERNER

Used LED lighting system
{2 FALEDEREA K 4t

The time for heating supply was adjusted according to the
season, geographical location, climate and other factors to save
unnecessary energy use

RIEZFE - IR T  RIFRZERABRHERGH S5 TBE
EREIR 152

Posted environmental protection and energy saving slogans
and signs in each park to encourage employees to be
environmentally friendly and energy saving

& fE = 2 SR B IR R E RE VIR 38 S AR RE - FE A SRR B TIRIRER

&b
Be

Installed a large solar water heating panel to supply hot water
using solar energy

LR T RBARGRERVKIR - FIF AR RE AR E RV

Added new energy electric trucks for distribution to reduce
reliance on fossil fuels
HRFTELRBEN G EETTACX - B EHE AR KRR

Built charging stations for new energy vehicles in Logistics Parks
to facilitate and encourage tenants to use new energy vehicles
EEENEZFERERBTEL - FEMSEESERERE
]
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BB - HEHEER

Environmental
targets
RREE

HE(E)

Directional indicators

FEER

Measures taken during the year

FRNERE

Reduce air emissions e

B BE RPN

Minimize the emission of
exhaust gases, so as to
reduce the emission of
direct greenhouse gas
BABERMES - B
HEAERENESE

Reduce the demands for
electricity, so as to reduce
the emission of indirect
greenhouse gas
FREENFTR  ERZRED
MR =EREBESL

Advocated employees to travel low-carbon and take public
transportation to reduce the direct generation of greenhouse
gases

BEETEMET  BERAHZIBIE - #UARLEEAER
BEEVEL

Applied 30 new energy electric trucks to replace fuel vehicles
and reduced emissions, such as nitrogen oxides
EA30AMEREBTE - REMWHER P EEER - F
m: maElY)

Participated in annual vehicle review and regular exhaust
emissions inspections as required by the transportation
authorities to reduce the emission of direct greenhouse gas
BBAFIRE2MEMFE - THRBERIW - #Futmd
HEREREBNES

Cement and other construction materials which are easily blown
into the air were sealed and stored, and construction waste
was discharged and transported through special airtight refuse
passages or containers to reduce air pollutants

ACRMEAL S RGBERZEM BT - I EERA
HEAERNICRBENHAATREDE - IR =R5RY

When purchasing electrical appliances and other equipment,
products with excellent energy efficiency were prioritized to
improve the efficiency of electricity consumption and thereby
reduce the emission of indirect greenhouse gas
REERERMER  BEEAZRERIGERNER  RBRAFE
L - BRI RERBHES

LED lighting system was established to optimize the efficiency of
electricity consumption and thus reduce the emission of indirect
greenhouse gas
HERIEDIRAA RS
EHE

BILAEREE - HBUR D EEAEREDN
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Environmental

Measures taken during the year

FRNERE

targets Directional indicators
RREZ T A IEE
Reduce the use of o Reuse treated sewage to
water minimize the use of water
A K SERBEBBEEK D
FA7K
o Use water-saving facilities
0 FAEIKER
Reduce waste o Reduce the use of paper
SHEREEY) BAE R AR
o Promote recycling
HEED[E U
Reduce carbon o Increase awareness of
emissions energy conservation and
SRR EE R emission reduction

RTTETRERBE B

The rainwater, sewage and wastewater from construction
sites were treated separately. Sewage went through technical
treatment before being reclaimed. The remainder of processed
water was discharged into municipal sewage pipelines
or recycled for greening and road flushing to reduce the
generation of sewage

FE T EMAIRRIK » J57K ~ BEAETT D MRER IR © BE/RKAS R BR 12
e EBHE R - AN TTEY T ATHEA T BUS K E 473k BIU AR AR
e MBS - D AR RS KESE

Applied water-saving facility such as sensor-activated taps to
save water usage

EREKERE - 10 BRESUKEESE - AR KEIRIOE A

Adopted OA system for daily office application processes and
promote paperless office
ERAOARFETAEMANZERFZME - REEKEHA

Created electronic files to reduce copying and printing
BYEFER - RAEERTIH

Encouraged employees to use double-sided printing as much
as possible when printing and to use them for draft paper or
environmentally friendly printing paper
SEETIIREEEREEIE - WERAERKLIRRT
EN#R

Set up recycling bins to promote a recycling culture

RIZEYWAE - HEBERLEYSUE

Encourage advocacy and participation in community waste
classification publicity, education and training activities
SEEE2 M ENN RS ESEREFINED

Encourage employees to participate in tree planting activities
HENEE B T2 BB

Encourage employees to participate in community carbon
reduction publicity, education and training activities
SEEEE T2 ENRREEXEHFINED

Regularly evaluate and proactively provide personal direction for
carbon reduction

FERRRHE - AWAEARER A E A KRR TT [FTT0A
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Responding to Climate Change

In recent years, climate change is one of the most important risks to
companies. Climate risks can be classified into acute risk and transition
challenge. Acute risks include natural disasters, such as increased
frequency of super typhoons and floods, or desertification. In the short
term, acute natural events can directly damage the Group’s assets and
facilities, hence affecting the progress of construction and logistics. In
the long term, chronic changes in climate can also gradually weaken the
Group's business areas and lead to asset impairment.

In addition to acute risks, climate-related business transition challenges
may have a negative impact on the business, operating results and
financial condition of the Group, and may be detrimental to the
reputation of the Group. It is particularly important to understand the
nature and scale of these potential risks in order to mitigate their impact.
Therefore, the Group regularly assesses and reviews the risk of climate
change and prepares for acute risks and transformational challenges.

FEHRIRE
AFER RREELHLESEENAARR

RARER A 53 A AR LR kB o BB 1L E R
BRI A HNERR B S K KR SR - SR

% REBmE -

RIRREMERC IR E | S AR B XK RE - A8

HEERE -

BT RN IERBR 25N - RARARR R RS A DB A &

AEBEMER CEBXENVBRVERARTZE -
AREHASEBENF - THZFBEERR - 114

RRE - emREREZESLEEEN - Bt - 3

EHRHE Mg RARE R - B AMEE R M EE
PR AE AR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

During the reporting period, the types of risks, descriptions and

ERRE (F)

countermeasures for climate change of the Group are as follows:

Type of risk
E R

Description

[ B 3t

REBHE AR RIRE O REBRIRE - K S
BT

Response measures

B PR $E e

Market risk
SRk

Chronic risk
REAME R

Policies and laws

R BOAE

The increasing consumer concern
for sustainability and environmental
responsibility is leading to changes in
market demand and consumer preferences.
Failure to adapt to these changes may
result in the risk of market share decline
and weakened competitiveness.

THEE Y HEEAIRE R T TE
- BHMISHELMEEERIFEEE
b o AREEEEEE R - AIREMEEG TS
FE T REAMFF RIS -

The gradual transformation of the natural
environment caused by climate change
has made the virus increasingly strong,
causing a pandemic and affecting the
health of employees.
FRRECMEHHN B ARREHEE -
LHRER@mEAL - ERRRTT  FEE
THERE o

The progressive tightening of legal
regulations related to climate change
in products, services and operations
has resulted in higher operating costs,
including increased product development
and compliance costs.

FEEEmR - REREEFEARIEE(CAE
B EREEETINE - AMGEEENX
REF - BIEERAE - SRAAIGM -

The company has adopted measures such as using new
energy electric vehicles for delivery, implementing green
construction guidelines, promoting green buildings,
engaging in green procurement, strengthening supplier
evaluation and communication. These initiatives help reduce
carbon emissions, protect the environment, and enhance
environmental sustainability.
REBEFERAMEREDERETIR  HITHECHKITE
A - B EEE EITHERE  IRUERTENE
B o BUEE BN BEMEER - RIBRENRESREARF
BB o

The Group continuously enhances the cleaning procedures
and increases the frequency of cleaning. Additionally, we
maintain close collaboration with relevant government
and local authorities, sharing the latest disease prevention
guidelines and information to ensure our measures align with
the highest standards. We are committed to establishing a
safe and healthy environment, safeguarding the well-being of
our employees and visitors.

REBFEEOBRIEF - BIVEREE - R - HPIERA
BB S BB S 1E - D E&ERENIERENE
o AHREMNEETERERE - RMBORESL —(E
72 BENERE - REE TN TR -

The Group has implemented various energy saving and
emission reduction measures for its businesses and strictly
complied with relevant environmental regulations, striving
to enhance energy saving and emission reduction standards
while complying with laws and increasing production capacity.
REENREEBHETZIANERRBEE I - WEAISEST
HEBRBREEER - BREFEIED RIE NEEH RE -
IBETR B BE R B -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Green Operations

The Group undertakes corporate citizenship responsibilities by
incorporating environmental considerations into its business activities, and
effectively reduced the impact of its business on the environment through
using new energy facilities. In addition, the Group has increased green
procurement and extended the concept of environmental protection to
the entire supply chain, thus promoting sustainable development in all
aspects.

Green Procurement

We continue to implement a green procurement policy, giving priority
to suppliers that obtained environmental certification (e.g. ISO 14001),
local suppliers and purchasing materials and new energy equipment that
meet the national first-class energy consumption, such as electric forklifts,
energy-efficient appliances and biodegradable plastic bags. Moreover,
the Group’s contracts with suppliers clearly state the relevant rules and
regulations to ensure that the suppliers’ production, transportation, sales
and after- sales activities comply with national environmental laws. The
Group also regularly evaluates suppliers and project execution to review
the suppliers’ compliance on environmental protection. In the meantime,
the Group strengthens communication with suppliers and continues to
advocate and support green procurement.

Green Buildings

In construction operations, the Group insists on adding green concepts
to our buildings to promote green buildings. Among the completed
green buildings, including Hefei “Qianlong E-Commerce Logistics Park
Warehouse Nos.1-7" and “CSC Xi'an Logistics Park D Zone Warehouse
Nos.11-12", we have applied eco-friendly construction materials such
as autoclaved aerated concrete blocks and ALC panels to reduce the
negative impact on the environment during and after the construction
of the buildings. We have also adopted an energy saving and emission
reduction plan in the CSC Hefei by installing large solar panels on the
top floor of the complex to store solar energy to provide warm water to
users. Besides, the architectural design of our park was designed by a
professional company and evaluated by the relevant national authorities.
During the year, all residential projects developed by China South City
were designed and built with gardens and green areas in order to meet
national requirements, thereby achieving the goal of optimizing the

environment.

RoeE

AEE-EARELEAREME  BEHRERTEMA
BIEQLEHED - EEIMAFERRME - BYR
RE B IR IR AR IR
B ERSREECHEERGHER  2EEERA

DERBHBREBENTE  BHN

LEUR -

RERE

BPHEETHOREIT  BLEEDESEER
2 (Fa01S0 14001) AU HEERS ~ AR HLFERY - IRERF
BER —REEFEM B RAEREE - BEFHXE
EY PR REEBSRSE o LA
REFRMEETE A L LAEYIRERETA - &
RIEEFELEE  BH  HEREERZEHFTABR
RIEED o AEEINE AT EMERMNIE R BT - R
BREERTEIRFRESANBLBER - BUFRE - K
@ EEERAER  FEBENIFHEER

EERMEERAESS

o

BRegE

REBTEELER  BRBGZEOBESMAZEM
EEBERRNGERES
F o REAE BRI REEE-7TRAE I RIA
ZEMBYREDE 11-1258 E ] - HIFEARERD
BEMBINEBENRER LR RALCRFEREME
LUR DBy BRER RAREHRENEEVE &
PEEEEM IR T SaERE A R - RIS IETRIERE
KA KIS a2 2OKIR » 77 A5 8 RIB R 2K 4 A

ML HBRERE-

FoBE - AMNEBRERHRATRARS

WHBRBABEPITE - ERMARAEMAEEERR
HREIERIEE - LA TR B F R ZR]T -

ERECRITNER -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Green Construction

The Group is committed to handling construction emissions in a
responsible manner. We strictly comply with the regulations of competent
government departments on traffic, construction noise and production
safety at the construction sites, complete the relevant procedures in
accordance with the regulations and notify Party A and the supervisor in
writing. We also strictly have aligned with applicable laws and regulations
on environmental protection, and has formulated civilized construction
standards, including the Environmental Protection and Occupational
Health and Safety Management Standards, Management Standard for
Safe and Civilized Construction at Sites with Diagrams, Standard for Fire
Safety at Construction Sites, Management System for Safe and Civilized
Construction, Management System for Fire Safety in Construction, etc.

In respect of exhaust gas and dust pollution, we strictly abide by applicable
laws and regulations, including the Ambient Air Quality Standards.
Cement and other construction materials which are easily blown into
the air are sealed and stored; and construction waste is discharged
and transported through special airtight refuse passages or containers.
Construction sites are also equipped with enclosed waste stations where
construction waste and domestic waste are classified and stored.

In respect of sewage discharge, we comply with relevant laws and
regulations, including the Comprehensive Sewage Discharge Standard.
Sedimentation tanks have been built at the cleaning space for concrete
carrier vehicles for diversion of rain, sewage and wastewater from
construction sites. Sewage is treated through technical treatment before
being reclaimed. The remainder of treated water is discharged into
municipal sewage pipelines or recycled for greening and road flushing.
The Qil, thinner and paint on construction sites must be placed in storage
rooms whose ground must have received anti-seepage treatment to
prevent any groundwater pollution.

In addition, the Group strengthens the environmental management
at the construction sites in strict compliance with the requirements of
environmental inspection and audit. We strictly implement measures
to prevent and control the pollution of dust and waste water as well as
ecological protection and soil and water conservation measures during the
construction process, striving to protect the surrounding environment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Energy Management

The Group uses energy in a prudent manner, and manages electricity
conservation. Hence, through regular monitoring and evaluation of
electricity consumption, the Group is able to set energy saving targets and
promote more energy saving and low carbon measures.

We are committed to promoting the use of renewable energy. During
the year, Qianlong Logistics used energy electric trucks for distribution
and will continue to promote it. During the year, large solar water
heating panels were installed on the top floor of the complex in the
Hefei Company to supply warm water to users, thereby reducing the
consumption of electricity for water heaters by the users. In addition,
the Group also formulated and implemented the regulations related
to water and electricity consumption in the Management Regulations
on Energy Saving and Emission Reduction (Version 2020A). During the
year, we proposed to give priority to energy-efficient products based on
the energy efficiency label assessment provided by the manufacturers
when purchasing electrical appliances and other equipment; set the air-
conditioning temperature in offices at approximately 26 to 28 degrees
Celsius; and use LED lighting systems in most of Qianlong Logistics’
warehouses. In addition, the time for heating supply is adjusted according
to the season, geographical location, climate and other factors to save
unnecessary energy use. Besides, we also posted energy saving slogans
and signs in each park to encourage our employees to be environmentally
friendly and energy saving. In the future, the Group will strive to promote
energy saving and emission reduction measures and equipment to move
towards the national goal of “carbon neutrality”.

BEREE

REEARENEEFRER  WEHLOAEELE
B oo Bt AREFRTEMEANRTIGAEER - A
BIRET BIRETRE B IR - HEET LA E KK
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Water Management

The Group adheres to and strives to implement a strict water resources
management system. We require water conservation in all its operations,
strictly regulate sewage treatment and optimize water resources
management. During the reporting period, the Group strictly complied
with national laws and regulations on water resources and applied
for relevant discharge permits in accordance with local government
regulations, and was subject to the supervision of local environmental
protection monitoring authorities. Besides, we also implemented water
conservation measures in accordance with the regulations on water and
electricity consumption as set out in the Management Regulations on
Energy Saving and Emission Reduction (Version 2020A) formulated by
the Group. We regularly reviewed the use of domestic water and the
effectiveness of water conservation, and strengthened the management
for water resources to protect water resources. During the reporting
period, our domestic wastewater was disposed of in the municipal
wastewater treatment plant through the municipal wastewater treatment
network. In respect of water saving, CSC Shenzhen and CSC Harbin have
applied water saving equipment and facilities, using sensor-activated
taps and pedal-enabled water-saving toilets, which effectively reduced
the water usage of the plazas and public areas. Administrative Tower
and Trade Centre Plaza 3 of CSC Nanchang and Trade Centre Plaza 2 of
CSC Xi'an have applied water saving equipment and facilities. During the
reporting period, the Group did not encounter any problems with water

sourcing.

Packaging Materials

The Group is mainly engaged in logistics, transportation and business
management, which are not manufacturing or retail industries and thus
does not involve any packaging process. As such, packaging materials are
not significantly related to our business. As a result, the Group does not
keep records for packaging materials and no relevant records are available
for the reporting period.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Waste Management

The Group attaches great importance to waste management and expects
to reduce waste generation and properly handle hazardous waste.
We classify hazardous wastes in accordance with the National List of
Hazardous Waste and comply with the Environmental Protection and
Occupational Health and Safety Management Standards to store toxic
and hazardous waste in qualified containers. During the reporting period,
we strictly prohibited the mixing of different types or incompatible toxic
and hazardous waste in the same container to avoid danger. Containers
containing toxic and hazardous waste shall be sealed, packaged and
properly marked for identification, and stored in designated storage
areas. Toxic and hazardous waste shall be handed over to units that have
the qualifications for the transportation of toxic and hazardous waste
issued by the environmental protection department for disposal, so that
hazardous waste can be safely and properly managed.

In addition, the Group has also implemented a series of waste reduction
measures for non-hazardous waste. For example, the OA system was used
for application processes in daily office to promote paperless office; the
document management team has established electronic files and scanned
all contract documents to reduce copying and printing; we encourage
employees to use double-sided printing as much as possible when
printing, and the blank side of non-confidential documents should be used
as draft paper or environmentally friendly printing paper; old stationery
was traded in for new ones to reduce waste; recycling bins were set up in
shopping malls to promote a recycling culture; environmental protection
slogans and signs were posted in each park to encourage employees to
make good use of resources, so as to effectively reduce non-hazardous
waste. The Group also sorts recyclable waste (e.g. waste paper, plastic
products, wooden boards, etc.) by cleaning staff and notifies professional
collectors for recycling.

Air emission Management

During daily operation, the Group has strictly abided by the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Air Pollution and
the emission standards of different local governments. Furthermore, the
Group also tries to reduce the generation of air pollutant with advanced
technology.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

The Group strictly controls emissions and implements emission reduction
measures to ensure that the emissions from each of its operations meet
the local government regulations. During the reporting period, the air
emissions from the Group’s operations were in compliance with the local
government regulations. The vehicles owned by Qianlong Group have
attended annual review as required by the transportation authorities,
with their air emissions meeting the national regulations and passing
annual inspections. We regularly review our exhaust treatment in order to

minimize air emissions.

In addition, the Group continued to promote the development of electric
vehicles during the year, with a view to gradually replacing the oil-fired
forklifts. During the reporting period, Qianlong Logistics basically replaced
fuel trucks with rechargeable trucks in its warehouses and will continue to
promote them. Besides, CSC Shenzhen and CSC Nanning built charging
stations for new energy vehicles in the park to facilitate and encourage
tenants to use new energy vehicles. As a result, roadside emissions were
greatly reduced and roadside air quality was improved.

People-oriented, Diversity and Inclusion

The outstanding operation of our group’s business is achieved through
the talent, contributions, and innovation of our employees. This enables
us to ensure our talent strategy meets both immediate and long-term
operational needs in a fiercely competitive market. China South City
adheres to a “people-oriented” management philosophy and is committed
to protecting the legitimate rights and interests of our employees and
supporting their development. We are committed to providing an equal,
diversified, warm and inclusive platform for our employees, continuously
promoting their personal development and protecting the physical and
mental health of all employees, in order to enhance their happiness and
sense of belonging.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Talent Management

China South City strictly abides by the laws and regulations and relevant
practices such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Employment
Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Special Provisions
on Labor Protection of Female Employees, the Trade Union Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Minors and the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.
In accordance with the above laws and regulations, we also constantly
improve the monitoring and protection system for employees’ rights and
interests to ensure fairness and impartiality in recruitment and promotion
as well as create an equal and diversified workforce. We prohibit any form
of discrimination and arrange working hours and holidays for employees
in a lawful and reasonable manner, striving to provide a healthy and
safe working environment for employees and promote the common
development of the enterprise and employees.

Talent Recruitment and Retention

China South City allocates human resources according to the actual
needs of business development and makes timely adjustments to the
team structure. We have a comprehensive and transparent recruitment
process to ensure that the entire recruitment process is fair, just and
open. For all job vacancies, we usually only consider the applicants’
working experience, talents and academic qualifications. In considering
the promotion of employees, we adopt the principle of “fit for purpose”
and make reference to the performance evaluation of employees,
their experience and personal abilities and potentials as the criteria for
promotion. During the year, the Group adopted a digital system in human
resources management and brought technology into the operation. Apart
from providing customers more convenience, the Group can reorganize its
job structure in line with its development demands.

Equal Opportunities and Diversity and Inclusion

By adhering to its philosophy of diversity and anti-discrimination personnel
management, the Group is dedicated to offering equal opportunities
to its employees. Our equal employment opportunity policy applies
to employment arrangements including recruitment, employment,
promotion, job replacement, layoff and dismissal, ensuring that all
employees and candidates are treated equally regardless of race, religion,
gender, family status, sexual orientation, physical disability or any other
reasons. During the year, the Group continued its efforts to regulate the
collaborative relationship among employees through effective allocation
of human resources and achieved a win-win situation for both employees
and the Company.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Welfare Benefit

We provide competitive compensation packages and employee benefits
to enhance the Group’s competitiveness in attracting and retaining
talent. The Group has established a set of objective and fair remuneration
guidelines. The remuneration of our employees is determined with
reference to the overall economic environment and the remuneration
levels of our peers, as well as taking into account factors such as position,
personal ability, performance, education and professional qualifications.
In addition, we enforce our labor system in strict compliance with
national and local laws such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group has formulated its employee benefit system in accordance
with the requirements of the Ministry of Human Resources and Social
Security of the People’s Republic of China, including a reasonable leave
system for sick leave, casual leave, marriage leave, bereavement leave,
maternity leave, paternity leave, lactation leave, annual leave, injury leave
and statutory holidays. The employee benefit system is under constant
improvement to take better care of our employees and their personal
growth.

Care for Employees

The Group endeavors to cultivate a communication environment that
is sincere, open, and efficient, where employees are harmonious and
trustful to one another. We encourage two-way communication between
management and employees to build mutual trust, increase productivity,
and boost employee morale.

The Group attaches great importance to caring for and helping
employees. Adhering to the concept of “The Company Has Love, Mutual
Assistance”, we raised charitable donations for employees who suffered
from family tragedies, providing care and economic support to them
and their families. Besides, we also care about the physical and mental
health of our employees. To this end, our factories regularly organize
diversified activities for employees to enrich their spare time, promote
their communication and teamwork, thereby enhancing friendship and
cohesiveness.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Talent Development

The key to the long-term prosperity of the Group are the continuous
development and personal growth of our employees. Therefore, in China
South City, we put more efforts to the career planning of employees,
including the balanced development between personal career and life.
We continue to enhance our employee training system and provide
training for all levels of employees, including orientation and training
for management development. We have extensive and diverse training
programs, including lectures and seminars, online learning, outward
bound courses and experience sharing programs. We hope to effectively
assist our employees in enhancing their skills through various types of
training, helping them to realize their career planning and fully utilize their
strengths and potentials in their respective positions.

New Talent Development

The Group provides orientation for new employees, covering corporate
culture, systems and procedures, to help them quickly integrate and
understand the working environment and culture of the Group. In
addition, it has been the talent management objective of China South
City to nurture the best young generation for the society. With diversified
businesses, China South City can provide graduates with a sound platform
to facilitate their integration into the workplace, so that outstanding
graduates can show and explore their talents and build their ideal career.

Leadership Training Program

China South City believes that by enhancing the capabilities and qualities
of our management personnel, we can lead our teams to adapt to
economic development and respond to market changes. Therefore, the
Group have established a “Leadership Training Program” that focuses
on providing targeted training for our senior management to enhance
their abilities and qualities. The program covers topics such as Essential
Commitment Management System, Leadership Grid, DISC Personality
Assessment, and Achieving Results in Interpersonal Relationships. Through
this training, our managers will be equipped to face challenges, establish
credibility and reputation, motivate team members, and foster highly
efficient and collaborative teams, making valuable contributions to the
company’s development.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Occupational Safety and Health Management
Occupational safety and health are the top priority of the Group to ensure
our employees’ welfare. China South City endeavors to take various
preventive measures to minimize potential occupational safety risks in our
operations and to provide a healthy and safe working environment for
our employees. The Group’s occupational health and safety policies are
formulated in accordance with laws and regulations such as the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases and the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong
Kong.

Park Safety Management

In the daily operations, project inspections by the safety team are arranged
to eliminate potential safety risks and proactively eliminate hazards, and
regularly inspect fire-fighting facilities and safety signs. As required by the
State Council, the Group also carried out the “Production Safety Month”
activities to promote safety management in places, including but not
limited to, office premises, construction sites and the entire project area.

Construction Safety

Although the construction works of China South City are completed by
contractors, in view of the relatively high occupational safety and health
risks associated with the construction business, we require the main
contractor to prepare an effective occupational risk management plan to
identify, assess and control potential sources of hazards on all projects
and to ensure the safety of the project works through control measures in
accordance with the national and project location regulations, rules and
contractual requirements on safe and civilized construction. The Group
also revised the “China South City Holdings Group Safe and Civilized
Construction Management System (2023 Revision) to regulate its safety
management committee and project management centre to conduct
regular inspections and assessments for the safe and civilized construction
of each project on a regular basis, so as to protect the health and safety of
workers through a two-pronged approach by strengthening the attention

of the main contractor and the supervisory unit to safety.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Health and Safety Culture

The cornerstone of a successful production safety system is safety
education and training. Therefore, the Group has established and
implemented a sound production safety education and training system.
We provided regular occupational safety education courses and training
to our employees, conducted multiple safety seminars and fire drills to
enhance the safety awareness of all employees and upgrade their safety
skills. Apart from accident prevention, we have also invested resources to
enhance the health awareness among employees. Moreover, in response
to the prevailing running trend in recent years, we have organized running
groups and hired professional coaches to give guidance. CSC Shenzhen
has its employee dormitories furnished with various fitness facilities such as
gyms and table-tennis tables, treadmills, multi-training machines, indoor
cycling accessories, etc.

In response to work-related accidents, the Group communicates and
reports to the Human Resources and Social Security Bureau immediately
and ensures adequate risk prevention and emergency response measures
by reviewing the accidents. The Group also delegates its labor union
personnel to visit the injured employees, console their family members
and seek for the best treatment plan from various aspects in cooperation
with medical institutions. During the reporting period, there is no lost day
due to work injuries.

Labor Standards

The Group conducts regular inspections to prevent child labor or
forced labor, and strengthens internal training to raise awareness of
its subsidiaries for laws and regulations, so as to achieve the goal of
prohibiting child labor and forced labor. During the reporting period, the
Group did not record any cases of child labor or forced labor. In case of
any violations, the Group will refer them to the law enforcement agencies
in accordance with the law. The Group also recruits in accordance with
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China, which prohibit any form of forced labor and
compulsory overtime work.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Prevention of Forced Labor

The Group enters into employment contracts that meet the requirements
of local laws and regulations with employees before their official
employment, which clearly stipulate the rights and responsibilities of both
parties, protect the rights and interests of employees, prohibit any form
of forced labor, ensure that all employees work on a voluntary basis,
and prohibit the use of any forced labor or indentured labor, corporal
punishment, imprisonment, or threat of violence. If overtime work is
required for manufacturing operations or under special circumstances,
overtime work must be arranged with the consent of the employee
without affecting the employee’s physical condition and compensated by
overtime pay.

Prevention of Child Labor

To eliminate the occurrence of such incidents, we check and review
the identity documents, relevant certificates and work experience of
job applicants during the recruitment process to verify their age. Once
child labor is found, we will immediately stop their work and conduct
investigations to identify loopholes and implement remedial measures to
prevent the recurrence of such incidents.

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations on the
prevention of child labor or forced labor, including the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China, and there were no violations during the

period.

Quality Property and Considerate Services

China South City remains committed to its quality management policy,
which prioritizes continuous improvement, brand protection, and customer
satisfaction. To achieve this, the company continually enhances its internal
project quality management processes, ensuring that its customers enjoy a
comfortable and high-quality commercial and residential environment. We
are committed to enhancing the overall sustainability of our value chain
while maintaining our competitive edge. We proactively communicate
with and manage our suppliers and contractors to establish long-term
and mutually beneficial partnerships, thus creating synergies and bringing
positive impact to the society.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Customer Health and Safety

The health and safety of our customers is always the top priority for
the Group’s business. The Group has set up a Safety Management
Committee, which is responsible for formulating rules and regulations on
fire prevention and disaster prevention for various areas from the safety
office to construction environment, and to the management of the entire
project area, and all relevant departments are required to comply with
these rules and regulations. The Safety Management Committee also
inspects and prevents individual safety matters. For example, it regularly
checks the implementation of safety measures of each construction unit
and the project site, and reminds employees and relevant units to beware
of fire and theft before the long leave.

Establishing Relationships with Customers

China South City recognizes that the opinions of its customers are crucial
to the sustainable development of the company. As such, we actively
seek out and listen to feedback from customers through various channels,
such as satisfaction surveys and complaint handling. By doing so, we
continually improve the quality of our services and strive to enhance the

overall customer experience and satisfaction.

The Group has formulated the implementation rules of customer
satisfaction surveys. The Group would collect and analyze the extent of
customer satisfaction to China South City in respect of product planning
and design, property management, construction quality, business
operation and customer service through customer satisfaction surveys.
Accordingly, specific optimization policies would be developed based on
the analysis results to continuously improve customer management and
services and hence enhance customer satisfaction and repurchase rate.

To ensure that customer complaints can be responded to and resolved
in a prompt, effective, fair and reasonable manner, the Group strictly
follows the policy for customer complaint management and handling
guidelines, which clearly define the responsibilities and authority of the
property service centres of the Group in the management of customer
complaints in every aspect. General complaints would be concluded
within two working days from the date of receipt in order to appropriately
address customers’ demands. During the Reporting Period, the Group
received and processed 884 customer complaints in accordance with the
regulations, with a completion rate of 100%.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Quality Assurance

Recognizing that product quality and safety are paramount to our
customers, the community, and our corporate reputation, China South
City places a high priority on ensuring these aspects are met. We
consider delivering exceptional product quality and fulfilling our product
responsibilities as the fundamental building blocks of our business. The
Group strictly complies with the Construction Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Regulations on Quality Control of Construction Projects,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests and the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, and other laws and regulations and industry standards related to
product quality and safety that have a significant impact on the Group.
During the reporting period, the Group has recorded no non-compliance
incident.

Project Quality Management

We have formulated the Project Management Manual of China South
City Holdings Group to regulate project management responsibilities and
quality management systems for the early, middle and later stages of
projects and project delivery and acceptance, such as management system
for project inspection and evaluation, management system for prevention
and control of common defects in project quality, management system for
safe and civilized construction, management system for emergency plan
for major engineering accidents, project inspection and reporting system,
management guidelines for project delivery and acceptance, etc. All these
systems have been designed to ensure the quality management in all
stages of projects.

During the year, the Zijingmingdu project of CSC Zhengzhou was awarded
the certification by the Construction Industry Branch of China Safety
Industry Association and the “Sanxia Cup Quality Structural Project” by
Chongging Construction Engineering Quality Association, demonstrating
our efforts in project quality management.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

v

v

Operation Manual for Project Management Quality Control of
China South City Group
(ZEEBEETREHEEEEERHRIEFM)

Before commencing construction &) T Ai]

Regulate the preliminary management of project construction, carry out overall planning of the
project management process in the early stage of construction so that the construction layout,
project progress, quality, safe and civilized construction and other project management work
can be more standardized, reasonable and efficient, and strengthen the project pre-control
management to ensure the smooth implementation of the project.
RBEEHRERNAHEELF BRI REEXRMAY I REERREETRARRE  ErIe
FTEHME  ITRREE G2 LTE2XABISIREEZNTEMSEE - 618 5% - @I
BEEER  REHEBIRNE® -

Jrifparasge =y
S R =

During the construction T2

Regulate the management of project construction process, clarify the control points and

difficulties of project management, ensure the management for the quality, progress, safe and

civilized construction of the whole process of project, continuously improve the level of project

management, and finally achieve project development goals.
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After completion 3% T 1%

Regulate the management of completion acceptance to ensure the smooth completion of the

project completion acceptance on schedule. The Project Management Department shall

cooperate with the Project Department and the Outreach Department to prepare the special

acceptance plan, preliminary acceptance plan and completion acceptance plan.
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Advertising Standards BERE

China South City has consistently prioritized transparency and accuracy
when introducing new products and disseminating promotional &l @ BIRFEFESBSEHNESNEME S ENR
materials, ensuring that customers are well-informed and able to make € ﬁzﬂ’ﬁﬁ’\]ﬁu FABINERBEERHTENSHNE
informed decisions. Our frontline employees are also required to provide @il - WEERAREEMESKIEETF X - EH
yﬁ@(ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ’\]%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ% C IRFTAES R EA

HEE MBS EREAML T REZER - BE(PE

customers with complete and clear product descriptions, and misleading
advertising or sales practices are strictly prohibited. China South City
adopts responsible marketing strategies to ensure the compliance of ~ ARMMEESEVMEMEHAER

all advertising and other promotional materials with applicable local

and national laws and regulations, including the Advertising Law of the

People’s Republic of China and other applicable regulations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Protecting Customer Privacy and Intellectual Property
Maintaining the trust of our customers and employees relies on our
commitment to safeguarding personal data. The Group is committed to
maintaining and protecting the personal data privacy of our customers
and employees. We strictly comply with the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests and other
privacy-related laws and regulations, and require all employees who have
access to technical and trade secrets of the Group and its customers to
observe confidentiality obligations, so as to prevent leakage of information
and trade secrets and ensure the confidentiality of customer information.
To protect consumer information and privacy, customers’ personal data
has been uploaded to the Mingyuan system, which is equipped with the
latest firewall and anti- virus software and is protected by a dedicated
person responsible for the use of the system account. Access to customer
information is restricted to authorized persons on a need-to-know and
need-to-use basis.

We also emphasize originality and respect intellectual property rights.
Therefore, employees are not allowed to disclose or exploit any patents
and trademarks of the Group and its customers without authorization.
Moreover, the Group has signed a non-disclosure agreement with its
employees when they enter into employment contracts, which stipulates
that employees are obligated to prevent the disclosure of the information
of the Group and protect the interests of the Group and relevant
stakeholders. During the report year, the Group owns a total of 227
intellectual properties.

Supply Chain Management

The Group's strong business development hinges on the dependable
support of our suppliers, who are integral stakeholders in our business
value chain. To build a mutually beneficial partnership, China South City
is fully committed to working closely with our suppliers. We strive to
adopt environmentally and socially responsible practices throughout our
supply chain, gradually integrating environmental and safety standards
into our established procurement workflow. By doing so, we are better
equipped to meet the demands that may arise from future policy changes.
We remain vigilant of market trends and will respond proactively to any
specific circumstances.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Sustainable Supply Chain

In line with the Group’s vision and mission of sustainable development
and corporate citizenship, we also expect our suppliers to work together
with us to reduce the environmental and social impacts during business
operations. Therefore, when selecting suppliers, the Group also takes into
account their environmental awareness and social responsibility. We adopt
a collaborative approach throughout our supply chain and encourage
suppliers and other partners to explore and implement sustainable
business practices.

Supplier Selection System

The Group values product quality and cost control, also most of its
procurement would go through a tender process. The Group has
established standardized management practices for tender procurement,
which clearly specify the procurement methods and regulate the tender
procurement process, as well as provide for rewards and penalties for
procurement inspection and assessment, in a bid to enhance the efficiency
and quality of procurement and safeguard the legitimate interests of the
Group. During the reporting period, the above management policies and
employment practices were applied to 495 suppliers.

Supplier Management

The Group has established a supplier management process to strengthen
supplier management and ensure the quality of products and services
provided by suppliers.

WA REAER

RTFEAEENAHERRBASMEGREEAR
MER - BfLHE2HERERM—ESS  BIE
BELHMERENMTENTE - RAEREBEHER
i AEETERHEFNRREELM G EIRA
AZREE - HAEREHREEERNBEDN - SE
HEAMEGEERHFRENERAIRFENKLEE

7 o

HIER R S E

AEBBREMNEERKARES - REDHRE
BRBREET ARERBARECHBRREERE
WE - Eh ARy ARED A RABRRRERE
RIS FIARBUEZZNES - WESRERERE
B AEAEENAEERD - RARSHA - AEE
AT T st B IR ISR N S R B I e (B R 2R 4955

HEBEERRE

AEBRMEHEIRRIE - AMBHEREIBERRE

HERMRENERRRTHNEE -

Supplier sourcing The Group sources suppliers through a variety of methods, including public solicitation and peer solicitation.
For suppliers through internal referrals, we require our employees to make referrals in real name to avoid

potential risks in the relevant supply chain.

HEESIR REEFBEZEFR - BREAREE  RTBES - MPRAIEBNMHER  BMeZkAREIERAE
BHER - AR BRAGLESEHEERR -
Supplier Inspection teams from different departments of the Group will conduct inspections and professional
admission evaluations of suppliers.
o Goodwill verification: remove those suppliers with quality defects, illegal acts or bad reputation in the
past two years
o Preliminary vetting: verify supplier's qualification, financial status and past performance
HEE A E HASETREFPFIRE R/ NMNEREERETER R EENE -
. FEZE  JRBEMFATELEME - BATR  EEIROMHER
. BEEE REHERNEE  UBIAKBERE
Performance We will conduct performance evaluation of our partner suppliers and manage them in a tiered manner to
evaluation monitor and evaluate their sustainable performance, so as to ensure the supply quality.
B#HHE BMEE S FHERETROMNL - WHHERETONSEER - UERA G MM A HERRER

RIBHELE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Communication with Suppliers

The Group promotes its concepts and experience in sustainable
development to the supply chain through supplier conferences, supplier
visits and on-site exchanges. Meanwhile, we learn from advanced
experiences and latest technologies at home and abroad to keep abreast
of the times.

Contributing to Society for Harmony and Inclusion
China South City has been actively engaged in charity affairs at
communities to create harmonious communities by giving back to the

areas it serves.

The Group operates in many parts of China and is closely involved in
the development of communities. We are always concerned about the
development needs of the community and are committed to making
contributions to the community. We are also deeply concerned about the
sustainable development needs of different operating regions, and we
must consider the interests of the community and give back to society

when conducting any business operations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Sustainability at a Glance

Energy Consumption’

IHERRSE

BERER 2024
Direct energy consumption? kWh 637,557.77
HERRER? TR

Intensity of direct energy consumption? kWh/Employee 505.20
HERRFEERE ThRE EE

Indirect energy consumption kWh 37,413,154.00
FZeeRES TR

Intensity of indirect energy consumption kWh/Employee 29,645.92
B REE B E TRE/EE

Total energy consumption* kWh 38,050,711.77
HELREE TR

Intensity of total energy consumption® kWh/Employee 30,151.12
HELRFEERES TREEE

Direct Energy Consumption

HiEgRREE

QOil fuel consumption® kWh 637,557.77
PRmFESe TR &

Intensity of oil fuel consumption’ kWh/Employee 505.20
BT E’ ThRE EE

Indirect energy consumption

BERRMEE

Electricity consumption kWh 37,413,154.00
BHHEE FRF

Intensity of electricity consumption kWh/Employee 29,645.92
BHREEEE FTRE &S

! The energy data referenced uses the low calorific value conversion provided by the National Energy Administration and is expressed in kWh

BERBIE2ZERAREFRAZRANEMERE BT

2 2023 data revision: 776,300.75 kWh
2023F RIS IE © 776,300.75F FLBF

3 2023 data revision: 386.80 kWh /Employee

2023F BUEEIE - 386.80 T RS fEE
4 2023 data revision: 28,348,386.75 kWh

2023F HUREIE : 28,348,386.75 T FLEF
2023 data revision: 14,124.76 kWh /Employee
20234 BIBIEIE © 14,124 76 TR R
2023 data revision: 776,300.75 kWh

2023F HURIEIE : 776,300.75F BB

2023 data revision: 386.80 kWh /Employee
2023F HUREIE - 386.80T LIS BB

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZREFIRA T
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Water Consumption

FEKkE 2024
Water consumption m?3 219,941.00
FEKE 7K

Intensity of water consumption m3/Employee 174.28
FXRETE SNHEAR/RE

Waste Generated Volume

BEYNEEE 2024
Hazardous waste tonnes N/AT i A8
EEEEY g

Intensity of hazardous waste tonnes/Employee N/AT3E A e
BEREYEE W18

Non-hazardous waste tonnes 0.73
BmEEEY g

Intensity of non-hazardous waste tonnes/Employee <0.01
BEEREYTE =]

Exhaust Gas Pollutant Emission Volume

BEREHRE 2024
Nitrogen oxides (NO )° kg 38.72
A& NI

Sulphur oxide (SO )" kg 1.03
maEee NI

Particle (PM)" kg 2.85
B N

The government clears and transports hazardous waste for enterprises, and thus there is no relevant record

B REFEEEERERY - BB R

2023 data revision: 53.91kg
2023F BIRELE : 53.91AF
2023 data revision: 1.26 kg
2023F BIFMELE - 1.262/T
2023 data revision: 3.97 kg
2023FBUREIE - 3.97AT

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emission'?

BEREHEN? 2024
Direct emissions (Scope 1)'3 14 tonnes of CO,e 244.47
BEHER(SBE—)> Nk =R (=

Energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)' tonnes of CO,e 20,075.90
seIRMEE B (BE ) AW LIRE 2

Other indirect emissions (Scope 3)'® tonnes of COe 220.80
Hab g (gBE =) AW —ELIREE

Total GHG emissions'’ tonnes of CO,e 20,541.16
HREREHEWRET NE—E(LIRE S

Intensity of total GHG emissions'® tonnes of CO,e/Employee 16.28
BRERBHNERE® YN Y [y =

12 The calculations of GHG emission were based on the Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange, 2006 IPCC

Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, IPCC Sixth Assessment Report, and the latest emission factor of the National Grid of China
published by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People’s Republic of China (MEE)
BRERBEHMGIE AR IBMIRRARERIEEREES  —TTXRFIPCCRFRAERBEEEE « IPCCENRTERE RFEA
AN A4 SR IRR B0 (AR RRIRIR B ) B R iR L A B A 7

13 Scope 1 includes gasoline use from mobile vehicles, diesel use and carbon dioxide fire extinguishers
HENBEREBHEBITVREA - SOhER R AR NS

" 2023 data revision: 391.65 tonnes of CO,e

2023FHURIEIE : 39165 AW — A LiE 2

Scope 2: includes energy indirect emissions from purchased electricity

HE2RIEEEE N sRE R

16 Scope 3: includes business travel
HEBEHEER

7 2023 data revision: 16,451.28 tonnes of CO,e
2023F HURIEIE : 16,451 28 A —A/LixE &

1 2023 data revision: 8.20 tonnes of CO_e/Employee
2023FBIBELE : 8202 _ELHES EE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Number of Employees

by Different Categories RAEERE D HNEE AR 2024
By Gender EgE 1 E o
Male Eelia 621
Female 7 641
By Employment Type RERERES
Full-time gy 1,248
Part-time SR 13
Apprentices and trainees BENEZL 1
By Age Group RERARE D
<25 <255% 20
25-34 25% 3455 385
35-44 355445 659
45-54 455453, 170
55-64 55Z 645, 27
>65 >655%, 1
By Geographical Region Rt EE D
Mainland China H B K e 1,252
Hong Kong SAR AR TR 10
Other Region HAbib[@ 0
Employee’s Turnover Rate
by Different Categories' RAEERE D WREA LR 2024
(%)
By Gender Ege oo
Male EElia 3.01
Female gegis 2.20
By Age Group RERERED
<25 <255% 6.25
25-34 2553455 3.55
35-44 35E445% 2.41
45-54 452545, 2.16
55-64 552645 3.09
>65 >6573%, 0.00
By Geographical Region RibEE S
Mainland China alEipN 2.60
Hong Kong SAR BRFNITHE 2.50
Other ity 0.00

19

Average monthly turnover rate of employees in a specific category = the full-year number of resigned employees in a specific category / 12 /

average monthly number of employees in a specific category x 100%

FEBMIEENEAFERAR = BFEENESENEFRBAR/ 12/ FEHEHIEENE ATFHAE X 100%
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

The Percentage of Total Employees Trained

by Different Categories? RIABENESNZINETED L. 2024
(%)

By Gender BRI D

Male S 51.11

Female i 48.89

By Employee Category RESERE S

Senior management = 57.24

Middle management H 38.98

General employees —MET 3.78

The Average Training Hours Completed per

Employee by Different Categories”’ RAEERNE S BAEENFIZIRE 2024
(Hour)
(/1NEF)

By Gender BRI S

Male Bt 5.45

Female g 4.42

By Employee Category RESERES

Senior management =E 5.75

Middle management g 457

General Staff —MET 1.16

Health and Safety

REHEZE 2024

Number and rate of work-related fatalities % 0

occurred in the reporting year

ETI T ABR &

Lost days due to work injury Days 113

FITGEATIERE A

Calculation formula: Percentage of the number of trainees in a specific category = total number of trainees in a specific category / total number

of employees in a specific category x 100%

SHEAN  FEERZ AR = FEERNEENAZIAB/ FERFRENEAR X 100%

Calculation formula: average training hours per employee = total training hours of employees in a specific category / total number of employees

in a specific category

FEAN  BREETHIIINE = HERRIESNESZIISE / FERRERNBAR

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZREFIRA T
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Number of Suppliers by Region TRtES S HHEREE 2024
Shenzhen el 107
Nanning e 30
Nanchang = 42
Xi'an =S 26
Harbin BERA 4
Zhengzhou gl 66
Hefei ahe 49
Chongging =B 45
Other Hith 126
Anti-corruption

RES 2024
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices during the reporting period 0

RERMNRE T EEENE SHRART AR

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

Index to the Environmental, Social and Governance

ERRE (F)

Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange

A Environmental

A RE

Aspect A.1

FHHEA.1

KPIA 1.1

FEIZA 1.1

KPIA.1.2

JEIRA 1.2

KPIA. 1.3

FEIZEA. 1.3

KPIA.1.4

FEIZA. 1.4

KPIA.1.5

FEIFA15
KPIA.1.6

EIZA 1.6

Emissions
E2. 3187

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

PERIE SR AR A BE R ER -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

BE(HBE) RepREZ (BE2)R=REBHME (A E) R (ER) % E
(WABESEN - BIERMEE) ©

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FEEEEREEDES (VAR E) R(ER) &BE (ASES By -
poEtE) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,

a
3

18

intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FrE+EFEEYES CAETE) R(nER ) BE(NASESEN - &1
MEEtE) -

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

el
o

M FTET SZ VR E B R R AE RS B R PRI 2288 -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

M ERIR A = MEEREEYN L - AR PRl SRS B R R AE RS B
SRTEREREY 8]

BRI - 8 REBHEESDES

Section

8-

Environmental
Management
RIEER

Air emission
Management

BEREHE

Waste Management

BEEYERE

Waste Management

BEEMERE

Environmental
Management
BAER

Waste Management

BEEYE R

The government
clears and transports
hazardous waste
for enterprises, and
thus there is no
relevant record.
BN REEEER
EREEY - BORE
MEBRCE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

A Environmental

A RE

Aspect A.2

JHA2

KPIA.2. 1

EIZA2.1

KPIA.2.2

EIZA.2.2
KPIA.2.3

FE1RA.2.3
KPIA.2.4

EIZA.2.4
KPIA.2.5
FEIEA.2.5
Aspect A.3

FHEA3
KPIA.3.1

FEIZEA.3.1

Aspect A.4
JTHEA4A
KPIA.4.1

EIEA.4.1

ERRE (F)

Use of Resources

EIR{E

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil)
in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

RIEREISMERER SEEER(NE - KEUh)BFEE A TETRETE)

RERE(WAGES S - FIERMTHE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

BROKEREE (WABES B - BIEREAHE) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve

them.
T ET SR BE IR A e B AR R A B 5 Lk B RPN 2258 o

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,

water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
FEIUSKEGE A AOR LRI A (IR RE - A RFIRI I B Ak e B IR R ARESE
B R P ERANE) 28R -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable,

with reference to per unit produced.

SR MR BEMHEE (CAEETE) R (ER) BEEEMhE -
The Environment and Natural Resources

RIERRANER

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

MR ABHRBERRARERNEAZENCENEEEGRTZENTY -

Climate Change

SRR

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

B RAREEHETAEEZENEARFEHEE - REHTE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

Section

0]

Energy
Management

BEREE

Water Management

IKERER
Environmental
Management
RIREE

Water Management

KEIRERE

Packaging Materials

Rk

During the
Reporting Period,
there was no
incident that had a
significant impact

on the environment

and natural
resources.
HANRBEERER
RAB IR ERF
LHFER -

Responding to
Climate Change
FEHRIREE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

B Social

BiHE

ERRE (F)

Employment and Labour Practices

EREETER

Aspect B.1

J5TEB.1

KPIB.1.1

FEIEB. 1.1
KPIB.1.2
E1%B. 1.2
Aspect B.2

HEB.2
KPIB.2.1

1E1EB.2.1

KPIB.2.2

EIZB.2.2
KPIB.2.3

1515B.2.3
Aspect B.3
7 HB.3
KPIB.3.1

JE1%B.3.1

Employment

=

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time),
age group and geographical region.

IR - EIRERE (N2 B - Fiedn| MitRE 5 aE B AR -
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.
RIER - FheER Rit=E S EEBRALLE o

Health and Safety

RS S
Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three
years including the reporting year.

BE=F(BRERFE)SFATTHROABKILE -

Lost days due to work injury.

EITEBARTIERE -
Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

T PR B R B 2 245 0 - DA AR T R B 0% -
Development and Training

BRE R

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.
senior management, middle management).
RERIREERA(INSRERRE PREER)ESNXIEEB DL -

Section

0]

People-oriented,
Diversity and
Inclusion
AR
eI

Our Team

HfFIEo B B

Our Team
HAPIE0 B B
Occupational

Safety and Health
Management
BfeEne

There was no work-
related fatality
during the past
three years including
the reporting
period.
BRI E A
BE=FR/BEM
BRI FMEH -
Health and Safety
Culture
#EZ2XIt
Occupational
Safety and Health
Management
BzfEeE
Talent Management
AT ERE

Talent Development

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZREFIRA T
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B Social

BiHE

KPIB.3.2
151%B.3.2
Aspect B.4
75 HB.4
KPI B.4.1
151%B.4.1
KPI B.4.2

E1ZB.4.2

Operating Practices

EEEM
Aspect B.5

7 HB.5
KPIB.5.1

FE1ZB.5.1
KPIB.5.2

1E1EB.5.2

KPI B.5.3

7E1ZB.5.3

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.

RIERIREELERIED - FEEETHZIINTFIERE -

Labour Standards

T AER)

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

A RIS B B hE AR e 2 T M58 BI85 T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

B IRE RBE BB R B ATREA 8, -

Supply Chain Management

e E R
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

il Sl D EEEE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

AR RERENED - MERTEREMNNHERHE - ARERERIT
NMERITE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

A ER R RS ERERR R g AR B - ARMEERITRER
JI0E o

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

Section

0]

Talent Development

BEAS
Labour Standards
LT R
Labour Standards

L5 T AR

No violations during
the reporting
period.
AREHARGE
AP

Supply Chain
Management
HrEsEE e
Supply Chain
Management
HpEEEIR

All new have gone
through the relevant
assessment process
of the Group prior
to procurement.
Furthermore, all
suppliers in our
current partnership
have passed the
annual assessment.
PR Hh R A BR
BRIEERAEE
BARRERT SRR -
IR IE & 1EE) e
Rt BB F AT
Supply Chain
Management

HresE e



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

B Social

BiHE

KPI B.5.4

154%B.5.4
Aspect B.6

75 TEIB.6
KPI B.6.1

JE1%B.6.1

KPI B.6.2

7E1ZB.6.2

KPI B.6.3

#51ZB.6.3
KPI B.6.4
FE1%B.6.4
KPI B.6.5

7E1ZB.6.5

ERRE (F)

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

F AR R (L P R (2 2 2 R ERIREE m S AR TS HV1E Bl - AR ABBIsIT R BE 5
% e

Product Responsibility

EmaE

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.

EESCEXEREBRT AL ERFEAMABLKNBE L

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are
dealt with.

EREARERMREOIRFEE AREEIE -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property
rights.

it B A SRS IR E R G RAV1E B -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

il E S8 B N E m B WGE Fr o

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

AU EEERRERLRBER - ARBERITRERTE -

Section

0]

Supply Chain
Management

HrEsEE e

Quality Assurance

o B RE

No products were
recalled for safety
and health reasons
during the reporting
period.
REANRGE
o %2 2 B2 FR TR
FmZam -
During the
reporting period,
the Group received
and resolved

884 customer
complaints in
compliance with
relevant regulations,
achieving a 100%
resolution rate.
REpEHER - R
EERFERFIR
8841t N KAERE
FTE BR - AR
#100% °

Quality Assurance

mERE
Quality Assurance
m B RE
Quality Assurance
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

B Social

BiHE

Aspect B.7

FEB.7

KPIB.7.1

E1ZB.7.1

KPIB.7.2

FEIZB.7.2

KPIB.7.3

FEI1%B.7.3
Community

HE
Aspect B.8

FTEB.8

KPIB.8.1

FEIZB.8.1

KPI B.8.2

151%2B.8.2

ERRE (F)

Anti-corruption
k&5
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against

the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.

PRBE R EAN B 31T A EE B IR B B AR B SR AR HIBE RafA4E
B

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures,

and how they are implemented and monitored.

R E e e R AR - DARIBBERIT R TA -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

ftmES N B TIREMN RS -

Community Investment

HEREE

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport).

BIEREE(IHE  REEHE  BTHER  &F b 87 -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIREMEAER (NS ERERE) -
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Section

0]

Integrity and
Compliance
BIERRZ
BREE

There were no
litigation cases
related to corruption
during the reporting
period.
RREHANREE
VIR RS ©
Integrity and
Compliance

& IERRR
AREE

Integrity and
Compliance
BIERRZ
BREE

Contributing to
Society for Harmony
and Inclusion
Bt @

FEE R
Contributing to
Society for Harmony
and Inclusion
v

FEE
Contributing to
Society for Harmony
and Inclusion
it

AR



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

MR8 S T

|
EYzx

To the members of China South City Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Disclaimer of opinion

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of China
South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 171 to 324, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the potential interaction of the multiple
uncertainties relating to going concern and their possible cumulative
effect on the consolidated financial statements as described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us
to form an opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all
other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
recorded net loss of HK$8,976 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, and as at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$2,848 million. The Group’s current
portion of interest-bearing debts (comprising senior notes and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings) amounted to HK$18,241 million,
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$41 million. As at 31
December 2024, the principal or interest payable relating to an aggregate
amount of HK$15,742 million of interest-bearing debts had not been
repaid according to their scheduled repayment date (the “Defaulted
Borrowings”), triggering an aggregate amount of HK$375 million interest-
bearing debts (the “Cross Defaulted Borrowings”) to become repayable
on demand. A winding-up petition was filed by Citicorp International
Limited (the “Petitioner”) against the Company on 27 January 2025.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B2 BE RS (&)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued)
Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
(Continued)

These conditions, together with other matters disclosed in Note 2.1 to

the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of multiple

material uncertainties which cast significant doubt on the Group'’s ability

to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking restructuring plans

and measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position,

which are set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

The validity of the going concern assumptions on which the consolidated

financial statements have been prepared depends on the outcome of

these measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

successful and timely debt restructuring with the lenders of the
Group's Defaulted and Cross Defaulted Borrowings;

successful dismissal of the winding-up petition;

successful and timely implementation of the plans to dispose of
certain of the Group’s equity interests in certain property projects to
raise the level of liquid funds;

timely implementation of the plans to accelerate the pre-sales and
sales of its properties under development and completed properties,
and to speed up the collection of outstanding sales proceeds and
other receivables; and

successfully execution of active measures to control administrative
costs and maintain containment of capital expenditures.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYZEAERE (&)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued)

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
(Continued)

As a result of these multiple uncertainties, their potential interaction, and
the possible cumulative effect thereof, we were unable to form an opinion
as to whether the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate.
Should the Group fail to achieve the abovementioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
amount of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYZEAERE (&)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. Our report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. However, because of the matters described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible
for us to form an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Man Lok Chau.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

28 March 2025

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

BREMRERGSMBRRAREZRE

BANETRERBRELSSHM IS RMANEBLZIE
AY BERENGREWHRIGETESR  TEREH
AR o RIPIHMEERIBEETE R REDIF 405157
2REREL - TAUBELBRE - HAMTHAR
EHAR - SHEMEMA LA ESOREEFREE - A
- BREMREEEIRTELNER —FMENE
B BT RAMBRRIZKER -

REBESAMAGNEEGENEE TR
A1) - ZRABIR BEE - WERETAETEMD
BIERE -

RBIIZBENRE 2 BB BB ARENE -

RKETHER B
HESIAD

BE

#lmm
HEEI7958

N —RE271

202593 H28H



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

GEBRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F12A318ILFEE

For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BZ20245 H22023F
1283181k 12A3181E
FE NEA
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BsE THET FAT
REVENUE 'ON 5 4,083,380 3,508,926
Cost of sales SHEXRA (3,317,468) (2,700,245)
Gross profit EH 765,912 808,681
Other income and gains/(losses), net HW ARz (F1E) » 35 5 154,003 (537,406)
Fair value losses on investment properties BEMENFEBE 5 (2,483,460) (2,317,419)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERX (165,652) (166,005)
Administrative expenses THRHAX (463,599) (660,025)
Other expenses HipfA% (4,595,198) (1,670,490)
Finance costs AR A (1,522,530) (633,667)
Share of profits of associates JEEEE DR 2 ) 33,936 98,896
LOSS BEFORE TAX BATER 6 (8,276,588) (5,077,435)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTiS®i (%), i 10 (699,316) 759,845
LOSS FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD E R (8,975,904) (4,317,590)
Attributable to: 57 FEL -
Owners of the parent ISYNGIEZFSPN (8,975,762) (4,317,462)
Non-controlling interests FEE R IR (142) (128)
(8,975,904) (4,317,590)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BENIATEER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF ERRFEAZBRER
THE PARENT 12
Basic R
— For loss for the year/period —F /HNEE HK(78.45) centsi&{ll  HK(37.73) centsi& il
Diluted B
— For loss for the year/period — &/ HREE HK(78.45) centsi&{ll  HK(37.73) centsi& il
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REETHEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F12A318ILFEE

For the
year ended
31 December

For the

nine months
ended

31 December

2024 2023
HZE2024F #HZ=2023F
12A31H1E 12A3181k
FE HEAR
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
LOSS FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD RE HIEE (8,975,904) (4,317,590)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Htt 2 &R
Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified R EZ BB AILEDEE
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: BRmEMEEEE
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BREFINETFHER 250
operations (863,675) (1,707,773)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS KEE HRBERMEE
FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD, NET OF TAX Bia (863,675) (1,707,773)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS REE/HEZEES
FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD (9,839,579) (6,025,363)
Attributable to: T 77 R
Owners of the parent ISTNEIEF=PN (9,839,249) (6,024,917)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR R (330) (446)
(9,839,579) (6,025,363)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SE MR &R

As at 31 December 2024 2024912 H31H

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12H31H  2023%12A31H

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
M5 FERT FHET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BB RS 13 387,513 543,607
Investment properties EYE 14 42,509,940 45,988,804
Right-of-use assets EREAE 16 296,523 311,462
Properties under development BERERAYE 15 1,140,493 1,065,512
Interest in associates EAH’s‘ﬁ%@ﬂE’JTEE? 17 3,996,611 3,961,055
Financial assets at fair value through profit  FiBEzm AR FEYIERZ

or loss EREE 18 11 3,724
Other long-term receivables E i REEW A 19 14,909 81,626
Deferred tax assets EIETRIBAE 30 926,611 4,049,240
Total non-current assets EmBEERE 49,272,611 56,005,030
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Properties held for finance lease FHIEREMEY 20 140,039 145,637
Properties held for sale FIEHE M 20 35,417,315 40,502,022
Inventories 58 21 4,801 12,993
Trade receivables JEUE 5 BRI 22 505,182 712,725
Prepayments, other receivables and other TR - HA UG IE &

assets Hib&E 23 1,358,045 1,714,334
Amount due from a related party FEUR B 5 OB 26 135,700 138,666
Restricted cash ZIRHIRE 24 676,590 913,556
Cash and cash equivalents Re RSEEY 24 41,142 230,088
Total current assets MEEERE 38,278,814 44,370,021
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables ﬁ%&ﬁﬂﬂf’gﬁ%ﬁﬁ 25 9,459,749 6,893,983
Amounts due to associates R LNCIP e 26 1,202,224 869,925
Amounts due to related parties F‘ﬁféﬁﬁé‘ﬁfim 26 2,044,677 1,205,832
Contract liabilities araE 27 6,471,276 8,936,049
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B2 E{T R EMEE 28 7,798,797 7,403,739
Senior notes @J‘a?f&%ﬁ 29 10,442,482 8,891,111
Financial liabilities at fair value through FEiREmAATESERZ

profit or loss ﬁmﬁﬁﬁa 18 - 4,618
Tax payables FETFEIE 3,707,733 3,561,011
Total current liabilities BB R 41,126,938 37,766,268
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS REN(BRE) BEFE (2,848,124) 6,603,753
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERREBESE

LIABILITIES 46,424,487 62,608,783
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

RE BRI R (E)

As at 31 December 2024 2024912 H31H

31 December 2024
2024F12AH31H

31 December 2023
2023%12A31H

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FHET FT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B$81T R E b fE & 28 11,979,079 13,892,041
Senior notes BERER 29 - 1,565,410
Other long-term payables HAb RHIFER R 16(ii) 1,489 -
Financial liabilities at fair value through EEBEUATFEYEREZ
profit or loss Ea =N 18 1,037,344 1,070,077
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIBBE 30 6,799,625 9,634,930
Total non-current liabilities JEmBAERE 19,817,537 26,162,458
Net assets EEFHE 26,606,950 36,446,325
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &} A FIHEA AJE(EHERE
Share capital [N 31 9,131,812 9,131,812
Other reserves Hibf#E 33 17,460,957 27,300,002
26,592,769 36,431,814
Non-controlling interests FEFERR R 14,181 14,511
Total equity SR 26,606,950 36,446,325

CHENG CHUNG HING Zf#3 8
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

FANG LING 53}
Director %



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERBEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F12A318ILFEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SN2 N
Statutory Share  Exchange Non-
Share surplus option  fluctuation Capital ~ Revaluation ~ Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
TERR BRE  ERRE &% Bl (7 FER B

e G i i G it A fat i it
Notes  HKS000  HKFOOO  HKS'000  HKSOOO  HKS'000  HKFOOO  HKS'000  HKSOO0  HKS'000  HK$000
iE3 TAr  TEL TR TEm TR TEm TR TEL TR TER

Note (i)
i)

At 1 April 2023 #2023%4A1A 9,131,812 3,570,664 29451 (1836,781)  (250537) 286456 31738980 42,670,045 14957 42,685,002
Loss for the period THEER - - - - - - (4317460 (4317462) (128) (4,317,590
Other comprehensive loss  REFE 2

for the period: Bk
Exchange differenceson B IB5EHE

translation of foreign ~ EXZE

operations - - - (1,707 455) - - - (1,707 455) (318)  (1,707,773)
Total comprehensive ~ AHBZEEE

loss for the period - - - (1,707 455) - - (4317462 (6,024917) (446)  (6,025,363)
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ EEHEL 34 - - - 15,062 - - - 15,062 - 15,062
Transfer of share option B RIERAF K3

reserve upon the forfeiture  EEBRIE

orlapse of share options ~ F#f& - - (17,556) - - - 17,556 - - -
Fquity-settled share option JhER &)

arrangements ElhERs )] - - 46 - - - - 46 - 46
Final 2022/2023 diidend  E51%2022/203F

declared RERE - - - - - - (228838  (228838) - (22883
Transfer from retained ~~ ERERBH|E

profits - 39,057 - - - - (39,057) - - -
A3 December 2003 HO023 12318 9131812 3072 12357 GSNIMF QSOSI) 2864%6* 2071079 FA3IGM 1S 3646305
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

REERSEBR(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #(Z2024F 12 A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

ST 1IN
Statutory Share  Exchange Non-
Share surplus option  fluctuation Capital Revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
EERR BRE  ENRD &x Eff 8 F2R &
e e fite fitte fife e HE &3t B& BE
Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
i TEn TEn Tén TEn TEn Tén T T TEn ThR
Note (i)
()
At 1 January 2024 200451 A1A 9,131,812 3,609,721 12357 (3529,174)  (250537) 286,456 27,171,179 36,431,814 14511 36,446,325
Loss for the year REEE = = = = = - (8975762) (8975762) (142)  (8,975904)
Other comprehensive loss R EA8 2
for the year: Ba:
Exchange differenceson B B5EHE)
translation of foreign ~~ EXZE
operations - - - (863,487) - - - (863,487) (188)  (863,675)
Totdl comprehensive  AFBEEEE
loss for the year = = - (863,487) = - (8975762) (9,839,249) (330) (9,839,579)
Transfer of share option IR &R
reserve upon the forfeiture MR E
orlapse of share options ~ F#f& - - (8,139) - - - 8,139 - - -
Equity-settled share option  MEREZEH
arrangements BiERY E)) - - 204 - - - - 204 - 204
At31 December 2024 720245124318 9131812 3,609,721* 4,420% (4392,661)* (250,537)*  286,456* 18,203,556* 26,592,769 14,181 26,606,950
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of *

HK$17,460,957,000 (31 December 2023: HK$27,300,002,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

(i) In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Company’s subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of the annual
statutory profit after tax (after offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the
statutory surplus reserve. When the balance of this reserve fund reaches
50% of the entity’s registered capital, any further appropriation is optional.
The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to
increase capital. However, the balance of the statutory surplus reserve must
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered capital after such

usages.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F12A31HILFE

For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
HZ2024F BE2023F
12A3181E 12A31H1E
EE NEA
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B FHx FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES E&EEIRERE
Loss before tax BRI EE (8,276,588) (5,077,435)
Adjustments for: R
Finance costs AN 7 1,522,530 633,667
Share of profits of associates JEARER & DR 2 A (33,936) (98,896)
Interest income FLEHA 5 (14,210) (59,375)
(Gains)/losses on disposal of property, BEVE  BEREER
plant and equipment and right-of-use EREEE (W),
assets, net B8 %8 5 (453) 1,952
Losses/(gains) on disposal of investment BREREMEZEE/
properties (Mrz) 5 29,574 (5,641)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% « BE LR E T E 6 80,615 67,254
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRERERE 6 11,526 12,860
Changes in fair value of investment properties R EWEAFEE 5 2,483,460 2,317,419
Impairment of trade receivables JENE 5 BRFURIE 6 1,039 41,556
Impairment of financial assets included in FTATERFUR - EtbENGK
prepayments, other receivables and other TN E A B 7E e Hopth = R
assets and other long-term receivables fEW IR S RE ERE 6 24,953 756,490
Impairment losses recognised for properties BEHEMERE
held for sale 6 3,770,423 660,810
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of TERE/(PE)
inventories 6 6,135 (1,237)
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries BENERARZEHE 5 - 118,351
Gains on modifications of interest-bearing FERITREMEE ZBIE
bank and other borrowings Wi 5 (446,315) -
Loss arising from default and cross default BORRXENEHEEY
events &8 5 324,423 -
Gains on modification of senior notes BEZE 2 EENE 5 - (348,655)
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets/ BBBEZARFEEZE
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, MEE/BELATEZ
net (Wess),/ B8 - 58 5 (32,733) 854,129
(Gains)/losses on disposal of financial assets/ BREBBBERIARNTENIE
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, ZEmEE/BfZ
net (Wzs),/ B8 38 5 (1,711) 2,644
Equity-settled share option expense EREENERERS 6 204 462
(551,064) (123,645)
Change in properties held for finance lease and ~ #{ERIERE RIEEME L E(L
sale 1,460,453 1,650,556
Change in inventories FEZ & 8,192 19,705
Change in trade receivables B E ZERR 2 &1k 279,506 (15,838)
Change in amounts due to associates and JETBEE A ) R B A FRIE
related parties 1k 340,981 (43,633)
Change in prepayments, other receivables and ~ FEFZUIE « Hof e U 3008 e Eo o
other assets BEZE 275,282 245,538
Change in contract liabilities EREREZE (741,696) (1,734,214)
Change in restricted cash XBHRE 2L 236,966 236,802
Change in trade and other payables B 5 REMENTIE#t (775,028) (366,043)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations wEmE/(RHERS 533,592 (130,772)
Taxes paid BHIE (25,302) (111,733)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) REETHEEMBR SR
operating activities ()8 508,290 (242,505)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

RERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F12A318ILFEE

For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
#ZE20245 HZ=20234
12A3181t 12A318 1k
FE FE A
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
P e FHERT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEYZE - BER&HE
equipment (2,744) (17,147)
Payment on disposal of financial liabilities at & & & BB AN FESIER
fair value through profit or loss Z &R BB RIE (4,626) (2,644)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets & EFBEZ AR T EYIER
at fair value through profit or loss ZERMBEMSHKIEA 5,432 -
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, BRE¥E - ME K& EHS
plant and equipment A 6,486 5,720
Change in amounts due to a related party  JE{ E b BB 7 5B« B1L 743,304 551,750
Net inflow on disposal of subsidiaries BEEWBARBRSRA
R 34 - 1,216,502
Proceeds from disposal of investment BREREMEMSHIE
properties 91,286 56,274
Additions to properties under development EEFYERE (124,483) (1,286,861)
Interest received B UFILE 14,210 3,518
Purchase of investment in an associate BEBEATRE (1,620) -
Net cash flows generated from investing WEEHEEHRSRA
activities pEk:E) 727,245 527,112
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

ReERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F12A31HILFE

For the
For the nine months
year ended ended

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
EHZE20245F HZE2023F
12H31H 1t 12A3181E
FE JUE A
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
st FET FET

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHRESRE

ACTIVITIES
Payment of interest ESKREN (592,235) (1,843,361)
Repayment of senior notes BEELER 29 (73,859) (925,470)
New bank and other borrowings ERITREMER 975,817 7,252,660
Repayment of bank and other borrowings ~ BEiR1T R EMER (1,732,255) (6,410,453)
Changes in amount due to a related party  JE{~ BB 7 2UE 2 #1L - 464,524
Principal portion of lease payments SAHENE SN 16 (2,920) (9,004)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEBIRE R FE (1,425,452) (1,471,104)
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND ReRBEESENFEZ

CASH EQUIVALENTS 1 (189,917) (1,186,497)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning & Bi#IHIR & RIE S5

of year/period =t 230,088 1,374,716
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [&E R & 8)5 255 971 41,869
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT £/ HANEERESE

THE END OF YEAR/PERIOD 1B 41,142 230,088
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND & RIS ZEYREBRDIT

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents He RIREZEEY 24 41,142 230,088
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% R AR B AE

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

1. Corporate and Group Information 1. QARRFEEER
China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited ERWIERER AR (ARRE D) ERBTMAK
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered office SLABRAT - ARRFMREEMREEN
of the Company is located at Suite 3508, 35/F., Tower 6, The BESS D H & SR B 9918 BN /B 58 /N R 354# 3508
Gateway, 9 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Eo
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively FA - RARBREMB AR (GBI AEE]) E
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in the ENEERREERNIGEMREERZSF
development and operation of large-scale integrated logistics and D FRERTEEREL RRHYE R E R
trade centres, the development of residential and commercial % BESRATEL NETEERS -
ancillary facilities and the provision of logistics and warehousing
services, outlet operations and E-commerce services.
Information about subsidiaries MEARER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: RARKEEMBARGFBOT ¢
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/  Date of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share capital  incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and business  as at 31 December 2024 registration to the Company Principal activities
e/ R2024512A31BERT LN
8 AMREE LS LE/ARRAEE 2MEL/2RAS EfEERAD L TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 5
% %
China South International Industrial Materials ~ The People’s Republic HK$2,200,000,000 18 December 2002 100 - Development and operation
City (Shenzhen) Company Limited (i)(iv) of China ("PRC")/ 2,200,000,00087C  18-12-2002 of integrated logistics
("China South International”) Chinese Mainland and trade centres
ERERTERER ORI BRI e/ REIARE EE RIS
(rEmER)) PLRLRES
Nanchang China South City Company PRC/Chinese Mainland Renminbi (“RMB") 16 November 2007 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (i)iv) (“CSC Nanchang") hE/REAR 1,100,000,000  16-11-2007 of integrated logistics
HEEEHARLA)W) AE1,100,000,0007 and trade centres
(TBeZmin)) FABEMRRARRZ AL
FERES
Nanning China South City Company PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000,000 28 August 2009 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (jil(iv) (*CSC Nanning”) RE/REAR ARH1,000,000,000  28-08-2009 of integrated logistics
BEEHHER 2 Ai)v) and trade centres
(TezEmn)) FREBMRRERZHPL
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

1.

Corporate and Group Information (Continued)

1. RAIRAEEER

/fé%\

\n= )/
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) M A RIER(®)
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/  Date of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share capital  incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and business  as at 31 December 2024 registration to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R2024512A31AC %1 2|
£ EMREEHH LE/AMRAEE  EMEL/ERAH EEREAD L TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 3
% %
Harbin China South City Company Limited (iii) ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,500,000,000 9 January 2012 - 100 Development and operation
RBERNAER AR HE/REARE AR#1,500,000,000  09-01-2012 of integrated logistics
and trade centres
FREBMRRERZ ST
RERES
Harbin Baolitong Market Development PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000,000 22 December 2011 - 100 Development and operation
Management Company Limited (i) BE/REARE AK#1,000,000,000  22-12-2011 of integrated logistics
REEE NN SREEEERA and trade centres
GABENRRERR SR
HERES
Zhengzhou China South City Company PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000,000 17 May 2012 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (jil(iv) (" CSC Zhengzhou") HE/ REARE ARH1,000,000,000  17-05-2012 of integrated logistics
ENEER AR Aii)v) and trade centres
(T&msl) FABEMRRARR SR
RERES
Hefei China South City Company Limited (iifiv) ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,200,000,000 25 December 2012 - 100 Development and operation
("CSC Hefei") RE/REARE AK#1,200,000,000  25-12-2012 of integrated logistics
BEZEEAARRAN and trade centres
) =) FREBMRRERZHTL
RERES
Chongging China South City Company PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000,000 27 December 2013 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (i)(iv) ("CSC Chongging”) M/ REAKE ARH1,000000,0007  27-12-2013 of integrated logistics
EEERHMERA ) and trade centres
(rZEEm)) FRBEMRRARZHPL
FERES
Shenzhen Huasheng Commercial Development  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 19 November 2010 - 100 Management of outlet
Company Limited (ii) RE/REAR ARH100,000,000  19-11-2010 operations
AR X B RARA i) REREESEEER
Shenzhen China South City Digital PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 19 April 2012 - 100 Development, operation
Technology Company Limited (i) P/ RE AR ARE100,000,000C  19-04-2012 and management of an

MIFERRETRRAR R

E-commerce platform
ETHETRNE EER
e

China South City Holdings Limited ERHIZERER AT 181



182
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

1.

Corporate and Group Information (Continued)

1. REARAEBEER(E

\
/

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) M A RIER(®)
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/  Date of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share capital  incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and business  as at 31 December 2024 registration to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R2024512A31AC %1 O
8 AMREEHH LE/AMRAEE  EMEL/ERAH EEREAD L TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 3
% %
Qianlong Logistics Group Limited (ii) PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 11 November 2021 - 100 Provision of logistics services
ZEMTEEERAA e/ hEAR ARES0,000,000  11-11-2021 RENRRE
Shenzhen HOBA Home Furnishing Chain Store  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB480,000,000 12 October 2001 - 983411 Furnishing market operation
Company Limited (i P/ RE AR AR480,000,000  12-10-2001 FEESEE
AT B EREEHERH AR D)
Shenzhen China South City Commerce Group  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 20 December 2018 - 100 Provision of commercial
Limited (i) B/ PEARE ARE100,000,0000  20-12-2018 management services
A MERA RS BERAR) REEZERRS
China South City Management Company Hong Kong HK$1T 9 November 2007 - 100 Provision of management
Limited BE 18T 09-11-2007 services
EMAERARAT RAERRS
China South City Group Company Limited (i) PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB300,000,000 20 July 2004 - 100 Investment holding
ERNKEBRAR HE/hEAE ARH300,000,00070  20-07-2004 RERR
Chongging Zhenzhong Real Estate PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 24 May 2016 - 100 Development and operation
Development Company Limited (ii) T/ hEARE ARH50,000,00000  24-05-2016 of residential and

ERFTRHERTERAN

commercial ancillary
BERERERERES
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Sino-foreign equity joint ventures under PRC law.
Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.
Limited companies under PRC law.

Pursuant to certain project and land related contracts signed by
the subsidiaries of the Group and the local governments, as well as
pursuant to the requirements of the local governments and the local
authorities related to the relevant public tender, auction and listing,
some parcels of the land acquired have sales restrictions on properties
built on them. The saleable area of the trade centres of China South
International is limited to 30% of the total buildable gross floor area
("GFA") of the properties built on the relevant parcels of land. The
saleable area of the trade centres and logistics facilities built on the
parcels of land acquired by CSC Nanchang and CSC Nanning in 2010
is limited to 60% of the relevant total buildable GFA. The saleable
area of trade centres or commercial properties built by CSC Hefei and
CSC Chongging is limited to 50% of their relevant total buildable
GFA. The saleable areas of trade centres or commercial properties
of phase | and future phases of CSC Zhengzhou are limited to 60%
and 50%, respectively, of the relevant total buildable GFA. Except for
the restrictions mentioned herein, there is no sales restriction on the
parcels of land acquired by the Group.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in

the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),

principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial

portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

AEIRAEEER (&)

Fit 3

(0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

MEBARIER(E)

FEDER THFIGELEAT -

FEDRE TRINEEE DK -

RELER THARAF]

BEAEEMNBATEE MRFEINE THE
B Rt AR - A RBIRE KT B A
HREIMINXHER - BHEEIEMES
FEIHERS - BiEEm BRI EAR
SFROHAHEEBERN B ERZEATMEN
30% : MEEMYMEEERMN2010F
BHETIH - HERRORSFLRAEFE
MR R SHE ERERRZEME LR ZREERE
60% : AEEMBLEEEMWERNLS
PUOSEEMENHETBERREZENEL
A EEEMIEAS50% ¢ BN R B R e — 5
MG EHOR SR LR ENENTHEER
BORIRRZS R ZEERMENC0% K
50% ° bR EHUER 2 AN - ANEEA LI
SHEMRS o

EXRFIIDARRBNEZSRR/YRFEEES
EAFELABRAKEEEFETED A
RAMERA - EERRRFEEMHBERRZ
FHERERIE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

2.1 mMEBEE

2.1 Basis of Preparation

184

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties and financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern basis

The Group recorded net loss of HK$8,976 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, and as at 31 December 2024, the
Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$2,848
million. The Group’s current portion of interest-bearing debts
(comprising senior notes and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings) amounted to HK$18,241 million, while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to HK$41 million. As at 31 December
2024, the principal or interest payment relating to an aggregate
amount of HK$15,742 million interest-bearing debts had not been
repaid according to their scheduled repayment date (the “Defaulted
Borrowings”), triggering an aggregate amount of HK$375 million
of interest-bearing debts (the “Cross Defaulted Borrowings”) to
become repayable on demand. A winding-up petition was filed
by Citicorp International Limited (the “Petitioner”) against the
Company on 27 January 2025.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)
Going concern basis (Continued)
The above conditions indicate the existence of multiple material
uncertainties which cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. In view of such circumstances, the
directors of the Company have undertaken a number of plans and
measures to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position,
including:

(i)  The Group has appointed financial advisers and legal advisers
to assist it with a restructuring of its Defaulted and Cross
Defaulted Borrowings, in order to reach a consensual solution
with all the lenders as soon as practical;

(i)  The Group has appointed legal counsels to address the
winding-up petition;

(i)  The Group is identifying targeted buyers for the disposal of
the Group’s equity interest in certain property projects to
raise the level of liquid funds;

(iv)  The Group will continue to implement measures to accelerate
the pre-sales and sales of its properties under development
and completed properties, and to speed up the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds and other receivables; and

(v)  The Group will continue to take active measures to control
administrative costs and maintain containment of capital
expenditures.

The board of directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by management, which cover a period of
not less than twelve months from 31 December 2024. They are of
the opinion that, taking into account the above-mentioned plans
and measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within twelve months from 31 December 2024.
Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

1 REEEE)

RECEER @
ERERBREFESEEATRERE - #A
EMBEEEOENBREARN - ERRE
R ARRAEECRNS BB RERERE
AEBORBE S RABRR - BIF

)y AEESZEVBERENOERBER - B
HEHENBRZEOER - UWEERA
TER TEREMABERAZR — RN
RITE

(i) AEEEHBEREFZDERER

(iy AEEFCVEEBLEER  BHEAREE
ETMEBEEMNEZURSRSESK

(iv) AEBEERRER  NRERDERD
RTYROTEERIHE - IR K ORI
Bl E R ARG : &

(v) (R ANER B A A SRR AR A T T IR
A M B AR RIS -

EFCEHEEERENASERSRER
A BMEBE2024F 12 A3TARBRAN DR+ =@
Rz - RERA - KEESEMNTE RE
M AEEEERHEELE S R HEBREE
T WETHR2024F12A31 B+ —EARK
SHR B IS AN - At - EERA - IRIFEK
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)
Going concern basis (Continued)
Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern would depend upon the following:

(i) successful and timely debt restructuring with the lenders of
the Group’s Defaulted and Cross Default Borrowings;

(i) successful dismissal of the winding-up petition;

(i) successfully and timely implementation of the plans to
dispose of certain of the Group's equity interests in certain
property projects to raise the level of liquid funds;

(iv)  timely implementation of the plans to accelerate the pre-sales
and sales of its properties under development and completed
properties, and to speed up the collection of outstanding
sales proceeds and other receivables; and

(v)  successfully execution in taking active measures to control
administrative costs and maintain containment of capital

expenditures.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures and operate as a going concern, adjustments would have
to be made to write down the carrying amounts of the Group'’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

ROLE A ()
RIS B ()

BENLL - AREESER FEr 3 REED
FEERATHEEML - ARBEREEFHELZ K
R THIEE

() FRYWEEEEFARAREEORLR
MERETTERER

(i) BHBEFEREF

i) PN R R AR MR BB
EEE TR AERSARE DA S
AT EE

(iv) ERESEENRTEMERERIYERTE
EREERE - SIE?JD R B R U B # §5
E RN EAEBGK

() EMITRESEEESTTHRR AL AR E
RSP -

AR EAREER D e 8 R AL
g RIRFL AR - BAREEEENREER
BEE A& 58 - BLATREE £ A (EE—
BEAREE  UEERBEENERDAE
AREMRSEARBDEERRBEE - ZFH
B ETARNLEFE P IEREAT AR -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Change of financial year end date

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board dated 30 November 2023,
the financial year end date of the Company has been changed
from 31 March to 31 December commencing from the financial
period ended 31 December 2023 in order to align the financial year
end date with that of the principal operating subsidiaries of the
Company, which are statutorily required to fix their financial year
end date at 31 December in the Chinese Mainland. Accordingly,
the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the prior
financial period covered a period of nine months from 1 April 2023
to 31 December 2023. The corresponding comparative figures
presented for the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and related notes
covered the audited figures of the financial year from 1 April 2023
to 31 December 2023 and therefore are not comparable with those
shown for the current year.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights

results in control.

A REEE)

EXHMBEELER
BIEEESR2023F11 A308BBARE © &
NAIMPFBFEEEHB2023F12 431895
BEARIRRE N3 A3TBE R A12A318 A
FHRFELEERERAAAFZLEWEAR
BB F A E B —5 - AR E Skt B
NEEMBRFEAERER12A318 « Bt -
FMfs A R BRFE & OF B 76 gk M 25202364 A 1
HZE2023F12 A31BHNE R BfE - &0f1ExR
KMEMGEEREK  aHEREHEK - &0
&M= 7= M AEEE M FEAT 7 B A8 FE L BB 70
E2023F4A1BE2023F 12 A3 1B BFE
WS ET BT - B EARFBRTRNE T AL
ﬁ °

mER%E
EHMBREBEAEEEHZE2024912 A31
BIEFEMNIMBRE - MBARALRRRIERE
SEEEFNER(BIEEBEER) - 245
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2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,

including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangement; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
dates on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling

interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2.1

2.2

Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current (the “2020 Amendments”)
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(@  Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognize any amount of the gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

2.1

2.2
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

(0

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a
liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a
liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of
its liabilities as at 1 April 2023 and 1 January 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as current or
non-current remained unchanged upon initial application of
the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects of
supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not
have supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did not
have any impact on the Group’s financial statement.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidliaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the Classification and
HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and ~ Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability'
Annual Improvements to HKFRS ~ Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
Accounting Standards - HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72
Volume 11

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong 23 BEEMGENREMZERUBRS
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Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS
1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all
income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included
in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis
of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the
issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments
are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings
per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition,
there are minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs.

HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective application
is required. The Group is currently analysing the new requirements
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong 23 BEEMGENREMZERUBRS

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement
and presentation requirements in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at
the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as
defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot
have public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or
intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements
available for public use which comply with HKFRSs. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is
not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s
subsidiaries are considering the application of HKFRS 19 in their

specified financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on which
a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and introduce
an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability
that is settled through an electronic payment system before the
settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify
how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance and other
similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify
the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in equity
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment
to opening retained profits (or other component of equity) at
the initial application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at the same time
or only the amendments related to the classification of financial
assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how
it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

\}E EIJ\/ N

BEMBRELNF10RREESHLRFE28
SREVERT AR BRI IS IREERF 1057 EEE
SRIEAE 28 2 HHNEEIR R A F B HH &
RAHELEEZRNEERERRANRE
WA= - ZRFBITERNEELERIRA
BR—EEBE  AERTHIZELENEH
Wk EiE - BN TEREBNEERS » X
FRELNRGENERENERENREER
ZMENRRAELENESERR - NIREE
IR PR - REERIBARILER - BES
SR HBEBMBHRELRE 10 RE
B EETERE 28I RT M AR B AR
B o AT - SXHHERT AN ER B ERAR o

ARG ERFE21RNERT R AR BT
ERBEEREANLBAS—BEY  ULE
R A BN ERT - BREA S RE
ERHMAHER - ZEFETERRBERDE
BREREERTREE AT LBNTENE
£t RFFHRREM - NERZFERR i
TREEDI LB E R - #1186 A LT RME
RETFERNVGLERE AR SERE LN
HI AR R R SR EBERI D 2T
MEXZRRASENIR(WER) - BHZ
FEFITEUAEENUBERRELTFAERKR

By 488
=



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are expected to be
applicable to the Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS
7 and paragraphs 1G1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs
of HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has
been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is
required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise
any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove
potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.

o HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor, which
removes the inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph
B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

° HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost
method”. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments
in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group's

investments in associates.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations .

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

198

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorized within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
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measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly MEBREH
Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the F=R — REERNEE MEATEHE

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

M BENMREBRITE
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fERERE °
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Buildings 3% t0 9% BF 3%%E9%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 9% to 30% B - KB REE 9%Z%E30%
Motor vehicles 9% to 30% A 9%Z30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use asset) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. For a transfer from inventories to investment properties, any
difference between the fair value of the property at that date and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost comprises the land costs, construction
costs, capitalised borrowing costs and other costs directly attributed
to such properties during the period of construction.

Properties under development are initially classified as non-current
assets and transferred to current assets under the category of
properties held for sale when the construction of the relevant
properties commences and the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete within the

normal operating cycle.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or

contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach

for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises

lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 40 years
Property 1 to 8 years
Machinery 2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in trade and other
payables and other long-term liabilities.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of property and machinery (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option).

Lease payments on short-term leases is recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for

as finance leases.
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(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or
both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be

measured reliably.
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(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired,;
or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration

that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 60 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

EREERE

REERI RNV EFABEHFANMAE
BTAEREHEEELREE - BHESERX
DERBEEHNIPHENREREELREE
T8 HIYCER L 12 9146 B R N 2 e L 4O R R AT IR 1
FIEERERECHNERETE - BHESRE
Hﬁ”j?‘Eﬂj’%Fﬂ—iﬁ‘fﬁﬁaﬁEEA%’MK/;X%@?E’\JEI
MEEAREEENRGRE

—RE*E

BHEEBAD WIEAREBRER - 5t )JHE%
REBEERRITEXRENHEERONE
RARFI12MEA (12 ABREERK) A ab%i
MENOSHMEENEERAIRESNEER
KRB o BV ZRER LA RS BE R AR E A
EEMAMmMS - ARBEHABMONFSGFHE
EREEBRHRRERE - THEOSRE(R
HiTEEEEEK) -

REBREEH  AEEFEERTANEER
REMNTEABAREEBEZN - (FHFFE
B ARESSBTARESBHNENRR
Y HRRNERORBRETHLER T EBE
%?HﬁLyﬁX$&WﬁED—M§HE’\JAEET§'E§
B BREERAELEEY - FREERR

& RN FaEEE30RE - ERER ﬁﬁ%i'bu o

EAaRMNFEHe0RE AEERATHA
R - AR ERLBERT - HAIFINE
BRRMR - ARG ERAEEMFEAERLS
Al - AREE A KA BE B BB R EIE A HK
B ARKERRERMEERD - MELAE
BEHROANRSRE  AMBEESREE -

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZR IR AT

211



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

24 EXSHHEBREH)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

212

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed

SMEERE®)

— R EE)
RBMR A ENSMEEAKR R ER
B BREKESERRAWEERRBT X
HEEIT N - @MEERATRRSEAR
SHEEHEEE. o

below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not F—H — 2RIANGEERRBEFERIA
increased significantly since initial recognition and for RAPAFEZREN - BHEBREER
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount 12EATEREERASENE
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has E_H — SRIANEERREVSERIA
increased significantly since initial recognition but that REEEIL I - B IHEERESF
are not credit impaired financial assets and for which EE - BEBEERBREERE
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to BiEXEETE
lifetime ECLs

Stage3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the E=H — ABREABEREERENSRE

reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4

(Continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings
or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, other long-term payables,
senior notes, medium-term notes and domestic company bonds.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement
of profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.
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(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or
losses on liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except for the gains or
losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented
in other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification
to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, other long-term payables, senior notes, medium-term
notes and domestic company bonds are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Put option liabilities

Put option liabilities are financial instruments granted by the Group
whereby counterparties may have the rights to request the Group to
purchase their equity interests in certain of the Group’s subsidiaries
for cash when certain conditions are met. The put option liabilities
are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
on initial recognition and are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the

otz =K (€ ))
H&HE ()

M BERER

AEFBBTHPBERARIDAERFEESR
AR BEIR BRAR 5 IR RSN B HA RS 32 (4 5B

holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to B NRIBLAHERBAMRIER - MEE
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt REBVTUARTFEERABE - WiKEED

instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
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contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in RIEERN R BASE  MEZRE
accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial Ho

assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when

appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities RIEISHEE

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the EEEBETHEEDHERE - BUESER - Al
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. IFERERmEE -

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
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modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability REBBEITERITEE MASERAMEM
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the R ZE TN BRI ©

respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit

or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments TRl T A

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net BRI AITATENAEE D EREEL
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is T'%iﬁ“%‘%‘é%ﬁg% CRBEESERERAE

a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments PTESmIA
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement DS EAREBESE

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date
on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives
are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss.

Properties held for sale and held for finance
lease

Properties held for sale and held for finance lease include
completed properties held for sale and held for finance lease and
properties under development expected to be completed within
the normal operating cycle. Properties held for sale and held for
finance lease are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes land costs, all development expenditure,
applicable borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is determined by reference to
the contract prices or the prevailing market prices less estimated
costs of completion and to be incurred in selling the properties, on
an individual property basis.

Inventories

Inventories comprise merchandise purchased for resale and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of
merchandise is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes except that deferred tax is not recognised for
the Pillar Two income taxes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to

compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual installments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point
in time when the purchaser obtains the physical possession of
the completed property and the Group has a present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Property management service, E-commerce, logistics
and warehousing services

Property management service income, E-commerce income,
logistics and warehousing service income are recognised over

time when the services are rendered.

Outlet operations

In outlet operations, revenue from the sale of merchandise
and commissions from concessionaire sales is recognised at
the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to
the customer.

Some contracts for the sale of merchandise provide customers
with rights of return. The rights of return give rise to variable
consideration.

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates of
variable consideration are applied in order to determine the
amount of variable consideration that can be included in the
transaction price. For goods that are expected to be returned,
instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised. A right-
of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost of
sales) is also recognised for the right to recover products from

a customer.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued) L ON - EAC)
Revenue from other sources HibRRE

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Other income

Interest income and micro-credit services income are recognised on
an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to

the customer).
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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(Continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(©)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the asset related. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured
at the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any
expected costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases
in the value of the returned goods. The Group updates the
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measurement of the asset for any revisions to the expected level of BEEEAEINGD
returns and any additional decreases in the value of the returned

goods.

Refund liabilities BRREE

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some
or all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer
and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will
have to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of
refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction
price) at the end of each reporting period.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

HENEL
PR SREET
RFBEME

RRABRRENOHEZHE,
W IRAKE KRBV ARER
B AEENSRERRENE
(KRS ERNERES)



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

24 EXRSHHEBRES)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees (including
Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services as in exchange
for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using an
appropriate pricing model, further details of which are given in note
32 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee
benefit expense. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

AR 3 2 S AS =R
ARREBBAE D - AREES (BEE
F) ARG AR HT I - BB SR
HIRTS (R TANRR (AR EENR
$1) e

HEE ZHENEZEENZIRATIZZEET
AHMAFAENE - AFETAINEGERMR

EEBERAEE E—SHBHEARMBR
FMFE32 -

RREER S 2 RANEEBR R, SR R E
PRz Bif - R i R 2 AR TR — OFRERR o B
REHEERINESHRERE Z5E B A
RZRFAX  RRBEHENZRE ALK
SERGEREB 2 EE T EBAE 2 &EMET -

HAERGERMBRRFAZ SR - HRZERHE

%%ﬂ&ﬁﬂikﬁﬁﬁﬁu/u/z%u+ﬁ?ﬂi """"" Eb

TREVERE B2 ATER - AR RRE
&#mi BRUEN - IEEB AN A RIS
AN E'Jnﬂﬁﬁﬁ‘il%ﬁﬂi RS EREERT
AH A RKEMFT 280 - TSEREMTRBR
RERBERERZ R FE- ﬁﬁbZEﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ

W (BB IR B R) RAFIE R B IRIT -
BB IR RN R 2 A FHE - BIFRRA
AR K SAEBUGNT - DRI REE BN S 8 -

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZR IR AT

225



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

24 EXSHHEBREH)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

IR B
I;‘Emieﬁixﬁl&/&ﬁﬁ% IR BEER TR
EHBCRBY RSN - LEBEE™
LR B IR - BT ISR IR B RN
ERITHRST - MAAEMER R, KRB GG
YRR - AIXZINERA—HRE

B S EE MR EREE S WA
BRERAGS - AEERSEBENRAS - B
AMERFOREIEBR © LSl - BB BUAR D A
KA FELEFRARMT X EREEN
ERRE AKBE RGBS R -

AN ESEE M EREH - SRGAEEBD
WEEHE ARE - NI R EREFER A (5
SR BN RERR o WD B AN E SR 8%
FY 2F 57 B 15R 1°F R B AR RO (] 288 AT - 40
—IEFTREN R — IR HEE) - SRR HE B
SUE REVE R EERE) - 0 ERRFTAL - SESE TR
BME SRR RRE ERAE) -

MARITEERENEEERNTESRAT
FRATEINEHEE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

24 EXRSHHEBRES)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Chinese AEEBETERRAEEENHNEQANE
Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme 8 AZMEA MR EENTRAESE
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries gl - ZEMBAREREES BN HHEH

are required to contribute a certain percentage of their respective
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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(Continued)

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but
prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that
existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the
information affects the amounts that it recognises in its financial
statements. The Group will adjust the amounts recognised in
its financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the
reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to those
conditions in light of the new information. For non-adjusting events
after the reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts
recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose the nature of
the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects,
or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

EMREE

AR EERHRE R REENERREREE
Rl BEFERREHRERRK A RNE
BES  BMZEESEFEEARYBRER
PRI - ARESHEWHEREER
SRR EMREBRERZFEEE IR
BHESENEZSMABAZEE - HRE
SRR ZIFFEER  AEETSREHRE
BERER 2 EFREFARERZME
REFBHZE 2 G (WER) - REBEEH
flat 2 B ML AR

IRE

BEARABRBABERERARS BRI E - ZER
BRIRERRAE - BRI ERM B RE
MEEE114REE o

s

WEFBHRIZETEY > MET/ARFN
WHEER - AEEASERRTEARST I8
g MEEBNYBRRASIEBBERZ
WEERAE - AEEEEMARNINER S
VA EBRRZHAMEZENMREERERA
fR - MINEREBEUMEBEENAR - THIRE
SHMRNEEREXRE - AEERHRES
HEAEEN—PEEINERRAR -

RINEE LKA ERNIFERHEB RRIIR
ZEANEERE - INERFERENFE
HIEERETATESANEXKRE - E3F
EHIHEE EERMREHERIZEERZIAR
WATFEEDELRAFTENRRLEE -
#77 AR (BN A FER SRR L2 E K
ABBRERNBEENREERE - TORRE
2R A IERTER)



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

24 EXRSHHEBRES)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the period.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from
contracts with customers:

(i) Determining the timing of satisfaction of contracts

related to the sale of properties

The Group determined that the sales contracts with
customers require the Group to complete the development
of property before transferring the physical possession
of the relevant property to the customer. The Group also
determined that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment from customers for performance completed
to date before the transfer of the physical possession of
the relevant property to the customer. Consequently, the
Group concluded that the timing of transfer of properties is
at the point in time when the purchaser obtains the physical

possession of the completed property.
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for the
sale of merchandise

Certain contracts for the sale of merchandise include a right-
of-return that gives rise to variable consideration. In estimating
the variable consideration, the Group is required to use
either the expected value method or the most likely amount
method based on which method better predicts the amount
of consideration to which it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the expected value method is
the appropriate method to use in estimating the variable
consideration for the sale of merchandise with rights of
return, given the large number of customer contracts that
have similar characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration are
not constrained based on its historical experience, business
forecasts and the current economic conditions. In addition,
the uncertainty on the variable consideration will be resolved
within a short time frame.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its

investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based

on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,

such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the

economic life of the commercial property and the present value of

the minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially all the

fair value of the commercial property, that it retains substantially all

the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these

properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as

operating leases.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Transfer from properties under development to
investment properties

Properties under development are transferred to investment
properties when there is a change in use with sufficient evidence.
The Group determines whether a change in use has occurred based
on an assessment of all relevant facts and circumstances, which
include but are not limited to: (a) a business plan that reflects the
future rental income generated by the property; (b) the resources
to hold and manage an investment property; (c) legal permissibility
for the change in use; and (d) the commencement of development
if the property requires further development for the change in use.
Any excess of fair value over the original carrying amount of such
properties at the date of transfer was recognised as current year
profit or loss.

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independent of the
other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion
that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only
if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised
tax losses as at 31 December 2024 was Nil (31 December 2023:
HK$826,535,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses as at
31 December 2024 was HK$9,099,018,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$4,025,275,000). Further details are contained in note 30 to the
financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

EXREFHHE R A )

H R E)
REPYEEBEREYE

EERARERAEEER  BRTPVEEEE
KREMX - AEEDERMAEBEERBR
MALETREEEEE  EhEFEETR
R (QRREMESREER S WANREES
g BEREEREMERTHNER (0B
PR E ARG R AR - R(d) i R
REHEMFRE - FEMEFRRET - X8
BHEZEDEN A FERDRETENER
THERRAFEREES °

REMERETARYEZBENDE

AEEBENERENAREMENGSE - X
EHIE L —EHEER o REMERITIERR
HERERZEIMEERRBOYE - Btk - K
SEEEMEELHRIREFEDARBILN
AEEFENHEMBEE - RUEMENHEORR
HBETKEAEZEMNTE > M —JDER/
AR ERHEE MRS RFTRA S MR
B MERERDAASHLELREBERER
EXFAEE  AREFIEERES DRAARK -
WEZEMOBEENFHANE » AEEIFTEH
DRELEESHEERIRBAFETHAE
B BRMELDGINEREDE - REBRE
EHERIMEELHE - WORAERERBRS
BB ABMETTAERIREMROGM -

ELERIBEEE

B 75 A R ERAS JE SR B AE (E R B B /0 1B 00
T FEREBFAERDAEVESEEENE
ERIBEE - TETEA THANELHIEE
EFERN EEEAREBEVENER - KX
JE R M) B9 K S 38 [R) AR 2R AR 1B A B SR B
EHE KR HE - 20245128310 - B
AFHEEEMERNELHIELENKRDE
AZEHEIT(2023412831H : 826,535,0007%
JC) ° 20245128318 » ABERNHEEE
8 /59,099,018,000/% 7T (2023412 A31H :
4,025,275,000/8 7T ) © sHIEE P IR
300



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited (“Savills”), an independent professional qualified valuer,
to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment properties at
the end of the reporting period. Such valuations were based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty. In making
the estimation, information about the market unit rental rate and
capitalisation rate is considered and assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period are used. The carrying amount of investment properties as at
31 December 2024 was HK$42,509,940,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$45,988,804,000). Further details are given in note 14.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
other receivables and other long-term receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by product type, service type, customer type and
rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analyzed.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
other receivables and other long-term receivables
(Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in
the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

The Group estimates loss allowance for expected credit losses
for other receivables and other long-term receivables resulting
from the expected cash shortfalls. The Group bases the estimates
on the information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. The Group’s historical
credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the future.
If the above conditions were to deteriorate, actual provisions
would be higher than estimated. The information about the ECLs
on the Group’s other receivables and other long-term receivables
is disclosed in notes 23 and 19 to the financial statements,
respectively.

As explained in note 18 to the financial statements, put option
liabilities arising from the buy-back upon the occurrence of
certain triggering events are recognised as financial liabilities.
When determining the classification and measurement of the put
option liabilities, judgements are exercised, including determining
whether the Group has the present ownership interest in the shares
subject to the put option liabilities, the timing that the triggering
events would occur and the possibility that the buy-back would be
exercised.

Land appreciation tax

Under the Provisional Regulations on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT")
implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional Regulations of
the PRC on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the transfer
of real estate properties in Chinese Mainland with effect from 1
January 1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
from sales of properties less deductible expenditures including
land use rights, borrowing costs and all property development
expenditures.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Land appreciation tax (Continued)

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property development
business in Chinese Mainland are subject to LAT, which has been
included in income tax. However, the implementation of these
taxes varies amongst various Chinese Mainland cities and the
Group has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining the
amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises these liabilities based on management’s best
estimates. When the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, the differences will
impact the income tax and provisions for land appreciation taxes in
the period in which the determination is made.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The PRC New Corporate Income Tax Law, which became effective
on 1 January 2008, states that the distribution of dividends by a
foreign-invested enterprise established in Chinese Mainland to its
foreign investors, from its earnings of 2008 or thereafter, shall be
subject to withholding taxes at an applicable rate of 5% or 10%.
The Group’s determination as to whether to recognise deferred
tax liability for withholding taxes from the distribution of dividends
from the subsidiaries in the PRC according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of distribution of
dividends. The Directors had assessed whether it is probable for the
Group's PRC subsidiaries to distribute dividends out of their profits
earned after 1 January 2008. Further details are given in note 30 to
the financial statements.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale

The Group's properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience and
the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes estimates
of the selling prices, the costs of completion of properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling the properties
based on prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in net
sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this may result
in a provision for properties under development and completed
properties held for sale. Such provision requires the use of
judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, the carrying value and provision for properties
in the periods in which such estimate is changed will be adjusted
accordingly.

Going Concern Consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, apart
from those involving estimations, management has prepared the
consolidated financial statements on the assumption that the
Group will be able to operate as a going concern in the coming
year, which is a critical judgement that has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making a judgement by the directors, at a particular point
of time, about the future outcome of events or conditions which
are inherently uncertain. The directors consider that the Group
has the capability to continue as a going concern and the major
events or conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that may
individually or collectively cast a significant doubt upon the going
concern assumption set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business
units based on their products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@ the property development segment engages in the
development of integrated logistics and trade centres and

residential and commercial ancillary facilities;

(b)  the property investment segment invests in integrated
logistics and trade centres and residential and commercial
ancillary facilities; and

(©)  the "others” segment comprises, principally, the provision
of logistics and warehousing services, outlet operations,
micro-credit services, consulting service related to property,

E-commerce services and other services.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operation. The adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operation is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit/loss before tax from continuing operation except that
interest income, finance costs, fair value gains/losses from the
Group's financial instruments, head office, corporate expenses and
unallocated cost of sales are excluded from this measurement.
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4. Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4. REFTHER®)
Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash DEEETE %fﬁfﬁ&fﬁfﬁ%fﬁ% C ZBRHIER
and other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these EREMARDEBHEERAGEE  RAA
assets are managed on a group basis. ZEEEREBEEER -
Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other D Eb B E T ER BRT &Em{ﬁ T BER
borrowings, senior notes, tax payables and other unallocated head B ERRERAMRARAHERERAEA
office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a f& - FIF%EZ%QF\EZE.%%% o
group basis.
No geographical segment analysis is presented as the majority of AR AEBER A H EE RS R FE (35
the assets and operations of the Group are located in the PRC, RAEBEREEURRE RERMEERRTN—E
which is considered as one geographical location in an economic HWIRAIE) - NEEWEZIMIED LA -

environment with similar risks and returns.

There was no single customer from which the revenue amounted BZE2024F12A31BILFE - BEE—RPHE
to 10% or more of the Group's revenue during the year ended 31 TH S EIE A S B A10% 5k A _E (B E 2023
December 2024 (nine months ended 31 December 2023: Nil). F12A31BIENEAR « &) -
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4. Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4. REFBER
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE2024512A31HLFE
Property Property
development investment Others Total
NERR MERE Htt @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx THR THR THx
Segment revenue: AEHBA
Sales to external customers HINBEPNE 2,995,091 543,129 545,160 4,083,380
Segment results before changesin =~ R EMEATEE
fair value of investment properties BT EFE4 353,299 418,365 (5,613) 766,051
Changes in fair value of investment XA MEATEE
properties - (2,483,460) - (2,483,460)
Segment results after changes in fair &R &MEATEES
value of investment properties BoHER 353,299 (2,065,095) (5,613) (1,717,409)
Unallocated cost of sales RO BSHEMA (139)
Interest income FEHA 14,210
Fair value gains on financial assets/ ~ BBBRALTFEFIEZ &7
liabilities at fair value through profit & /B ERAFE 2N -
or loss, net ek 32,733
Gains on disposal of financial assets/ R EBBEZAAFENERZ
liabilities at fair value through profit ~ & B&E /BE 7
or loss, net FE 1,711
Unallocated income and gains, net KA EURA R UE 55 139,285
Unallocated expenses RAERAX (5,224,449)
Finance costs BEAKA (1,522,530)
Loss before tax MAIEE (8,276,588)
As at 31 December 2024 2024F12A31H
Segment assets PEEE 44,766,511 34,449,597 2,122,416 81,338,524
Reconciliation: i -
Unallocated assets AOWMEE 6,212,901
Total assets BEHT 87,551,425
Segment liabilities AREE 8,847,072 7,812,731 399,987 17,059,790
Reconciliation: Hik -
Unallocated liabilities APHBE 43,884,685
Total liabilities BEEE 60,944,475
Other segment information: HitBoER
Depreciation and amortisation EREH 74,927 582 16,845 92,354
Capital expenditure* BARE* 128,864 72,995 1,154 203,013
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4. Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4., RBESHERE
For the nine months ended 31 December 2023 EHZ=2023F 128318 IENEA
Property Property
development investment QOthers Total
MEERE MERE Hit 15t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THEL TR

Segment revenue: ABYA
Sales to external customers HIMNBEPIHE 2,522,694 456,863 529,369 3,508,926
Segment results before changesin R EMEATFEES

fair value of investment properties BT EF%4 334,576 379,240 94,907 808,723
Changes in fair value of investment R &MERTFEE

properties - (2,317,419) - (2,317,419
Segment results after changes in fair X &MERTEED

value of investment properties (GEIES 334,576 (1,938,179) 94,907 (1,508,696)
Unallocated cost of sales RAOTHERA (42)
Interest income FIEHA 59,375
Fair value losses on financial assets/  EBBEAATEH 2 &

liabilities at fair value through profit & /&ERATEZEE

or loss, net FE (854,129)
Losses on disposal of financial assets/ R EE BB ATFETIEZ

liabilities at fair value through profit ~ & B&E /EEEE

or loss, net FE (2,644)
Unallocated income and gains, net KA EMA R - F8 358,888
Unallocated expenses APEFRZ (2,496,520)
Finance costs REKA (633,667)
Loss before tax BAIEE (5,077,435)
As at 31 December 2023 2023F12A31H
Segment assets AHEE 53,503,931 37,959,754 1,936,951 93,400,636
Reconciliation: i -
Unallocated assets AOMBE 6,974,415
Total assets BERT 100,375,051
Segment liabilities AHEE 12,947,053 8,344,177 443,817 21,735,047
Reconciliation: 3
Unallocated liabilities AOERE 42,193,679
Total liabilities BfEEE 63,928,726
Other segment information: HibHoEH !
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH 74,357 2,184 3,748 80,289
Capital expenditure* BARE* 1,582,797 166,478 141 1,749,416

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BAAZBRENE  BELEE  FREEE

equipment, prepaid land lease payments included in right-of-use

assets, properties under development and investment properties.
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5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains/(Losses), Net,
Fair Value Losses on Investment Properties

5. WA - Hftlk AR Wz (BE) -
FHE - REVEQAVESE

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAL

For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
HE20245F HE2023F
12A318 1 1283181t
FE NEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEAHES 3,357,703 2,855,696

Revenue from other sources H AR A
Rental income GiEE A ON 543,129 456,863
Others Eith 182,548 196,367
Subtotal NET 725,677 653,230
Total Ha=t 4,083,380 3,508,926

Above include amounts of HK$326,836,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024 (nine months ended 31 December 2023:
HK$261,540,000) related to income from outlet operations and
HK$123,450,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (nine
months ended 31 December 2023: HK$179,004,000) related to
income from logistics and warehousing services.

EBBEHZE2024F12A31BILFERE
PR HiT 8 2 Uy X 326,836,00078 7T (# = 20234F
12A31HIEAMA : 261,540,000 ) RE =
20245 12 AN BIEFEWR EEFRBE A
123,450,000/ 70 (& £2023F 12 A31 B IE M@
A 179,004,000 7T) °
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5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains/(Losses), Net,

Fair Value Losses on Investment Properties

(Continued)

WA - B AR KR (E18) -
- REYERQATFEEERE®

Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHWRE
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) ZDEBRAEHR
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE2024F12A318 LFE
Property
development Others Total
NERR Hitr @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TERT TEn
Timing of revenue recognition Wiz R A
Revenue recognised at a pointin time £ — A B AU RETE 2,995,091 342,148 3,337,239
Revenue recognised over time R—BRENOKERT = 20,464 20,464
Total revenue from contracts BEPEANE
with customers 2,995,091 362,612 3,357,703

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F12A31HIEAEA

Property
development Others Total
WEER Hith Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET TET
Timing of revenue recognition W25 FE SR B

Revenue recognised at a point in time = & —F Z AT 2,522,694 288,368 2,811,062
Revenue recognised over time RIS R EREE - 44,634 44,634

Total revenue from contracts BEPELONE
with customers 2,522,694 333,002 2,855,696
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5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains/(Losses), Net,
Fair Value Losses on Investment Properties
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

0}

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were included
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period and recognised from performance obligations satisfied
in previous periods:

5. WA - Ht AR WS (EE)
B BEVELATEEE®)

BEFEEHWEE)

() 2EBAERGE)
TRERARE MEERNREDEE - %
WaeBBE e EREHVINaHNaEZS
RAEEATEMAT SN BB EPHER

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024%12H31H 20239 12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Revenue recognised that was included B EEHEBINE LY EB 2R
in contract liabilities at the beginning Uz & %8 ¢
of the reporting period:
Sale of properties VI HE 1,860,753 1,683,350

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is

summarized below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied when the physical
possession of the completed property is obtained by the
purchasers and the Group has a present right to payment and
the collection of the consideration is probable.

Others

Others include the sale of merchandise and commissions
from concessionaire sales included in outlet operations,
logistics and warehousing services and E-commerce services.
The performance obligation of logistics and warehousing
services and E-commerce services is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. The performance obligation of the sale
of merchandise and commissions from concessionaire sales
is satisfied when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer.

(i) EHEME
ERASEREAOEENERBENT

BHEENRETRSERIMENERE
B R K AR S B E S IR B WO BAR AT RE I
R ERETT -

Aty

HA B 18 B A HT 3 75 oh 8 SH S AN AT
KEFEENT - WRNAERERBLE
PEERYG - IRMERREREFHER
BH R E TG RGO RHETEEHE
17 - EmIHE MR HENENE
METEEBEENTFREBREFPKE

7o
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

Revenue, Other Income and Gains/(Losses), Net,
Fair Value Losses on Investment Properties
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)
An analysis of other income and gains/(losses), net is as follows:

5.

A

- B AR Wi (EiE) -

- BEVELTEEERE®
EEEHWE®)

HpWA R Wes/ (B18) - FEAmOT

For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
HZE20245 HZE2023F
12A318 1 12A3181E
FE NEA
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FHET FHET
Other income Hitrlg A
Interest income FBUA 14,210 59,375
Government grants* BT HEEA* 819 5,497
Others Hi 16,259 30,623
Total other income Hiplg A 258 31,288 95,495
Gains/(losses) i (ER)
Gains/(losses) on disposal of property, BENFE BERSEZ
plant and equipment, net Wz (E18) - B4 453 (1,952)
(Losses)/gains on disposal of investment  [EEREWE Z (F18), Wzs -
properties, net R (29,574) 5,641
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets/  iBiBE A AFEFIE 2 &5
liabilities at fair value through profit or BE/BELNHEZWE
loss, net (B18) - 58 32,733 (854,129)
Gains/(losses) on disposal of financial assets/ F & BiBIEZANFETIEZ
liabilities at fair value through profit SREE BEzWE
or loss, net (E18) - 58 1,711 (2,644)
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries EEMBRRZEE = (118,351)
Gains on modification of interest-bearing ~ #HERTT R EAMEE S 2
bank and other borrowings D& 446,315 -
Loss arising from default and cross default E#I &R XEHIEHELE Y
events 518 (324,423) -
Gains on modification of senior notes BAEERER W - 348,655
Exchange losses, net [ e - F5 (4,500) (10,121)
Total gains/(losses) Wz (E518) @t 122,715 (632,901)
Total other income and gains/(losses) Hin A Rz, (B518) 5t 154,003 (537,406)
Fair value losses on investment properties &% A FEEE 14 (2,483,460) (2,317,419)

* Various government grants have been received from the relevant
government authorities to foster and support the development of
the relevant projects of the Group in Chinese Mainland. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

Loss Before Tax

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BiAIE 1R

AEBOBTAEBEEE MG Gt TIISE :

For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Bz2024%F HZE2023F
1283181 12A3181F
FE NEA
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FisE AT FAT
Cost of properties sold BEMEMA
Cost of properties held for finance lease B EHEWER A 2,641,792 2,188,118
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERFEINE
equipment 13 80,828 67,429
Less: Depreciation capitalised in respect of i : SEEFWENERLITE
properties under development (213) (175)
Total #t 80,615 67,254
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHRBEENE 16iii) 11,526 12,860
Lease payments not included in the ATAEES B ENHENRK
measurement of lease liabilities 16(iii) 34,926 29,289
Auditor's remuneration L EEA 3,400 3,770
Employee benefit expense (including EERMNAX (BEESHM
directors' remuneration (note 8)): (Ki3x8)) -
Wages and salaries* TENGE* 209,763 181,800
Equity-settled share option expense ARG ERERER S 204 462
Pension scheme contributions RINEFHEIER 19,785 20,494
Total Bt 229,752 202,756
Impairment of trade receivables** [ 5 IR FORE ** 1,039 41,556
Impairment of financial assets included in T AFE A « EfbEKFIA
prepayments, other receivables and other N EAth & & HoAl & B fE Wi 5k08
assets and other long-term receivables** 7 &R EERE* 24,953 756,490
Total #Et 25,992 798,046
Impairment losses recognised for properties 3 E$H & ¥p 2 E **
held for sale** 3,770,423 660,810
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of FERE,/ (hE)**
inventories** 6,135 (1,237)

* K

Included an amount of HK$10,854,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024 (nine months ended 31 December 2023:
HK$19,047,000), which was capitalised under properties under
development.

Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

* BREEBE2024F12A31BILFENE A
10,854,00058 7T (H Z 202312 A31 H i LE
A 119,047,000 7T) * B FUAE AR LETAE
BHWE -

= ETAGFAREARIEMER AR -
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Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

7. Finance Costs

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

BB
BMERAZAMWT -

For the
year ended

31 December

For the

nine months
ended

31 December

2024 2023
HZE20245F #HZE2023F
12A31H 1 12A3181E
EE NEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITEREMEERNS (B
(including senior notes) BRERE) 2,353,741 2,062,810
Interest on lease liabilities HESENE 122 1,127
Total interest expense on financial liabilities ~ FE3BEBIBZIAAFEIIIRZ
not at fair value through profit or loss TREBENTE S HEEE 2,353,863 2,063,937
Less: Interest capitalised B BAMEF R (831,333) (1,430,270)
Total #Et 1,522,530 633,667
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

8. Directors’ Emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year/period, disclosed pursuant to

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)

EEME

REBEEBBZAES ETRAN ETmRAD
BB D FHEDIE383(1)@) * (b)  QROERA
A(HBEEENEER)ROIFE28E - NAFE B

and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the ENESMERTELNT :
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:
For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
#ZE20245 HZE2023F
12A31HLE 12A431H1E
FE NER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Fees e 2,660 2,071
Other emoluments: Hibe
Salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind e RMREWET 6,790 9,410
Equity-settled share option expense LA 45 B A B AR 2 204 462
Pension scheme contributions RIS FTEIfER 48 42
Total #EEt 9,702 11,985
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Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEM<w)
(a) Independent Non-Executive Directors (a) BIYFHITES
The fees paid to Independent Non-Executive Directors during F/HANTEIIENTEFHRS I
the year/period were as follows: T

Equity-settled
share option

Fees expense Total

DREREEN
e BB X BEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT FET

Year ended BE2024F128318 1L
31 December 2024 FE

Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew  REE 380 — 380
Li Wai Keung e 380 - 380
Hui Chiu Chung Eicty 380 - 380
Zee Helen RBEd 380 - 380
Li Xu E30) 380 - 380
Total st 1,900 - 1,900

Equity-settled

share option
Fees expense Total

LA E
ik FENR R 2 wst
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
hEss FAT FAT FAT

Nine months ended #HZE2023F12A31H1E
31 December 2023 NER
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew  ZZEE 285 - 285
Li Wai Keung EXEE 285 - 285
Hui Chiu Chung FTHRA 285 - 285
Zee Helen (! 285 - 285
Li Xu £l (i) 238 - 238
Total et 1,378 - 1,378
(i) Dr. Li Xu was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive (i) ME T R2023F5 16 AER T AB
Director on 16 May 2023. MIFRITES -
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)
(b) Executive Directors and Non-Executive

8. EEMEw

(b) MTESRFIITES

Directors
Salaries,
allowances  Performance- Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme
Fees in kind honuses expense  contributions Total
e oB%  ERBEN  NEEEEN  BHeHE
we  RENEN WAL BRERX i @
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fi T Tén T Thr TEn T
Year ended HZ204512A3181
31 December 2024 EE
Co-Chairmen: BRIR
Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director) 230k - - - - - -
(HEE)
Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director) ~ BJiE - 1,821 - - 14 1,835
(#178%)
Subtotal 5t - 1,821 - - 14 1,835
Evecutive Directors: BN
Geng Mei Bl f) - 370 - 204 1 3,98
Wan Hongtao Bz - - - - - -
Qin Wenzhong Ey G (i) - - - - = -
Fang Ling hild i) - - - - - -
Xu Hongxia e (i) - 49 - - 6 435
Liu Heng 2 ) - - - - - -
Cheng Ka Man Carman =S (vi) - 830 - - 14 844
Subtotal 5t - 4,969 - 204 34 5,207
Non-Executive Directors: FiTEE
Fung Sing Hong Stephen BEM 380 - - - - 380
Shen Lifeng RER 380 - - - - 380
Li Ahua Rt - - - - - -
Deng Jin ¥z - - - - - -
Subtotal 1t 760 - - - - 760
Total 5t 760 6,790 - 204 48 7802
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEME®m
(b) Executive Directors and Non-Executive (b) HITEERIFHTEZH)

Directors (Continued)

Salaries,
alowances  Performance-  Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees inkind bonuses expense  contributions Total

BooRE  EXTEH NEGEEN  RAEHE
#t  REDEN WL BRERX 3 &3t

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(i3 T ThL TR TR T TR
Nine months ended HZ0B3E12831BL
31 December 2023 NEA
Co-Chairmen: BEIR
Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director) 3% - - - - - -
(Fai12E)
Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director) ~ BJiAE - 3,980 - - 14 3994
(B17E3)
Subtotal 5t - 3,980 - . 14 399
Executive Directors: H07ES.
Geng Mei g - 4388 - 46 14 4,864
Wan Hongtao ErE - - - - - -
Qin Wenzhong EXR - - - - - -
Cheng Ka Man Carman 3 - 1,042 - - 14 1,056
Subtotal 1t - 5,430 - 46 2 5920
Non-Executive Directors: FETES:
Cheng Tai Po 8% (vl 274 - - - - 274
Fung Sing Hong Stephen BEM (vi) 134 - - - - 134
Shen Lifeng RER 285 - - - - 285
Li Aihua Bl () - - - - - -
Deng Jin ¥z (x - - - - - -
Subtotal 5t 693 - - - - 693
Total Eh 693 9410 - 46 Q 10,607
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

8.

Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)
(b) Executive Directors and Non-Executive
Directors (Continued)

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

Ms. Gang Mei resigned as an Executive Director on 9
September 2024.

Mr. Qin Wenzhong resigned as an Executive Director and the
Group's Financial Controller on 3 April 2024.

Ms. Fang Ling was appointed as an Executive Director and the
Group's Financial Controller on 3 April 2024. Ms. Fang will not
receive any director’s emolument, annual performance bonus
and/or share options granted from the Company.

Mr. Xu Hongxia was appointed as an Executive Director on 9
September 2024.

Mr. Liu Heng was appointed as an Executive Director on
16 October 2024. Mr. Liu will not receive any director's
emolument, annual performance bonus and/or share options
granted from the Company.

Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman resigned as an Executive Director
on 9 September 2024.

Mr. Cheng Tai Po resigned as a Non-Executive Director on 25
August 2023.

Mr. Fung Sing Hong was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director on 25 August 2023.

Ms. Li Aihua was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 16
May 2023. Ms. Li will not receive any director’'s emolument,
annual performance bonus and/or share options granted from
the Company.

Ms. Deng Jin was appointed as a Non-Executive Director
on 16 May 2023. Ms. Deng will not receive any director’s
emolument, annual performance bonus and/or share options
granted from the Company.

8.

EEME

(b) T

(ii)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

x)

(45)
=)

EERFUTESR®H)

BiiE 22114202459 A9 B M EHT 1T
EEo

EXREAER2024FAA3B B ETH
TESREEFRE -

FELZLER2024F4A3HEZ T A
TESREEVBRE - F LT Tg
WRARBEMESNE - FEERR
BMERTEAL KSR T BB AR -

FABE LT R2024F9A90RERT A
WITES -

BIE £ R 2024510 A 16 B ER T A
WITES - 21 EBTGUMARBMTE
MEFEHE FEERREBHREA
Ko/ SR T B0 BEARAR -

52 2 £ 7A202449 A9 B R BT #
TES-

HR SR A 202398 A25 A AR BHT IE
WITES -

EEMEENR2023F8A258EEZ T A
IEITES -

FEILLTRN2023F5A16HEZT A
FEPITES - THTHAFUREARA
FREEME « FEERBEEOHIEL
R/ SR T H B AR -

BELZ T 2023F5 A6 AER T A
WITES - BT H TS WRAQRME
MEEWS - FERKRBEBHTA
K/ SR T ERERARHE -
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

9. Five Highest Paid Individuals

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
directors (nine month ended 31 December 2023: three directors),
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details

of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three (nine
month ended 31 December 2023: two) highest paid employees
who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

TfuESHFALT

FH - IEERRTNEERENEES(HE
2023F12ANABIENER : =RES) - AF
BASEIBEEH A EXHIFE8 - WA R REEHZS
TIRABEMB T =% (EZE2023F12A3181F
NER - MB) &= HIEEBF AT S
™

follows:
For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BZ20245F #HZE20234F
12HA31H 1t 12A3181F
FE @A
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYER 5,971 3,780
Equity-settled share option expense LA m A E M RER = -
Pension scheme contributions RIS FHEIHR 36 28
Total FEy 6,007 3,808

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as

follows:

TR A T B S K3
SEFHEEHARNT -

RE1THRAE

Number of employees

EEAH
For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
HZ20245F #HZE2023F
12A31H1E 12A3181E
FE JLE A
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001%7C%2,000,0007%8 7T 2 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T 22,500,000/ 7T = 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T 23,000,000/8 7T 1 -
Total 4aET 3 2
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

9. Five Highest Paid Individuals (Continued) 9. HuUBEHALE
During the year and in prior years, share options were granted to FARBEFE  FEERGEHFALRER
non-director, highest paid individuals in respect of their services to REERM 2 IR MR B E - HiE— D5
the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosure in BN EHMARNE32 - ZEEERN A FE
note 32 to the financial statements. The fair value of those options, (BERBEHBRHNRAERRER) DRELAR
which is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss HEE  MENAFEMBRERNSEDERE
over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and RENAEGRRFATHESOEEER
the amount included in the financial statements for the current year
is included in the above five highest paid individuals’ remuneration
disclosures.
10. Income Tax 10. FriE%
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% FA - BENEHOREBENEBE LG E
(nine months ended 31 December 2023: 16.5%) on the estimated RBEM16.5% (i Z=2023F12 5318 I AL E
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. No H 165% ) EFTIR - F8 - AR AEE
provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group MEREEENERTAE - MBS
had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (nine ST B (2202312 A31HIEN@EA -
months ended 31 December 2023: Nil). |) -
Taxes on profits assessable in Chinese Mainland are calculated HR [ K [ ) JE BRI A TE T IR AR R (B 2 B P
at the rates of tax prevailing in the provinces in which the Group AR M ERITIRHELR
operates.
Under the relevant income tax law, the PRC subsidiaries are subject RBABASTUE - F7A - REIME A RZER
to corporate income tax (“CIT") at the statutory rate of 25% (nine B BRERRBIMAREEN E25% (B2 2023F
months ended 31 December 2023: 25%) on their respective taxable 12A318IENER : 25% ) B ZEEH ©
income during the year.
The PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to A+ IS (E TR 1230% £ 60% T 5 /) iR R
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from st EE (BN 3 8HE PRS RIBR B 15 Ak
the sale of properties less deductible expenditures including land N EERARBEDEERMAZEANNATN
costs, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures. RS ) I ER -
The major components of income tax charge/(credit) for the year/ RARE R - TSRS (B8 EBHH
period are as follows: O
For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
#Z20245F HE20235F
12A31H1E 12A3181E
FE NEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FT
Current BNER 251,750 381,729
Deferred JRIE 447,566 (1,141,574)
Total tax charge/(credit) FRiEm Y (B ) s 699,316 (759,845)
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

10. Income Tax (Continued) 10. FrEBHi@)
A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to loss before BEEMESEAARRAIBENRERS
tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense at the Group's effective (EI#) ER A EEARFEERB R ENTIE
income tax rate is as follows: PR BRAT ¢
For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
#ZE20245 HZE2023F
12HA31H 1t 12A31H1E
FE JUEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET
Loss before tax TiRlEE (8,276,588) (5,077,435)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% 1#216.5% A= B Rt HATIE (1,365,637) (837,777)
Different tax rates enacted by local 75 HE A I FE 9T R RR R
authorities (500,968) (383,368)
Income not subject to tax BABBWA (41,163) (6,508)
Expenses not deductible for tax RAIHFRF X 400,551 255,541
Tax losses utilised from previous years BABTFFENBIAEIE (38,553) (31,567)
Tax losses not recognised REERTHIEEE 1,284,984 26,491
Deductible temporary differences not RERAENEREER
recognised 798,522 -
LAT, net of tax effects T IS (E T Y BN B ELEE T 75
% e 156,383 222,126
Profit attributable to associates Bt B G 3 ) (8,484) (24,724)
Effect of withholding tax on the distributable #2785 EI#) +F BB A F1HY
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries Ao RN Em A EIENAEN
2 13,681 19,941
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group's effective  IRAREEEE R EMNFHEE
rate X (E#) 699,316 (759,845)
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

11.

12.

Dividend

1. RE
For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
#ZE20245 HZE2023F
12A31HL 12A3181E
FE NER
HK$'000 HK$°000
FTHET TFET

Final dividend — Nil (31 December 2023: Nil) FRHIA& B —#£(2023F12A

318 : #)

At a meeting of the Board held on 28 March 2025, the directors
resolved not to propose a final dividend to shareholders (31
December 2023: Nil).

Loss per Share Attributable to Ordinary Equity
Holders of the Parent

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss
for the year/period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 11,441,892,848 (nine months ended 31 December 2023:
11,441,892,848) in issue during the year.

AARIFR2025F3A2H BTN EE S
L BERATREZARERNAHRE
(2023F 1283180 « &) -

12. EENESAREEREREEAZ
BREE
EREAEEDRBEEATN T ERER
BEAEBLEF BHAEEBRFRNDET
11,441,892,848 % (i Z=2023F 12 A31H L1
AR :11,441,892,848%%) % i Ik & ik F 19 24
EE
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

12. Loss per Share Attributable to Ordinary Equity 12. ZBRESAREERERIZTEAZ

Holders of the Parent (Continued) BREE )

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amounts RARITE 2 BREL T 25 IR EAREIE
presented for the year ended 31 December 2024 and nine months CHAAREETYE - O EEE2024512
ended 31 December 2023 in respect of a dilution as the impact of A318IEFEK2023F12A318ENEAME
the share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the P GREAEBSEIELFHE -

basic loss per share amounts presented.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based on: BREARREEBHENFTEER
For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BZ20245F #HZE2023F
12A31H1E 12A3181F
FE NEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Loss BB
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of R EHE AL E A M EE5 12
the parent, used in the basic and diluted PASYNSIE-Si) ¢ ZES SN
loss per share calculation [E(REE (8,975,762) (4,317,462)
Number of shares
B2
31 December 31 December
2024 2023

2024512A31H 20234 12A31H

Shares B’RH
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BT E SIEAR KL EE
in issue during the year/period used in the BB 24 HIKNB %17
basic and diluted loss per share calculation & iEBAXAYHIHEF 15 Ex 11,441,892,848 11,441,892,848
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

13. Property, Plant and Equipment
31 December 2024

13. Y% - MERRE

20247F12H318

Furniture,
fixtures and Motor
Buildings equipment vehicles Total
B £EB
BF R RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FExT FExT FET
At 1 January 2024: 20241718 ¢
Cost 5% 1,200,889 383,737 45,728 1,630,354
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (794,608) (249,361) (42,778) (1,086,747)
Net carrying amount REFE 406,281 134,376 2,950 543,607
At 1 January 2024, net of M2024F1 718
accumulated depreciation BB RETE 406,281 134,376 2,950 543,607
Additions NE - 2,691 53 2,744
Transfer to properties held HRZHEHENE
for sales (52,931) - - (52,931)
Disposals BE (146) (4,493) (1,394) (6,033)
Depreciation provided during S RITEREME
the year (40,325) (40,408) (95) (80,828)
Exchange realignment EHAR (18,166) (845) (35) (19,046)
At 31 December 2024, netof 20245124318 -
accumulated depreciation EHBRRNE 294,713 91,321 1,479 387,513
At 31 December 2024: 20245128318 ¢
Cost AR 1,054,747 375,803 33,216 1,463,766
Accumulated depreciation ZENE (760,034) (284,482) (31,737) (1,076,253)
Net carrying amount REFE 294,713 91,321 1,479 387,513
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 13. Y% - BERZE®
31 December 2023 2023412 A31H
Furniture,
fixtures and Motor
Buildings equipment vehicles Total
B £B
BF B e et
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bk FAT FAT FAT FAT
At 1 April 2023: 1R2023F4A18 ¢
Cost AR 1,416,058 413,649 60,285 1,889,992
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (866,653) (250,840) (55,700) (1,173,193)
Net carrying amount REFE 549,405 162,809 4,585 716,799
At 1 April 2023, net of M2023F4718 -
accumulated depreciation BB EETE 549,405 162,809 4,585 716,799
Additions RE - 16,585 562 17,147
Disposals RE - (6,743) (927) (7,670)
Disposal of a subsidiary REMERR 34 (84,683) (3,694) (189) (88,566)
Depreciation provided during ~ EiRITE &
the period (35,464) (31,086) (879) (67,429)
Exchange realignment I 5 3% (22,977 (3,495) (202) (26,674)

At 31 December 2023, netof ~ 72023F12A318 -

accumulated depreciation EHBRRNE 406,281 134,376 2,950 543,607
At 31 December 2023: #2023F12 8318 :

Cost AR 1,200,889 383,737 45,728 1,630,354

Accumulated depreciation ZETE (794,608) (249,361) (42,778) (1,086,747)
Net carrying amount REFHE 406,281 134,376 2,950 543,607
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

13.

14.

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s buildings with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$3,056,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: HK$3,243,000) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 28).

As at 31 December 2024, certificates of ownership in respect
of certain buildings of the Group in the PRC with an aggregate
carrying value of approximately HK$271,549,000 (31 December
2023: HK$385,658,000) had not been issued by the relevant PRC
authorities. The Group is in the process of obtaining the relevant
certificates of ownership.

13.

M - BMERZEE

R2024F 12 A31H AEBEBEAY
3,056,000/ 7T (2023412 A31H : 3,243,000
BTG TEFEERERREEER KR
TTRVE MR (MI7E28) -

MR2024512A318 - AEERFEEKELE
& £ #9271,549,0007% 7T (2023F 12 A31 8 -
385,658,000/ 7T ) B & T1E F AR E M7 A B
BB T EE - NEEIEEERERATEE

s7¢
g °

Investment Properties 14. REYZE
For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
HZ20245 #E2023F
12A31H1E 12A3181F
FE NEA
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
PiEE FHET FAET
Carrying amount at the beginning F/HRERE(E
of year/period 45,988,804 53,430,054
Additions NE 72,716 166,267
Transfer from properties under ERAEEPYE
development 15 - 49,232
Disposal BE (120,860) (50,633)
Fair value losses on investment REREMEBEZATE
properties 5 (2,483,460) (2,317,419)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—MBAR - (3,440,713)
Exchange realignment P& W AR (947,260) (1,847,984)
Carrying amount at the end of year/ & /HIZRHBRFIE
period 42,509,940 45,988,804

The Group's investment properties were revalued on 31 December
2024 by Savills at RMB39,364,700,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$42,509,940,000) (31 December 2023: RMB41,675,400,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$45,988,804,000)), on an open
market, existing use basis.

The Group's investment properties with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$30,384,557,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: HK$33,357,277,000), were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 28).

F—RKFEMLEHTR2024F 12831 HEEAE
EMEEME  RARMBEBREEEN
B8 A A K ¥ 39,364,700,000 7T ( 185 R 49
42,509,940,000/70)(2023F 12 A318 : AR
#41,675,400,000 7t (HHZH 4945,988,804,000
HBIT))

M2024F 128318 AEBEBDAEEY
30,384,557,000 /% 7T (2023 4 12 A 31 B
33,357,277,000/% 70 (IR B M E S EIRE AR
EEEE —AIRTTRVE R (HIFE28) ©
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

14. Investment Properties (Continued)

The Group’s investment properties with an aggregate carrying
value of approximately HK$39,440,540,000 as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: HK$42,642,551,000) are subject to sales

restrictions (note 1(iv)).

The Group's investment properties consist of trade centres,
commercial and other ancillary facilities in Chinese Mainland. Each
year, the Group’s management decides to appoint which external
valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of the Group's
properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
The Group's finance department has discussions with the valuer
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results twice a year

14. REWE®)
MR2024F 12 A31H - A EEREEAEY
39,440,540,000 % st (2023 12 A 31 H
42,642,551,00078 7T ) K3 & W) 2 X B S5 SR
(BFFE1GV)) ©

AEENKREMFEEBRETRNRZT O - &
ELEMEERE - AEENEEESFRE
ZEBEHAREEYFALETINE A ENINE S
ERAE - FFEEBET SR - B2 B
M ARREREFTERNKE P RFE
P HEEITHER  ARENM B EEE
BN EFh R FEREREERR LA ES
RETMRAS °

when the valuation is performed for interim and annual financial

reporting.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy

of the Group’s investment properties:

DR ERER
AEBRAMENATEF BBAMN TR :

Fair value
measurement

as at 31 December
2024

using significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
M2024512A31H
FERERTAHRE
WABESE
“NE

(5B34%)

HK$'000

FHBT

Recurring fair value measurement for:

Trade centres, commercial and other ancillary facilities

AT FENEE N HEFE -

RGHF L~ EHEREMEEERE 42,509,940
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14. Investment Properties (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

14. REWE®E)
N EEHKE

Fair value
measurement

as at 31 December
2023

using significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)

20235 12H31H
ERABERTAEHR
BABIETE
AF(E

(38

HK$°000

TET

Recurring fair value measurement for:

Trade centres, commercial and other ancillary facilities

AT ZENEE N HEFE -

RZH0 - BEMEMBEERE

45,988,804

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements

between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3

(nine months ended 31 December 2023: Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key
inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

Valuation
technique

fhERl

FA - FRRE2RERERE N EFE
MR - EIWMERATFEFESAREH (B

ZF2023F12A31HIENER : ) -

AT REREMEGHEMBNGEERTEEET

ZMHE

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXTABRGARE

Range

gE
As at As at
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
20245 12H31H 720239F12A31H

Trade centres, commercial
and other ancillary facilities  method
REGHL - BERAMEE WABERNEE

il

Income capitalisation

Market unit rental rate
(RMB/sg.m./month)

Ti5EMEE
(AR¥,/FRAKR)

Capitalisation rate

N |oRS

22-150 23-150

5.00%-8.25% 5.00%-8.25%
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

14.

15.

Investment Properties (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair values of investment properties are determined principally
using the income capitalisation method by capitalising the rental
income derived from the existing tenancies with due provisions for
the reversionary income potential of the properties. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the market unit rental rate
and negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate. For the portions
which were under construction, the expended construction costs
and the costs that are expected to be expended to complete the
properties have also been taken into account in arriving at their fair
values.

14.

BEWHE®)

N EEHE
BREMERTEFIBRUABREET - H
FREBAREFENESRAEARL - T3
MENBETESKATHEEE RS - A TE
HERMEESR I AREMERRRL
BEEREYH5  ERTATERN O
MR SRR A R STk B B4 0E B TEET IS ST S AR AR
IRE B E IR

Properties Under Development 15. BEPYE
For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
#ZE20245 HZE2023F
12A31H1E 12A3181F
FE NEA
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
{iEs FER FAT
Carrying amount at the beginning F/HR AR (E
of year/period 1,065,512 1,456,194
Additions NE 124,483 1,566,002
Transfer to properties held for sale EREHEEEDE (18,442) (1,845,546)
Transfer to investment properties BRI A 14 - (49,232)
Exchange realignment P AR (31,060) (61,906)
Carrying amount at the end of F/HRARNEREE
year/period 1,140,493 1,065,512

Certain of the Group’s properties under development with an
aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$539,355,000 as at
31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: HK$853,393,000), were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 28).

The government grants related to supporting infrastructure
construction and development activities in connection with the
Group's property development projects were previously deducted
from the additions of properties under development. Among
the balance of cost of properties sold during the year ended 31
December 2024, approximately RMB40,141,000 (equivalent to
HK$43,978,000) (year ended 31 December 2023: RMB18,173,000
(equivalent to HK$20,001,000)) were related to these grants
previously deducted within properties under development.
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16. Leases
The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for various items of property,
machinery and other equipment used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 40 years, and no ongoing payments
will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of

16. HE
AEBEREBEA
AEBMEANELBRENYE  BEREM
REZEEEMEEAL - DRATEE—RH
A EE WIS TS it - I AL0E - B
ERRREZE T EENEREENR - D
LMEEEE A1 FE3F - Kt RENEDE

properties generally have lease terms between 1 and 3 years. Other BRI12MEASLAT o
equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less.
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and REBF RS EZEEENRRAE,
the movements during the year/period are as follows: Az 28T -
Leasehold land Property Total
HELH LYES CHI
HK$"000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FERT THET
As at 1 January 2024 R2024F1H1H 308,999 2,463 311,462
Addition NE - 3,070 3,070
Depreciation charge TERX (8,807) (2,719) (11,526)
Exchange realignment M 3, F8 B (6,483) = (6,483)
As at 31 December 2024 7"2024%12H31H 293,709 2,814 296,523
Leasehold land Property Total
HETH ES A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
As at 1 April 2023 M2023F4H1H 485,050 12,709 497,759
Disposal of subsidiaries BREWBAT (152,107) (4,551) (156,658)
Depreciation charge HERS (7,449) (5,411) (12,860)
Exchange realignment bE 5 AR (16,495) (284) (16,779)
As at 31 December 2023 7R2023F128318 308,999 2,463 311,462
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16. Leases (Continued) 16. HE&Ew®)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) TEBEEREBEAE)
(i) Lease liabilities (i) HEEE

HERGB(BREEIES REMENR
B IM AR AR FOR ) Z BREEA K

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under trade
and other payables and other long-term payables) and the

movements during the year/period are as follows:

ARG BN 2 E T -
For the
For the nine months
year ended ended

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
BZ20245F HE2023%F
12A31H1E 12A3181F
FE NEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January/1 April  1A18, 74818 2 fREE 2,565 26,770
New leases e 3,070 -
Disposal of a subsidiary EEWEAR - (15,532)
Accretion of interest recognised RAEE,/ HITER 0 F) 238 0
during the year/period 122 1,127
Payments IDE: (2,920) (9,004)
Exchange realignment TE 3% - (796)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12A31AZRMEE 2,837 2,565
Analyzed into: Pax iy~
Current portion REAER 5 1,348 2,565
Non-current portion FEBNHAER 9 1,489 -
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 42 HEABEZEH AT REM T

to the financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

A2 FE o



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

16. Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

16.

(iii) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases

are as follows:

HE @
AEEEAEBEA®
(i) REXRRRESEEZSENT -

For the
For the nine months
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BZE20245% HE20235F
12A31A81E 12A31H1E
FE NIEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 122 1,127
Depreciation charge on right-of-use ~ {FREZETE
assets 11,526 12,860
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ ERSGHIFAE MK BELE
and leases of low-value assets HEEAENRX 34,926 29,289
Total amount recognised in RERERNBERE
profit or loss 46,574 43,276

(iv) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 35(c) to

the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for
periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year
was HK$543,129,000 (nine months ended 31 December 2023:
HK$456,863,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the

financial statements.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating

leases with its tenants are as follows:

(iv) FARSRERNRDIRLGENTHER
RIFTE3S(OHKEE -

AEEEAEEA
AEERBLEEHELTHELHEREWE (T
14) ° ZEAE R RN ESEBAA R
FEUWREERFNTIHRATHARES - K
SEEARFRERHEEWA A543,129,000%5 T
(B E2023F12A831HIEAMEA : 456,863,000
BIT) » FHIBEEER MRS -

2024128310 - BEREERFREEAP
Z AR R AT S m IR AR IR A & o 510
—F :

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12H31H 2023912 A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHT FT

Within one year —FA 675,801 714,793
After one year but within two years —FREMFRN 528,158 556,001
After two years but within three years MEBREBE=FNR 425,387 461,593
After three years but within four years = FRENFR 379,167 396,205
After four years but within five years P& B RFA 345,315 368,260
After five years AFE 2,525,368 2,768,954
Total A&t 4,879,196 5,265,806
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

17. Interest in Associates

17. REE QRIAVERS

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12831H 2023%F12A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FET

Share of net assets (L& EFE 2,811,067 2,749,602
Goodwill on acquisition Ui 2 g 1,185,544 1,211,453
Total st 3,996,611 3,961,055

Particulars of the material associates are as follows:

Place of
registration

TE2HBERAFFEAT

Percentage of
ownership
interest
attributable

Name and business to the Group  Principal activity
R AR rEBIEEER
=L B Btk FEER
First Asia Pacific Management PRC/Chinese Mainland 50*  Property
Company Limited management
("First Asia Pacific Group”)
B TANEERERAT GlEVEEPN s

([HF—E=AREKHE])

Xi'an China South City Co., Ltd PRC/Chinese Mainland 30.6472  Property sales
AL ERNER AT RE B ARE MEIHE
* In the opinion of the directors, notwithstanding that the Group has * EZERA BREALBEEF TAEH

50% ownership interest in First Asia Pacific Group, the Group has
been able to exercise significant influence over First Asia Pacific Group
because the Group has appointed two of five directors of First Asia
Pacific Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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17.

Interest in Associates (Continued)

First Asia Pacific Group is considered an associate of the Group and is
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements. The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of First Asia Pacific Group adjusted for any differences

17. REEE QN TINER (@)

%_

= A
A

;{’gi

in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the

consolidated financial statements:

SAKERELSREENBE AT - WHE
MEHERPERAEGIHE - TRIRT
DAKERETRREZARHFREAR

BHREAGEEEETHHENMBEERE

31 December 2024
2024%12831H

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET

Summarised statement of financial position B A RIBI AR R E ¢

of the associate:

Current assets MEEE 2,466,794 2,037,596

Non-current assets EMENVEE 32,918 3,749

Current liabilities nEEE (1,495,634) (1,320,601)

Net assets BESE 1,004,078 720,744
Reconciliation to the Group's interest FARAREE N E AR

in the associate:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership S ERFAR LA 50% 50%

Group's share of net assets of SEEBERNRFEENMNTE -

the associate, excluding goodwill TEtEEE 502,039 360,372

Goodwill on acquisition Wehg 2 ml 1,185,544 1,211,453
Carrying amount of the investment HEREE 1,687,583 1,571,825
Revenue A 1,053,246 752,791
Profit and total comprehensive income AT kB2 231,516 200,683
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17. Interest in Associates (Continued)
Xi'an China South City Co., Ltd is considered an associate of
the Group and is accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements. The following table illustrates the
summarised financial information of Xi‘an China South City Co., Ltd
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:

17.

REE QTR (&)
BREFRARD AR AREDNB LD
Al WHESAPHBRERPEAERGTE T
RIRTEREFNARAFLEHBEEZR
AEGRGAVBRREEAEEETHSEN
HBEERHE

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12831H 2023%F12A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Summarised statement of financial position B A RIBI AR R E ¢
of the associate:
Current assets RENEE 8,622,326 8,410,881
Non-current assets EMENEE 3,425,083 3,725,457
Current liabilities mEak (4,221,109) (3,980,069)
Non-current liabilities IEREAaE (294,209) (360,352)
Net assets BESE 7,532,091 7,795,917
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in the FAZEANE @& A R AMER
associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership S EFAR A 30.6472% 30.6472%
Group's share of net assets of the associate, E@E{GHE AT FEENNDEE -
excluding goodwill TefEmE 2,308,375 2,389,230
Carrying amount of the investment HEIREE 2,308,375 2,389,430
Revenue U A 134,700 125,295
Loss and total comprehensive losses EE MBS EER (263,825) (4,717)
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17. Interest in Associates (Continued) 17. REE QA RINER (@)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of TRIRT AN E B D FEF E RN EKAER
the Group's associates that are not individually material: SHEER

31 December 2024
2024%12H31H

HK$'000

FERT

Carrying amount of the investment WERE®RE 653
Share of associates’ total comprehensive losses IEHE AR ERAEN N (967)

18. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value through 18. ZEBIEZUAFEIIRzTME

Profit or Loss E/afE
31 December 2024
2024%F12A31H

Assets Liabilities
BE =0
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FERT FHxT
Put option liabilities REHERE - 1,037,344
Unlisted investments JEEMIRE 11 -
Total wEt 11 1,037,344
Non-current portion FERNERFL D 11 1,037,344
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18. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value through
Profit or Loss (Continued)

18. EBBERUAFEIIRzESHE
E/ Al

31 December 2023
2023%12A31H

Assets Liabilities

BE =L

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Put option liabilities RonEIEEE - 1,070,077

Unlisted investments JEEMIRE 3,724 -

Interest rate swaps MEEHR S - 4,618

Total “aEt 3,724 1,074,695
Analysed into: Pax iy~

Current portion RREAER 1D - 4,618

Non-current portion JERNERER (D 3,724 1,070,077

Total #aEt 3,724 1,074,695

The above unlisted investments were classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as the Group has not elected to
recognise the fair value gain or loss through other comprehensive

income.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as interest
rate swaps with maturity period of twelve months or less, to hedge
its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk. These derivative
financial instruments are not designated for hedge purposes and
are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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18.

19.

Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value through
Profit or Loss (Continued)

According to the agreements entered into between China
South City Group Co., Ltd (“China South City Group”), China
South International Industrial Materials City (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. (“Shenzhen China South City”) and Shenzhen Shenji No. 1
Industrial Park Investment and Operation Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Shenji No. 1”), Shenzhen Shenji No.1 has been granted a put
option, pursuant to which Shenzhen Shenji No.1 has the right
(but not an obligation) to require China South International and/
or Shenzhen China South City to acquire all equity interest held by
Shenzhen Shenji No.1 in Xi‘an China South City upon occurrence
of certain events. Accordingly, financial liabilities of approximately
HK$1,037,344,000 (31 December 2023: HK$1,070,077,000) are
recorded as put option liabilities under non-current “financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” of the consolidated
statement of financial position as at the end of the reporting period.

Other Long-term Receivables

18.

19.

ZREBERUANTEIIEZEHME
E/afEm
RIBFZEEREEFR AR (A THEE/mmE
) - FErg BB TEMR ORI AR AR (BA
THEBORYIZERR ] BRYMEESHRESE
BEEEESERA(DRINEE K]
WipE o RYFESHE R TRGEE - &
b RIDRE R AR (IR BkERE
B K/ BlOR N EE R AT S S B AR - B
RYRE SR BT L ER N2 IR -
It AR #R5R491,037,344,0005%5 7T (20234
124318 : 1,070,077,000/87T) & B BB HE
REFBRAROIERBBE O EBIBEINU
RNHEVR 2 ERBEIAR-

H it R R RTE

31 December 2024
2024%12831H

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Other long-term receivables E bR HENRIA 998,292 1,020,109

Loans receivables* FEME FR* 84,237 134,382
Impairment IE (1,067,620) (1,072,865)
Total wa=t 14,909 81,626
* The amounts represent loans made to customers of the Group'’s * ZeBARNEENEEERECEPRENE

micro-credit services. All loans receivables are interest-bearing at
rates ranging from 1.5% to 24% (31 December 2023: from 1.5% to
24%) per annum with repayment terms from 6 months to 5 years (31
December 2023: from 6 months to 5 years). Certain loans receivables
amounting to HK$47,347,000 (31 December 2023: HK$91,168,000)
are secured by the properties of the borrowers.

As at 31 December 2024, the loss rate of other long-term
receivables applied was 100% (31 December 2023: 100%) and the
loss rates of loans receivables applied ranged from 1.5% to 100%
(31 December 2023: 1.5% to 60%).

oo FTARKERIRENENT1.5%E24%
(20234 12A318 : 1.5%E24%):T 5 EX
BN T6f@ B =54 (20235128318 : 618 A
Z54F) o £%8/547,347,00058 7T (20234512 A
31H : 91,168,000/ 7T ) K& T EUE KA S
RARI AR -

72024512 A318 « ERAREMEIGRMIER
& 5100% (2023412 A31H : 100%) * &M
REKRERMIEREF1.5%E100% (20234
12A31H : 1.5%%E60%) °
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

20. Properties Held for Finance Lease and Sale

20.

FFREHEREEYE

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12831H 2023%F12A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Completed properties held for finance lease 5 {ERIVEATHE R T % 140,039 145,637
Completed properties held for sale FHEHSR T 16,549,303 16,272,573
Properties under development expected to  FAEIR IEH & EHHRE THY
be completed within the normal operating 2R Y%
cycle 23,824,556 25,415,570
Subtotal NE 40,373,859 41,688,143
Impairment RIE (4,956,544) (1,186,121)
Total EE 35,417,315 40,502,022
Properties under development expected BRAYETRIET R
to be completed and ready for sale AIESHE
Within one year —FR 6,122,440 12,311,688
Beyond one year — & 17,702,116 13,103,882
Total BiE 23,824,556 25,415,570

No properties held for finance lease (31 December 2023:
HK$1,654,000) and certain of the Group’s properties held for sale
with aggregate carrying values approximately HK$18,519,366,000
(31 December 2023: HK$18,703,903,000) at the end of the
reporting period, were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 28).

The values of completed properties held for sale and properties
under development expected to be completed within the normal
operating cycle are assessed at the end of each reporting period. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of the property exceeds
its net realisable value. As at 31 December 2024, impairment losses
on the Group's properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$4,956,544,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$1,186,121,000) were recognised.
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REEERK R AFRIERMEHEM (2023
F12A318 1,654,000 7C) R AL EE TH
VESS E YR 4818,519,366,0007% 71.(2023
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

21.

22,

Inventories

21.

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

31 December 2023
2023%12A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET BT

Merchandises (GG 24,342 26,399
Impairment A (19,541) (13,406)
Total “aEt 4,801 12,993

The value of inventories are assessed at the end of each reporting
period. An impairment exists when the carrying value exceeds
its net realizable value. As at 31 December 2024, the Group's
write-down of recognised provision thereon with an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$19,541,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$13,406,000).

Trade Receivables

22,

GEBERSERESRETTE - ERAE
BEEESBENERFEE  RTFERE -
MR2024F 128318 - AEBE DR ERE
B #) /19,541,000 7L (2023412 A31 8
13,406,000/ 7T) °

FEWE 5 BRK

31 December 2024
2024%12831H

31 December 2023
2023%12A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Trade Receivables JEURE SRR 809,412 1,017,948
Impairment A (304,230) (305,223)
Net carrying amount BREFE 505,182 712,725

Trade receivables represent sales income, rental receivables and
service income receivables from customers which are payable on
issuance of invoices or in accordance with the terms of the related
sale and purchase agreements. The Group generally allows a credit
period of not exceeding 60 days to its customers. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
closely monitors them to minimize credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of this and the
fact that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group generally does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing.

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s trade receivable
with a net carrying amount of HK$2,971,000 were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 28).

e B 5 BR R I H R BRI AR B4R R
BEEHRGREREFNHELA - BREHES
BRIGEA - REB —REBHTBEBOREER
BYEP - AEEBNHREEEURRER
BRENEN REREMEERARBRESRE - &
REEESENEMNBIGR -  FERIL LA
SENEEESERREXRETRETFARH - &
TEEAKFEERR - AEE—KRM =102
BYHREWEZRFIFEEMOERSEMER
2% - BEBZERARE

M2024F 12 A31H  AEBEE@ZEES
2,971,000 T A TIRKE SRR EEIBIES
REEER —ARIRITRE MIER (Ki5E28) -
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

22. Trade Receivables (Continued)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023 based on the payment due date, net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

22,

EWE SR E)

2024512 831 H K 202312 A318 © B
NMFREBHA - BRESEINREESEBEY
BRI DT -

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12831H 2023%12A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHBT

Within 3 months 3{E A AR 437,276 537,935
Over 3 months HBid31E A 67,906 174,790
Total 45T 505,182 712,725

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

FEWE BRI EBEREEBINT

For the

For the nine months

year ended ended

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

HZ20245 #HZE2023F

12A31H1E 1273181k

FE SUEA

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAT

At the beginning of year/period F/E L 305,223 330,291
Impairment losses REEE 1,039 41,556
Disposal of a subsidiary SRR A A = (34,493)
Amount written off as uncollectible R B FRIE 8 = (26,392)
Exchange realignment P& 5 i (2,032) (5,739)
At the end of year/period FHREE 304,230 305,223

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type,
service type, customer type and rating). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject
to enforcement activity.
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

22,

Trade Receivables (Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on

22. EWE SRR @)

TR ERAKEREE SEFNEERR

the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: FREEERENER
As at 31 December 2024 720245128318
Past due
B
Less than Over
Current 1year 1-2years 2-3years 3 years Total
IECIES S 1226 2E3%F @iB3F st
Expected credit loss rate BHEEHEX 6% 6% 50% 80% 100% 38%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) RERESZ(FHET) 415,146 83,494 67,389 18,985 224,398 809,412
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) ~ TEEMEEEIR(THIL) 25664 5162 33,769 15237 224,398 304,230
As at 31 December 2023 72023F12831H
Past due
Less than Over
Current 1year 1-2vyears 2-3years 3 years Total
ENER M 1226 283 BR3F st
Expected credit loss rate HEEEEEX 6% 6% 49% 78% 100% 30%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) JRERE SR (FET) 527,742 94,598 141,079 44,003 210,526 1,017,948
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)  FEEMEEEE(THEL) 39,601 5,868 14,775 34453 210,526 305,223
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

23. Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other 23. ENRE - HttEWREREME
Assets E

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12H318 20239 12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
Prepayments TERTFRIR 552,962 775,772
Capitalised contract costs* B AL A ZIR A 83,869 119,029
Deposits and other receivables e R HMEWGRIE 781,776 847,242
Current portion of loans receivables (note 19) FEUEFZ BIEAZR(H (FEE19) 31,822 34,477
1,450,429 1,776,520

Impairment allowance BUEZERE (92,384) (62,186)
Total =t 1,358,045 1,714,334

* Capitalised contract costs relate to the incremental sales commissions * ERHE NN AREEE FHEREPHAE

whose selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties which are still under
construction at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as
part of “selling and distribution expenses” in the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which revenue from the related property sales is
recognised. The amount of capitalised contract costs that is expected
to be recovered after more than one year is HK$13,081,000 (31
December 2023: HK$13,366,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the loss rate of other receivables applied
ranged from 0.1% to 100% (31 December 2023: 0.1% to 100%)
and the loss rates of loans receivable applied ranged from 1.5%
to 3% (31 December 2023: 1.5% to 3%). Except for the loans
receivables, other receivables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing
and repayable on demand.
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

24. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

24. RERFACEEYRZREBE

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12831H 2023%F12A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT BT

Cash and bank balances B MIRITIF 717,732 1,143,644
Less: Restricted cash* W ZBRHIERE* (676,590) (913,556)

Cash and cash equivalents HeKReEED 41,142 230,088
* Restricted cash mainly comprises: (i) guarantee deposits for the * XRHEHREFERE  (\MBEREEYEY

mortgage loan facilities granted by the banks to purchasers of the
Group's properties; (i) guarantee funds of construction projects to
meet local authorities’ requirements; (iii) certain amounts of pre-
sale proceeds from properties placed as guarantee deposits for the
construction of related properties; (iv) certain amounts of proceeds
from lease of properties which have been placed as guarantee
deposits for the borrowings; and (v) pledged deposits to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$716,184,000 (31
December 2023: HK$1,141,564,000). RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorized to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted cash
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

Certain of the Group’s bank deposits with a carrying amount of
HK$676,590,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
HK$913,556,000), were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 28).

BERERITRTHZBEFRENRERS
(VERBEHNRES  UNEEMBENE
F GiVERENE THSFASE - UMER
HEMEEZRNRELRS  (WVHEMENS
THEMMSHRES FEAMEREERENRER
T RWBEERRITERIEAREERERE R
RITRARER -

RBERR - AEEUAREBEMNES R
$R1T17 33 716,184,000 7T (2023412 A 31
A : 1,141,564,0007 ) - AR 7] B H
HRBAHME - A RIBEPEKREAINE
EHED R AEE HEREERE - ASEEA
LA B ETTINE E IR T I AR H iR
REMEL o

FRIRITZBASRES B RITERNE 2 F8
FRGREH S - MMEMEANERASE
H—REZEATE  RIAKEHNEFNRE
FRMAE -+ A8 B2 35852 B i # A 5OR &
R - RITEREEZRIBEIERREER
o BT HAY B R GRACER IR TT o

MR2024F 12 A31H - A"EBEEHEELES
676,590,000 % T ( 2023 F 12 A 31 H
913,556,000/ 7T ) 85 TR EEHERLRE
R —RIRITRVE AR (B3E28) -
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

25. Trade and Other Payables

25. BEZREMENFRE

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12A31H 2023%F12A31H

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

BIsE FERT FET
Other payables and accruals HAb R RIE R EETIE R (iii) 5,706,670 3,710,768
Notes payable B ZEIE (i) 45,559 47,107
Rental and other receipts in advance ~ FEUKFE S F H b 3k0E 826,896 784,526
Lease liabilities HEAaE 16(ii) 1,348 2,565
Construction fee and retention payables JEfTiZEEALRE S (ii) 2,879,276 2,349,017
Total 1Bt 9,459,749 6,893,983

(i)  An ageing analysis of the Group’s notes payable presented

() REEMRAEEERERAZENER

based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is HERIR DT T -
as follows:
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12H31H 20237 12A31H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Within 3 months 3l@AMA 45,559 47,107
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

25. Trade and Other Payables (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

An ageing analysis of the construction fee and retention
payables as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

25. ESREMEMSRE S
(iy RBEHFREMNREERRIRLSOER
DT

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024128318 2023512 A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 1 year 147 2,212,595 1,822,364
Over 1 year BiE1F 666,681 526,653
Total a5t 2,879,276 2,349,017

All the notes payable have maturity dates within one year.
As at 31 December 2024, notes payable amounting to
HK$45,559,000 (31 December 2023: HK$47,107,000) were
discounted by these note holders.

The construction fee and retention payables are non-interest-
bearing and repayable within the normal operating cycle or
on demand.

The other payables are non-interest-bearing.
As at 31 December 2024, the amount include the litigation

provision amounting to HK$469,130,000 (31 December
2023: Nil).

B RENZEHRAR —FRHE - 722024
F12A318  #$7%8 /545,559,000 T
(2023412 A318 : 47,107,000/ 7T ) HJ
ENEBEEBRERE AR -

ENREBARRESAREREN—K
EGAEESRERE -
HivENFRIBEARE -

(i)  M2024F12 8310 @ ©REBEFAREE

#] /5 469,130,000 78 7T (2023 4 12 A 31
H:4E) -
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

26. Amounts due to Related Parties/Amounts due
to Associates/Amount due from a Related Party

FEAS BAR 5 RRIE, RS D B K
18,/ FE Uk BR Bk 75 FROR

26.

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12H31H 2023412 A31H

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BiaE FET FET
Trade-related: B 5 -
Amounts due to associates: JFETH & AR FOE ¢
First Asia Pacific Group FE—KEE (1 889,892 686,260
Amounts due to associates: FETHE & A RIFOE ¢
Xi'an China South City PR EER I, ) 47,515 34,449
Non-trade-related: EE 5180 -
Amounts due to associates: FEISTESE A R FRIA
First Asia Pacific Group F—IKEE (1) 288,432 190,156
Nanchang Huamei Lijia Commercial FEHEETREE @)
Management Co., Ltd EIBER AT 2,160 -
Amounts due from associates: JRE MBSt A ) FRIA
Xi‘an China South City T T I (3) 25,775 40,940
Amounts due to other related FEAT A 5 R0
parties:
Shenzhen Zhenhua Investment FINEFEREERERA (4)
and Development Co., Ltd Al 635,383 649,269
Shenzhen SEZ Construction and A RERESEREE (5)
Development Group Co., Ltd BRRAT
("SZCDG") (MMFEEREE]) 1,409,294 556,563
Amount due from a related party:  FEUBAES T 2OE
SZCDG (el ER sy L] (6) 135,700 138,666
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

26. Amounts due to Related Parties/Amounts due
to Associates/Amount due from a Related Party
(Continued)

Notes:

M

@)

®3)

(5)

(6)

As at 31 December 2024, the amount of HK$488,958,000 (31
December 2023: HK$499,644,000) due to First Asia Pacific Group
was unsecured and interest bearing at a rate of 4.35% per annum,
other balances are unsecured and interest-free.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due to Xi‘an China South City
was unsecured and repayable on demand or expected to be settled
within one year. The aggregate amount of HK$47,515,000 (31
December 2023: HK$34,449,000) was unsecured and interest-free.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due from Xi‘an China South
City was unsecured and receivable on demand or expected to be
received within one year. The aggregate amount of HK$25,775,000
(31 December 2023: HK$40,940,000) was unsecured and interest-
free.

As at 31 December 2024, the amounts of HK$635,383,000 (31
December 2023: HK$649,269,000) due to Shenzhen Zhenhua
Investment and Development Co., Ltd (a company controlled by
SZCDG) was unsecured and interest bearing at a rate of 6%-8% per
annum.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due to SZCDG was unsecured
and repayable on demand or expected to be settled within one year.
The aggregate amount of HK$1,409,294,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$556,563,000) was unsecured and interest-free.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due from SZCDG of
HK$135,700,000 (31 December 2023: HK$138,666,000) was
unsecured and interest-free.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due to Nanchang Huamei Lijia
Commercial Management Co., Ltd was unsecured and repayable on
demand or expected to be settled within one year. The aggregate
amount of HK$2,160,000 was unsecured and interest-free.

27. Contract Liabilities

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

26. FENTEREE S FE FEATEEE DB
18 FE Uk BB 5 FROE ()

@)

(©)

(©)

(6)

MR2024F12A31H  BRNE—SALER
3} 7B 488,958,000 T (20234 12 A31 8 -
499,644,000/ 7T ) AHE KA B IR F M %£4.35%
B HibE#AEEHERES -

R2024F 12 A31H » B E X ERWFE
AERFAAKREREERBHR —FANE
i o #8%H47,515,000% 7T (202312 A31H -
34,449,000/87T) AEERREFE

R2024F 12 A31H » BT % 3/ 38
AERRAEERRIE R —FRER K
TH o 48%H25,775,0007%7C(2023F 12 A31H
40,940,000 7T) AR R 2 F B o

20245128318 » BARIIEERERE
BERAB(ERRAIEEHFEREEEITH)
X 78 635,383,0007% 7T (20234 12 A31 8 -
649,269,000 % T ) A M I - I I% F F K
6%-8%=tE °

R2024F12A310 @ BNFEREEEEENHR
EAERABARERKEERBHR—FRE
& o 48%81,409,294,0007% 7T (2023412 A 31
A : 556,563,000/ 70 ) AEIEIR R EF B -

R2024F12A31H - BREFREEZHEER
T8 135,700,000 7 7t (2023 12 A 31 8 -
138,666,000/ 7T ) A I IR K o F) 2. o

R2024F12A310  ENEEEZEEXZYREE
BEBRARNIEAEIKFEBEEREER
HIBHN —FREE - #%82,160,000/ T 5
IR REHE -

27. EHAEE
ANEERETRET -

31 December 2024
2024F12A31H

31 December 2023
2023412 A31H

HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Advances received from customers WHRE P ay7a1T#E
Contract liabilities related to sales of HHEEEBNENAE
properties 5,950,533 8,259,432
Value-added tax related to sales of properties B U A E2§4E YIS B RIH
as included in pre-sales proceeds HER 520,743 676,617
Sale of properties HEWE 6,471,276 8,936,049

Contract liabilities include advances received from customers in
relation to the pre-sale of properties.

AN
=

HEaBEBREEEMERNEFMEMNIENRK
I8 o
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

28. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

31 December 2024
2024%F12831H

28. FFRMBITRHEMEER

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

Maturity HKS$'000  Maturity HK$'000
R FiEx  FIH FAT

Current RN &R
Bank and other RITREMEE

borrowings
— unsecured — EK 2025 333,347 2024 588,820
— secured — B 2025 663,324 2024 1,295,001
Current portion of long- ~ REJRITRHEMMEE

term bank and other BIRIEAER S

borrowings:
Bank and other RITREMEE

borrowings
— unsecured — A 2025 240,773 - -
— secured —F 2025 6,561,353 2024 5,519,918
Total — current KBET—BNER 7,798,797 7,403,739
Non-current JERNHA
Bank and other IRITREMEE

borrowings
- secured —BHEM 2026-2038 11,979,079 2025-2038 13,892,041
Total 1@zt 19,777,876 21,295,780
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

28. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings
(Continued)

28.

STERITREMEE @)

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
20245128318 2023512 A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FT
Analyzed into: baxigdiv=
Bank and other borrowings repayable: JERAT M EENIRTTRE
MEE :

Within one year —F R 7,798,797 7,403,739
In the second year FF 5,969,732 4,288,092

In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE-EFRF(REERE
RELER) 1,611,298 4,862,537
Beyond five years & 4,398,049 4,741,412
Total =t 19,777,876 21,295,780

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured
by the Group’s buildings, investment properties, properties under
development, properties held for finance lease and sale, trade
receivables and bank deposits as stated in notes 13, 14, 15, 20, 22

and 24.

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, all interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group are denominated

in RMB, HK dollars and US dollars.

Bank and other borrowings with a total amount of
HK$19,203,756,000 (31 December 2023: HK$20,706,960,000) are

secured by:

(i)  Certain of the Group’s buildings with an aggregate carrying
value of approximately HK$3,056,000 as at 31 December

2024 (31 December 2023: HK$3,243,000 (note 13);

(i)  Certain of the Group’s investment properties situated in
Chinese Mainland with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately HK$30,384,557,000 as at 31 December 2024

(31 December 2023: HK$33,537,271,000) (note 14);

(iiiy  Certain of the Group’s properties under development situated
in Chinese Mainland with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately HK$539,355,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31

December 2023: HK$853,393,000) (note 15);

PFEE13 2 14 - 15~ 20 ~ 22 K24 H - A&
BETRIREMEERASEET - BEY
¥ FEYYE BEREHEERHEEDE
FEUE SRR X IRTTIF SRR o

2024412 A31H 202312 A31H - K&
B BRTREMEEHUARE BB ERE
TLREN -

48 1£19,203,756,000/8 7T (2023F 12 A31H
20,706,960,00078 7T) FERTT M EABE E LA 51
FIEIER

() 720244912 A31HERE4{E493,056,000
BT AEEE TEF(2023F12 531
B : 3,243,000/87) (BisE13)

(i) M2024F12 A3 HEHERLEY
30,384,557,000 7% 7T H9 7~ & [ i 72 R
KRERETIREYH(20235F12 4318 ¢
33,537,271,000/870) (FizE14)

(i) M2024F12 A3 HEAERBLELY
539,355,000 7T B9 A4S & B iz 74 R B K e
METERETWE(2023F12A318 -
853,393,000/ T) (Bf7E15) ¢
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

28. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings
(Continued)

29.

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Certain of the Group's properties held for finance lease
and properties held for sale with aggregate carrying
values of Nil (31 December 2023: HK$1,654,000) and
approximately HK$18,519,366,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$18,703,903,000) respectively as at 31 December 2024
(note 20);

100% of the shares of Qianlong Logistics Group Limited
were pledged to secure certain bank loans as at 31 December
2024;

Certain of Group's logistics services trade receivables with a
carrying amount of HK$2,971,000 as at 31 December 2024
(note 22); and

Certain of Group’s bank deposits with a carrying amount of
HK$676,590,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: HK$913,556,000) (note 24).

All interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group were
denominated in HK dollars, Renminbi and US dollars. The weighted
average effective interest rate of bank and other borrowings is 5.2%
as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 6.8%).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
approximate to their fair values, which have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows at the prevailing interest

rates.

Senior Notes

The Company issued the following senior notes, which are listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, in the current
and prior years:

0

On 20 November 2017, the Company issued senior notes
with an aggregate principal amount of US$300,000,000
(the “2017 November Notes”). The 2017 November Notes
carry interest at the rate of 7.25% per annum, payable semi-
annually on 20 May and 20 November in arrears, and was
originally scheduled to mature on 20 November 2022, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering price was at 97.96% of the
principal amount of the 2017 November Notes.

In August 2022, the Company obtained the consent from the
note holders that the maturity date of the 2017 November
Notes has been extended from 20 November 2022 to 20
July 2024 and the Company may at its option redeem the
2017 November Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2017
November Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including) the
redemption date. The interest rate of the 2017 November
Notes changed from 7.25% per annum to 9.0% per annum.
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(iv) 72024512 A3 A AREBE THERE
HEMERSEHEMENFERRES 5
A (202312 A31H ¢ 1,654,000/ 7T)
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(v)  F2024%F12A31H EVDREBAR
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TTE

(i) 20245 12A31H > EEFEYD
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WE SRR (E22) + &

(i) R2024F 12 A3 BEEREAEZED
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

29. Senior Notes (Continued)

0

(ii)

(Continued)

In December 2023, the Company obtained the consent
from the note holders that the maturity date of the 2017
November Notes has been extended from 20 July 2024 to 19
August 2027 and the Company may at its option redeem the
2017 November Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2017
November Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including) the
redemption date. The interest rate of the 2017 November
Notes changed from 9.0% per annum to 4.5% per annum.

During the year, the Company has repaid the principal
amount of US$9,469,000 and the interest amount of
US$50,000.

During the year, the Company failed to make the payment
of the principal and interest amounted to US$21,284,000
thereon, which constituted an event of default. Therefore, the
principal of US$227,260,000 and interest of US$21,737,000
were repayable on demand as at 31 December 2024.

On 12 December 2019 and 21 January 2020, the Company
issued senior notes with the aggregate principal amounts
of US$150,000,000 and US$200,000,000, respectively,
(collectively known as the “2019 December Notes”). The
2019 December Notes carry interest at the rate of 11.50%
per annum. Interest will be paid on 12 August and 12
February of each year, commencing from 12 August 2020,
and was originally scheduled to mature on 12 February
2022, unless redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at
97.396% and 98.791% of the principal amounts of the 2019
December Notes of US$150,000,000 and US$200,000,000,
respectively. In January 2022, the Company has obtained the
consent from the note holders that the maturity date of the
2019 December Notes has been extended from 12 February
2022 to 12 August 2022. In August 2022, the Company
further obtained the consent from the note holders that the
maturity date of the 2019 December Notes has been further
extended to 12 April 2024. The Company may at its option
redeem the 2019 December Notes, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2019 December Notes plus the applicable premium and
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including)
the redemption date. The interest rate of the 2019 December
Notes changed from 11.50% per annum to 9.0% per annum.

29. BREE®@)

0

(ii)

(%)

2023F 128 ARBRIEBSEERFTEA
BEE2017F 1M AZENEHBEER
202457 A20HIERE2027F8A19A &
KRB AZEER2017F 1N AZEAS
HBEE100%MERE - SIEEEDH
(BETBEZE)2017E 11 AZENER
B R R RANFE(IE) - BRE 2
ek D EE - 2017F 11 AZE R K5
BEEBFIO%ETFAL45% °

FA - AREEEEAR$9,469,000% 7T
& F|£.50,000% 7T °

FAN - ARAEIREINRAEENERS
N F) B 21284000 T ' EHRENE
o ALk - A2024F 128318 A&
227,260,000 st A F| 821,737,000 7T
BIRBSKAS(EE o

M2019F 12 12H &2020F1 8218 -
AN QA5 Rl 1T 7N & 4258 150,000,000
37T % 200,000,000 St B R = (5
WAI2019F 12 AFE]) - 2019124
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20206F8 A 128 - ARINEF8A12H
R2A12BX - WRERR202242 712
BEIE(BRIERFER) - HFEEH A
20194F 12 A 2% 2 150,000,000 3% 7T &
200,000,000 LA & 48 EE /9 97.396% &
98.791% ° 12022F 1 A + AR =EIEEE
EEEEAREZE2019F 12 AZENT
HIAE H20226F2 A 128 ERE2022F
8H12H « M202268H « KAalE—#
MEEZEEARGREE2019F12AF
EMEIEHBIEE2024F48128 « AR
A IZEER2019F 12 AR EA S 2%
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

29. Senior Notes (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(Continued)

During the year, the Company failed to make the payment
of the principal and interest amounted of US$306,170,000
thereon, which constituted an event of default. Therefore, the
principal of US$288,840,000 and interest of US$35,961,000
were repayable on demand as at 31 December 2024.

On 26 February 2020 and 26 June 2020, the Company
issued senior notes with the aggregate principal amounts
of US$225,000,000 and US$125,000,000, respectively,
(collectively known as the “2020 February Notes”). The
2020 February Notes carry interest at the rate of 10.875%
per annum, payable semi-annually on 26 June and 26
December in arrears, commencing from 26 June 2020, and
was originally scheduled to mature on 26 June 2022, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at 97.073% and
93.092% of the aggregate principal amounts of the 2020
February Notes of US$225,000,000 and US$125,000,000,
respectively. In January 2022, the Company has obtained the
consent from the note holders that the maturity date of the
2020 February Notes has been extended from 26 June 2022
to 26 October 2022. In August 2022, the Company further
obtained the consent from note holder that the maturity date
of the 2020 February Notes has been further extended to 26
June 2024. The Company may at its option redeem the 2020
February Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2020 February
Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, as of (but not including) the redemption date.
The interest rate of the 2020 February Notes changed from
10.875% per annum to 9.0% per annum.

During the year, the Company failed to make the payment
the principal and interest amounted to US$300,103,000,
thereon, which constituted an event of default. Therefore, the
principal of US$287,180,000 and interest of US$26,133,000
were repayable on demand as at 31 December 2024.
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(ii)

(iii)
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29. Senior Notes (Continued)

(iv)

On 11 September 2020 and 13 January 2021, the Company
issued senior notes with aggregate principal amounts
of US$250,000,000 and US$120,000,000, respectively
(collectively known as the “2020 September Notes”). The
2020 September Notes carry interest at the rate of 10.75%
per annum, payable semi-annually on 11 April and 11
October in arrears, commencing from 11 April 2021, and
was originally scheduled to mature on 11 April 2023, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at 96.521% and
99.845% of the aggregate principal amounts of the 2020
September Notes of US$250,000,000 and US$120,000,000,
respectively.

In August 2022, the Company obtained the consent from the
note holders that the maturity date of the 2020 September
Notes has been extended from 11 April 2023 to 11 December
2024 and the Company may at its option redeem the 2020
September Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2020
September Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including) the
redemption date. The interest rate of the 2020 September
Notes changed from 10.75% per annum to 9.0% per annum.

During the year, the Company failed to make the payment
of the principal and interest amounted to US$366,855,000,
thereon, which constituted an event of default. Therefore, the
principal of US$333,000,000 and interest of US$36,547,000
were repayable on demand as at 31 December 2024.

29. BREB®)

(iv)

M2020F9 A8 11H K2021F1 /8138 -
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29. Senior Notes (Continued)

(v)

On 9 March 2021 and 22 March 2021, the Company
issued senior notes with aggregate principal amounts
of US$175,000,000 and US$50,000,000, respectively
(collectively known as the “2021 March Notes”). The 2021
March Notes carry interest at the rate of 11.95% per annum,
payable semi-annually on 9 September and 9 March in
arrears, commencing from 9 September 2021, and was
originally scheduled to mature on 9 February 2023, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at 96.081% and
96.081% of the aggregate principal amounts of the 2021
March Notes of US$175,000,000 and US$50,000,000,
respectively.

In August 2022, the Company obtained the consent from
the note holders that the maturity date of the 2021 March
Notes has been extended from 9 February 2023 to 9 October
2024 and the Company may at its option redeem the 2021
March Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal
to 100% of the principal amount of the 2021 March Notes
plus the applicable premium and accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, as of (but not including) the redemption date. The
interest rate of the 2021 March Notes changed from 11.95%
per annum to 9.0% per annum.

During the year, the Company failed to make the payment
of the outstanding principal and interest amounted of
US$221,569,000 thereon, which constituted an event of
default. Therefore, the principal of US$202,500,000 and
interest of US$23,844,000 were repayable on demand as at
31 December 2024.
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29. Senior Notes (Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, 2017 November Notes, 2019
December Notes, 2020 February Notes, 2020 September Notes
and 2021 March Notes (collectively named as the “Senior Notes”)

contained liability components and early redemption options as

follows:

0]

(ii)

The liability component represented the present value of
the contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate at that time
applicable to instruments with comparable credit status that
provided substantially the same cash flows, on the same
terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

Interest charged for the year was calculated by applying
coupon rates of approximately 4.5%, 9%, 9%, 9% and 9%
per annum to the liability components of 2017 November
Notes, 2019 December Notes, 2020 February Notes, 2020
September Notes and 2021 March Notes, respectively, since
they were issued.

Early redemption options were regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host contracts. The
Directors consider that the fair value of the above early
redemption options was insignificant on initial recognition
and as at 31 December 2023.

The Senior Notes recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position were calculated as follows:

29. BEEE W@
PEREHIR » 2017F 11 BEIE - 2019F128E
- 202052 AZE - 20209F9 A ik K 2021
FIRZR(HBAMELZREDEATHEED
AR iR EE DI

() BEBIEAVUMEERTESRERA
B AL REE R IRAREHER R
HERRSREEERATETANTA
ERERNIRITIISMETRNEAE -

HAMFEEBRIER20177F 1M ARE
2019F 12 A& %, - 20202 A £%E -
20206F9 A EEM2021 63 AEE - ZiE
BITRM B BB D HRIEREEA XL
45% > 9% * 9% * 9% K 9%t E -

(iy RPEERERGATIFEEANEZRYE
FERBALTETE - EERARVIAER
N 20235 12A318 - Ltz RELRE
BRAFETK -

ERFAMBINARERNEAZEENT

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12831H 2023412 A31H

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTHET FT

Current portion BNERER 10,442,482 8,891,111
Non-current portion JERDER SR D - 1,565,410
Total st 10,442,482 10,456,521

The fair value of the Senior Notes as at 31 December 2024
amounted to HK$2,912,577,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$2,744,443,000). The fair value was calculated by using the
quoted market price of the Senior Notes on 31 December 2024.

R2024F 12 A31H  BEAEEMNAFE
#2,912,577,000 % 7T (20234 12 A 31 H :
2,744,443,00070) - AT EMERELEE
R2024F12 A31 BRTIGES CHMETH -
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30. Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year/

period are as follows:

30. EERIE

F/RNELERAREREEZ BT

Deferred tax liabilities ELEHEAE
Fair value
adjustments
Costs to Accelerated Revaluation Revaluation of Capitalised arising from
obtain tax  ofinvestment  Withholding  property, plant interest  remeasure of
contracts depreciation properties taxes  and equipment expense associates Total
HENR
EifitE
EBA0R % HER EEZAVE
BA  MERERE  RENEER B REES EA{LFE Ek @
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ik TER THR TR TER THR TR TER THR
At 31 December 2023 R2023512A318 44113 1,321,739 6,817,811 425,734 82,195 780,128 162,610 9,634,930
Deferred tax charged/(credited)  ERRGAERER
to the consolidated statement 1%/ (st \)JEOIERC
of profit or loss during the year 8 10 (8.305) 129,918 (600,866) 13,681 - 141,704 - (323,868)
Exchange differences ERZER (838) (30,129) (149,663) (9,301) (1,758) (18,714) (3,478) (213,881)
Gross deferred taxliabilites at 72024124318
31 December 2024 EEERERR 35,570 1,421,528 6,067,282 430,114 80,437 903,118 159,132 9,097,181
Deferred tax assets BEEMRIEEE
Provision for Change in fair
Losses  impairment Provision for value of
available oftrade,  Taxeffect of write-down of financial
for offsetting otherand  government inventories  assets at fair
Tax effect ~ against future long-term ~ grants relating Accrued  and properties  value through
of LAT  taxable profits receivables to assets expense  held forsale  profit or loss Total
FEdRS: -
THEE  HERRE  RHEEZ FER  EBEEN
THEER  ARERS FUEE BN BENXHEE  ATEIRZ
L2 bilbalcl o} HERE hKye FESTE% HERE SREEZYE @it
Note HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
iF:d Tién T THR Tix TR TER Fin TR
At 31 December 2023 R2023512A4318 1,331,105 826,535 359,321 945,910 59,169 258,064 269,136 4,049,240
Deferred tax credited/(charged) FAREABERA
to the consolidated statement 5t/ (415 ))
of profitor loss during the ~ EXERR
year 10 50,876 (820,619) - (10,935) (34,622) 45,012 (1,146) (771,434)
Exchange differences EXZR (341) (5.916) (1333) (42,948) (769) 2731 (5,063) (53,639)
Gross deferred tax assetsat 720245124318
31 December 2024 MEETHEAE 1,381,640 - 357,988 892,027 23778 305,807 262,927 3,204,167
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30. Deferred Tax (Continued) 30. EEBIE )
Deferred tax liabilities EZEHEAE
Fair value
adjustments
Costs to Accelerated Revaluation Revaluation of Capitalised arising from
obtain tax  ofinvestment Withholding ~ property, plant interest remeasure of
contracts depreciation properties taxes  and equipment expense associates Total
Bend
BHfitE
U G % HER EEZATE
WA MEBUERE  REMESH it BGEL usieits RE &
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i T Tk FL Tk L AL Tt L
At 31 March 2023 R02353A318 51,649 1,293,752 7,983,340 420,007 85,085 743,046 140,686 10,717,565
Deferred tax charged/(credited) ~ HAREABHEER
to the consolidated statement 1% /(3 AIEE
of profit o loss during the iR
period 10 (5,168) 101,359 (537,122) 19.941 - 57,398 26,632 (336,960)
Disposal of a subsidiary HENBAR - (29,695) (340,238) - - 47 - (365,162)
Exchange differences EfZE (1,768) (43,677) (288,169) (14.214) (2,890) (25,087) (4,708) (380,513)
Gross deferred tax iabilites at 720231243184
31 December 2023 BETHERR 4113 1,321,739 6,817,811 425,734 82,195 780,128 162,610 9,634,930
Deferred tax assets BEEMIEEE
Provision for Change in fair
Losses impairment Provision for value of
available of trade, Tax effect of write-down of financial
for offsetting other and government inventories  assets at fair
Taxeffect  against future long-term ~~ grants relating Accrued  and properties  value through
of LAT  taxable profits receivables 10 assets expense el forsale  profit or loss Total
AfEE  ApRRE  BEAEZ BER  BEEEN
HRER  RRERR UG BFEE BENEHE  ATEIRZ
MRBTE  EOER ERE hikzE JEtRx BERE cREEINE @t

Note HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
iz TERL TR TERL TR TR TERL TERL TR

At 31 March 2023 2023534318 1,316,252 801,680 184,128 989,804 61,249 135,065 1811 3,490,049
Deferred tax credited/(charged) HIAREABERA

to the consolidated statement 5t/ (415 )4)

of profitor loss during the ~ EXERTR

period 10 73,807 139,827 189,571 4,989) - 139,772 266,626 804,614
Disposal of a subsidiary HERBAA (14,440) (88,109) (8623) (5818) - (12,554) - (129,544)
Exchange differences EiZE (44,514) (26,863) (5,755) (33,087) (2,080) (4219 639 (115,879)
Gross deferred tax assetsat 1820231274318

31 December 2023 HBEEHEAE 1,331,105 826,535 359,321 945,910 59,169 258,064 269,136 4,049,240
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

30.

Deferred Tax (Continued) 30. IEFEBIE ()

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities MEIME - ETELERIBEERBEDRE
have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position. EUBRARAIEE - LT AP BEBREDN
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the AR BIRET IR R IT -

Group for financial reporting purposes:

31 December 2024
2024%12H31H

HK$'000
FExT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated ~ FA4RA BATSAR R R I FE R AEERE 1E
statement of financial position BEFE 926,611
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated A 474 BFSARR MFERRIEL R E
statement of financial position BEF5E 6,799,625
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the LATIE B A ERELEMSHEAE -

following items:

31 December 2024
2024%12A31H

HK$'000

FET

Impairment of assets BEERE 798,522

Tax losses HIEEE 2,146,650

Total st 2,945,172
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried ik 5 A8 A 5 T8 M) 25 ] B 435 38 oK 2 JFE SR B 355 ) 8
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits IH o et EniEERERELRES

through future taxable profits is probable. BEe
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

30. Deferred Tax (Continued) 30. EEHIE®E)

At the end of year, the Group has unrecognised tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of HK$1,507,109,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$1,248,228,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses

arose.

At the end of year, the Group also has unrecognised tax losses
in Chinese Mainland of HK$7,591,909,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$2,777,047,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Chinese Mainland.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese
Mainland and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008. In the current year, the Group accrued
withholding tax of HK$13,681,000 (nine months ended 31
December 2023: HK$19,941,000) for those subsidiaries established
in Chinese Mainland.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
was approximately HK$5,955,667,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$7,263,676,000). No liability has been recognised in respect of
these differences because the Group is in a position to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

RERE  REBREBEENARERTIEE
8 /31,507,109,000/% 7T (20234 12 A31 8 -
1,248,228,000/&7T) - Al MR HAAS 88 - LASKEH
EEBBNARRRERBEF o

KR - 2N SR B IR Fp B K ik 2 A B R FERR
FRIAE1E 57,591,909,0007 70 (2023412 A 31
H :2,777,047,0007) - R —E2RAFRNE
W AR S AR R ERBORE ) -

MR ZEEEAEHREBERE -—REHNMER
AIEL - BRRBA/L A EE TR ERBUE T
NEHZ SR SHANMIRERE - M ERZE
EIEERRLERNIAEE

RERBEMERE - LR B REER 8
SNIRE D ERIEIMNEE E TIRAI IR B ABMR
10%TBHIFAISHE © 2433 E B 200851 1B 24
K WIEAR2008F1 A1 BEMELE ZEF -
it R B BLE HME & B BT RLUARE R ET B B4 ik
2 - BRI ERABRTEFIAS R - AEEAE
ARER5%H10% © FEt - RNERAEFH A E
KEERG ST YT/ A B 9 k20084 1 A1 B & Pk
BB FIH I S MR IBIATER c RARFRA -
REEFTRIBPTS 13,681,000/ T (B ZE
2023F12A3181ENEA 19,941,000 7T) °

2024512 A31H - EEB QAR 2R E R
i AREREEHIEEE s R EEAES
H4945,955,667,000/8 7L (2023F 12 318 :
7,263,676,000/%8 7T ) © LR B EFERER
15 T R R AN 5 [ AT 4% 1 488 1o B e M 2 BB 2 IR
NMERMEEENAIER 2 BRI g e -

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZR IR AT

293



294

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

31. Share Capital 31. R
Shares dni)

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12A318  2023%F12F31H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FT
Issued and fully paid: BEETREE
11,441,892,848 (31 December 2023: 11,441,892,848/% (20234
11,441,892,848) ordinary shares 12A318 : 11,441,892,848
A%) E i@k 9,131,812 9,131,812
A summary of the movements in the Company’s share capital is as NRRAZEHHEZNT -
follows:
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
ERITROBE R
HK$'000
FET
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and 72023912 HA318 * 20244
31 December 2024 1H1BX%2024%12R31H 11,441,892,848 9,131,812
Share options B
Details of the Company's share option scheme and the share R AT BRERT & RN EI TE TR
options issued under the scheme are included in note 32 to the BRED FH AN S MR A FE32 o

financial statements.
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

32. Share Options 32. BERE

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 4 September
2009 (the “2009 Share Option Scheme”) to provide incentives
and reward to selected eligible persons which include directors,
employees, officers, agents, consultants or representatives of
the Group for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Company or its subsidiaries. The 2009 Share Option Scheme
became effective on 30 September 2009 and, has expired on 13
September 2019.

Another share option scheme (the “2019 Share Option Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders in annual general meetings and
became effective on 13 September 2019 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date. Pursuant to the terms of the 2019 Share Option Scheme, the
Company may grant options at its discretion, to any eligible persons
which include executive and non-executive directors, employees,
officers, agents or consultants of the Company or any subsidiary for
their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

The following share options were outstanding under the 2009
Share Option Scheme and 2019 Share Option Scheme during the

AEE R 200949 A 4 B I 4 8 IR 7 51 &
([20094F BN AERT &1 ) » M AR A RIS HMTE
ARAMEL RSB EENEIBESERALT
(REALEES BB  afBE KB FE
IR KR )IRHIERE R B - 2009F BT
£/ 52009F9 430 AR + REF201949 A
13EEIHE -

IR B ([ 2019F BAUERT 8 DN
REFRG LRGERRIE - XHN201969A
13HAER - BRZARERTF(BRIFFUER
TEHERT) » RIB2019FBEAMERT B AV 165K
ARBARBER(ARBREMHBEAR2ES
(BEHITIFNTES) - BE - SARE -
RIBRER) AR EBALETHBERRE - A8
IS ARENEREEETR

R HARIR E2009F B IR 21 F1201945 8
RAEE & AR TE 2 AR ¢

year/period:
For the year ended For the nine months ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
BZ2024512A31ALEE HZ2023512A318 LNEA
Weighted Weighted
average exercise Number of  average exercise Number of
price per share options price per share options
BRmnE SR
FHTRE BREZE THTERE ERER A
HK$ '000 HK$ '000
BT T BT Fa
At the beginning of year/period RE /5] 1.0292 83,300 1.2117 128,300
Lapsed during the year/period F/HREH 1.0469 (51,800) 2.1051 (45,000)
At the end of year/period WE /#FK 1.0000 31,500 1.0292 83,300
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

32. Share Options (Continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2024

Number of options

Exercise price

32. BRE®)
R HIR - o 173 B AR AE e 1T (8 K2 7T (3 R
FURNE

20247128318

Exercise period

BREHE TEE 1TEE
‘000 HKS$ per share
TR sRERT
5,500 1.00 07-02-2021 to 06-02-2025
20212 H7H£2025%286H
5,500 1.00 07-02-2022 to 06-02-2025
2022%F2H7HZ2025%2H6H
5,500 1.00 07-02-2023 to 06-02-2025
2023F2H7H%E2025%2A6H
15,000 1.00 31-03-2022 to 30-03-2026
202243 H31HZ20263H30H
31,500
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

32. Share Options (Continued)
31 December 2023

Number of options

Exercise price

32. BREGE
2023512 A31H

Exercise period

fEN S B 1T1R(E T ER
‘000 HK$ per share
T BRATT
3,000 1.81 13-04-2019 to 12-04-2024

20194 A13H £2024%F4H12H

10,100 1.00 07-02-2021 to 06-02-2025
20215278 %2025 2 A6H

10,100 1.00 07-02-2022 to 06-02-2025
20222 A7HZE2025%2A6H

10,100 1.00 07-02-2023 to 06-02-2025
2023F2 A7H%E2025%F2A6H

10,000 1.00 29-06-2022 to 28-06-2026
2022964298 %2026 6 728H

10,000 1.00 29-06-2023 to 28-06-2026
20236 A29H £2026%6A28H

10,000 1.00 29-06-2024 to 28-06-2026
20246 A29H 2202656 A28H

20,000 1.00 31-03-2022 to 30-03-2026
2022%3A318%2026%3A30H

83,300
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

32.

33.

Share Options (Continued)

The fair value of the share options valid during the year was
HK$1,241,000 (HK$0.1241 each), of which the Group recognised
a share option expense of HK$204,000 (nine months ended 31
December 2023: HK$462,000) during the year ended 31 December
2024.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 31,500,000
share options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, which
represented approximately 0.28% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 31,500,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of HK$31,500,000 (before
issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 31,500,000 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 0.28% of the Company’s

shares in issue as at that date.

Other Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current year and the prior period are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 175 to 176

of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-foreign
joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group's
subsidiaries which are established in the PRC has been transferred
to the statutory reserve which is restricted as to use.

The capital reserve represents additional contribution made by the
shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and, in the case of an
acquisition of an additional equity interest in a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition and the
non-controlling interests acquired.

The revaluation reserve represents the difference arising from
the change in use from owner-occupied properties to investment
properties carried at fair value.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3

32.

33.

BRE®

HE2024F 12 A31HILFE - FREBIERE
R AF(EA1,241,0008 7T (FAR0.12417%7T) -
B R £ B R R AR 1 7 2 /204,000 7T (B
2023512 A31A1ENEA - 462,000%7T) ©

RREBRRE - RIFERETE - ARFAA
31,500,00017 RATEREARIE - MEERA QT E
HE BTN 40.28% » BEAQTIREFHE
REEME  2BITERITERBRE S S EH
7N A)E£4731,500,000 % 58 1 I 3 A% K2 KB AR
7831,500,000/8 7T (FIBRBEATHIZ A ) o

RZEVWHEHREMEE R - RIFBAAE S -
AXEH31,500,00000 RATEEEKAE - HER
ARAEE AT 490.28% °

H it

BEAEERATER FHNHEREZHER
IR FIRERFE175E 176 EME A EREH)
ﬁq °

St

RIBFINEELERBERIER - AEEE
TERBERZAMBARNIOF B EHE
REZRHIEERFES

EARFEEBEARRNB AR RERIEL RSN
TR ARERB-RIEREWBE R BRREIN
Pt - WRER AT IR HI s E 2
EE -

BEnREEERREEMmBEBMEE /AR
FEIIRHNREMEMELNZE -
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

34. Disposal of Subsidiaries 34. EEKEART

On 16 December 2022, China South City Group, Shenzhen China
South City and Shenzhen Shenji No. 1 entered into the investment
agreement(the “Agreement”), pursuant to which Shenzhen Sheniji
No. 1 agreed to subscribe, and the Xi'an China South City Co., Ltd.
("Xi'an China South City”) agreed to issue, the subscription shares
at the subscription consideration of RMB5,000 million of which
RMB2,000 million (equivalent to HK$2,285 million) and RMB1,380
million (equivalent to HK$1,517 million) have been received in
March 2023 and April 2023, respectively. The completion of
the disposal of Xi‘an China South City took place in May 2023.
Upon completion, the equity interest in Xi‘an China South City of
China South City Group decreased from 100% to 30.6472%. The
Group lost control over Xi‘an China South City. This transaction is
accounted for as deemed disposal of a subsidiary.

Pursuant to the buy-back clause contained in the Agreement, upon
the occurrence of certain triggering events from the date falling
54 months after completion, Shenzhen Shenji No. 1 is entitled to
sell at its discretion all or part of the shares held by it in the Xi'an
China South City to the China South City Group and/or Shenzhen
China South City from the date falling 54 months after completion
at an exercise price set out in an announcement of the Company
dated 16 December 2022. The put option liabilities is classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through or loss on initial recognition
and are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. The Company has assessed the fair value of the put
option liabilities amounting to HK$214,015,000 as at 6 May 2023.
The Company has reassessed the fair value of the put option as at
31 December 2024 and the fair value of the put option liabilities
amounting to HK$1,037,344,000.

202212168 - E@WMEE - RIIFERM
ERYIFESHEIRERZ(( Bz - R
RE—RAERRE  ALERWERAFA
ZEMAMDRAZETRERG  REREAA
R¥ES01ETT - P ARBE201E T (FH55222.85
BHEIL) RARKI38EIL(EERI1517(EHA
JL) B9 B 202343 A 202344 A YE -
PO ER MR BN 2023958 %/K - Tk E
EMHEESARTERMRRERI100%EE
30.6472% © 7N 5 [ 2K K 3 7E 22 2 1 4k A0 4 )
1 o NARGVERBE TRAIEITETERE -

BB ZEPRIEEEGER - B REE54EARE
ARUEBEEHR - RYIRE—RERNEL
EHAIFENE BRI o B THES4HE
Az A KA AFIHEA2022F12A16HK)
NEMHMITEE  BALEENEREER
WREE R, SORYIFER R o RGEIEAERR
NisERFHERABEREEUNATEIEZS
BEE  WAATERE  ATFEZLETAE
oo RRAIEFHERE B A ER2023F5 76
AHAF{EA214,015,00087C - AARIEEH
A Rh B 2024F 12 A3 AW A FERR
SHEE B B A TER1,037,344,00078 T
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

34. Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued) 3. REMBARE)
The aggregate assets and liabilities in respect of the above disposal FHMEENEERBBEENT
were as follows:

As at
6 May 2023
R202355H6H
HK$'000
FAT
Net assets disposed of: FEEZRE
Current assets MENEE 5,990,069
Non-current assets IEREEE 3,811,320
Current liabilities MENAE (7,152,407)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (365,161)
2,283,821
Put option liabilities ROLHIERE 214,015
Exchange fluctuation reserve B 3,2 Eh (i 15,062
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary BEEWNBARZEE (122,222)
The fair value of the remaining equity of a subsidiary 202345 A6 A iR E M B FIRIRED
after the disposal as at 6 May 2023 ~¥E 2,390,676
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect BEEFATNBRERBESEEBMEIRASITAT -
of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:
As at
6 May 2023
#2023%586H
HK$'000
FAT
Cash received from disposal of a subsidiary BENE AR ATWEIR S 1,517,034
Cash and bank balances disposed of FTEE B BIR & MIRT1TIF K (300,532)
Net inflow of cash equivalents in respect of EEEWB ARG AR SEEY
the disposal of a subsidiary FRA 1,216,502
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

35. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash

Flows

(@) Major non-cash transactions
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$3,070,000 (nine
months ended 31 December 2023: Nil) and HK$3,070,000
(nine months ended 31 December 2023: Nil), respectively, in

respect of lease arrangements for property.

During the year, the Group had settlements to certain

suppliers of approximately HK$1,030,136,000 (nine months
ended 31 December 2023: HK$697,093,000) by the Group's

properties held for sale.

35. FERERERM

}ﬂ_ﬂr

(a) EEHFREXSH

FA - AEEEAERHREERBNE
AEEEREEREZIFRSIEMHRIA
3,070,000 70 (# £2023F 12 A31H 1
HAEA : #) 123,070,000/ 7T (H E2023
F12A318IENEA - &) -

FR - AEBEUBIEHEDERD S H
FEmETEE 254 A1,030,136,000

BT (HZE2023F12A31HIEAER -
697,093,000 7T) ©

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEETHEENEEES
activities
Interest
Interest- payable
bearing Amounts included in
bank due to trade and
and other related Senior other Lease
borrowings parties notes payables liabilities
ESRHEM
FERITR  ENAEES ERRER
Hitfg & MHE BEZRE HNEMSAE HEEE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER THER THER THERT TR
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1H1H 21,295,780 649,269 10,456,521 471,910 2,565
Changes from BMERSREE
financing cash flows (756,438) - (175,047) (491,047) (2,920)
New leases g = = = = 3,070
Transfer to interest payable ~ EEEZ Z R HA
included in trade and other  JEfTFRPIHIESS
payables T & - - (1,124,935) 1,124,935 =
Interest expense FIEHE 71,942 - 961,520 1,320,279 122
Loss arising from default and & %]} %X NE 4 E
cross default events EEZER = = 324,423 = =
Modification gains ez W (446,315) = = - -
Exchange realignment bE AR (387,093) (13,886) - (295,072) -
At 31 December 2024 M2024F12A31H 19,777,876 635,383 10,442,482 2,131,005 2,837
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

35. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 35. REBERERHMT @
Flows (Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEETHEENEBEH )
activities (Continued)

Interest
Interest- payable
bearing Amounts included in
bank due to trade and
and other related Senior other Lease
borrowings parties notes payables liabilities
25 NEAM
FERRITR ERTEE JERTFIRN
Hithfg & oA BERE OREANS HERE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TET THT TR

At 1 April 2023 72023F481H 21,279,156 189,973 11,551,606 445,906 26,770
Changes from MERSREH
financing cash flows 842,207 464,524 (1,587,153)  (1,181,678) (9,004)
Interest expense FERE - - 840,723 1,222,087 1,127
Disposal of subsidiaries RENBRA - - - - (15,532)
Modification losses (Cohwd 3= - - (348,655) - -
Exchange realignment PEH AR (825,583) (5,228) - (14,405) (796)
At 31 December 2023 72023%12A31H 21,295,780 649,269 10,456,521 471,910 2,565
(c) Total cash outflow for leases () HEHABESRH
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated HAGZEH S RERNBEERBE SR
statement of cash flows is as follows: T
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024%12H318  2023%12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within operating activities FFALE TR 34,926 29,289
Within financing activities FTABEEBA 2,920 9,004
Total et 37,846 38,293
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

36.

37.

Pledge of Assets

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group’s bank and
other borrowings are included in notes 13, 14, 15, 20, 22, 24 and
28 to the financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

36.

37.

BEEEM
DUAREENEEERFNRITREMEEFE
BRI SRR MIEE13 2 141520 22~ 24
28

RIBEHR - BHREAREGRENXUREE

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
2024%12H31H 20239 12AH31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT

Guarantees given to banks in connection BLAT & 7 BRI R E M)

with facilities granted to: RITIRAEAHER -

Third parties F=H 5,091,653 5,560,098
Related parties B2k 3,239,700 3,310,500
Total #Et 8,331,353 8,870,598

At 31 December 2024, the Group has provided guarantees
in respect of banking facilities granted to certain related
parties amounting to HK$3,239,700,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$3,310,500,000), which were utilized to the extent of
HK$1,570,278,000 (31 December 2023: HK$1,615,646,000). The
Directors consider the fair value of the guarantees is not significant.

The Group has provided guarantees in respect of banking facilities
granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group's
properties held for sale and held for finance lease. Pursuant to the
terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the loan payments by
the purchasers and lessees, the Group is responsible for repaying
the outstanding loans together with accrued interest thereon and
any penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers and lessees to banks.
The Group is then entitled to take over the legal titles and usage
rights of the related properties. For trade centre units and residential
properties sold, the guarantee periods commence from the dates
of grant of the relevant loans and ends when the purchasers obtain
the building ownership certificates which will then be pledged to
the banks. For residential and commercial properties under finance
lease, the guarantees will be released upon the full repayment of
loan principals by the lessees.

20245128318 - NEEEE R RS TRIH S
BT HRITRVE R EIR £ 58723,239,700,000
#7T(2023412 A31H :3,310,500,000/87T) -
HAB#A1,570,278,0007% 7T (2023412 A 31
H :1,615,646,00087T) - EFRAE  BRZ
RFEFTEK -

AEERETRORTRHIFHEEDERBEMR
EMENBERNRITEERMER - REZSF
BERGES - MZEFERRAEAERERE
R AREBEEERNER  EREFH
B ARRZRER KA AL RRITHE M S
T HiR - AEEARZERBYMENERE
ELERE - DEXSTOEBREEMES
| EROABERERE D A HEEERIE
HEEMTPRONSHERZ AL - ARE
METHEERBEERMEMS @ BRGEAR
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FAREE®

AEBMABERE R EERAE@YENE
R R AR IR 1218 B & B PR (L IR 1R T 85
BEMEARE EER5  WEBRERRE
BTSSR - AERE YR A AT SR A R A R ME
BIRBERBEREMESFIBRIR - HIER

37. Contingent Liabilities (Continued) 37.
The Group did not incur any material losses during the financial
year in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to the purchasers and lessees of the Group’s properties.
The Directors consider that in case of default on payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties can cover the repayment of

the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest ZAFELTIERK -
and penalty, and therefore the fair value of the guarantees is not
significant.

38. Commitments 38. #&IE

REEPNIRERAE THIHLE

The Group had the following commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
2024%12A831H 2023%12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Contracted, but not provided for: EHEVEES T
Properties under development BRPYE 4,653,818 6,430,567

39. Related Party Transactions 39. BABARS
(i) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (i) BARBBRIREMIBAOFAROZTZIN - &K
these financial statements, the Group had the following EER2024F 124318 AL FEHERR
transactions with SZCDG and its subsidiaries (collectively EREERENBAR (GBI FEEEE
“SZCDG Group”) and First Asia Pacific Group for the year BrEE)RE—DRKEBETATR

ended 31 December 2024: Z:
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024%12H318  2023%F12A31H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
g FHERT FAT
First Asia Pacific Group F-TDAEE
Property management services MEEIL R (1 388,306 277,505
SZCDG Group FREEEE s EE
Disposal of a subsidiary BEMBAR - 1,517,034
Business management services R E IR RS 1M 8,809 4,800
Compensation of First Asia Pacific E—DAEEEE
Group 96,930 -
Interest-bearing loans FFEER @) - 464,524
Interest expense FERXE 12,534 13,609
Xi‘an China South City TR
Short-term lease expense EHHEEA (1) 30,234 22,515
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

39. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(i) (Continued)
Notes:

(1) The rates and conditions of the services are similar to those

offered to independent third parties.

(2) Interest-bearing loans were provided from a subsidiary of
SZCDG based on mutually agreed terms and interest bearing

at a rate of 6%-8% per annum.

Save as disclosed above and the balances detailed in note
26 to the financial statements, the Group had no material
transactions and outstanding balances with related parties for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and nine months ended

31 December 2023.

The related party transactions in respect of Property
management services HK$388,306,000 with First Asia Pacific
Group and Business management services HK$8,809,000
with SZCDG Group above also constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined

in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(i) Compensation of key management

personnel of the Group

39. BEARS (@)
i @&
G

(1) BREHEBERMGEEMBLE = RMHE

RIARFSRRLL

(2) HEETEEEZNEQRNTEER
EIRIEE T K E 2 IEHK6%-8% 2

DESIES

MR £ AT R M B IS SRR M sE 26 5F LAY
EERON B E2024F12A31BILEEH
MNEZE2023F12A318IENAMEA - &
EEERAB AT EEAR S MARBES

HBE-—"DASENDEERRY
388,306,000/ 8 o Kk i@ iEHEE 2 &
E 79 75 2 & T8 R #5.8,809,0007% 7T K Ba B
FRSIMERK ETRAE +UAZFTER

B FRIFEFBER S ©

(i) *EEETEEEASHMH

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

2024%12831H 2023 12A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Short term employee benefits RSN 9,450 11,481

Post-employment benefits BER21E N 48 42

Equity-settled share option expense LATE HRE AR IR 2 204 462
Total compensation paid to key XN TFTEEEEASHNT IR

management personnel 9,702 11,985

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note

8 to the financial statements.

=M aE - SHBRERM B REME

8o
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

40. Financial Instruments by Category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2024

Financial assets

40. I EDHE
RIESE - SESBMTANBEEENT

2024512A31H

THMEE

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit
or loss

BEBABUANTE

FifRe ERMEE

Designated as

such upon initial

Financial assets

measured at

recognition amortised cost Total
ENSEAR  REHERANHE

EEA ZEMEE st

HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000

TET TET TER

Trade receivables JEWE 5 8RR - 505,182 505,182

Other long-term receivables H iR HE IR = 14,909 14,909
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5T ATEfT A « E b UK FIA

other receivables and other assets REMEEZ SREE = 540,343 540,343

Amount due from a related party JEUS B E X R HUR = 135,700 135,700
Financial assets at fair value through BRBERARTESIR 228

profit or loss BE 11 - 1

Restricted cash ZREES - 676,590 676,590

Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEED = 41,142 41,142

Total #at 1 1,913,866 1,913,877
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

40. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued)

Financial liabilities

0. €RMIEBESE®)
sRBE

Financial liabilities
at fair value
through profit

or loss
ERBEUNTE
iRz eRmEE
Mandatorily Financial liabilities
designated measured at
as such amortised cost Total
REHME
BEEER TEZERAEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FTERr THET
Financial liabilities included in trade and T A% 5 K E b FRIEHY
other payables SREE - 8,632,853 8,632,853
Amounts due to associates JEEE AR = 1,202,224 1,202,224
Amounts due to related parties APl NI e = 2,044,677 2,044,677
Financial liabilities at fair value through EBIEZUAFETIRZ
profit or loss SHEE 1,037,344 = 1,037,344
Interest-bearing bank and other HERITREMEE
borrowings - 19,777,876 19,777,876
Senior notes BERE = 10,442,482 10,442,482
Other long-term payables Hi R HIERR - 1,489 1,489
Total @it 1,037,344 42,101,601 43,138,945
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

40. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued)
31 December 2023

Financial assets

40. €I A

ANy =

2023F12A31H

THMEE

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit

or loss

FRBRUALNTE
St S REE

Designated as
such upon initial

Financial assets
measured at

recognition amortised cost Total
ENAmRN  REERAE

BER ZERMBE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHAT FAET FHET

Trade receivables JEWE 5 8RR - 712,725 712,725

Other long-term receivables Hip RHEW A - 81,626 81,626
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5T AFE A « E b UK FIA

other receivables and other assets REMEESRMEE - 525,650 525,650

Amount due from a related party FEU BEE A RIFUB - 138,666 138,666
Financial assets at fair value through BRBERARTEIIR 228

profit or loss BE 3,724 - 3,724

Restricted cash ZRHE S - 913,556 913,556

Cash and cash equivalents Be RS EEY - 230,088 230,088

Total fEt 3,724 2,602,311 2,606,035
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

40. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities
at fair value
through profit

or loss
FRBERARNTFE

Ntk ERAE

Mandatorily  Financial liabilities
designated measured at
as such amortised cost Total
TREERAR
BHIEER  AECZERARE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHET FET
Financial liabilities included in trade and 5T AE 5 & E b fE AR
other payables SHEE - 6,109,457 6,109,457
Amounts due to associates FENEE N RIFUB - 869,925 869,925
Amounts due to related parties FETRAEE A R R0E - 1,205,832 1,205,832
Financial liabilities at fair value through  EBEZUAATETIEZ
profit or loss LREE 1,074,695 - 1,074,695
Interest-bearing bank and other FRSRITREAMBEE
borrowings - 21,295,780 21,295,780
Senior notes BERE - 10,456,521 10,456,521
Total #Et 1,074,695 39,937,515 41,012,210
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

41.

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

41.

EMTREZAFERAFHESRR
B

AEBZSBTAZ BAERATERRESR
AVEBEATERINAT :

Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE ATE

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
20244 20234F 20244 20234
12A31H 12A31H 12A31H 12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHET FHT
Senior notes BREER 10,442,482 10,456,521 2,912,577 2,744,443

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included in
trade and other payables and the current portion of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s management is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The management reports directly to the Directors
and the audit committee. At each reporting date, management
analyzes the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation
is reviewed and approved by the Directors. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for
interim and annual financial reporting.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

41.

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the other long-term receivables, other long-term
payables and non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own
non-performance risk in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
as at 31 December 2024 was assessed to be insignificant. The fair
values of the other long-term receivables, other long-term payables
and non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings are not materially different from their carrying amounts.

The fair values of senior notes were calculated by using the quoted
market prices on 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's financial instruments which
comprised financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss were measured at fair value. The Group’s financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprised unlisted
investments and put option liabilities. The fair values of the unlisted
investments have been estimated using the valuation methodology
according to the price of recent investments. The fair values of put
option liabilities have been estimated using the allocation model
with Black-Scholes option pricing formula. The models incorporate
various market observable inputs including risk-free interest rate as
well as other unobservable inputs.

41.

EMTAZAFERAFESHR
L AE))
SHAEREBENATERIEAESS (B8
RERBERINERERSPRITIIENTA
ZEBAE o it AT ENAAZ HERBRR
o

His REEUGRIR - HtbRIENS
ﬁEﬁ&E‘r@ﬁ%%ﬁZ#Eﬂ%ﬁ*ﬁ DA

KIR M B
NETSE B

FHEIHeMTEFER 2 RITHRIZEM
&0 f*ﬁﬁﬂ &ﬁ%T 189 - ETEHIAR K
BWEmEmatE - ®2024F12A831H » K&EH

E Efﬁ(\‘aﬁmﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁi\ﬁﬂ%EZT\E%@ﬂ B 1 =¥
ERAETERX - Hth REIBUGR - A&
FEARIB R mt BRTT R E AR B EIEBTEER 5 1Y)
NP EEREERZETRK -

BEEE 2 AFETRE2024F12 A31 8/ ™
BERZREET

202412 A318 ' AEERNSR T AR
BHBEHEUATFEIEZSREE, BFE - MU

NEEFE - AEEBBEZFUAFEIEZ
SHEE/AEREELMEERRGHER
& o FLEMHRENQNTERRE ﬁﬂﬂ&ﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁ
BEBMEREMEH - BHHEAGHA
{E$% FBlack-Scholes B E B AR KI5 EEE’L”
WATR - ZREMAT REERBRFESE
MG BREAZRE - UREMTIHERGA
iz -
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

41. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 41. SR TAZAFERAFEERE

Instruments (Continued) B
Fair value hierarchy ANEEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TEEZSRTEMNRATENEERIANTE

of the Group's financial instruments:
Assets measured at fair value RAVEFEZEE

Fair value measurement using

EARATETE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

ERmES EATER EAFUBE
ZHE LPN ¢ BARE

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(F18R) (E28%) (%34%) M
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEL THT THT TET
As at 31 December 2024 72024512 A31H
Unlisted investments FETRE - - 1 1
As at 31 December 2023 7202312431
Unlisted investments FETRE - - 3,724 3,724
Liabilities measured at fair value BATEFEZERS
Fair value measurement using
FRARATEE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
TR BAABE EATUBR
ZHE BAZE BWARE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(F14R) (21%) (%34) %
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHT TET
As at 31 December 2024 2024512 A31H
Put option liabilities RLEEEE - - 1,037,344 1,037,344
As at 31 December 2023 #2023%F12A31H
Put option liabilities REMEER - - 1,070,077 1,070,077
Interest rate swaps MEEHLS - 4,618 - 4,618
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41. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial  41.

Instruments (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the

valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

TRTAZAFERIFESFRE

(435

NZ=W)

AEEER )
EREIRATEAENER

AT REE2024F 12 A31 2023412 A31
HemTAGBEMNEZ T EREABIEAR
FEHFESTHBE

Valuation Significant Sensitivity relationship of
techniques unobservable inputs Range unobservable inputs to fair value
EXTAEE TURRHABER
BRI BARE €8 AVEZBRERE
Put option liabilities Black-Scholes option  Volatility 23.84% 5% increase/decrease in volatility would
pricing formula (31 December increase/decrease in fair value of HK$33,364,000/
2023: HK$33,261,000 (31 December 2023: increase/
23.50%) decrease HK$37,866,000/HK$37,902,000)
RLRAE Black-Scholes KE= 2384% REIEEM WS HERATELN, RS
HiEEELA (2023%F 33,364,000/7C,/'33,261,000 7
12A318 (2023124318 « #m,/75437,866,000E 7T,/
23.50%) 37,902,0007 1)
Risk-free interest 1.25% 5% increase/decrease in risk-free interest rate would
rate (31 December decrease/increase in fair value of HK$6,026,000/
2023: HK$6,050,000 (31 December 2023: decrease/increase
2.33%) HK$6,451,000/HK$6,411,000)
EERAX 125%  EEBFEEMHDS%EEHATERD,/ LM
(2023%F 6,026,000/ 7T,/6,050,000/7T.(2023612 4318 :
12318 : R,/ #106,451,000%87T,/6,411,000 )
2.33%)

During the year, there were no transfer of fair value measurements

between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer into or out of Level 3

for both financial assets and financial liabilities (nine months ended

31 December 2023: Nil).

KERN SHEEREBREENAFEFER
1A% B B ZE 2 40 B 2 T A 4 B 4t K 4 B A B EE
HESE3IRA(HZE2023F12A31B ENEA -
) o

7N
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31 December 2024 20244 12831H

41. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed

As at 31 December 2024

41, SRTEZAFERAFESRRE

B
AEEER )
EREATEZSRMEAR
7A2024%12831H
Fair value
measurement

using quoted
prices in

active markets
(Level 1)
FERANERTSZ
BRENATERE
(B—%)
HK$'000

FHET

Senior notes

BARE

2,915,577

As at 31 December 2023

M2023512H31H

Fair value
measurement
using quoted

prices in

active markets
(Level 1)
EANERT S
WEHAFETZ
(B—#%)
HK$'000

FET

Senior notes

BERE

2,744,443

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 December 2024 20244 12831H

42. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 42. BEREKREEBEBERBER

Policies

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise bank and other
borrowings, senior notes and cash and short-term deposits. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets
such as trade receivables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign exchange risk.
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarized below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group's borrowings. The interest rates and terms of repayment
of the Group's borrowings are disclosed in notes 28 and 29 to
the financial statements. The Group's policy is to obtain the most
favourable interest rates available for its borrowings.

The Group constantly assesses the interest rate risk it encounters to
decide whether it is required to hedge against the possible interest
rate risk that may arise.

On 31 December 2024, if the interest rate of bank borrowings
had increased/decreased by 25 basis points and all other factors
remained unchanged, the loss before tax for the year of the Group
would have increased/decreased by approximately HK$50,670,000
(31 December 2023: HK$53,239,000).

FEEXIZeMIABERTIEAMES €
EEBELRRELEHER - ZEFEMITATE
REAKEXGERES - ARENHEEZRE
hERMEE  JINBEREEBZEELNEK
B BRI

AEEeRTAMEENTZRARBENXE
2 EERR  RBEZRBREIMNERR - E

SHEIE PSR RO BFETRE R
E o ERRSRI T o

FIRER
AEEEBROMNERREZHASENEER
B o AEEEE T E KBTI REN
FT28 291 FE - AEEMERE AEBER
1SERBFRIFIE o

A6 B 45 A AT Ak P B B O 1 K @ g AR E 2
BHRBEIMAIEELNN AL

202412 A318 @ MIRITEENF R E
FOT RS EER KA HMERRET
B AASEEAFERABESSEM
B #)50,670,0007%8 7T (2023512 A31H -
53,239,000/ 7T) °
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42. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 42, BEAKREEEERBER &)
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk EERE
Maximum exposure and year/period-end staging BERSENE HASH
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRERTERAEEEERRNEELEN
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is EaEERBEE  RIFEMAIRERLYTE
mainly based on past due information unless other information is BEEINRARINT - ZIEERREZENBE
available without undue cost or effort, and year/period-end staging BEE  UWREE12A31BME RSB
classification as at 31 December. 1o
As at 31 December 2024 72024%12A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8A 8 R{EHH
BHEERSE BHEEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
P& & — BE= &= L% ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET FET FET THx
Other long-term receivables Hth REER A 870 83,367 988,292 - 1,082,529
Trade receivables* B E 5 R = = = 809,412 809,412
Financial assets included in STATRRFIE - AfhfE
prepayments, other receivables WHRIE R At B
and other assets TREE 562,812 31,283 38,552 - 632,727
Restricted cash XREES 676,590 - - - 676,590
Cash and cash equivalents BeRRESEY 41,142 - - - 41,142
Total 5t 1,281,494 114,650 1,036,844 809,412 3,242,400
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42. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
As at 31 December 2023

42.

BEEREEEERBE®)

EERB )

202312 A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A& ey il
BHEERE EHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PR — FEE = BE= Gl eapz #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TET THET TEr TET AT
Other long-term receivables Hth REENE 13,780 120,602 1,020,109 - 1,154,491
Trade receivables* JEUE Z R - - - 1,017,948 1,017,948
Financial assets included in STAERFUE - At
prepayments, other receivables WeBRIE R Bt B A Y
and other assets SREE 527,619 6,089 55,144 - 588,852
Restricted cash XRHES 913,556 - - - 913,556
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREZSEY 230,088 - - - 230,088
Total Bt 1,685,043 126,691 1,075,253 1,017,948 3,904,935
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * RAEBERAB A ERERNREKE SRR -

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

To manage the risk, deposits are mainly placed with banks with
high credit quality. The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. For the sale of properties, the Group
has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to buyers with
appropriate financial strength and appropriate percentage of down
payments. The Group would not release the property ownership
certificates to the buyers before the buyers fully settle the payment.
It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual trade
receivable to ensure that adequate provisions for impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. With exposure spread over
a number of counterparties and customers, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 22 to
the financial statements.

HARENBEHEED IR RERM 225

75 -

REERR  AKBEIEBEERFAREEE
RMIRTT - AREERNERAFENE=T
TR S LHEVMETE - AEREEETR
RERAAAEENBENRINEZEEIL
ERNFONERFHEE - EEX2HEEN
KA ARETERHEBFLEER - AKET
A Bt B YRR Fr DARE (R SR X R A H h K 218
HAZOR © WO AEETERENESREANE
ZEMERFRA AT £ 58 - SARER B AT I =)
SRELRANBEERIIR - ARELEL
MEREHEERR - MAESNRRDE
ZRZGHTREP °

BB R 5 AR KA (2 B AR RS
PR A — S R BRI R M 227
W -
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42. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 42.

Policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of bank and other
borrowings, lease liabilities, senior notes, medium-term notes and
domestic company bonds.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted

payments, was as follows:

HEEMREEEERBE )

REEEER
AEENEBLEBEARTRAMER
SRE BERE PHRERENAFE
% BRASHEEREIEZHOTE -

AEERHFEMRFH SR E BN R (%
BERIARFTENFTOMT

31 December 2024

2024F12431H
Within One to Two to Beyond
On demand one year two years five years five years Total
EZX -ER  H-E-F  H-2E% ik ) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin TEn Tin Tin Tin Tin
Interest-bearing bank and other R REMEE
borrowings 6,735,831 3,026,636 6,715,517 2,057,275 4,769,398 23,304,657
Senior notes BEER 10,442,482 - - - - 10,442,482
Financial liabilities included in trade 3T AEFTE 5 Rt EHFE
and other payables (excuding lease WIS BEE(TEHER(RE)
liabilities) 1,124,935 7,506,570 - - - 8,631,505
Lease liabilities HEEE - 1132 1,132 849 - 3,113
Amounts due to associates JEREE N RITE = 1,202,224 = = = 1,202,224
Amounts due to related parties JERTER AR - 2,044,677 = = = 2,044,677
Financial liabilities at fair value BRERENATETE
through profit or loss eHER = = = 1,037,344 = 1,037,344
Financial guarantees granted to HE=ARTHBER
third parties 5,091,653 - - - - 5,091,653
Total o5t 23304901 13781239 6716649 3005468 4769398 51,757,655
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42. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 42.

Policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

HEEMREEEERBE )

REE L E M)

31 December 2023

20235124318
Within One to Two to Beyond
On demand one year two years five years five years Total
EES —ER  F-E-F $°ZRF nEk 3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT TAT TAT TAL TAL
Interest-bearing bank and other ERIREMEE
borrowings - 8,737,355 5,158,060 5,463,971 5,038,334 24,397,720
Senior notes BEZE - 9,054,387 225,271 1,748,299 - 11,627,957
Financial iabilties included in trade ~ FFATENE 5 REMEFRFE
and other payables (exduding lease K& BEE(TEHERE)
liabilities) - 6,106,892 - - - 6,106,892
Lease liabilities HERRE - 2,638 - - - 2,638
Amounts due to associates FEREE DRI - 869,925 - - - 869,925
Amounts due to related parties FERER AR - 1,205,832 - - - 1,205,832
Financial liabilties at fair value ERBRNATETIE
through profit or loss LHAR - 4,618 - 1070077 - 1,074,695
Financial quarantees granted to HE=FRTHBER
third parties 5,560,098 - - - - 5,560,098
Total ek 5,560,098 26,581,647 5,383,331 8,282,347 5,038,334 50,845,757
Foreign exchange risk HNEE B B

The Group only conducts business within Chinese Mainland.
Except for interest payables, repayment of foreign currency loans
obtained to finance the Group’s operations and any potential
future dividends of its subsidiaries that might be declared to their
shareholders, the bulk of the Group's revenue, capital investment
and expenses are denominated in RMB. At the date of approval
of the financial statements, the Group has not experienced any
difficulties in obtaining government approval for its necessary
foreign exchange purchases.

AEBERTRARELEEY - RENFE
AEERBRELERRMREHOINEERNE
Ko AREE AR A BRI E R R E KA EA
REBARILOWA - EXRRER
FXIGUNARBREN - RPBHRERILER
B AEBERERFHXHEINERBEMT

BB

T RERE EEEE -
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42. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 42. BIEEAMEEBERBER®)

320

Policies (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
loss before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets
and liabilities).

471 BEE JRL B (42
TRBEREMEEMSERBTENBERT -
7S W R B BRI A RS E R ]
HABEBNRBRE  BRBRAFENES D
REwEEREENATEHBESHHE -

Changes in Increase/(decrease)
RMB rate in profit before tax

BLATFIE
ARBEZEE i,/ ()
% HK$'000
FAT

31 December 2024 2024F12A31H

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB AT AREE S 5 146
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB WETAARBER 5 (146)
31 December 2023 2023%F12A31H

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT AREESS 5 )
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB BT E AR B ER 5 9

Capital management EXEHE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximize shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the nine months ended 31 December 2023.
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AEEEAEENERARER TRAAEE
FERRNMBRERLL KNS » UXHFEE
BEIERBEREABIREE

REBRBLEBRLNE S RAAEEENRR
R BEEHBRNEBEWHHEELARE - A%
RYUABREAREE  AEETESHAERR
FIRER RS - MRRREE RS EITH
B& o A& B 7B % <P A SN R M E KR
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42. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 42. BIEEAMEEBERBER®)
Policies (Continued)
Capital management (Continued) BEREE(®)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio (net debt to total REEFKAEAAGL R (ERFRERAERE
equity) and total liabilities to total assets ratio. Net debt includes BINBEHEELRETFERNBER - B FHE
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes, less cash BEFERITREMES BEZEBEARER
and bank balances. The gearing ratios and total liabilities to total RITFER - RIREIR - EXBELEREE
assets ratio as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows: HEELEMT :
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20245 12A31H 2023F12A31H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
fifsE TET FAET
Interest-bearing bank and FFERITREMEE
other borrowings 28 19,777,876 21,295,780
Senior notes BERE 29 10,442,482 10,456,521
Less: Cash and bank balances IR E RRITER 24 (717,732) (1,143,644)
Net debt B FE 29,502,626 30,608,657
Total equity R 26,606,950 36,446,325
Total assets BEE 87,551,425 100,375,051
Total liabilities BERE 60,944,475 63,928,726
Net debt/Total equity ERGEEL® 111% 84%
Total liabilities/Total assets BEUEELE 70% 64%
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43. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 43. QR AR
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024%12H31H 2023%12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I E N 623 763
Investments in subsidiaries LR NGRS 10,712,530 3,246,707
Total non-current assets ERBEERTE 10,713,153 3,247,470
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFEUR BT A B FRIA 8,120,079 19,172,745
Prepayments, other receivables and other TERTFRIE  Hh ERRIE K
assets Hitw&EE 756 756
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEEY 344 449
Total current assets BB EREE 8,121,179 19,173,950
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Other payables, accruals and deposits EAbERRIE - EETIEE K&
received s 2,067,767 722,093
Amount due to a related party JE1 BN T 5RIE 8,682 4,813
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ~ &tE2 BT R EMEE 1,947,798 1,949,798
Senior notes BEER 10,442,482 8,891,111
Total current liabilities MEEEREE 14,466,729 11,567,815
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS RE(AE) EEFE (6,345,550) 7,606,135
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥EEAERREBEE 4,367,603 10,853,605
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Senior notes BEEE - 1,565,410
Total non-current liabilities JERB A ERRE - 1,565,410
Net assets EEFE 4,367,603 9,288,195
EQUITY s
Share capital (&N 9,131,812 9,131,812
Reserves (note) H b EENEE) (4,764,209) 156,383
Total equity REanABER 4,367,603 9,288,195

CHENG CHUNG HING ZB#A &
Director %
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43. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 43.

(Continued)
Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

o
Bl

NG P S O JE )

RRIZFEEEBFBOT

Retained
profits/
Share option (Accumulated
reserve losses) Total
REFIE,
BRERE (REHE8R) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
At 1 April 2023 M2023F4°18 29,451 307,109 336,560
Profit for the period HF)HE - 48,199 48,199
Equity-settled share option arrangements  LAREZS A4S E BB AR 2 BE 462 - 462
Transfer of share option reserve upon BB B2 W s AR Ak
the forfeiture or lapse of share options SRR A GEE (17,556) 17,556 -
Final 2022/2023 dividend declared B Ek2022/2023F KRR - (228,838) (228,838)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 1420239128318 &
20241718 12,357 144,026 156,383
Loss for the year FAEE = (4,920,796) (4,920,796)
Equity-settled share option arrangements  LAREZSAE E MORE AR M2 HE 204 = 204
Transfer of share option reserve upon i AR e 4% Wi sk 2R T
the forfeiture or lapse of share options R R (8,139) 8,139 =
At 31 December 2024 72024128318 4,422 (4,768,631) (4,764,209)

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted

which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy

for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The

amount will either be transferred to share capital when the related options

are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the related options

expire.

BREFERESCRBERTEZBRENDTE

HERBUBOE AN R SRR FSARF B R
fiaE2.4R  BEMBRRERITE  HEBREEAR
A SAEERBEBRERY  HEHEEEEREATN

e
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44,

45,

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 27 January 2025, the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region has granted the application of Citicorp International
Limited (“Petitioner”) regarding the winding-up petition of the Company
in relation to the Company’s non-payment of the 9.0% notes due in 2024
issued in outstanding principal amount of USD288,840,000 and accrued
interests amount of USD17,330,400. The hearing of the petition has been
adjourned to 2 April 2025.

The Company is assessing the impact of the winding up order against
Petitioner that may have on the business operation and financial position of

the Company.

Approval of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by
the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025.
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44,

45.

HREHREE
202518270 - EBAFRITRESS AR EHETE
BEEEERAR(I2HANDBMZARIARZF2024F 5
HE9.0% 1% - R{HEAR$288,840,0003% 7T K fEAT
817,330,400k TTHER R - mREENEESD
JEZE202564 A28 ©

ARIEERHMEH S R ANBSR < A QR ED
BEMPBRRELNTZE -

R ES
EE S 2025563 A28 A/ I 5k T BB 75
MK -
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